DEATH ISALWAYSREAL & hdlip;

&1sguo;& |squo;What happened to the first team? Are they dead?& rsquo; & rsquo;



& 1squo;& Isquo;We don& rsquo;t know,& rsquio;& rsquo; Jackson said.

Dalton raised his eyebrows. &1squo;& Isquo;What do you mean by that?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; Ther bodies are il in their isolation tanks, in aroom off the main experimental chamber.
The machines are kegping them in Sasis at the reduced functioning status. So they& rsquo;re dive, |
suppose. Asdive as any of uswhen we go into those damn tanks.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& squo;& squo; What happened to them?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1sguo;& Isquo;No one knows. | don& rsquo;t know exactly, but | have anidea. | told Hammond but
shethinksit&rsquo;sbull. | believe she thinksthat because what | told her scared her.& rsquo;& rsquo;
& 1sguo;& squo; What about Rai sor?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l think Raisor believes me. He& rsquo;s weird.& rsquo; & rsquo;

& 1squo;& squo; What& rsquo;s your theory ?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo; There are bodies in the isolation tanks, but there are no people in there, if you know
what | mean. Heck, Sergeant Mgor, | went looking for them. | went out on the virtua planeto seeif |
could find them.& rsquo; & rsquo; She paused, her eyes withdrawing.

&1squo;& squo; And?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton prompted.

&Isquo;&Isquo;And | think | found them. What was |eft of them. Their psyches. Worn out asif they died
of starvation. They were al dead there& hellip;.& rsquo;& rsquo;
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April 10, 1963

The wind swept the desolate land of the Severnaya Zemlya chain of idands with no mercy for the sparse
vegetation that struggled to grow among the rocks. The few plants only showed their face for amonth at
the height of summer. Therest of the year, the idand was covered with afreezing layer of driven snow
and blistered ice. The only exception wasthe airfield on the eastern side of the oneidand in the chain that
held human life. The idand was labeled on maps as October Revolution Idand, but none of those sheets
indicated that there was any habitation here, ten degrees above the Arctic Circle. The existence of the
arfied and the base it served was one of the most highly kept secretsin the Soviet Union.

The men gtationed on October Revolution Idand, part of aunit known only by the typically bland Soviet
code name Specid Department Number Eight, would not have caled their Situation habitable; more on
the order of barely survivable. The security forces were hilleted in poorly constructed concrete buildings
that lined the edge of the metd-grating airgtrip. But it was far underground that the true essence of the
work done in this forsaken spot was conducted.

Eight hundred feet down, accessible viaonly one large freight elevator, lay the core of Specia
Department Number Eight, known in inner circlessmply as SD8. It was run by the GRU, the Soviet
military& rsquo;s version of the KGB. And to keep the work done there secret from the KGB, aswell as
the NATO countries& rsquo; spy services, was one of the reasons that this remote spot had been
chosen.

The SD8 complex had been dug out by Nazi soldiers ill being held prisoner by the Soviet Unioninthe
mid-1950s. These men had been captured during the last years of the Second World War, and thosein



power had never seen any point in even reporting their existence, never mind repatriating them. The
prisoners were useful in certain ways, such asworking on this project. Upon completion of the task, the
German soldiers had been summarily executed and dumped into the freezing waters of the Arctic, each of
the twelve hundred bodies weighted down with aheavy iron chain.

Those Russians who worked in the complex had the highest clearances granted in the Soviet Union.
Today was to be the test of whether dl the time and expense they had put into the project over the last
severa yearswould bear fruit. There had already been one mgjor disaster, and today& rsquo;strial was
to be ether the beginning or the end for this particular project.

Professor Leonid Vasilev was the head of the theoretical arm of the SD8 scientific team, and as such was
the second-highest-ranking scientist present on theidand. But he was till number two and he often did
not agree with his superior, Professor Arkady Sarovan, who had been in charge of SD8 from the day it
was founded, during the dark and bitter years of the Great Patriotic War, the Soviet name for the Second
World War. It was Sarovan& rsquo;sjob to take theory and create action, and today he planned on
taking that first step, over Vasilev& rsquo;s objections.

&lsquo;&Isquo;lt is not ready,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev argued for the third time that morning. Hewasa
tall, dender man, with thin, straight blond hair and aface badly scarred by acne. In abriefcase, he carried
the master program for the project on severa reels of tape.

&lsguo;& Isquo; It isindeed ready,& rsquo;& rsquo; Sarovan said with forced patience. He was short and
stocky, and the body hair poking out over the collar of hiswhite coat made him look like abear wrapped
in human clothes. The doping forehead belied the brilliant mind encased behind it. & |squo;& Isquo; It must
be ready, because we have no more time. Those in power require a statement to be made, and thisisthe
means they have chosen to makeit. Thetiming is not subject to scientific redlities, but political

0Nes.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The two wereriding the e evator down to the SD8 control room, and Vasilev knew thiswasther last
chanceto talk privately.

&lsquo;& Isquo;But thereis great danger. Not only if wefail, but o if we succeed.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Sarovan shrugged. & lsquo;& Isquo; True, but if we succeed, that isfor the politiciansto sort out. The
order for this has come from the very highest level. The very highest,& rsquo;& rsquo; he repeated with
emphasis, to let the other man know that Khrushchev himself wasinvolved.

&Isquo;& Isquo;What will they do if it works?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1sguo;& 1squo;Our leaders? Or the Americans?& rsquo;& rsquo; Sarovan shrugged.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Either way, that is not our concern.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& squo;No, no.& rsquo;& rsquo; The quaver in Vasilev& rsquo;s voice testified to the fear he felt.
&lsquo;& Isquo;Not our government or the Americans. What concerns meiswhat they might doif we
succeed.& rsguo;& rsquo;

Sarovan& rsgquo;s bushy eyebrows contracted. He knew exactly whom his colleague was referring to,
and he had experienced many adeepless night consdering the problem. &Isquo;& 1squo; it islike nuclear
wespons, my friend. They are very dangerous, but as long as we keep them under positive control, they
cannot harm us.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vaslev expelled asnort of disgust. & |squo;& squo;Nuclear weapons don& rsquo;t think for
themselves.& rsquo; & rsgquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;We have positive control over the way they think,& rsquo;& raquo; Sarovan said flatly.
&1squo;& Isquo; But we don& rsquo;t understand what wes rsquo;re dealing with! We don& rsquo;t redlly
understand how they do what they do.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo;We know enough to use them.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vadlev shook his head. & Isquo;& 1squo;No, we don& rsquo;t. Wes rsquo;re meddling with unknown
forces. Things beyond our knowledge.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The argument was over asthe large elevator doors rumbled open. On the other side were a dozen senior
GRU officers, present to oversee the test. As Sarovan walked forward, hislarge paw extended to greet
them, Vasilev quietly walked over to the main console. He pulled the tapes out and did them onto their



spools on the large computers.

The control center was carved out of solid rock, and no matter how high the heat was turned, there was
adwaysadamp chill intheair. It wasasemicircular room, over seventy feet long by twenty in depth. The
front waswaled in with thick blast glass overlooking the test chamber. The test chamber was dso
hollowed out of the rock and was two hundred feet in diameter, with aceiling over fifty feet high. Thefar
wall of the chamber wasfilled with banks of capacitors, dl designed to handle the large amount of power
brought in from asmall nuclear reactor on the surface. On the floor in the center of the chamber lay the
result of twenty years of hard work by the scientists of SD8.

There were four objects shaped like coffins, eight feet long by four in width and height, evenly spaced
around a huge vertica metal tube. Their lids were open, revealing a contoured space where it was
obvious aman wasto lie. Numerous wires and tubes came out of the sides and top of each, running to
machinesthat completely encircled thefour. In the exact center was the shining metd tube, eight feet in
diameter by thirty feet in height. The tube rested securely on acradle, and severd monitoring wiresran
from the top, looping over to the control center. The bottom of the tube pointed into the floor, where a
vent shaft extended over ahdf mileinto avolcanic crack deep under theidand.

The tube was hollow, with two-and-a-half-foot-thick walls. There were two openingsin it. The one at
the bottom led into the vent shaft; the other, near the top, was a three-foot-wide section of wall that had
been unscrewed. Around the outside of the tube were numerous black wires, linked to athin network of
dlver strands crisscrossing in strange patterns.

Vadlev knew dl the expertise and guesswork that had gone into building the tube. Even getting it down
here had been atask, requiring the remova of the freight elevator for several days asthe tube was
lowered down and then maneuvered into position with great difficulty. It had been built to exact
specifications under a cloak of secrecy at the largest tank factory in the Soviet Union.

He checked his status board for the computers that were linked to the tube. The spools ran the tapes
through, loading the program. The system was ready.

A red light began flashing in the celling and a buzzer sounded. The mission wasago.

Vaslev looked across the control panel. He tapped atechnician on the shoulder. &1squo;& lsquo; The
emergency neutrdizer. Isit functioning?& rsquo;& rsquo;

The technician nodded. & Isquo;&1squo;Y es, Sir.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

& 1squo;& 1squo; Good.& rsquo; & rsquo;

A door on thefar sde of the experimental chamber opened.

On the other side of the globe and in amore temperate zone, the USS Thresher, the American

Navy& rsquo;s most advanced nuclear attack submarine, was preparing to conduct its own set of tests: a
series of degp-seadives one hundred milesto the east of Cape Cod. On board were sixteen officers,
ninety-six enlisted men, and seventeen civilian technicians to monitor her performance.

The Thresher wasthefirstin anew line of submarines. It was smdl, less than three hundred feet long by
thirty-two feet wide, and dl those extra personnel made working inside quite cramped. Today the new
ship was going to be tested to see how deep it could dive and operate. This new breed of attack
submarine had been developed to directly counter the Soviet threat of balistic missle submarines.

After getting gpprova from the commanding officer aboard the Skylark, the surface ship monitoring the
tests, the Thresher began itsfirst descent. Just over the horizon to the east, aplane circled.

Soldiers came through the door, pushing four gurneys on which were strgpped the other critical
component of the SD8 project. 1Vsran into the arms of each of the four prone men, and sheets covered
their entire body. Of al those stationed at Specia SD8, these men knew they were never going to leave
October Revolution Idand. At least not in the way that one would normally expect.

The soldierswhedled a gurney next to each coffin. They pulled the sheets asde and VVasilev could hear
the gasps from the hardened GRU officersin the control center.

Each of the four men was horribly disfigured. All four were blind, their eye sockets empty, the gaping



holes red and scarred. On each man& rsquo;s head four metal sockets extended out, having been
aurgicaly implanted through the skull directly into the brain. It had taken the scientists at SD8 many years
to perfect the technique of implanting those sockets and to determine the correct location for each.
Fortunately, they had had hundreds of prisonersto experiment on, al of whom had joined the German
soldiersinthelr watery grave.

& sguo;& squo; Was the blinding necessary ?& rsquo;& rsquo; One of the officers had stepped back from
theblast glass.

&lsquo;& Isquo;lt alows focus, Comrade Colond ,& rsquo;& rsquo; Professor Sarovan replied.

&1squo;& Isquo;Also, you can gppreciate that these men can never escape in the condition they are

iN.& rsquo;& rsguio;

Generd Vortal, the head of the GRU, gave anasty laugh. & Isquo;& Isquo;If only we could do such to all
our prisoners. A most effective anti-escape device.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vaslev could not control the choked noise he made, and the others heard it.

&1squo;& Isquo; Do you have something to say, Comrade Scientist?& rsquo; & rsquo; Genera Vortol
demanded.

&lsquo;&Isquo;l don& rsquo;t believe it was necessary to blind these men,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vaslev said.
He knew with that Smple statement his career, if not hislife, was over. But he could sense the mental
power that was coming out of the test chamber asthe soldierslifted each of the four meninto their
coffins. Vaslev had no desire to be here any longer or be apart of this.

&lsguo;& Isquo;Vasilev! & rsquo;& rsquo; Sarovan snapped, but the general & rsquo;s voice overrode his.
&1squo;& 1squo; These men are criminals, are they not?& rsquo;& rsquo; Vortol stared at Vaslev. He
waited. &1squo;& Isquo;Are they not, Comrade Scientist?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y es, Generd & rsquo; & rsquo; Vasilev findly answered.

Vortol had afile folder in hishand, and he glanced at it. &1squo;&Isquo;And we could not be assured of
their cooperation, correct?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vadlev could see that each of the four men wasinsde his case. Scientists were hooking wiresto each
body, picking up different colored leads that |ooked very similar to those going to a car& rsquo;s spark
plugs. The colors corresponded to those on the four metal sockets. They attached the leads to the
sockets and screwed them down tight. None of the four men moved; they were guinea pigs used to being
treated as such.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Comrade Genera ,& rsquo;& rsquio; Vasilev said, &1squo;& | squo; perhaps then we should
have waited until we found four men whose patriotism we could be assured of ?& rsquo; & rsquo;

& lsquo;& Isquo;And who would volunteer to alow thisto be done to them?& rsquo;& rsquo; Vortol
laughed. & lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou scientists are quite naive. Thisisdtill in the experimentd stage. If you
succeed today, then perhaps we could allow you to use different subjects.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Sir, we& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev began.

&lsquo;& 1squo; Enough! & rsquo; & rsquo; Sarovan snapped. & Isquo;& Isquo;Y ou are to stand down,
Comrade Vasilev. We will ded with you later.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vaslev looked into the chamber once more. Earphones were securely fastened onto each man&rsquo;s
ears. Rhythmic music was being pumped in through the wires at avery high volume. Vasilev knew the
purpose of the music was to keep each man& rsquo;s attention and aso to prepare the harmonics of the
brain. He had spent three years smply determining what type of music worked best, amid dl the other
aspects of this project he had worked on.

The red flashing light ceased its activity, and the experimenta chamber was plunged into darkness except
for asingle searchlight, centered on the metd tube. At asignd from Sarovan, the lids on each of the
coffins dowly swung shut. Fluid pumped in, floating the men insde, while air from the chamber was
delivered to them through atube clamped onto their mouths. The liquid was heated to exactly body
temperature and furthered the subject& rsquo;s sensory deprivation.

Vadlev wasignored asthe party gathered around a machine in the control room. Sarovan placed a
photograph of asubmarine, the Thresher, on apiece of plate glass that was on the top of one of the



machines. A light glowed upward, taking in the picture.

&Isquo;& Isquo; Thisimage is being fed through the machines directly into the occipitd |obes of each of
the four men,& rsquo;& rsquo; Sarovan explained to the military officers. & squo;&Isquo; They seeit asif
it were before their eyes. It isthe only &lsquo;light& rsquo; they have seen in weeks. They have to see
thisimage. They have no choice. We are dso intermittently sending them the location of the submarinein
aseries of image stages from large scale to small& mdash; Atlantic Ocean firgt, then narrowing down to
the exact location.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo; So they seeit and they have the location,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vortol growled.
&lsquo;&Isquo;l still do not understand how this works.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Sarovan did hisbest to swallow hissigh. & lsquo;& |squo;Comrade Generd, what we are dealing with
hereisanew physics. We cdl it the Many-Worlds Interpretation of quantum mechanics. We have been
studying it for awhile.& rsquo;& rsquo; He spoke from rote memory, while the active part of hismind
focused on the equipment in front of him.

&1squo;& Isquo;In norma quantum mechanics, you have eectricity, which isthe emission and aosorption
of virtua photons. Y ou have AM radio, which is e ectromagnetic modulation of photons, and you have
FM radio, which changes the frequency of the photonsinto what you call radio waves.& rsquo;& rsquo;
He glanced up. He knew he& rsquo;d aready begun to lose the genera, but he dways believed in
garting from aknown before moving into the unknown.

& 1squo;& Isquo; But can you see aradio wave?& rsquo;& rsquo; Sarovan continued. & 1squo;& 1squo;Fed
it?Itisthevirtua photon that propagates these waves. Thisvirtua world isal around you, the waves
passing through you dl thetime, yet you are not aware of it.

&Isquo;& Isquo;What we are doing hereis modulating the individua photons, one by one, that make up a
virtud wave. However, we are not doing an e ectromagnetic modulation exactly or afrequency
modulation, but rather we are affecting the virtual state of the photon, the virtud world that the photon,
which has action but not substance, exists in.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Sarovan spared aglance at his audience. They weretrying to look like they understood, but he knew
they didn&rsquo;t. He himsalf had aPh.D. in physics and had been working in thisfield for decades, and
he still wasn&rsquo;t exactly sure how the virtua world worked. He just knew they had stuck their toein
the door and, through sheer luck, had been able to accomplish some things.

&1sguo;& Isquo;What we have to do,& rsquo;& rsquo; Sarovan continued, & 1squo;& |squo;is generate a
coherent virtual wave of photonsinside the tube, what we cdl phased displacement, which absorbs any
physica materid, taking it from thered planeto the virtud. That iswhat the computers and
phased-displacement generator& mdash; the metal tube& mdash; arefor.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Then, like aradio station, we can send asignal of the photons which carry the object.
The phased-displacement generator is not enough, however, for usto have an effective weapons system.
The problem isthen twofold. Think how aradio wave goesin al directions asfar asthe strength of the
sgnd will propagate. Thereisno focus, no direction.

&lsguo;& Isquo; To have aweagpon, we must direct the object onceiit is on the wave, and then re-form
the object in the real world once at the target. That iswhat we use the men below& mdash; what we call
remote viewers& mdash; for. We went through over twenty thousand prisonersto find these four, men
who have the ability to & squo;see& rsquo; on the virtud or psychic plane. Who can find our target and
direct the object on the wave the proper direction and distance. Both parts& mdash; the generator and
the remote viewers& mdash; are needed to make the weapon system complete.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Something el se was being brought into the chamber below. Four soldierswheded a platform up to the
tube. Two of the men climbed onto the platform, next to awooden crate. The bottom of the platform
scissored, raising it up to alevel with the open hatch near the top of the tube. They picked up around,
green-painted shell and carefully did it into the opening. Reaching in, they attached four leads on the
ingde of the tube to the shell, then, with great difficulty, they swung shut the thick door and began
screwing it into place using long levers on the outside handles.

&lsquo;& Isquo;As you may well recognize, that isanuclear warhead designed for the S-23,



180-millimeter Lowitzer,& rsquo;& rsquo; Professor Sarovan informed the GRU officers.
&lsquo;&Isquo;ltsyidd isthe smallest possible, just under one kiloton.& rsquo;& rsquo;

There was anervous rustling among the officers.

&lsguo;& Isquo;Are we safe?& rsquo;& rsquo; Genera Vortol demanded.

&lsuo;& Isquo; The tube can contain the explosion if need be, venting it down into the

earth,& rsquo;& rsquo; Sarovan lied to them. & lsquo;& Isquo;But it will not be a problem. The warhead
will not be in there when it explodes.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The GRU officerslooked at one another, their skepticism quite apparent& mdash; both about the
explosion being contained and the bomb no longer being in the chamber.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y our explanation is not sufficient,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vortol said. & 1squo;& Isquo;It seems
to be apile of scientific excrement designed to befuddle the listener.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Sarovan shrugged his massive shoulders. & 1squo;& Isquo;l explained as best we understand, Comrade
Generd. Thereis much we doné& rsquo;t understand. Could you explain the physics of how one of your
tank gunsworks? Or ajet fighter flying? Y ou cannot, but you do know those weapons work. We know
thisworks.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;lt did not work the last time you attempted this,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vortol noted.

&Isquo;& Isquo; That was not the last time we tested this. We have run four testsin the past two years,
and dl have been successful & rsquo;& rsquio;

Vortol& rsquo;s voice was cold. &Isquo;&Isquo;L et me correct mysalf, Comrade Scientist. Thelast time
you used a nuclear warhead, it failed. With terrible consequences.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Silencefilled the control room. They al had sufficient clearances to know what had happened in late
1958. Infact, both Sarovan and Vasilev had been extremely fortunate to have survived the disaster,
mainly because they had manned the remote-viewing site, overseeing where the warhead was supposed
to have gone. Those stationed where the warhead was initiated had al perished in aterrific explosion that
had devastated alarge portion of Russian countryside to the east of the Ural Mountains, just north of the
city of Chelyabinsk. The dead had numbered in the thousands. That disaster had led to Department
Eight& rsquo;sexile to thisremote Site.

One of the scientists below indicated al was ready. The experimental chamber was evacuated and the
doors shut, leaving only the four menin the coffins.

&Isquo;& Isquo;We are now seeking to gain a coherent balance in the hyperspatid flux insde and placing
the bomb in the virtud field,& rsquo;& rsquo; Sarovan informed the military men. &1squo;& lsquo;Building
our virtua wave and containing it before release, so to speak. We must achieve this before proceeding
further. That iswhat those computers& rsquo;& rsquo;& mdash; he pointed to abank of machinesaong
the back wall of the control center, manned by a dozen white-coated technicians& mdash,

&lsquo;& Isquo;are for.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Vadlev could sense the growing unease among the soldiers as the minutes passed and nothing apparent
happened. A green light flickered on the consolein front of Sarovan.

& 1sguo;& |squo;We have coherence.& rsquo; & rsquo; There was aquiver to the scientist& rsquo;s
normaly calm voice. & lsquo;& Isquo;Initiating phase two.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Sarovan leaned dightly forward toward a microphone. His voice was low, amost soothing asit spoketo
the four subjects. & Isquo;& Isquo; The target. Y ou must find the target.& rsquo; & rsquo; He repeated the
two sentences for dmaost aminute, but nothing happened. Still speaking, he gestured with his right hand.
One of the other scientists turned aknaob.

Sarovan momentarily shut off the microphone to address the GRU officers. & squo;& Isquo;Current is
being sent directly into the brain center of each man. To the place that regulates pain. Y ou could not even
begin to imagine what they are experiencing right now.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Ahh,& rsquo;& rsquo; Generd Vortol said. &lsquo;& squo;Mativation. We have used
that direct stimulation technique on prisoners. Mogt effective torture, with no actua physica harm other
than the probe into the brain.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& squo; These men are specia ,& rsquo; & rsquo; Sarovan said. & Isquo;& Isquo; They were tested



at our Ingtitute dong with thousands of others, and these four had the highest rating on our psychic ability
scae. We have long known that certain people have an ability to do what we cdl remote

viewing& mdash; to & Isquo;see& rsquo; placesthat are physicaly distant from them, using their minds.
That ishow these men will find the target for us and & squo;aimé& rsquo;& mdash; so to speak& mdash;
the weapon.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Sarovan turned the mike back on. &Isquo;& Isquo; The target. Y ou must find the target.& rsquo; & rsquo;
He repeated that severd times.

&lsquo;& Isquo;We have alock,& rsquo;& rsquo; one of the scientists announced from his desk, watching
apand.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Show me the target,& rsquo; & rsquo; Sarovan said into the microphone.

& 1squo;& Isquo; Show me the target.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Above the tube, something flickered. A long black object appeared, the image hazy and unclear, floating
in the middle of the experimental chamber, dowly gaining more form and substance.

One of the GRU officers swore under his bresth as the forty-foot-long image became clear: asubmarine.
They could even see the propellersmoving in the air. It was an exact copy of the picture on the machine:
the USS Thresher. Theimage was not totaly solid, asthey could faintly make out the other side of the
cavern throughiit. It was nose down, diving.

&Isquo;&Isquo; That isthe Thresher asit is operating right now in the Atlantic Ocean,& rsquo;& rsquo;
Sarovan told the officers. His knuckles were white as they gripped the edge of his desk.

&1squo;& Isquo;Center the target,& rsquo;& rsquo; he whispered into the mike, then cut it off.

&lsquo;& 1squo; Arm the warhead,& rsquo; & rsquo; he ordered the man next to him, who threw a switch
and flipped open acover, revealing ared button undernegth. The GRU officersal unconscioudy took a
step back from the window. Vasilev& rsquo;s hand hovered over abutton on his console, the neutralizer
switch, his eyes focused on the chamber below.

&1squo;& Isquo; Center the target,& rsquo; & rsquo; Sarovan repeated to the four men below.

Sowly the image descended, until the tube was centered in the middle of the image.

&1squo;& Isquo; I nitiate ten-second countdown on warhead detonation,& rsquo;& rsquo; Sarovan
ordered. The man next to him dammed hisfist down on the red button.

When the countdown hit five, Sarovan leaned forward to the mike.

& 1sguo;& |squo; Project! & rsquo; & rsquo; he yelled. & lsquo;& Isquo; Project! & rsquo;& rsquio;

Therewas abright flash of light.

Theimage faded.

One of the scientists monitoring a panel spun about. & Isquo;& Isquo; The warhead is

gone! & rsquio;& rquio;

That was confirmed as the countdown passed through zero and nothing happened in the chamber.
Sarovan& rsgquo;s broad smile showed his exultation. & squo;& Isquo; The wave carried the warhead to
the target. We have succeeded! & rsquo;& rsquo;

Vadlev redized he had stopped breathing and had gone completely rigid, waiting for the explosionin the
chamber. He untensed his muscles, taking a deep breath.

&lsquo;&Isquo; That isit?& rsquo;& rsquo; Generd Vortol asked suspicioudly.

Sarovan pointed at aradio. &Isquo;&Isquo;Call your plane monitoring the area.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Alarmsrang on the Skylark. The Thresher had been at depth for fifteen minutes without a problem, but
now garbled reports were coming of eectrical trouble. Then suddenly the communication wasgone. The
sonar men on the Skylark threw down their headsets as atremendous explosion roared into their ears.
The captain of the Skylark ran to the side of hishbridge.

He staggered back as the surface of the ocean erupted in a massive mound of white water two
kilometers off his starboard bow. The fountain went up two hundred feet, then dowly subsided. Thelarge
wave hit the Skylark, rolling it thirty degrees over, and then passed.

&1squo;& Isquo; Get me contact with Thresher | & rsquo;& rsquo; the captain yelled as he ran back into the



bridge. The sonar men put their headsets back on, but al they heard were noises that everyone
associated with submarines prayed they& rsquo;d never hear: the sound, like popcorn popping in the
depths, of bulkheads giving way, and the high-pressure noise of air escaping into the ocean.

That noise meant that what remained of the Thresher was headed for the bottom and 129 men had just
died.

Far overhead, circling to the east, a Soviet TU-20 Bear-D reconnaissance plane noted what had
happened.

Generd Vortol put the radiophone down. A broad smile crossed hisface. & |squo;& Isquo; They saw the
explosion reach the surface! & rsquo; & rsquo; He grabbed Professor Sarovan by the shoulders and gave
him avigorous hug. &1squo;&Isquo; Y ou did it! & rsquo;& rsquo;

The doors in the chamber below opened, and soldiers and scientists walked in. At the other end of the
control center, Vasilev dowly relaxed. He waked over to the computers and pulled the tapes off, putting
them back in their case. He turned and walked to the eevator, knowing he was done here. He stepped in
as the sounds of the celebration behind him rose. The doors swung shut and blocked out the noise. With
ajolt, the elevator began going up.

In the control room, Sarovan pulled a bottle of vodka out of adrawer, and drinks were poured al
around. What no one remembered in the excitement was that power was sill being fed to the four men
through the leads to their heads.

Genera Vortol was beside himself. & lsquo;& Isquo;We cannot be defeated now! We have the ultimate
wegpon! We do not need Cuba to base our missiles. We can strike anywhere in the world from right
here.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Onthe surface, Vasilev stepped out of the eevator, the heavy doors diding shut behind him. The bitter
arctic wind cut into the exposed skin on hisface.

Inside the experimenta chamber, the scientist closest to one of the coffins reached forward to open the
lid, when hisright hand suddenly jerked upward. The scientist didn& rsquo;t have time to ponder this
strange devel opment for long, because the arm snapped like atwig, bone protruding from the forearm.
He screamed, staggering back.

At another coffin, one of the other scientistsjerked backward, his hands going to his eyes, tearing at
them. Fingers came forth dripping blood, holding two eyebdls, the occipital nerves il dangling.

There was amoment of shock in the control room, then Sarovan dropped the bottle and sprinted to the
pand Vaslev had been a. He dammed hisfist down on the button Vasilev had watched over. Canisters
exploded, pouring gasinto the chamber. The surviving scientists and soldiersin the experimenta chamber
turned and ran for the door, but it did shut in their face, locking themiin.

Sarovan watched asthe scientists at the last two coffins grabbed each other around the throat. The gas
was now rising insde the chamber. It was fast acting and Sarovan amost regretted having to useit, but
there would aways be other bodies to use now that they had had this success. The men trying to get out
dumped to the floor, bodies twitching as the gastore into their nervous system.

&lsquo;& Isquo;What is happening?& rsquo;& rsquo; Vortol demanded.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Everything is under control & rsquo; & rsquo; Sarovan said. He pointed at the coffinlike
objectsin the chamber. & Isquo;&Isquo; They will be dead in twenty seconds. The& mdash;

& rsquo;& raquo; Sarovan& rsquo;s jaw dropped open in shock as the heavy lidsto al four coffins flew
off, spinning through the air and crashing down. Thefour meninsdedl sat bolt upright, their heads turned
in hisdirection, eyeess socketsfixing him with their dead gaze through the gas swirling about them. The
wires gill dangled from the socketsin their heads. Something formed in the air above the men& mdash; a
black vortex, fivefeet in diameter. Sarovan had never seen anything as dark, asif the universe had
opened up and was showing him its deepest depth.

Sarovan stepped back from the blast glass, hands raised in futile defense. Lightning crackled around the
vortex, arcing outward. Then the vortex exploded and al was consumed.

Onthe surface, Vasilev spun about as the massive elevator doors buckled asif a huge hand had punched



them from the insde. The earth benesth hisfeet trembled violently, and hefell to hiskneeson theicy
runway.

Wires and tubes crisscrossed on the bed, and Sergeant Mg or Jmmy Dalton carefully scooted them
asde ashegingerly sat on the edge. With acalused hand he tenderly brushed a stray lock of gray hair
off the face of the woman lying there.

He could fed the press of her thin thigh againgt his hip, and he stared at her face, letting his hand lightly
trace over every wrinkle and line etched there by the years, lingering on the closed eydlids. Helet out a
deep breath and took her hand in his, careful not to disturb the IV linein the back of it. He leaned over,
hislipscloseto her ear. Hisvoice was alow, gravelly one, onethat gave an immediate sense of
confidenceto the listener.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Well, my Treasure, another great day in airborne country. The colond gives hisregards.
Hewas by last night. Lots of people are worried, but | know you& rsquo;re going to be dl right.
&1squo;& Isquo; The Christmas formd isonly six weeks away and, well, | waswondering if you might
want to escort this old soldier there.& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton waited, head cocked asif listening to an
answer, before speaking again.

&1squo;&1squo;Y ou& rsquo;ve been away from home for four months now. | think it& rsquo;stimeto be
coming back. | miss you.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Ddton felt her skin under hisfingers. He remembered the long years when he had so yearned for just this
sensation, to be ableto fed her once more. He leaned close and put hislipsto her ear.
&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou waited for me for five yearswhen | was aPOW, 1&rsquo;ll wait forever for you.
So we can be together once more.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& squo; Sergeant Mg or Dalton?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Ddton dowly straightened and |ooked over his shoulder at the door. A young woman, at least by his
standards young, somewherein her thirties, stood there. She held ametal clipboard in her hand.
&1sguo;& |squo;1 & rsquo;m sorry to disturb you. [&rsquo;m Dr. Kairns. | was assigned yesterday to take
care of your wife. | assume you know that Dr. Inhout, who was caring for your wife, was

transferred.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton did off the bed, his highly polished boots making contact with thetile floor. Daton wasalittle less



than average height, five foot nineinchestdl, and had astocky, well-muscled build. His face was dark
and well tanned, cut with deep lines, his hair heavily peppered with gray and cut very short. Hewalked
across and held out hishand. Kairns, after amoment of surprise, took it.

&1squo;& Isquo; Thank you for taking care of Marie, ma& rsquo;am,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said.
&lsquo;& Isquo;Well, youd rsquo;re welcome, but | haven& rsquo;t redly done anything

yet.& rsquo;& rsquo; She held up the chart. &Isquo;& Isquo;l have& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

Daton took her elbow. &1squo;& |squo;Perhaps we should talk outside.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Kairnslooked over at the bed. She knew the woman could not hear them, but she alowed hersalf to be
escorted out of the room. They waked down the hallway to an empty waiting room. Large windows
revealed Cheyenne Mountain to the west, the sides covered in snow. Between the window and the
mountain lay rows and rows of barracks, motor pools, and housing areas, al comprising Fort Carson,
home to the 4th Infantry Division and the 10th Specia Forces Group. Behind and to the right of
Cheyenne Mountain, and bardly visble, was the bright white top of

Pikes Peak, catching the firgt rays of the risng sun coming over the Great Plains of Colorado from the
ead.

Kairnsflipped open the chart once more. &Isquo;& |squo;We took another MRI and there& rsquo;s no
doubt your wife suffered an aneurysm in the anterior portion of the frontal lobe.& rsquo;& rsquo; Kairns
looked up at the sergeant mgjor. He nodded, indicating he knew what an aneurysm was.

Kairns showed him the MRI. &1squo;& |squo; it happened here. Fortunately, there wasn& rsquo;t too
much bleeding or swelling of the brain, but | have to warn you it could hagppen at any moment even
though she& rsquo;s been in hereawhile. The brain isvery strange. Very ddicate at times, very tough at
others, and there& rsquo;s much we don& rsquo;t know about it.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Why is she unconscious?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked. Ever since being admitted four
months ago, hiswife had beenin acoma

&lsquo;& Isquo;In effect, she dso suffered astroke. | thought Dr. Inhout would have explained dl

that.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo;He did, but 1& rsquo;d like to know what you think the Situation is, given that you are the
onewho isgoing to be caring for her.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Karnssad, &lsquo;&lsquo;Even if your wife regains consciousness, thereisahigh likelihood of some
brain damage. The blood that came from the burst blood vessd, well, that flow was interrupted,
obvioudy, and the part of the brain that blood vessdl feeds did not get enough oxygen for an extended
period of time.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton nodded to indicate he understood. He walked over to ahard plastic seat and sank down init. He
wore heavily starched camouflage fatigues that were covered with insignia: The Combat Infantry badge
with two stars and the Master Parachutist badge were sewn above his name tag. Below it was sewn the
small dive-mask badge indicating Dalton was scuba qualified. On hisleft shoulder was a Specid Forces
patch, of subdued green and black to match the fatigues. Above it was a Ranger tab and a Specid
Forcestab. Hewore an identical Specia Forces patch on hisright shoulder, indicating combat servicein
the unit.

The patch wasin the shape of an arrowhead, homage to the stedlthiness and craftiness of Indian warriors.
An upright dagger wasin the center, to indicate the covert way Specid Forces operated. Three lightning
bolts ripped across the dagger, representing the three means by which Specid Forces soldiersinfiltrated
their objective: by air, sea, and land. The patch, and the green beret that went along with it, were the
inggniaof the eite of the United States Army. Sergeant Mg or Daton had served thirty yearsin the unit,
one of the very few left on active service who had served in Vietnam. Morningslike this he fdt the
cumulative effect of thosethirty years.

Kairns grabbed another seat and pulled it nearby.

&1squo;& 1squo; What& rsquo;s the prognosi's, ma& rsquo;am?& rsquio; & rsquo; Kairns had an oak leaf on
her white collar, and despite the twenty-year age difference between them, she held the higher rank.
Other than her rank, the only other insignia she wore was the abacus of the Medica Corps. On hiscallar,



Dalton had pinned the three chevrons and three rockers, with astar circled by awresth in the center,
indicating he was a sergeant mgjor, the highest enlisted rank in the Army.

Kairns looked down at the chart once more, but Dalton was aware she didn& rsquo;t need it for the
information. She knew, she just didn& rsquo;t want eye-to-eye contact when she told him. He knew,
even before she spoke, that the answer would not be good. The previous doctor had been full of crap, in
Dalton& rsguo;s opinion. Even when Dalton had asked the man to level with him, the doctor had hidden
behind aflurry of medica terms, most of which, despite hisown medica training, Dalton had had to go to
thelibrary and look up. He knew more about aneurysms now than he particularly cared to. Ashe did
about the other afflictionsravaging hiswife& rsquo;s body.

&lsquo;&Isquo; Thereis most likely some permanent damage to the brain. We won& rsquo;t know
exactly how much or what kind until your wife regains consciousness.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton could hear the & lsquo;& |squo;if& rsquo;& rsquo; in her voice. He had dways been able to reed
people, and the skill was one he had honed over the years.

& 1squo;& squo; When do you think that& rsquo;s likely to occur?& rsquo;& rsquo; he asked.

&1squo;& Isquo; That& rsquo;s hard to say.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; There& rsquo;s a possibility she might not regain consciousness at dl, isn& rsquo;t
there?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked in aquiet voice.

Kairnsleaned back in her seat and looked directly at him. Dalton noted she had soft green eyes, just like
Marie& rsquo;s. He knew hiswife would have liked thiswoman. Marie had ways made friends so
eedly.

&lsquo;&1squo; Y es, that is apossbility.& rsquo;& rsquo; Kairns cleared her throat.

& 1sguo;& 1squo; Go ahead,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said.

&lsquo;& Isquo; This setback on top of your wife& rsquo;s advanced amyotrophic lateral

sclerosis& hdllip;& rsquo; & rsquo; The doctor paused.

&1squo;& Isquo;Her body has been gone for two years due to AL S,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said.
&Isquo;& Isquo;All she& rsquo;s had is her mind and now you& rsquo;re telling me that& rsquo;s
probably not going to come back?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1sguo;& 1squo;No, it& rsquo;s not.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Ddton tried to keep hisvoice steady. & 1s9uo;& 1squo; She& rsquo;s not going to regain CoNsCioUsSNess, is
she?& rsquo; & rsquio;

Kairns dowly shook her head. &1squo;& Isquo;No, | don& rsquo;t think she will.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Even though he had long expected those words, their impact surprised Daton.

&1squo;& Isquo; There& rsquo;s the i ssue& hellip; & rsquo;& rsquo; Kairns paused again.

&lsquo;& 1squo;Go on,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton dully said.

&Isquo;& Isquo; There& rsquo;s the issue of whether you want to continue the life

support,& rsquo;& rsquo; Kairns said.

Ddton rubbed his chin, fedling the dight stubble there, aware that he would have to shave when he got to
work. Hefdt arapid beating in his chest. He dipped his head and put his hand on hisforehead, hiding his
eyes from the doctor. He dowed his heartbeat as he& rsquo;d been trained, forcing his mind to accept
theredlity. Hishandsfet cold and clammy and in aremote part of his mind he knew that the blood
vessalswere closing, choking the flow of blood, and he knew he could reverse that process, he& rsquo;d
been taught that, but he didn& rsquo;t care right now. A tear rolled out of hisright eye, down his
westhered cheek.

He heard movement, and when he looked up a minute later, he was aone. He looked down the hallway.
Kairns was standing twenty feet away, writing something into the chart. Daton stood and walked over to
her.

&lsquo;& Isquo;My wife appreciates al you& rsquo;ve done for her.& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton caught the
quick quiver of her eyes and said, & |squo;& 1squo;1 & rsquo;m not nuts, Mgor. When you spend thirty
years with someone, you know what they would be thinking, so | just thought 1& rsquo;d let you know
that. And | certainly appreciate al your efforts.& rsquo;& rsquo;



Kairns nodded.

& lsguo;& squo; There& rsquo;s nothing you can do?& rsquo;& rsquo; he asked.

Kairns|et the chart hang at her sde and met his gaze. & Isquo;&Isquo;No. We have to hopethe brain
can sabilizeitsdf and that can take quite along time. If there& rsquo;s aturn for the worse, we might
have to go in to reduce pressure, but |et& rsquo;s hope that doesn& rsquo;t occur. 1t& rsquo;s been four
months now and things haven& rsquo;t gotten worse, so in away, that& rsquo;sagood sign. | am sorry,
Sergeant Mgjor.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo;Keep her as comfortable as possible & rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said. & Isquo;& Isquol
have to think about what to do.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l didn& rsquo;t mean to pressure you,& rsquo; & rsquo; Kairns hurriedly said.

&1squo;& I1squo; There& rsquo;s certainly no& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton held up hishand. & squo;&Isquo;l know. 1& rsquo;m glad you were frank with me. | appreciate
the honesty.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Ddton bid the doctor good-bye and walked down the corridor. He paused outside his wife& rsquo;s
room and watched her from the doorway for ten minutes, then reluctantly continued on, hismorning visit
done.

Shewas beautiful. Tall, six feet from her bare feet to her shining blond hair. Smooth skin, very pale,
except for ared blush on her cheeks. Icy blue eyesthat softened asthey looked at him. Her body was
exquisite, the breasts those of anubile young girl, the belly flat, the legs those of atrained dancer, the
figure bardly sheathed in awhite flowing gown that was transparent.

Another figure gppeared behind the woman. A dark-haired twin to thefirst. Thisone wore only garters
and stockings, carrying her body without the dightest hint of modesty.

The first woman circled to hisleft, the second to hisright. He felt himsalf pressed between them, the hard
and soft of their bodies molding into his, but there was a barrier between, more than the flimsy clothes,
likeathin layer of warm air. It felt smooth and caressing, but it wasn& rsquo;t the same as bare flesh.
Thewoman behind him ran her hands over his chest while the onein front reached over his shoulder and
kissed the other, before coming back to kisshim.

Feteror checked the time with irritation as the women continued their caresses. He controlled himsdlf, not
alowing histruefedingsto surface. He had no choice and it was best to let thisevent go to its
programmed conclusion.

Findly, the two women faded away, disappearing into afog, the controllers satisfied that they had
satisfied Feteror.

Hefdt full power come back on, the charge flowing into him like acleansing waterfdl, filling the pool of
hissoul.

&lsquo;& squo;We can change the women.& rsquio; & rsquio;

Feteror recognized the invisible voice, even though it came through eectronic channels. Generd Rurik,
his captor and commander.

&lsquo;& Isquo;We have a new programmer,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik continued. & lsquo;& lsquo;Heis
most skilled. He assures me he can design whatever you desire.& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik laughed.
&1squo;& Isquo;Or perhaps you would like aman? That just occurred to me. Y ou Spetsnatz warriors are
astrange breed. Fancy yoursdlf Spartans. But Spartans had no time for women, only each other. Thisis



something perhaps we should cons der?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Feteror& rsquo;s & Isquo; & 1squo;eyes& rsquo; & rsquo; clicked on. He could see Rurik now, standing at
the main control console. The generd wastall and distinguished looking, with white hair combed straight
back. His chest was covered in medas and he walked with adight limp.

&lsquo;& Isquo;l am satisfied,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror said. He could hear the echo of hisown voice,
tinny and raspy, coming out of the speaker. He knew that Rurik could change the voice, makeit more
realigtic, more human, but he also knew the general didn& rsquo;t to taunt him, to keep an edge.
&1squo;& 1squo; Sati sfied?& rsquo; & rsquo; Rurik laughed once more. & Isquo;& 1squo;Y ou had better be.
The good doctor saysit isimportant that you have everything asanorma person should. To keep your
sanity, but | doubt if you have ever been sane.& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik paused. & lsquo;& Isquo; Tell me,
Feteror. Do you dream? The doctor tells me he puts you to deep, that you must deep for your sanity.
That you must dream. Buit if you dream, what do you dream? Of the body that was once

YOUrs?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Feteror heard Rurik but his concentration was on his status. Power was at 94 percent. Good enough. All
systems were functioning. He checked the backup programs.

Generd Rurik& rsquo;s voice intruded once more. &1squo;& squo;We need more information. The
Minigtry is concerned about your previous intelligence report regarding the treety exchange with
Kazakhstan.& rsquo;& rsgquio;

& 1squo;& | squo; Concerned?& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror would have laughed but there was no laughter
configured for hisvoice program.

&1squo;&Isquo;Y ou will do your duty for the State, & rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik said. &Isquo;& lsquo;Y ou can
access the tasking now.& rsquo; & rsquio;

The State. What was the State? Feteror wondered. The one that had sent him to Afghanistan years ago
and cost him everything? But that State no longer existed. The farce that had replaced it? A husk of the
empire he had served so proudly? Where criminals were now more powerful than the government? That
was an impotent bear on the internationa scene?

He accessed the tasking that had been put into his database. As expected, he wasto surveil the Mafia
and find whether they planned to intercept a shipment of nuclear weapons that Kazakhstan was required
to send back to Russia as part of the internal strategic arms agreement between the various states that
had once comprised the Soviet Union. In return, Kazakhstan would get severa ships of the Baltic flet.
&lsquo;&Isquo; There is something €l se.& rsquo; & rsquo; Generd Rurik walked in front of the camera
that was hooked to what remained of Feteror. The general & rsquo;sleft hand was on hisright wrigt,
lightly touching ameta band. Therewasasmall green light steedily blinking on the band. That band was
Feteror& rsquo;s leash. On the ring finger of that hand was athick gold band set with severd diamonds.
&1squo;& 1squo;One of our undercover men has picked up areport that aMafia gang is making some
inquiries about old research programs.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror waited.

&1squo;& | squo;We don& rsguo;t have much information other than that there has been a contact made
with aranking officer in GRU research files. We are a bit concerned and | want you to check this out
als0.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l need more information than that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror said. & Isquo;&Isquo;Do you
know which Mafiagang it is? My database indicates severa operate in Moscow.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&1squo;&Isquo;Y es, the group run by someone with the rather interesting title of &lsquo;Oma,& rsgquo;
& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik said.

&lsquo;& 1squo; Do you have the name of the GRU officer who has been contacted?& rsquo; & rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;No. We are, of course, investigating.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Do you know the nature of the research they are inquiring into?& rsquo;& rsquo;
&1squo;& 1squo; No.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsguo;& Isquo;How do you know about the Mafiagroup, then, or that there was a contact, if you
didn&rsguo;t get it from your end?& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror asked.



&lsquo;& Isquo;We have an agent inside this Omagroup. A man posing as a bodyguard. He knows only
that thereis ameseting set with the GRU traitor. He doesn& rsquo;t know where the meeting will occur,
but it isto happen shortly. | want the name of the traitor.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l will investigate, & rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror said.

&1squo;&Isquo;Y ou may go now,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik said. He signaled to one of the technicians.

A circleof light appeared, along white tunnel beckoning. Feteror gathered himself then legpt for the
circle.

The old man had fouled himsdlf hours ago. Therewas asted collar around his neck, attached to aniron
chain, welded to apin set in the center of the concrete floor. He had determined al that by fed, ashe
was in complete darkness and had been so ever since being thrown into this pit. He had no idea how
long he had been here. He estimated about two days, but he was aware that he was very disoriented. His
last memory before this hole was of walking down the stairs to the subway in Moscow, going to work at
the Ingtitute. Hands grabbed him from behind, something was pressed over his mouth, and then he
awoke herein the darkness.

There was abucket of stale water that he had drunk from carefully, not sure when it would be refilled.
No food and no sign of his captors either.

He was naked and cold. The concrete was damp, and there was a dripping noise in one direction, but
the chain wouldn& rsquo;t alow him to reach any wall. Just twenty feet of rough concrete floor in every
direction.

He sensed something change. A presence. He looked about but he could see nothing.

He started when the voice came out of the darkness. & 1squo;& | squo;Professor Vasilev.& rsquo; & rsquo;
The old man spun about but could see nothing.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Professor Vasilev.& rsquo; & rsquo; The voice was deep, deeper than any voice Vasilev
had ever heard, with arough edgeto it that made the hair on the back of his neck stand on end.

The old man wet hislipswith aswollen tongue. & Isquo;& |squo;Y es?& rsquo;& rsquo; His voice was
wesk, quavering, bouncing into the walls and being absorbed. His heart rate increased dramatically as
two red objects appeared, about seven feet above the floor, glowing like codsin the darkness. Eyes.
&1sguo;& 1squo;Who are you?& rsquo; & rsquo; Vasilev whispered.

&lsquo;&Isquo;l am Chyort,& rsquo;& rsquo; the voice rasped. &Isquo;& Isquo; The

devil.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vasilev& rsquo;s gaze was focused on those red dots staring at him. & 1squo;& 1squo;What do you
want?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsguo;& Isquo;Where are the computer tapes from October Revolution Idand?& rsquo; & rsquo;
Vaslev swalowed. &Isquo;& Isquo;What are you talking about?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; The tapes for the phased-di splacement generator you took with you when you

left.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; There is& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Do not lie to me,& rsquo; & rsquo; the voice warned. &lsquo;& |squo; There are many
thingsworse than dying, and | am intimate with al of them. Where are the tapes?& rsquo; & rsquo;
Vadlev closed hiseyes. &1squo;& Isquo; They were updated and transferred onto floppy first, then
CD-ROM three years ago.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& |squo;Where isthe CD stored?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;With everything el se. GRU records.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo;I s the program current?& rsquio; & rsquio;

Vaslev frowned. & 1squo;& Isquo; Current?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Has it been updated to run with current operating systemsin modern

computers?& rsquo; & rsquio;

Vadlev sghed. &lsquo;&lsquo;As of afew years ago, yes, but | don& rsquo;t know if it is current with
today& rsquo;s operating systems.& rsquo; & rsquo; He looked up at the two inhuman eyes.



&lsquo;& Isquo;Where am 1?2 Why am | here?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Thisis hell,& rsquo; & rsquo; the voice said. & Isquo;& Isquo;And you are here to pay
retribution for your Sns.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Astherough, evil voice faded, so did the two cods, and Vasilev was | eft in darkness once more.

Thewalls of the conference room were covered with plagues and photos from Special Operations units
all over theworld. From the Roya Danish Navy& rsquo;s Fromandskorp-set, to the now defunct
Canadian Parachute Regiment, to the Norwegian Jaegers, the plagues were tokens of goodwill to the
men of the 2nd Battalion, 10th Specia Forces Group (Airborne) for various training and operational
missions conducted with those dite units.

Ddton knew that each of those plagues represented alot of sweat and time, and in some cases blood.
He knew that because he& rsquo;d been to every country represented on the wall and had taken part in
practically every type of exercise with the A-Teams of 10th Group. What he dso knew wasthat there
were plenty of exercises and deployments that would never have a plague to commemorate because they
were too classified to be acknowledged.

Dalton had been in 10th Group, off and on, for twenty years, with some other assignments sprinkled in
over the years. He considered the unit to be hishomein the Army, athough he had served in it at four
different places. Fort Carson, Colorado, was anew posting for 10th Group, the unit being transferred
therein the mid-nineties during around of base closuresthat had shut down its longtime home at Fort
Devens, Massachusetts. The 1t Battalion of the 10th Group had been staged forward in Germany since
the unit had comeinto existencein thelatefifties. First at

Bad Tolz, aformer SStraining barracks, where Dalton had done two tours, then, more recently, when
Bad Tolz was given back to the Germans, at Stuttgart.

If there was one congtant in Daton& rsquo;s military life, it was change, and this morning he was ready
for whatever was going to belaid on the table. As soon as he& rsquo;d come to work, he& rsquo;d been
grabbed by the battalion adjutant and told that there was an important meeting in five minutesin the
conference room and the colond wanted himto stinoniit.

Since the briefing hadn& rsquo;t yet started, he had no ideawhat this was about, but he had a bad fedling,
mainly due to the glimpse he& rsquo;d had of the two people in the colond & rsquo;s office, which
adjoined his. The man wore civilian clothes& mdash; ablack turtleneck under an expensive

blazer& mdash; but it was more than just the usud military distrust of those not in uniform that generated
Ddton& rsquo;s negative fedings. Daton had been in Specid Operationsfor over thirty years now, and
he could read Agency inaman aseasly asif he had the letters of his organization imprinted on his
forehead with a bright red tattoo. The man was either CIA, DIA, or NSA. The other personinthe
colondl & rsquo;s office was awoman, dressed in atailored suit, her blond hair drawn tight. Dalton
hadn& rsquo;t been able to get aread on her.

When Dalton had wa ked into the conference room, he& rsquo;d noted there were two other people
aready there: Captain Anderson and Master Sergeant Trilly, acombination that Daton found strange.
Anderson was the battalion assistant operations officer. Trilly was the team sergeant for ODA 054.
Ddton had greeted them both, then taken his usua seat next to the head of the table.

ODA stood for Operational Detachment Alphaand wasthe officid designation for the basic
organizationa element of Specid Forces, more commonly caled an A-Team. The company



headquarters, one hierarchical level below Daton but one above the ODA, was the ODB, or B-Team,
each of which commanded five ODAs. Daton was the sergeant mgjor of the battalion, or ODC, which
had three ODBsin it, and fifteen ODAs. Anderson was the man who helped plan the missonsall those
teams went on.

What set the Specia Forces units gpart from the rest of the Army wasthat SF troopers rarely operated
tacticaly at any higher level than the A-Team. The B and C teams existed mainly for command and
support purposes. This placed agreat deal of responsbility on those at the lowest levels and was the
major reason Specia Forceslooked for very mature soldiersto fill itsranks.

Dalton had alot of respect for Captain Anderson, who had commanded a team for two years before
being brought up to battalion for the past year, but not as much for Trilly. Anderson was aWest Pointer
who had commanded acompany in the Infantry before going through Specid Forcestraining. Hewas Six
feet tdl and in great shape, able to keep up with the physical demands of the training ateam went
through. He had dark hair cut tight against his skull, flecks of gray aready gppearing dong the sdes. The
most important traits Anderson had, in Daton& rsquo;s opinion, were the ability to know what he could
do and what he couldn& rsquo;t and hiswillingnessto trust his men to do their jobs. Too many officers
that Dalton had served with over the years had held back their implicit trust from those they commanded,
and in asdf-fulfilling prophecy, that lack had esten away at the integrity of the unit.

The problem with Trilly, in Daton& rsquo;s opinion, was that he smply didn& rsquo;t have enough
Specid Forces experience. Trilly had gone through the Specid Forces qudification course asasenior
E-7, after fifteen years of duty in the air defense artillery. He& rsquo;d come to 10th Group three years
ago, been promoted to E-8 six months ago, and, despite Dalton& rsquo;s misgivings, been given the team
sergeant dot based on hisrank. Daton had convinced Colonel Metter to assign Trilly to 054, which he
felt had the strongest team leader in the battalion, commanding what was probably the best team. But
where was the team |eader? Daton wondered. If 054 was going to be used in some sort of operation,
the team leader should have been present.

Dalton knew both of the men from atraining experience they had gone through as part of atwo-team
contingent three years ago& mdash; a classified experience that was not represented by a plague on the
wall.

Dalton turned his attention from the other men as the colond and two civilianscamein.

&1squo;& Isquo;All right,& rsquo; & rsquo; Colond Metter said as he walked to the end of the conference
table. &squo;& Isquo;L et& rsquo;s get this going.& rsquo;& rsquo; He pointed to hisright.
&lsquo;&Isquo; Thisis Mr. Raisor, from the Centra Intelligence Agency. He& rsquo;s brought usa
high-leve tasking direct from Washington for one A-Team to participate in some rather unique training.
Accompanying Mr. Raisor is Dr. Hammond.& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter pointed to the woman.
&1squo;&Isquo;Mr. Raisor, Dr. Hammond, thisis Captain Anderson and Master Sergeant Trilly. As
YOU& rsquo;ve regquested.& rsquo;& rsquio;

That answered one of Daton& rsquo;sfirst questions.

Raisor and Hammond leaned across the conference table and shook each man& rsquo;s hand.

Raisor& rsquo;s grip was strong, his body lean. He had thinning black hair and a thin face that was bland
inaway that Daton associated with bureauicratic spies. But the man& rsquo;s eyes caught

Daton& rsgquo;s attention. They were flat and emotionless, most bored. Dalton had seen that |ook
before. Dead eyes, the sign of someone who had done dirty work in the covert world, and the only time
eyeslikethat came alive was when someone& rsquo;s life was on the line. Daton had worked with men
like that, who relished combat, not concerned about the cost in terms of human suffering and death. That
put Daton on dert, because it meant the CIA had assigned one of itsfew killersto this project. Raisor
had something in his hand that he was fingering, but Dalton couldn& rsquo;t make out exactly what it was,
only catching aglint of gold.

&lsquo;&Isquo;And thisis Sergeant Mgor Daton, my senior enlisted man.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Raisor met his gaze briefly and Daton swore there was the hint of a cold smile on the agent& rsquo;slips,
asif recognizing akindred spirit.



Raisor pulled amanilafolder out of his briefcase. Therewas ared Top Secret cover stapled toit.
&Isquo;& Isquo; Gentlemen, what 1& rsquo;m going to brief you on is classified top secret, specia
compartmentalization. Y ou may not discuss thiswith anyone, even if they have atop secret

clearance.& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor& rsquio;s voice was low and smooth, one used to speaking in dark
rooms about secret material.

& 1squo;& squo; The subject matter may seem abit, shall we say, strange, outrageous even, but let me
assureyou that thisisavery seriousissue. Firgt, though, let me make sure we can get the right

people.& rsquo;& rsquo; He did apiece of paper to the colond. &1squo;&1squo;Bes des the two men we
requested be here, we need a complete team, drawn from those who participated in Trojan

Warrior.& rsquo;& rsgquio;

&1squo;& Isquo; Trojan Warrior?& rsquo; & rsquo; Metter asked. He had taken command ayear and a
haf ago.

&lsquo;&Isquo; It was a classified training program two of our teams& mdash; 054 and 055& mdash;
participated in three years ago,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton quickly told the colondl.

Metter didn& rsquo;t even look at thelist, passing it to Dalton. Raisor& rsquo;s statement answered the
guestion asto why 054& rsquo;s team leader wasn& rsquo;t here; he hadn& rsquo;t been on the team
when it had gone through the Trojan Warrior training program. Anderson had gone through the training
asthe team leader of 055. Dalton didn& rsguo;t need to look at the list& mdash; he knew every man who
had gone through that training and how many were |eft in the battalion from the twenty-five origina
members.

&lsquo;& Isquo; It would be advantageousif you picked men from that list who did not have

families,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor added.

Dalton put the paper down in front of him. &squo;& |squo;Because you think men without familiesare
expendabl e?& rsquo; & rsgquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; Because we think men without families are better security risksfor the duration of the
operation,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor answered.

&1squo;& 1squo; Do you need afull team?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

&1squo;& 1squo;Y es,& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;We can& rsquo;t do that. Of the twenty-five names on thislist,& requo;& rsquo; Daton
sad, dtill not looking at the paper, & |squo;& |squo;there are only seven left in the battalion. The others
have either |eft the service or moved to other assignments.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Then give me dl seven.& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor sounded irritated.

Dalton held up thelist. & lsquo;& Isquo;What does Trojan Warrior have to do with this briefing? That
program was dropped two years ago.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;We& rsquo;l | get to that later in the briefing,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Then why don& rsquo;t we get started so we know what we& rsquo;re getting these men
iNto?& rsquo; & rsquo; Colonel Metter suggested.

Raisor looked at the other three Specia Forces men. &Isquo;& Isquo;l assume those of you who werein
Trojan Warrior heard of Operation Grill Flame?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton glanced at Captain Anderson, who returned the look with aroll of hiseyes. Trilly looked like he
was about to answer, but Daton beat him to it. & lsquo;&Isquo; That was the code name for a Defense
Intelligence Agency operation using remote viewers.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Raisor nodded. & Isquo;& Isquo; That is correct.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& | squo; Remote viewers?& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter asked.

&1squo;& 1squo; Psychics,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. & Isquo;& 1squo; People who supposedly could
seethings at adistance just by using their minds.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Not supposedly,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & 1squo;& Isquo;Grill Hamewasred. And,
contrary to what people believe, it ill exists. We just renamed it. 1t& rsquo;s called Bright Gate now and
we& rsguo;ve taken over operationa control of it from the military.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton didn&rsquo;t blink at the implied dam from the younger man. & 1squo;&1squo;Besides Trojan



Warrior, | know about Grill Fame from an operationa standpoint.& rsquo; & rsquo;

That gave Raisor pause. &1squo;& Isquo;What was that?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;When | wasin Lebanon in the early eighties, your people brought in some Grill Hame
operators to help search for the hostages in Beirut. We busted afew doors where they told usthey
&lsguo;saw& rsquo; the hostages being held. We came up with nothing and amost got our asses shot of f
afew times.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; The success rate has increased dramaticaly since then,& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor said.
&lsquo;& |squo; So much so, that we& rsquo;re ready to take the next step. Combine Trojan Warrior
with Grill Hame for something completely new.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The othersin the room waited as Raisor stood. He walked to the podium in the front of the room. Using
aremote, he turned down the lights. Dalton could see that the object Raisor had been playing with was a
ring, which he had dipped over hisleft pinky. It looked like acollege ring but it was much too smal for
Raisor. The dide projector came on.

Raisor& rsguo;s voice came out of the darkness next to the screen. & Isquo;& squo;Gentlemen, we are
passing into anew age of warfare.

We areliterdly entering anew dimension. One where the commonly accepted limitations of physicsand
the way combat has been conducted no longer apply.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton sighed and leaned back in his seat. He could just see Raisor briefing the Sdlect Intelligence
Committee in Congress with the same words and the same dides. It was the same way theinitial briefings
for Trojan Warrior had been conducted. He knew the dides hadn& rsquo;t been made up to impress a
bunch of green beanieswho were going to have to do what they were ordered.

&1squo;& Isquo; There has never been ajump in warfare such as the one we are making with Psychic
Warrior. The commonly accepted nexus points of war technology& mdash; the use of iron, the invention
of thefirearm, the plane, the tank, even the atomic bomb& mdash; all pae againgt the radica nature of
Psychic Warrior.& rsquo;& rsquo;

A new dide came up with the words Grill Flame written in bold black, with red flames encircling the
letters.

&lsguo;& Isquo;A little background is necessary in order to understand where we are

now,& rsquio; & rsquo; Raisor sald. &1squo;& Isquo;Operation Grill Flame was started in 1981 asajoint
Army-CIA program to examine the potentia of remote viewing, or RVing& mdash; the ability to
psychically see objects or locations a adistance. The primary responsibility for the project lay with the
Army and the unit was based at Fort Meade.

&lsguo;& lsquo;As your sergeant mgjor has noted, the project had some growing pains. In fact, to read
open source materia on the project, you would think that the Army disbanded it four years ago and that
Nno government organization is currently conducting research into any form of psychic operation.
&Isquo;& Isquo;However, | can assure you, gentlemen, that while our government has publicly
disavowed any current psychic operation, four years ago Grill Flame, under the auspices of agroup
caled Bright Gate, went degp underground at avery classified level.

&lsquo;& Isquo;At the sametime asit appeared Grill Flame was gone, we used Bright Gate to ingtigate
the Trojan Warrior program here in the 10th Specia Forces Group. Three years ago Trojan Warrior
was conducted here. It was a Sx-month training program designed to significantly enhance the
capabilities of the participants through the application of emergent human technologies and



concepts.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Raisor flashed a humorless amile. & lsquo;& Isquo;At least that iswhat wetold you it was. In redlity, the
training you men received in Trojan Warrior on such subjects as biofeedback, visudization, conscious
psychological control, meditative Sates, cognitive task enhancement, visua control, and other subject
matter& rsquo;& rsquo;& mdash; Raisor waved his hands& mdash; &Isquo;& Isquo;all that was part of the
master plan to prepare you for Psychic Warrior.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton felt aflush of anger. He& rsquo;d wondered himself at the time what the purpose of some of the
Trojan Warrior training had been for& mdash; six months of intense work on al the areas Raisor had
mentioned, dong with martia artstraining. Dalton had no doubt it had made him not only a better soldier
but a better person. However, there had been aspects, like the biofeedback and visudization training,
that he had never quite understood the purpose of & mdash; until now. He& rsquo;d seen the obvious
reason for the martia artstraining, but many of the subjects had seemed esoteric. He& rsquo;d been lied
to beforein hismilitary career, but he& rsquo;d never grown used toit.

Raisor continued. & Isquo;&Isquo;Psychic Warrior takes Trojan Warrior another step. It mergestwo
programs, one psychic, the other medical, to come up with something completely different from the
origina Grill Flame operation in remote viewing and Trojan Warrior& rsquo;s training. Something that we
fed it best to keep classified to prevent both disclosure of our capabilities and to protect those involved.
&lsquo;& Isquo;While the Trojan Warrior training was being conducted, the remote-viewing program
itself became much more efficient after years of modifying its personnel and operating procedures.
Remote viewing has become an accepted intelligence-gathering apparatus of our government, and as
such we must keep the extent of that capability secure from potentia enemies.& rsquo;& rsquio;

& squo;& squo;1t& rsquio;s been over two years since we went through that training,& rsquo; & rsquo;
Dalton said. &Isquo;& Isquo;When were you going to let usin on al this?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; When Psychic Warrior was ready for you and when we needed you,& rsquo;& rsquo;
Raisor said. & squo;& Isquo;Recently, an externd factor has entered the scene which brings anew sense
of urgency to this entire operation.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton just wanted to smack the CIA man upside the head and tell him to get on withit, to tell the facts
and details and stop being so melodramatic. If one of the battalion& rsquo;s A-Teams had conducted a
briefing like that, Daton had no doubt that Colond Metter would have aboot up the team

leader& rsquo;s assin a heartbegt. The fact that Metter sat Silently next to him told Dalton that his
commander& rsquo;s secure phone to the Pentagon must have rung in conjunction with thisvisit and
Metter was under strict orders to support the CIA.

&1squo;&Isquo;If you had let us know Trojan Warrior was preparation for further

training,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said, & 1squo;& Isquo;we could have kept most of those men inthe
battalion and we wouldn& rsquo;t have only seven left.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo; The ball was dropped on that,& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor conceded. & Isquo;& Isquo;My
predecessor did not have much faith that Psychic Warrior would ever become operational. He was
wrong. When Grill FHame wasfirst brought into being, it was very much an experimenta operation and
more concerned with testing concepts than actualy conducting operations. In places such as Lebanon, it
was used, but only asalast resort, and the results were mixed.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

Dalton could sense Raisor looking at him from the shadows. & |squo;& |squo;At times,& rsquo;& rsquo;
the CIA man went on, &lsquo;& Isquo;Grill Flame personnel were used before they were trained
sufficiently or prepared to conduct live operations.

&Isquo;& Isquo; During the Gulf War, Grill Flame was employed to find Iragi Scud missiles. The success
rate was about forty percent, which actualy is not that bad.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The dide changed and a picture of adestroyed Scud missile launcher was displayed.
&lsquo;&Isquo;More recently, we have been using Grill Flameto survell Iragi wegpons sites. Some of
the recent tensonsin that area have been the result of things the RV s& mdash; remote viewers& mdash;
have picked up in places that satellites or even the UN human ingpectors on the ground cannot gain
access t0.& rsquo; & rsquio;



Another dide, this one of afenced compound in adesert region. Daton heard Colond Metter shift in his
Seet impetiently.

&1squo;&Isquo;Y ou must have been planning on using my people for awhile,& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter
sad.

Raisor nodded. & 1squo;&1squo;Bringing some Specid Operations soldiers from Trojan Warrior on
board has always been part of the master plan.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;But you didn& rsquo;t plan on it happening this soon,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton interjected.
&1squo;& 1squo; The timetabl e has been moved up somewhat,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor acknowledged.
Dalton held up the list. & lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou till haven& rsquo;t said exactly what you want these men
for.&rsquo;& rsguo;

&1squo;& Isquo; To be Psychic Warriors, of course.& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor clicked the remote. The next
dide showed alarge, clear, verticd tube, with Dr. Hammond standing next to it, giving someideaof its
dimengons, about ten feet high by four in diameter.

Therewas athick-looking, greenish liquid inside. And floating inside the greenish liquid wasaman
wearing just ablack bodysuit with no deeves or legs. Various lines and leads went to his body. Hishead
wastotaly enclosed in an oversized black helmet out of which ran several tubes and wires. He floated
fredy, arms akimbo, hisback dightly hunched over.

Everyonein theroom sat up alittle straighter and leaned forward.

&Isquo;& Isquo; Gentlemen, thisis apicture taken of an RVer working under the auspices of Bright Gate
just last week. Asyou can see, we have come along way from the days of sitting in adark room with
subdued music playing. Thisisthedirection Bright Gate has gone, combining natural psychic power with
technological breakthroughsin physiologica psychology.

&lsquo;& Isquo; With proper input, Bright Gate RV ers can now view with a seventy-two percent success
rate of finding the correct target, with Sixty-eight percent accuracy in the intelligence picked

up.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Dalton combined those numbersin his head and he wasn& rsquo;t that impressed. He& rsquo;d
conducted specid operations, including reconnaissance missions a the strategic level, and he knew
nothing could beat a set of eyeballs on target. Real eyeballs. With athinking brain behind them. He
wasn& rsquio;t too keen on technology elther& mdash; if Grill Flame or the high-speed satdllites that the
Nationa Reconnaissance Office boasted of were so great, why had Specia Forces soldiers had to go
deep into Irag during the Gulf War to do live reconnai ssance missions?

&lsquo;& |squo; Gentlemen, & requo; & rsquo; Raisor said, hisvoicerisng dightly, & Isquo;&Isquo;we are
now ready to moveto the next stage of military action: Operation Psychic Warrior. We will no longer just
remote view, we plan to conduct actual combat operations on the psychic leve .& rsquo;& rsquo;

There was along silence before Colond Metter spoke. & 1squo;& [squo; How?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Raisor stepped in front of the screen. & 1squo;& Isquo; That is Dr. Hammond& rsquo; s area of

expertise.& rsquo;& rsquo; He sat down.

Hammond took his place. Shewastall, maybe an inch shy of six foot, and in her mid-thirties, with very
pale skin and an angular face. Her voice held the dightest tint of aNew Y ork accent.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Firs, let metdl you, Colondl, that three years ago when | initidly learned we were to
take soldiers, men with no background in thefield, and make Psychic Warriors out of them, | thought the
plan would not work. But when my people checked out how the soldiersin your battalion did during their
Trojan Warrior training, we were extremely impressed with the quaity. The nameson that list, each of
those men, could possibly be one of my Bright Gate personnel .& rsquo;& rsquo;

Colond Metter stared at the woman. & Isquo;& Isquo;Ma& rsquo;am, with al due respect to you, and |
doné& rsquo;t know you or what your rolein thiswhole thing is, the men in my battalion are the best
soldiersin theworld. They are some of the best people in the world. Don& rsquo;t stand up there and try
to put mewaist deep in bullshit. Just tell mewhat | need to know.& rsquo;& rsquo;

A red flush had climbed Hammondé& rsquo;s cheeks, her face tightening. & squo;&Isquo;All right,
Colonel. Much of the science we are dealing with on the psychometric or virtua planeisun-proven, or



evenif proven, not completely understood. Our philosophy at Bright Gate isto concern ourselveswith
what works, sometimes well before we even have aclue asto why or exactly how it works. Unlike our
counterparts at the universities, we are pragmatic first and foremost. While they dabblein theory, we
have gone places they only chat about over aglass of wine at academic receptions.

&lsquo;& 1squo;As Agent Raisor hasindicated, Operation Psychic Warrior has been under development
for many years. The basic concept isto project not just aremote-viewing capability into the
psychometric plane, which we have aready accomplished, but an actua capability to project an avatar
into the virtua plane, travel dong jump pointsto the target, or far point, and then out of the virtua or
psychometric planeinto the real plane a the far point.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1sguo;& |squo; Whoal & rsquo; & rsquo; Colonel Metter interrupted. & Isquo;& Isquo; Some background
and definitionswould be helpful. What the hdll is an avatar?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;An avatar isaform that representsthe origina in the virtua plane,& rsquo;& rsquo;
Hammond answered. &1squo;&Isquo;If you play acomputer game, whatever form you take in the game
isyour avatar. In Psychic Warrior we go one step further. We can take that avatar from the virtua plane
into the real plane at the far point. We make the avatar real.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;What the hell isthe virtua plane?& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter asked. & lsquo;& 1squo;And the
rea plane?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Hammond considered her audience for afew seconds, then spoke. & squo;& |squo; Scientistsin the last
couple of hundred years have been digging deeper into the physics of what makes up redlity. If

you& rsquo;d asked a scientist two hundred years ago what they thought redlity was, you would have
gotten avery different answer than ahundred years ago, and fifty years ago, and so on.
&1squo;&Isquo;For centuries the most Iearned men of their age believed that matter and redlity consisted
of four basic substances. fire, earth, water, and air. We have made great strides sincethen, but it is
foolish to believe we have reached the end of that path of knowledge. In some ways, people two
hundred years from now may look at us aswe look at those who bdlieved in the four base eements
composing al matter.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Early in this century it was believed that the atomic level wasthe basic building block of
matter, and thus of redlity. But with the discovery of such things as quarks and further research into
quantum physics, the realm of redity has been extended further into levelsthat couldn& rsquo;t even be
conceptuaized by the early atomic scientists.

&lsquo;&Isquo;We at Bright Gate believe the psychometric planeis beyond the plane of quantum
physics, which scientigts are till groping to understand. We cdl it the astrd or virtua plane, and there
are some proven laws of physicswe can connect to it.& rsquo;& rsquo; She smiled. & lsquo;& Isquo;l
don& rsguo;t think we need to get into the nuts and bolts of the theory, do you?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Colond Metter glanced at Daton, who returned the look, hisface telling the colonel what he thought.
&lsquo;& Isquo;As amatter of fact,& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter said, & 1squo;& Isquo;l think we

do.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Hammond frowned. & Isquo;& Isquo;Well, let me seeif | canlay it out moving from the known to the
unknown. Y ou are al awarethat thereis such athing asamagnetic field, which your compasses work off
of 2& rsquo; & rsquo; With four heads nodding, she continued. & Isquo;& squo;Y ou are d so aware that
electricity can produce an dectromagnetic field. But have you ever wondered what producesthe
electromagnetic fidd? What it is made of 2& rsquo;& rsquo;

She didn& rsquo;t wait for an answer. & Isquo;& Isquo;We call fields which produce the e ectromagnetic
fidd, hyperfields. Quantum physics, with its quarks and wave theory, isahyperfield. But there are others.
They arearound you dl thetime. In fact, there isaconcurrent hyperfield to the quantum physica one. A
virtud fidd. Itisthisvirtud field that isthe psychometric plane; the two terms are synonymous. Existing
sSde by sdeat timeswith thered plane, at other times existing very separately from each other. It isthe
boundary between these two planesthat is the entire focus of our efforts at Bright Gate.

&1squo;& Isquo;And without getting into the philosophy of it, amenta field& mdash; what you perceivein
your brain&mdash; isavirtua fied. If you perceive something to be with your mind, then it exigsin the



virtua field.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;But not in redity,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton interjected.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Most physicisiswould say no, not in redlity asit is currently defined,& rsquo;& rsquo;
Hammond said. & Isquo;&Isquo;But if our thoughts are not redity, what are they? Everything man has
ever invented or done has come out of histhoughts. So they arered in someway. So | say yes. | say
that thereisalink between the virtual world and the real world. That the line between thetwo isan
artificid onethat is congtantly being breached. And that, with the proper equipment and training, we are
ableto breach at Bright Gate and will continue to go through with Psychic Warrior.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&1squo;&1squo; Y ou say?& rsquo; & rsquo; Colond Metter said. &1squo;& |squo;isthere any

proof 2& rsquo; & rsquio;

& 1squo;& squo;1 & rsquo;ve been there, & rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & 1squo;& 1squo;l & rsquo;ve
been on the psychometric plane.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;And what happened?& rsquo; & rsquo; Captain Anderson asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;l RV ed& mdash; remote viewed& mdash; at severd points on the globe.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&1sguo;& Isquo;An out-of-body experience?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou could cdl it that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said, & Isquo;& |squo;but that isacrude
samplification of acomplex process.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;How do you know it wasn& rsquo;t just a hdlucination?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.
Hammond smiled, reveding even white teeth. & 1squo;&1squo; It might have been what you call a
hallucination, but does that make it any lessreal ? When we checked, we found out that what | saw was
real, so how | saw isnot asimportant asthefact that | saw it. | existed in the virtual world and saw the
real.& rsquo;& rsquo;

She tapped the side of her head. & 1squo;& Isquo;We must stop limiting our minds with the boundaries of
our physical brains. We accept that we can impart what existsin our minds to others through speech, or
through the visua spectrum, or any of the sensesin various modes. To understand Psychic Warrior, you
have to condder that thereis another way to bring our minds out of the physical limitations of our bodies
beyond the methods that we use every day. Those of you who werein Trojan Warrior were introduced
to these concepts.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Hammond clicked through the dides quickly until she came to the one she wanted.

&Isquo;& Isquo; These are the two planes | am talking about. Think about it. They quite clearly exist
insde each of us. We have our minds, which operate on the psychometric plane, and then we have our
bodies, which operate in the real plane. And somehow they are connected, are they not? We can take
ideas from the psychometric/virtud plane of our imagination and make them redl in the physica world,
say inapainting. And we can process things from the physical world into our brains, remember them,
even change them with our thoughtd!

&lsquo;& Isquo;What my remote viewers are able to do istravel outside of the confines of their physical
brains on the psychometric plane and observe what is happening at adistance on thered plane. Itisthe
greatest journey man has ever made! Far more significant than the first travelers across the oceans or
even our journey to the moon.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; But you& rsquo;re talking about something very different with Psychic

Warrior,& rsquo;& rsquo; Captain Anderson noted.

Hammond nodded. &lsquo;& Isquo;Y es. What we plan to do with the Psychic Warrior istravel aong the



psychometric plane, then not only & Isquo;see& rsquo; into the real world at aremote location, but act in
it through the projected avatar.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;ls there any precedence for this?& rsquo;& rsquo; Colond Metter asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Y ou& rsquo;ve dl probably seen or heard of psychics who can bend a spoon with only
the power of their mind? Well, some of those are frauds who employ trickery, but some of them are quite
red. Thisisavery base-leve effort, given that the psychic isin the same room as the spoon and can
physicdly seeit. We& rsquo;re going much further than that.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;But thisistheoretical, correct?& rsquo;& rsquo; Colone Metter pressed.

Dalton caught the glance Hammond exchanged with Raisor. & Isquo;& [squo; We& rsquo;ve conducted
some limited trial s,& rsquo; & rsquo; she said.

&1squo;& Isquo; And?& rsquo; & rsquo; Metter prompted.

&lsquo;& Isquo;And the trid s were indeed successful .& rsquo;& rsquo;

From long experience in the covert world, Daton knew she was both lying and telling the truth.
&lsquo;& Isquo;Amplify your answer,& rsquo;& rsquo; Colonel Metter prompted.

&Isquo;& Isquo;We sent an individua into the psychometric plane. That individua was ableto, at a
remote point, come out of the psychometric virtua plane as an avatar and influence the red, physica
plane.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo; Doing what?& rsquo; & rsquo; Metter asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;A smple task. Rearranging some blocksin aroom on the other side of the country from
where he& mdash; his physica body& mdash; was located.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;&Isquo;Like a child in kindergarten,& rsquo; & rsquo; Metter noted.

A flush swept Hammond& rsquo;s face. & lsquo;&1squo; Y es, like in kindergarten, Colond. We had to
start somewhere and we started with the very bas cs.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo; What went wrong?& rsquio;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

& 1squo;& |squo; Excuse me?& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond again looked at Raisor. The CIA agent gavea
very dight shake of his head.

& squo;& Isquo;l asked, what went wrong?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y ou have to understand& rsquo; & rsquo; & mdash; Hammond was picking her words
carefully& mdash; &Isquo;& Isquo;that the psychometric planeis very much unlike our redity. In some
waysit ismuch more complex; in somewaysit ismuch smpler. The biggest thing to know, though, isthat
we hardly undergand it at all.

&lsquo;& Isquo;One thing we do know isthat distance can be very confusing on the psychometric plane.
Just because you are here, that doesn& rsquo;t preclude you from being right next to something occurring
on the other Sde of theworld in the virtud plane. Something which we are only beginning to understand
isthat this space, the line& rsquo;& rsquo;& mdash; she pointed at the empty spot in the center of the
dide& mdash; &sguo;& |squo;between the psychometric and the redl plane, isvery unique. We

don& rsquo;t know exactly what separates the two, even though we can travel through it. But in going
through, there is some cause and effect, it appears.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond paused, asif considering
how to continue,

&1squo;& Isquo; Sometimes our RVers can travel greet distancesin an instant by jumping& rsquo; from
one known point to another. At other times, though, especidly if the end point desired isnot clearly
defined to the RV er, the trip may take time. Sometimes, the trip cannot even be

completed.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond shrugged. & Isquo;& Isquo; it is quite complex and requires an
understanding of very complex math to even begin to understand.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Who e seis over there?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton suddenly asked.

Hammond was startled, as was everyone else in the room. & lsquo;&Isquo;No oneis over

there.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;But your man ran into someone or something, didn& rsquo;t he?& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton
pressed.

Raisor shook his head as he spoke up. & lsquo;& Isquo;No, he didn& rsquo;t run into anyone. Something



happened and his mission ended before we would have liked it to. But by moving those blocks you make
so little of he did provethat it is possible to come out of the virtual world and into theredl a aremote
distance.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Where is this guy?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton asked.

&1squo;& Isquo; That& rsquio;s classfied information,& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor said.

&lsquo;&Isquo; Thisisaclassified briefing,& rsquo;& rsquo; Colond Metter noted.

&lsquo;&Isquo; That firgt trial with Psychic Warrior,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said,

&1suo;& Isquo;occurred amonth ago. Since that time we have been refining the

procedure.& rsquo;& rsquo; He gestured toward his partner. & Isquo;& 1squo;Dr. Hammond has& mdash,
& rsguo; & rsquo;

& sguo;& Isquo; What happened to your man amonth ago?& rsquo;& rsquo; Colonel Metter& rsquo;s
voice wasflat, but it caused Raisor to pause.

&lsquo;& 1squo;We had a problem with our equi pment,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dr. Hammond said.

&1squo;& Isquo; The problem occurred in the real world on our end. A mistake was made, amistake
which | take responshility for and which will not occur again because | have corrected the

problem.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Therewas slence as everyone in the room stared at her, waiting.

&1squo;& Isquo;Our man died. He drowned in the embryonic solution you saw on the

dide.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo;No one knows, but more importantly, no oneredly cares & rsquo;&rsquo; the man in the
long black leather coat said irritably. & lsquo;& Isquo;Y ou soldiers are fools caught in the past.

Don& rsgquo;t you redlize the State has changed?& rsquo; & rsquo;

The other man wore an olive drab greatcoat, the three stars on the shoulder boards indicating hewas a
colond inthe army, the smdl insgniaon his collar the symboal of the once dreaded GRU, the

military& rsquo;s KGB. The two men were meseting in aremote park on the edge of Kiev. The snow had
been dusted off the concrete table they were seated at. A black Mercedes, smoke coiling out of the
exhaust pipe, wasidling on the nearby road, a hundred meters away. The car rode low, due to the armor
plating built into it. The windows weretinted, hiding theinterior.

Three men, aso in long black leather coats with fur-lined collars, waited outside the car, their right hands
suspicioudy inside the front of their coats. The park had been chosen because it was very broad and
open. Anyone approaching could be seen amile away. It had originaly been built for the power dite
under Communism, those who summered in the villas dong theriver nearby. Given thefdl of
Communism and the bitter winter temperatures on this day, they had the park to themselves.

Colond Seogky didn& rsquo;t trust the man across from him, but he didn& rsquo;t redlly trust anyone
anymore, so that mattered little. His focus was on the meta briefcase the man had next to him on the
bench.

The other man, Leonid Barsk, followed that gaze and knew the colond would not be any trouble.
&lsquo;& Isquo;All isready? Y ou have the papers?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Seogky rubbed his rough leather glovestogether. & lsquo;& 1squo;Y es. 1& rsquo;ve told you

that.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo; The CD-ROM ?& rsquio; & rsquo;



&Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou did not give me much time,& rsquo; & rsquo; the colonel said.

&1squo;&1squo; Do you have it?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l have it,& rsquo;& rsquo; Seogky said. & 1squo;& Isquo;But it will cost you

more.& rsquio;& rquio;

Barsk tapped afinger againgt his upper lip, showing off the expendve Itaian-made gloves he wore, a
further contrast between the wedlth of the Russan Mafiaand the poverty of the Russan Army.
&Isquo;&Isquo;We will not have any unforeseen problems, will we?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;l have done what you wanted me to,& rsquo;& rsquo; Seogky protested.

&1squo;& Isquo;What happens beyond that is not my responsibility.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Barsk waved afinger. & Isquo;&Isquo;Ah, that iswhere you are wrong, my colond.& rsquo;& rsquo; He
ran hishand over the metal case. & squo;& Isquo;When | give you this and you give me what you say you
have, you become responsible. Even for those things that happen that you know nothing

about.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Seogky twisted on the cold bench, anxiousto be going. His vehicle was parked over two miles away. It
would be amiserable walk through the snow and ice. Barsk had told him to park that far away, citing
security reasons, but then why was Barsk& rsquo;s car here? Seogky knew the redlity of the Situation
was that Barsk had made him walk in and would make him walk back out as asign of power.

Seogky& rsquo;s feding of cold was replaced with awarm glow of anger in hisgut, not so much at Barsk
but at the breskdown of the system and the fools who had allowed it to collapse to the point where he
was stting in this park today negotiating with thisreptile of aman.

Seogky stood. & 1squo;&1squo;l have done what you have asked. If you wish to ask more, it will cost
yOu more.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Barsk aso stood. &Isquo;& 1squo;No, that iswhere you are so wrong, Colond. If | ask, you will do as
| say. Y ou are ours now.& rsquo;& rsquo; He held out the briefcase.

Seogky hesitated, redlizing the truth and import of what Barsk had just said, but he also knew that he had
crossed too many lines dready. He might aswell be comfortably situated in his new pogtion. Still he
didn&rsguo;t take the case.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Why do you want this?& rsquo;& rsquo; he reached in his coat, pulling out a sheaf of
papers wrapped in plastic and bound by arubber band. With his other hand, he pulled aplastic CD case
out and put it next to the papers.

&lsquo;& Isquo; That ismy business,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk said.

&lsguo;& lsquo; Thisinformation is old. Surdy& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;&Isquo;Y ou are thinking too much, Colond. Just give me the papers and the

CD-ROM .& rsquo;& rsquio;

Seogky hesitated. & |squo;& 1squo;Isthe money in American dollars?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo;lt is, as we agreed.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Seogky threw the papers and the CD on the tabletop and picked up the briefcase. Barsk stuffed the
itemsinto an insde pocket of his coat.

Seogky paused. & 1squo;& squo;Y ou& rsgquo;re not going to check them?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo; Even you wouldné& rsquo;t be that stupid,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk said. &1squo;& 1squo;l
assume you want to be able to spend your hard-earned money.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Seogky turned and began walking across the park. He had gone less than ten feet when he felt pain
explodein hisright sde, doubling him over. Hisfirst thought was that he& rsquo;d been shot. His second
that the firer had used a silencer, as he had heard no sound of aweapon. His hands were over the spot of
the pain and he brought them up before his eyes& mdash; no blood. The pain came again and Seogky
sank to hisknees.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Wheat isit?& raquo;& rsquo; Barsk yelled.

Seogky turned his head. The Mafia man was backing toward the M ercedes. The three guards had
submachine guns out, and they were turning to and fro, searching for the attacker.

Seogky went bolt upright as pain ripped up hisspine, asif afire were burning inside. His hands extended



out in front of him on their own, the fingersrigid in aclaw, asif there were someone stronger behind him,
moving hisbody. Asthey came up toward hisface of their own valition, hefinaly knew what was
happening. It had only been a story, whispered about in the dark corners of barracks and
officers&rsquo; quarters, only after much cheap vodka had been drunk, but he knew now the rumor was
true.

Hisfingers closed on hisface, despite his most strenuous efforts to stop them. He could see through them
that Barsk had paused before getting in his car and was watching from a hundred meters away. It was
the last thing Seogky ever saw as hisfingersripped into his own eyes, gouging the orbs out of the
sockets.

Seogky& rsquo;s scream jolted Barsk. &Isquo;& Isquo;What isit?& rsquo;& rsquo; he hissed at his
guards.

&lsquo;&Isquo;l don& rsquo;t know,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dmitri, his chief bodyguard, replied, afinger
pressed againgt the plug in his ear, listening to the reports from the outer rim of security they had
deployed around the park. &1squo;&Isquo;Our perimeter guards report we are secure. No one has
passed. And | know no one was here.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& I1squo;What the hell is he doing?& rsquo; & rsquo; Barsk stared at the colonel & rsquo;s hands as
they ripped at his own face. & squo;& |squo;Come on,& rsquo;& rsquo; he said, tapping Dmitri on the
shoulder. &1squo;& Isquo;He has our money.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Thetwo carefully walked across the snow to the colonel, who was still on hisknees, bent at the wai s,
rocking back and forth and moaning in pain. Barsk paused as he saw the blood-covered hands.
&lsquo;& Isquo;What is that?& rsquo;& rsquo; he asked, nudging his hand-tooled boot toward something
dark and red in the snow.

Dmitri took acloser look. & 1squo;& |squo;His eyes.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isguo;His eyes?& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk scanned the surrounding area. & 1squo;& Isquo;What is
goiNng oN?& rsquo; & r'squo;

Dmitri kndlt in the snow and grabbed Colond Seogky& rsquo;s shoulders. & Isquo;& Isquo; What
happened?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Seogky moaned. Dmitri pressed down on the colonel & rsquo;s shoulder, but that produced no response.
&1squo;& 1squo;What happened? Why did you do thisto yoursalf?& rsquo; & rsquo;

& 1sguo;& Isquo; Chyort,& rsquo; & rsquo; Seogky whispered.

&lsquo;& Isquo;What did you say?& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk stepped closer, avoiding stepping on the
eyeballs out of concern for his boots.

&1squo;& Isquo; Chyort,& rsquo;& rsquo; Seogky repested, then he screamed, his head snapping back,
his bloody sockets pointing skyward. His hands dapped againgt his ears. &squo;&Isquo;Make it

stop! & rsquio;& rsquio; he shouted, then blood bubbled out over his hands from his ears while agush of
red also came out of hisnose. The colonel collapsed forward into the snow, the area around the body
dowly turning red.

Dmitri felt the colonel & rsquo;s neck. & Isquo;& Isquo;He& rsquo;s dead.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Take the money. Let us go.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dmitri looked around suspicioudy. & Isquo;& Isquo;What did he mean, Chyort? What devil ishe
gpesking of ?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo; L et& rsquo;s move,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk snapped.

Dmitri scooped up the case, and they were walking quickly toward the Mercedes when Barsk suddenly
paused. &|squo;& Isquo;Did you hear that?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& |squo;Hear what ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dmitri held the briefcase, his submachine gun dung over his
shoulder.

& squo;& squo; The voi ce.& rsquo; & rsquo; Barsk turned to and fro. & 1squo;& Isquo; There& rsquo;s a
VOice.& rsguo; & rsquo;

Dmitri gave hisbossaworried look. First the colond tearing his eyes out and dying in front of them, now
this. &Isquo;&Isquo;l hear no voice.& rsquo;& rsquio;



Barsk held his hand up, silencing his bodyguard, straining to hear. Dmitri grabbed hisarm and pointed at
the snow to their Ieft. A linewas being drawn in it, but there was nothing visible that could be doing it.
Thedrawing turned into Cyrillic letters, rapidly appearing in the fresh white surface.

BETRAYAL

&lsquo;& Isgquo;What the hell does that mean?& rsquio;& rsquo; Barsk asked as the first word was
completed.

Theinvisble marker kept writing.

DMITRI

Barsk turned to his bodyguard. The man& rsquo;s face had gone white. His mouth flopped open ashe
searched for words.

&1squo;& 1squo; Y ou can& rsquo;t& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Dmitri began. He shook his head.
&lsguo;&lsquo; Thisis not possible. Words cannot appear in snow.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& 1squo;And men don& rsquo;t rip their own eyeballs out,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk noted.

GRU

Barsk reached for hispistol, but Dmitri was faster, dropping the suitcase in the snow and swinging the
submachine gun up. Thetwo other guards aimed their weapons a Dmitri.

&1squo;& Isquo; Don& rsquo;t! & rsquo; & rsquo; Dmitri yelled. & 1squo;& I1squo; Tell them to back
off&rsquo;& rsquo; he ordered Barsk.

& 1squo;& Isquo; Wait,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk ordered the guards. He stared at the bodyguard.
&lsguo;& Isquo; it istrue. The words are true.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y ou will find out how true when | take you in,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dmitri said.

&1squo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;ve listened to& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; He paused as he and Barsk heard the
sound of something moving in the snow to the right. They both turned. Footprints, large ones leaving the
impression of clawed feet, gppeared in the virgin snow. They were moving, circling in. But therewas
nothing there.

Dmitri fired aquick burgt in the direction of the footprints. Now they both could sense more than see
something moving, dmost faster than their eyeballs could track, ahazy slhouette of something big, over
seven feet tall, with two arms and two legs and what appeared to their disbelieving eyesto be wingson
the back. It was on Dmitri before he could fire again. One of the arms flashed forward, into

Dmitri& rsquo;sgut.

Barsk could hear the skin rip. Dmitri screamed as his body wasllifted into the air. The other arm of the
shadow cresture whirled down, and the two halves of Dmitri& rsquo;s body flew in opposite directions.
They fell into the snow, twenty feet gpart, blood dowly staining the white.

Barsk had forgotten how to breathe. He stared up, the vague outline of the creature rippling, but till he
could see through to what was behind it. Except for the eyes. Two bright red eyes, seven feet abovethe
ground, glared a him.

Then it was gone, just as quickly. Barsk took a step back. He paused, till holding his breath, but nothing
happened. He darted forward and scooped up the case Dmitri had dropped, then ran for the Mercedes,
not caring how wet or torn up his boots got. He jumped into the backsesat as the guards got into the front,
one of them taking the whed. The car skidded asthe driver hit the accelerator too quickly, then the
studded tires caught and the car raced for the park& rsquo;s gate.

Behind, near the two bloody bodies, awhirlwind began to circle faster and faster, the unnatura wind
blowing out the writing in the snow and the strange footprints, until dl that was|eft were the two dead
men. And then al wasill.



&lsquo;& Isquo;What exactly do you want from my men?& rsquo;& rsquo; Colond Metter asked.
&1sguo;& |squo;We want your people to continue the Psychic Warrior project,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor
replied. &1squo;& lsquo;We need trained personnel from Trojan Warrior. People who oncethey go into
the virtua world and then come out are capable of conducting military operations. Asyou know from
your superiors, Colond Metter, the Pentagon is very interested in this program and desires you give me
your complete support.& rsguo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l understand that, but you& rsquo;ve just informed me that the last person to do this
died,& rsquo;& rsquo; Colond Metter said.

&lsquo;& Isquo; That problem has been corrected,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dr. Hammond interjected.
&lsquo;& Isquo; It was a fresk accident.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Doesn& rsquo;t this RV stuff you& rsquo;re talking about take a specia person and
specific training?& rsquo; & rsguio;

&lsquo;& squo;Y es,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & Isquo;& Isquo;But as we discussed, the men on
thislist are ready dueto their Trojan Warrior training. Also, we& rsquo;ve smplified the procedure to a
large extent and we have a very sophisticated computer that provides the vast mgority of the support
needed.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou dso said at the beginning that there was an urgency to al this,& rsquo;& rsquo;
Metter said. &1squo;& Isquo; The Chief of Staff aso told me the same thing when he called thismorning.
Perhaps you could tell uswhat is causing this urgency to implement Psychic Warrior?& rsquo; & rsquio;
Raisor answered that. & 1squo;& |squo;We have alive mission that needs to be conducted in eight days.
That iswhy we need your people right away.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Whet is the live mission?& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;l can& rsquot tell you that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & Isquo;& Isquo;Only those
actually participating have a need to know.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Eight daysis not much time,& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter said. & Isquo;& 1squo;Can you train
men to do this Psychic Warrior Suff in eight days?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Raisor said, & 1squo;& squo; Wes rsquo;re here because your men have years of training as Specia
Operations soldiers and they& rsquo;ve been prepped to do thisthrough their Trojan Warrior training.
Dr. Hammond& rsquo;s people will get them & Isquo;over the fence& rsquo; into the virtuad world. That is
the big breakthrough and the part of the program that came from the medica side. We can tep directly
into the brain and give it the extrahelp it needs to go over.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& squo;l don& rsquo;t like the sound of that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter said.

Raisor pulled a sheet of paper out of hisbriefcase. He did it across the table to Colondl Metter.
&lsquo;& Isquo; That is my authorization to task you to support thismission. 1&rsquo;d love to stay here
and answer questions, but time is of the essence. We have to get back, with the team, to our
headquarters and begin training.& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor looked at his watch. & 1squo;& 1squo;We have
two helicoptersduein at the airfield in an hour. We don& rsquo;t have much timeif your

team& rsquo;& rsquo; & mdash; he pointed at Captain Anderson& mdash; & 1squo;& 1squo;is going to get
their gear together.& rsquo;& rsguo;

Metter didn& rsquo;t touch the copy of the orders. & |squo;& Isquo; These are my men. My responsibility.
| will do as| am ordered, but let metell you both something.& rsquo;& rsquo; A musclein

Metter& rsquo;sjaw quivered. & Isquo;&1squo;Y ou screw with my men and | will not smply stand

by.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; That& rsquo;s very noble, Colond & rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said, histone overly polite.
&lsguo;& Isquo;l assure you, we al want Psychic Warrior to succeed.& rsquo;& rsquo;

For thefirgt time, Dalton picked up a sense of sincerity in the agent& rsquo;s tone, which he found as
disturbing asthe previous lack of emotion. Raisor cared about this mission, Daton realized.



&lsquo;& Isquo;Can you tell me what the real-world urgency 1S?& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter asked.
&lsquo;&Isquo;l am afraid not.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Colonel Metter stood. & lsquo;& Isquo;All right. Captain Anderson, Master Sergeant Trilly, get the men
Sergeant Mgor Dalton selectsand al their equipment together and move to the airfiel d.& rsquo; & rsquo;
Anderson and Trilly saluted and waked out of the conference room to wait for Daton in his office.
Raisor began breaking down his dide projector with Hammond& rsquo;s hel p.

Dalton waked out of the room with Metter. & lsquo;& Isquo;Sir, | request permission to participate in this
training and the misson to follow.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Metter paused in the door separating his office from the sergeant mgjor& rsquo;s. & 1squo;& |squo; What
about your wife?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo;Sir, it doesn& rsquo;t look like her Situation is going to change any time soon.

She& rsquo;sin the hospital and doesn& rsquo;t need me at home like she used to, to take care of

her,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said. & Isquo;& |squo; 1 & rsquo;ve been here two years without going on a
deployment, and | gppreciate you alowing methat and your concern. But | think it&rsquo;stimel
earned my pay.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t know,& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter said. &1squo;&1squo;l & rsquo;d

hate& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Sir,& raquo; & rsquo; Daton cut in, & 1squo;& Isquo;l would rather be doing something
than sitting here with too much time on my hands. Plus, if | don& rsguo;t go, that knocks them down to
only six men. | think they& rsquo;re going to need every body they can get.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Metter folded hisarms. &lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou know something& rsquo;s jumping for them to be tasking a
team like this.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton nodded. & Isquo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t think they planned on bringing usin on Psychic Warrior
for awhile. Or even at dl, given they dropped the ball on it the last couple of years. Something redl
serious has caused their timetable to get moved up.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Metter sill had hisarmsfolded, his eyes staring hard at the sergeant mgjor. & squo;& Isquo;l want you to
come back from this.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l plan onit, Sir.& rsquo;& rsgquio;

&1sguo;& 1squo; Do you?& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter didn& rsquo;t wait for an answer. & Isquo;& squo;All
right. But you might be stepping on Trilly& rsquo;stoes. That should be his team.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo; Trilly& rsquo;s week, sir, and thisisacomposite team. | think rank will haveto prevall.

| & rsquo;ll work it out with Captain Anderson.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Metter smiled. &lsquo;&|squo;Good. | don& rsquo;t have awarm fuzzy feeling about Raisor or
Hammond, and | certainly don& rsquo;t think either of them are going to be updating me on

what& rsguo;s happening with the team.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Daton knew there were many commanders who would just wave good-bye to the team and then drop
the whole thing from their plate, focusing on things that were of more immediate concern.

Metter nodded. & Isquo;&Isquo;All right. Go with them. Make sure they don& rsquo;t get screwed.

| & rsgquo;ll check on your wife.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo;Y es, Sr.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;A weapon! & rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk threw the papers and CD-ROM disk down on the
desk. &Isquo;& Isquo; That iswhat you wanted. Not this. Seogky double-crossed us! Thisis nothing but
old papers from the archives.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The person across the desk reached out and picked up the papers and CD-ROM. The hand was old
and wrinkled, the skin mottled with liver spots. A lace cuff covered thewrig, part of arather
old-fashioned dress the owner of the hand wore. She was awoman in her mid-seventies, aimost the
archetype of the stolid woman of the Soviet days, with ablocky body and gray hair pinned in abun. She
did not seem to fit the room she wasin, amodern office with tesk furniture and wallslined with
bookcases. Thelarge, bulletproof window behind her showed aview from the top floor of the tallest
office building in Moscow. Sted shutters were adjusted inside the window, deflecting the evening light.



There had dways been crimein Russia. Under the Communists, the top criminas had been in bed with
the government, their actions controlled. A good case might be made that during the rule of Stdin, the
worgt crimind in the country& rsquo;s history had been in charge of the government. But with thefal of
the Berlin Wall and the collapse of the Soviet Union, it had been the government that had fallen out of the
bed, leaving the Mafia holding the reinsin a country whose populace was tota ly unprepared for afree
market economy. The unbridled Russian Mafia stepped forward with avengeance.

In the decade following thefdl, the Mafiagrew to the point whereit rivaled the government for control of
the country. The woman behind the desk had been at the very forefront of the growth. In fact, she knew
that the Mafiawas stronger than the government in many ways, especialy with regard to the economy.
The previous year, the country had imported atota of sixty billion dollarsin Western goods, over haf of
that had been imported illegally by the Mafia. In Moscow, the murder rate was standing at approximeately
one hundred Mafia-related killings a day. No one was being arrested for these crimes.

The old woman knew the numbers. She read the Western papers that wrote stories about her country,
because Russian papers were under the control of the Mafiaand printed lies. She was one of the seven
major chiefsin the Moscow Mafia. She had gotten where she was by being smart and by being
faraghted. And that vision told her they were milking the cow to death. Even the Russian people, dulled
asthey were by centuries of oppression and hardship, could not bear up under the weight of such crime
much longer. Thelast timeit had gotten this bad, there had been arevolution in the midst of aworld war
and three quarters of a century of Communism. But there were other cows to be milked, beyond
Russia& rsquo;s borders, and that was where her sight was aimed.

The woman adjusted her bifocas as she scanned the documents that Barsk had gotten from Colonel
Seogky.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Thisis exactly what we wanted,& rsquo;& rsquo; she said.

&1squ0;& 1squo; But& mdash; & rsquio;& rsquo; Barsk was surprised. &1squo;& Isquo;But that talks of
something old, decades old. | don& rsquo;t& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Do you think | would have sent you on awild-goose chase?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Barsk straightened. & Isquo;& Isquo;No, Oma.& rsquo;& rsquo; The word was the Russian familiar for
grandmother, and the woman behind the highly polished desk was indeed related in that way to Barsk.
But shewas cdled that by dl in her inner circle, asign of respect in the Russan matriarchal society; and
inthe dark and brutal world of the Russian Méfia, it was aword spoken with deep respect and fear.
Oma held the papers up. & squo;& Isquo; Do you think that whatever killed Colonel Seogky would have
done so if these were worthless? Or given up Dmitri to you?& rsquo;& rsquio;

Barsk shook his head. & 1squo;& |squo;No, Oma.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Omasighed. &Isquo;&Isquo;Grandson, | have tried to teach you, but you are thickheaded. Y ou must
understand that where there is smoke, there is fire. None of those things would have happened if these
papers were not very important. The GRU turned Dmitri and there was areason for

that.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& squo; Y ou knew about Dmitri ?& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk asked.

Omalooked over the rim of her glasses. & squo;& Isquo; Of course. But he was your

respongbility.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& sguo;& Isquo;He could have killed mel & rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk objected.

&lsguo;& Isquo;He could have. It wasarisk but | felt it was agood learning point for you. One cannot
learn from words. Experienceisthe best teacher. If one does not survive the experience, then that isalso
best.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Barsk bowed his head to hide hisanger. & lsquo;& lsquo;Y es, Oma.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Sheturned to a specific page. & 1squo;& |squo; Thisiswhat we want. The phased-displacement
generator.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo;What isit, Oma?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Part of avery powerful wegpon in the right hands.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Part of 2& rsquo; & rsquo; Dmitri asked.



Oma put the papers down on the desk. & |squo;& Isquo;What do you think it was that attacked Seogky
and killed Dmitri?& rsquo;& rsquio;

Barsk swallowed. & Isquo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t know, Oma.& rsquo;& rsquio;

The old woman smiled, reveding stedl-capped teeth, ruining the matronly image.

&1squo;& 1squo; Y oué& rsquo; ve thought about it on the drive back here. Tell me your best

guess.& rsquio;& rquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo;A devil& mdash; a Chyort as Seogky said& mdash; such as my mother used to tell me
about,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk said.

&lsquo;&Isquo;A Chyort?& rsquo;& rsquo; Omadid not laugh. & 1squo;& 1squo;Y our mother was agood
woman but proneto flights of fancy. | kept her wel insulated from the real world. However, you are not
far off.& rsquo;& rsquo; She tapped the papers with afinger. & lsquo;& 1squo; These give information
about the location of apiece of awegpon that will give us power beyond anything you can imagine. |
want you to prepare amission to the site listed in these papers and recover the phased-displacement
generator.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Barsk had aready been reprimanded once. He knew better than to risk twice, even though he knew the
difficulty in executing what she had just ordered. & |squo;&1squo;Y es, Oma.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&Isquo;& Isquo; Thisis very important, Barsk,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid. &1squo;& Isquo;l will give you
more than enough support to accomplish this.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& squo;Y es, Oma.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&Isquo;&Isquo;l will send Leks with you. Listen to him.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Barsk& rsquo;sjaw tightened. Leks was his grandmother& rsquo;s chief Nn. A man with no soul.
Barsk had seen and dealt much desath, but every time hewasin Leksi& rsquo;s presence hefelt achill in
his heart. & lsquo;&|squo;Y es, Oma.& rsquo;& rsquo;

She interlaced her fingers on her lap as she sat back in the deeply padded leather chair.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Barsk, you must understand some things. Y ou thought you were going after information
that would lead you to nuclear weapons, did you not?& rsquo;& rsquio;

Barsk hesitated, then nodded.

& lsquo;& Isquo; Nuclear weapons are another piece of the puzzle we need, but Leks isin charge of
doing that and heis closeto achieving it,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid. & 1squo;& Isquo;l anticipate, if dl
goeswdll, having nuclear warheads under my control shortly.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Barsk kept hisface expressionless, athough his ssomach was churning at theimplications.

&1squo;& 1squo;Y es, Oma.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; The problem here in Russia has never been getting the nuclear bombs. There are many
left over from the Cold War. The problem has been, what isthe point in having them if you cannot do
anything with them? There have been thousands of nuclear weapons herein Russa. Have the Americans
ever been truly afraid of them? During the Cold War, yes, but not recently. Because the biggest bomb in
theworld herein Russais not athrest. But the smallest bomb, in the United States, that is athreet,
yes?& rsquo; & rquo;

&1squo;& lsquo;Y es, Oma.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo; That iswhat you are looking for. A meansfor usto be able to use the bombs once we
have them. Do you understand?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Barsk shook his head. & Isquo;& 1squo;No.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Omasmiled. &lsquo;&Isquo;Good. Y ou are learning. Just do as| ask.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& squo; This phased-displacement generator,& rsquo; & rsquo; Barsk said. &1squo;& Isquo;lt can
fireanuclear bomb to America?& rsquo;& rsgquo;

Omashook her head. & squo;& Isquo;Not by itsdlf. But it isanecessary piece.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo; But how?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& lsquo; That is beyond you.& rsquo;& rsquo; She did the papers and CD acrossto him.

& Isquo;& Isquo;Have you wondered how | knew to contact Seogky and how | knew he had accessto
these highly classified papers?& rsquo;& rsquo;



Barsk shook his head. & 1squo;& squo;No, Oma.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou lie& rsquo;& rsquo; The words were said lightly, with an edge of humor. Oma
amiled. &Isquo;&Isguo;Y oué& rsquo;ve thought about it and you assumed my information camein the
usual way. From aspy, from apaid informant.& rsquo;& rsquo; She leaned forward. & lsquo;& [squo;But
thisinformation did not come to mein the usua way.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;How did you find out, Oma?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Why, from the Chyort you met in the park, of course.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Indl directions, white-coated mountains covered the countryside below the helicopter. Seated in the
cargo bay of the Blackhawk, Dalton leaned back and took in the sights, every now and then spotting a
ski dope he& rsquo;d visited over the course of the last few years.

He had not only skied the mountains they were flying over, he had spent many days and nightstraversing
them. Part of the Trojan Warrior program had consisted of long, overland movementsto put some of the
theories they had learned to the test. Daton had participated in the training for two reasons& mdash; one
was the same reason he was on board this chopper: to make sure the men were taken care of. The other
was because the limited information they had received beforehand about the content of the training had
interested him.

The six months of intensive work had been interesting and frustrating. Some of what they were taught by
the various ingructors clearly had a connection to their war-fighting mission. But other subjects, such as
the bio-cybernetics, had seemed more radical. That training had concentrated on mentd alertness,
strength of concentration and focus, and control of the body& rsquo;s voluntary and involuntary systems,
al while getting feedback from various machines they were hooked to. They had learned to do such
things as mentally increasing the blood flow to their extremities, which was of some use during winter
warfaretraining, but at the time had not seemed worth the amount of time they had invested.

They& rsquo;d aso learned to reduce levels of muscle tension.

One aspect that had seemed very strange at the time was the training spent hooked to amachine that
gave them feedback on their dphabrain waves. They& rsquo;d learned to increase those waves, which
the trainers said resulted in decreases in anxiety and apprehension and alowed them to master stressful
and life-threatening Situations, something Daton thought he had gone along way toward achieving in
Vietnam.

All the men who had gone through Trojan Warrior& mdash; named after the figure on the crest of the
10th Specid Forces Group when it wasfirst formed in 1958& mdash; had changed, mostly for the better.
But then the training had ended, the ingtructors were gone, and everyone seemed to lose interest in the
entire program. Life went back to the normal cycle of training and deployment Specia Forces was used
to.

Dalton looked around the interior of the Blackhawk, mentaly cataloguing the other seven members of the
team. It was athing he found strange about the military, the sort of lottery that resulted in one

man& rsguo;s getting chosen to go on amission while another didn& rsquo;t get picked. One man died on
the luck of the draw while another lived. It was something he had struggled with over the years, having
too much imagination to Smply accept as othersdid that it wasjust fate.

Captain Anderson was, of course, the highest-ranking man and the team leader. But Dalton had worked
with Anderson and he knew that the younger man would defer alot of responsbility and decision making



to him due to his experience. It was the traditional Special Forcesway of doing business.

Master Sergeant Trilly had not questioned Daton& rsquo;s position or attempted to take charge of the
team during the load-out. Dalton& rsquo;s major concern was whether the man would pull hisown
weight, never mind take responsibility. Trilly had been the weakest link during the Trojan Warrior
traning.

Seated next to Trilly was Sergeant Barnes, the medic. Barneswas atal, well-built man with dark hair, in
hismid-thirties. Hisdate gray eyeswere hismost distinguishing feature. Of dl those that had gone
through the Trojan Warrior training, Barnes had been the one most deeply affected.

Staff Sergeant Stith, an engineer/demo man, was aquiet black man who, Dalton knew, had plansto get
out and go back to college to get a degree in architecture with his Gl Bill money. Sergeant Monroe, a
hulking presencein the helicopter, over six and ahalf feet tall with acompletely shaved skull, was known
for hisimaginative work with wegpons.

Thelast two members were an intelligence sergeant and an executive officer. Sergeant Firgt Class Egan
was aquiet man who wore wire-rimmed glasses. Dalton knew Egan& rsguo;s passion was reading
military history, and he felt the man was astrong asset to any team. Warrant Officer Novdlli, alarge,
dow-moving man, was the second-weakest man on the team, in Dalton& rsquo;s opinion. Dalton felt
Novdli had somehow dipped through the cracks over the years. Aswith Trilly, Dalton smply hoped
Novelli would hold hisown.

The chopper turned and Dalton looked out. He spotted the distinctive white cross of snow on the Mount
of the Holy Crossto the north. From that, he knew they were somewhere in the White River National
Forest, south of Vail, north of Aspen, and west of Leadville, in the heart of the Rocky Mountains.
&1squo;& Isquo; Check it out.& rsquo;& rsquo; Barnes nudged him, pointing forward.

Straight ahead, alarge door, camouflaged to ook like part of the mountainsde, was diding up, aleve
meta grating coming out at the bottom. A dark hole appeared on the sde of the mountain.

& 1sguo;& |squo; Some high-speed stuff, Sergeant Mg or,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barnes said.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Who the hell are these peopl €& rsquo;& rsquio;

Dalton knew that Anderson and Trilly had not had achanceto fully brief the team, but Specia Forces
men were used to missonswith vague parameters.

The blades flared and the chopper settled onto the meta grating. Daton grabbed the door handle and
didit totherear. Hefdt the chill blast of air as he stepped ouit.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Gentlemen, welcome to Bright Gate.& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor waved the team off the
helicopter. Dr. Hammond was next to him, holding her coat against the chopper blast.

It had taken them two hoursto reach thislocation deep in the spine of the Rocky Mountains. The hdlipad
was extended out of the side of amassive, thirteen-thousand-foot peak. The entire platform shuddered,
then began retracting into the hangar cut into the Side of the mountain, taking the helicopter and its
passengerswith it. Asthey cleared the side of the mountain, the door did down, cutting them off from the
outsde world.

& squo;& |squo; Thisway.& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor gestured toward alarge door on the side of the hangar
furthest into the mountain. He and Hammond led the way, the team following, carrying their geer in large
green rucksacks. Raisor paused before the door, alarge circular steel structure, over eighteen feet in
diameter. It was strangdly formed, with rings of concentric strips of black metal spaced evenly out from
the center on the polished stedl. Daton noticed that strips of the same black metal were attached to the
rock wall that extended left and right the length of the hangar, disappearing into holes drilled into the rock
where the hangar ended.

Ddton looked closdly. There was something strange about the door, in fact the whole wall the door was
st in; ashimmering effect that was barely noticegble.

Raisor punched acodeinto the pand on theright side. Daton blinked. The shimmering seemed to have
stopped. The door rolled sdeways into arecessed port. A corridor lit with dim red lights beckoned.
Raisor made a sweeping gesture with his hand and the team trooped through. The door rolled shut
behind them and Raisor again punched a code into the insde panel. Daton swore that the shimmering



came back, thistime on the insde of the door. And the inside was aso covered with the black metal
circles, branching off into holes drilled on this Sde into the rock.

Ddton followed the rest of the team down the corridor. They walked through a door, then down a
hallway cut out of the stone. Hammond opened a door and showed them alarge room with gray painted
walls and severd bunk beds.

&1squo;& squo;1 & rsquo;m sorry the arrangements aren& rsguo;t the greatest,& rsquio;& rsquo; Hammond
said, sounding not sorry at al asthe team members threw their rucks down. & 1squo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;d
like to get started right away,& rsquo;& rsquo; she added.

They followed Raisor and the doctor down another corridor degper into the mountain. The corridor
opened into alarge chamber. They al stopped, taking in the view. There were two rows of ten of the
large cylindersthat had been on the dide. Two had peoplein them, floating in the green liquid, aman and
awoman, like full-grown fetusesin suspended animation. Each wore adick black one-piece suit over
their torso.

Theteam slently walked up and stared at the two bodies.

&1squo;& squo; Don& rsquo;t touch the glass,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond warned. & Isquo;& Isquo; The
fluid insdeis supercooled and your hand would freeze to the glass.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton looked closdly and now he saw athin haze in the air surrounding the glass as the ambient room
temperature met the much lower temperature.

& 1squo;& Isquo; Supercool ed?& rsquo; & rsquo; Anderson asked.

& 1sguo;& Isquo;1t& rsquo;s necessary to dow the body& rsquo;s processes down to alow the brain to
function a ahigher levd .& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& |squo;How do they breathe?& rsquo;& rsquo; Master Sergeant Trilly asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Actualy, they& rsquo;re not breathing as you know it,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said, a
statement which caused aripple of concern among the team.

Hammond pointed. & |squo;& Isquo;Y ou see the center tube going into the helmet?& rsquo; & rsquo; Next
she pointed to a bulky machine on the outside. Clear lines coiled around the outside of a pump moving so
dowly, the action was dmost imperceptible. Theliquid in the lineswas adark blue.

&lsquo;&Isquo;A mouthpiece is attached to that lung machine. It doesn& rsquo;t send oxygenin the
gaseous form asyou are used to, but rather acooled, specid liquid-oxygen mixture directly to their lungs.
The machine actually does the work for the lungs, because we can& rsquo;t count on the autonomic
nervous system to function properly.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo; They& rsquo;re breathing that blue stuff & requo; & requo; Trilly asked in astonishment.
Hammond nodded. & Isquo;& Isquo;lt& rsquo;s smilar to what some extreme-deep-sea divers use to get
the exact right mixture of gasesto handle the depth. 1t& rsquo;s difficult to take at firgt, but you get used
to it.&rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;Breathing aliquid?& rsquo;& rsquo; Trilly asked.

&1squo;& 1squo;Y ou don& rsgquo;t even notice after you go over,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.
&lsquo;& Isquo;Y eah, right,& rsquo;& rsquo; someone muttered from the back of the team.

&1squo;& squo; The autonomic nervous system?& rsquo; & rsquo; Captain Anderson asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;All right,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. & Isquo;& Isquo;Listen up. Now iswhen we
move you from what you learned in Trojan Warrior to Psychic Warrior. Where you learn what you need
in order to be ableto go in there.& rsquo; & rsquo; She jerked athumb over her shoulder at the tanks.
&Isquo;& Isquo;We call these isolation tanks. The embryonic fluid not only cools your body, but
suspends you so that you have no sense of physica contact with the outside world, not even

gravity.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton could read the mood of the team. Hammond had not led into thiswell at al. He stepped up next
to her.

& Isquo;& Isquo;Remember how you dl felt in airborne school at Fort Benning,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton
sad, &lsquo;& Isquo;the night before your firgt jump?& rsquo;& rsquio;

Hammond turned in surprise a hisinterruption.



&1squo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t know about you guys, but | was scared,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton
continued. & Isquo;&Isquo;Not so much of jumping, but because | had never doneit before. It wasa
new experience and everyone gets alittle nervous before trying something new.& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton
turned sdeways so that he was haf facing the team and half facing the tanks. & Isquo;& |squo;But asyou
can seg, it works. Just like you knew at Benning that all those people before had jumped and been dll
right. That doesn& rsquo;t mean it& rsquo;s perfectly safe,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton added.

&lsquo;& Isquo; But the more you learn about it, the safer it will be for you.& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton
turned back to Hammond. & Isquo;& Isquo;Sorry, Doctor. Go ahead.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;L et me explain why these isolation tanks are important,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said,
walking between the team and the tubes. & 1squo;& Isquo;Y our brain works on severd levels. What we
want to do with the machinesis alow you to remove al other inputs and distractionsto your brain and
alow you to concentrate on the virtua plane.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l don& rsquo;t call breathing a distraction,& rsquo;& rsquo; Staff Sergeant Stith
remarked.

Hammond ignored the comment. & |squo;& Isquo; There will be two major aspectsto your training here.
In the mornings, we will work on adapting you to the equipment. In the afternoons, we will work on
adapting you to your own bodies and minds.

&1squo;& Isquo; Come with me.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond guided the team out of the main chamber into
aclassroom. Shewaited until they had dl found seats. There was alarge table in the front of the room,
crowded with various machines.

She picked up ahemet, the twin of the one on the bodiesin the isolation tanks. It was solid black and
large, about twice the size of afootball helmet on the outside.

&lsquo;&Isquo; Thisisthe key.& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond turned it so that they could seeinside. She
ghonealight into it. There was athick lining that she ran her finger across. & lsquo;&Isquo; Thisisthe
thermocouple and cryoprobe projection assstance device, or TACPAD for short. Thisisthe
breakthrough that has changed everything and makes the Psychic Warrior concept possible.

&Isquo;& Isquo;We will befitting each of you shortly for your own TACPAD. What the TACPAD and
theisolation tank allow usto do is& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond paused, looking at the eight men
in camouflage fatigues. She sat on the edge of the desk. & 1squo;& Isquo;All right, let metry to explain this
asbest | can.

&lsquo;& Isquo;What we tried to do in Trojan Warrior was focus your brain. To bring out capabilities
that each of you has but that have remained dormant. But it goes beyond the training you recelved there.
| know you may not believeit, but trust mewhen | tell you thereisaresidua telepathic capability in every
person.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Many, many thousands of years ago the first human beings did not have averba
language. We were just a step, adight step, up from being monkeys. But there was abig difference: our
brain. It waslarger and more complex than that of any other species on the face of the planet. At some
point, the human brain made afantastic legp. We became tel epathic.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton raised his eyebrows. & Isquo;&Isquo;l & rsquo;ve never heard of this.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;Most people haven& rsquo;t,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. &1squo;& Isquo;But if you
went to auniversity and talked to a physiology professor, he or she would tell you that thiswasindeed
likely but it was il only an unproven theory. But we aren& rsquo;t in auniversity here, and I & rsquo;m
telling you the breakthroughs we have made prove to me that thistheory isvalid.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Thistelepathy was not as big of aded asyou might think. It wasn&rsquo;t like these
early people could & |squo;talké& rsquo; to each other with their minds. The reason they couldné& rsquo;t
was they couldn& rsquo;t talk verbaly& mdash; they had no language& mdash; so the telepathic
communication was emotiond. If someone saw alarge tiger approaching the group, that person could
usetheir mind to warn the others by sending their fear into the others& rsquo; minds. There are even
some examples of this & Isquo;pack mentality& rsquo; in the animal world today.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&lsguo;& squo; What happened to this ability?& rsquo; & rsquo; Captain Anderson asked.



&lsquo;& Isquo;It& rsquo;s il there in some people but regressed, & rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said.
&lsguo;& squo;Once we developed averba language, it wasn& rsgquo;t asimportant. The person who
saw thetiger could yell &lsquo; Tiger! & rsquo; which was just as quick and more effectivein that it
specificdly identified the threat. Since thiswas a better mode of communication, evolution took over and
the verba mode of communication became dominant.

&1squo;& 1squo;So as humans used the verbal language more and more, the tel epathic capability waned
and becameresidud. 1t& rsquo;s not entirely gone. All of you have had moments when you sensed things
despite the fact that there were no specific norma sensory inputs that gave you that information. A sixth
sense.& r'squo; & rsquio;

Hammond stood up. &lsquo;& |squo;Especidly you men. Each of you has an even stronger residual
mental cagpability than the norm. Significantly stronger. That& rsquo;swhy you were chosen for Trojan
Warrior three years ago.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Firgt, each of you isleft-handed or ambidextrous. The brain congsts of two

hemi spheres.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond pointed at her neck. &1squo;& Isquo;At the base of our brain,
our nervous system does a switch. So the right sde of your brain is responsible for the left side of your
body and vice versa. Thus aleft-handed person is right hemisphere dominant.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Both sides of your brain are pretty much the same. That makes for redundancy. There
have been clinical examples of people who have suffered tremendous damage to one hemisphere, or had
extensve surgery, who were till able to rehabilitate to amost anormal level of

functioning.& rsquo;& rsuo;

Ddton thought about Marie, lying in her hospital bed. Whatever damage the aneurysm had done,
perhaps there was hope that she would recover. Hope. Dalton knew what a two-edged sword that was
from bitter persona experience. Heforced himsdlf to accept redity: Even if by some miracle shedid
regain consciousness, the ALS would be that much worse, the disease ill progressing even asshelay in
the coma. And he knew Dr. Kairns had leveled with him& mdash; Marie was never going to wake up.
Hammond walked to the front of the room and pulled a chart down. It was atop view of abrain. She
pointed to the right Sde. & Isquo;& Isquo;But there is something very interesting that doctors have dways
wondered about right here. The speech center on the right side appearsto not work. All our speech
comes from the left Side. But the same parts are present on the right. Why?& rsquo; & rsquo; She
didn&rsquo;t wait for an answer and tapped the chart. & Isquo;&Isquo; Thisiswhere the residud
telepathic ability resdes. Thisiswherewe focus our effortsto get you into the virtua

plane.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

Hammond went back to the desk and picked up the TACPAD. & 1squo;&|sguo; This machine amplifies
the parts of your brain that can allow you to get to and operate on the virtua plane. We& rsquo;ve used
the TACPAD successtully for two years.

&Isquo;& Isquo;What the TACPAD doesin conjunction with the isolation chamber isthe

following& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; She grabbed amarker and begin writing on the board.

1 & mdash: | solation Chamber
Emphasize parasympathetic

Hammond pointed with the marker. & Isquo;& Isquo; When the parasympathetic nervous systemis
operating, your body relaxes. Y our pupils congtrict, your heart rate dows, your digestive system
practicaly shuts down, your musclesrelax. Y ou did some of this conscioudly in Trojan Warrior, asyou
remember. Theisolation chamber doesthis by lowering your body temperature to the point where your
body isadmost totdly inactive.& rsquo;& rsquio;

She pointed at thewall plug. &1squo;&1squo;Y our brain operates on such alow voltage that its power is
amogt negligible. We can& rsgquo;t exactly increase the voltage into your brain, asthat would fry the cdlls,



so we focus the power that is aready there by reducing the need for it to be expended on unnecessary
outputs. As| told you earlier, the isolation tube even does your breathing for you. It will aso control your
heartbeat.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo; How?& rsquo; & rsquo; Barnes asked.

&lsquo;&Isquo;We do direct eectricd stimulation to control and maintain your heartbeat and aso
control the nervous system in the brain.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton glanced at the other men in the room. No one looked particularly happy.

The pen squeaked against the board again.

2 & mdash; TACPAD
Cryoprobe

Sheturned the helmet once more so that they could seethethick lining insde. &lsquo;& Isquo; The
cryoprobe is a device that surgeons have used for a decade or so to target certain areas of the brain.
[t& rsquo;s a very fine probe that reduces the temperature in the target area to ninety-three degrees. This
causes the neurons there to ceasefiring, effectively shutting that area down.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo;What parts of the brain do you shut down?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

& 1squo;& Isquo; Those connected with the parasympathetic nervous system, since those bodily functions
aretaken care of by the isolation tank,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. & lsquo;& lsquo;Every milliamp
of power we can saveis critical .& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& |squo;What exactly is the microprobe?& rsquo;& rsquo; Captain Anderson asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;A microscopic wirethat isinserted directly into the targeted areas of the
brain.&rsquo;& rsquo; Asthere was an uneasy rustle in the room, Hammond quickly el aborated.
&Isquo;&Isquo; The wireis so small that you won& rsquo;t even fed it go in, and when it&rsquo;s
removed there is no bleeding. Lessthan.008 millimetersin diameter. The fact that there have been so
many breskthroughsin microtechnology in the last severd years has been one of the reasons

we& rsquo;ve been able to develop the TACPAD.& rsquo;& rsquo; She held up the helmet.

&lsquo;& 1squo; 1 t& rsquo;s so thin, you cand& rsquo;t even see the probe with the naked

eye.&rsguo;& rsguo;

She wrote again.

3 &mdash; TACPAD
Thermocouple

&lsquo;& Isquo; The thermocoupl e does the opposite of the cryoprobe. It targets those areas we want to
activate and emphasize. It raises the temperature of the designated area, which facilitatesits
functioning.& rsquo;& rsuo;

&lsquo;& squo;lsn& rsquo;t that dangerous?& rsquo;& rsquo; Barnes asked.

&1squo;& Isquo;Wouldn& rsquost that be like someone suffering heat exhaustion, where the body
temperature goes too high? | & rsquo;ve seen guys get their brainsfried like that.& rsquo; & rsquo;
Hammond shook her head. & |squo;& Isquo;No. 1t& rsquo;s very controlled and specific. Thereisa
low-grade ectrica current running through the thermocouple that does dightly over half the
emphasizing.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Hold on,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton interrupted. & squo;&1squo;Y ou just said that

it& rsquo;s not agood ideato up the voltage or amperage in the brain.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;In an uncontrolled or nonspecific manner, yes. But here, we& rsquo;re talking about less



power than you would get from adouble-A battery. [t& rsquo;s safe, | assure you,& rsquo;& rsquo;
Hammond said. &squo;& Isquo; Doctors have been using thistechnique in brain research for

years.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo; Do you use wires into the brain for that too?& rsquo;& rsquo; Anderson asked.
&lsquo;&1squo;Y es. Again, so fine that you can& rsquo;t seeit or fed it.& rsquo;& rsquo; She went back
to the board.

4 & mdash; TACPAD
Cyberlink

&Isquo;& Isquo;Not only has thistechnology been used by experimentd psychologidts, everything

| & rsquo;ve talked about up to now has aso been used for the past couple of yearsin the Bright Gate
program by our remote viewers. It isonly in the past sx monthsthat we have developed the critical piece
of technology that takes us one step beyond.

&1squo;& Isquo; The last component that makes the Psychic Warrior program possibleisthe

cyberlink.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond paused for a second in thought. & 1squo;& 1squo;Y ou& rsquo;ve al
seen or used smulators that act like the outside environment, such as pilots practice on?& rsquo; & rsquo;
Everyone nodded.

&lsquo;&Isquo;in away, the cyberlink reverses the smulator process.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond
reached into the TACPAD and held up ablack pad about two feet long by eight inchesin width with
numerous wires coming out of the back. & Isquo;& Isquo;We can use our mainframe compuiter,
code-named Sybyl, to help you locate where you are going on the virtual plane and aso to orient you.
More importantly, the computer gives you form& mdash; what we cal an avatar& mdash; in hyperspace
that you can project into real space.& rsquo;& rsquio;

& 1sguo;& | squo; Form?& rsquo; & rsquo; Anderson asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo; That isthe key to being a Psychic Warrior,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.
&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou have to be able to come out of hyperspace, or virtual redlity, and into the real world.
By using the precoded avatar formats that our programmers have developed with Sybyl, you will be able
to stay oriented whilein the virtua world and come out into theredl.

&lsquo;&Isquo; Sybyl is one of the most powerful computersin the world, perhaps the most powerful.
Sheisableto caculate at arate that was unheard of even six months ago. Because of that, sheis capable
of the vast number of concurrent cal culations needed to give your virtud redity avatar enough substance
so that you can project it into the rea world. She aso projects the power into the virtua planethat you
reconfigure into mass when you want your avatar to materidize. The power she sendsout is

critical & mdash; that& rsquo;s what alows usto make the trangtion from smply remote viewing into
being able to project the avatar form in both the virtua and red planes.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Hammond was now walking back and forth across the front of the classroom, her eyes gleaming.
&lsquo;&Isquo;But Sybyl does more than that. Sheis also your communications link back to our
operations base here. Y ou can aso access the computer& rsquo;s database for information as

needed.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammondé& rsquo;s words were tumbling over each other as she raced to get
them out. & squo;& Isquo;1t& rsquo;s truly remarkable. Y ou& rsquo;ve never experienced anything likeit.
Through the link, you can get whatever knowledge you could ever possbly need. [t&rsquo;slikeyou are
part of the computer.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo;Aslong as the computer hasit in its database, & rsquo;& rsquo; Daton cautioned.

& 1sguo;& | squo; Correct ?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Hammond stared at him. &Isquo;&1squo;Sybyl has over& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; She paused.
&Isquo;& Isquo;Sufficeit to say Ican& rsquo;t think of any information you would need that Sybyl

doesn& rsquo;t have somewhere in its memory and couldn& rsquo;t access through the



I nternet.& rsquo; & rsguo;

Raisor had been standing in the back of the class. & |squo;& Isquo; Time, Doctor,& rsquo; & rsquo; he said.
Hammond nodded. & |squo;& Isquo;All right. Y ou& rsquo;ve seen the equipment that you will usein the
isolation tank, and | & rsquo;ve told you how it will help you. The other part of your classes here will
congst of some refresher training on mind control techniques.& rsquo;& rsquo; She pulled down another
chart. &lsquo;& Isquo; These are some of the techniques our expertswill be reintroducing you

t0:& rsquio; & rsquo;

& bull; Biofeedback

&bull; Attitude

&bull; Visudization

&bull; Relaxation

&bull; Cognitive Task Enhancement

&bull; Conscious Physiological Control Meditative States Degth and Dying

&bull; Misson Commitment

&1sguo;& 1squo; Whoa,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton said, reading down the list. &Isquo;& |squo;What the
heck is death and dying? And mission commitment?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Hammond held up her hands, pams out. & Isquo;& Isquo; & lsquo;Going over& rsquo; istranscending to
another level. Alevel most people never experience. In fact, the closest experience to &squo;going
over& rsquo; that 1& rsquo;ve heard of isthose people who have near-death experiences. Who travel
out-of-body while their physicd sdlf passesinto what is often physical death. Some of our RVers
experience aninitid panic when they go on missions. The feding that they may never returnto their
bodies, that they have indeed died.

&1squo;& Isquo;We have found the best way to ded with that isto train you on the emotiond problem
you will experience, to make you fed more comfortable with the theoretical concept of death and
dying.& rsquo;& rsguio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t find deeth to be theoretical ,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said.

&lsquo;& Isquo; 1 & rsquo;ve seen it many times and it& rsquo;s damn real .& rsquo; & rsquio;

Hammond shook her head. &Isquo;& |squo;But it& rsquo;s not real when you go to the virtua plane.
There& rsquo;s another aspect to it. We& rsquo;re talking about the concept of virtua death also. That
you might encounter some conflict on one of your missionsand your virtua self iswounded or killed but
your red sdf isdtill dive. We want you to be prepared for that so you can come back to your red
saf.&rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo;So,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said, &1squo;& Isquo;what you are in essence saying isthat
you want to teach usto accept the virtual desth?& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1sguo;& |squo; Correct.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Ddton shook his head. & Isquo;&1squo;l don& rsquo;t like that. To me that means you want usto give
up. To surrender our will. There& rsquo;s abig difference between accepting aStuation and surrendering
one& rsquo;s will.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Hammond sighed. & squo;& Isquo;lt iswhat we think will be best.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& lsquo;& squo;Has anyone ever been & Isquo;killed& rsquo; in cyberspace?& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton
asked.

& sguo;& Isquo; We havend& rsquo;t had that occurrence.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond& rsquo;s eyes
shifted once moreto Raisor.

Ddton caught that look. He aso noted that the CIA agent was no longer leaning against thewall.
&lsquo;& Isquo;So this, like the other stuff you& rsquo;re talking about,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said,
&lsquo;&Isquo;is il theoreticd. For al you know, if someone& rsquo;s cybersdf their psyche, gets
killed, they are dead.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Well, that& rsquo;s theoretically possible,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said,

&Isquo;& Isquo;but the body will ill be dive. The structure of the brain will till beintact. So



there& rsquo;s no reason to believe the self can& rsquo;t be restored.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Dalton shook his head. & squo;& Isquo;But if you turned that thinking around, wouldné& rsquo;t that be
like saying if you programmed everything a person knew into acompuiter, that computer would be aive?
Would be that person?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l think if you were truly able to do such aprogram,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said,

& lsquo;& Isquo;that the computer would indeed be dive. But no one& rsquo;s been able to accomplish
that yet, so your argument holds no weight. As you noted, the Situation is exactly the opposite

here& mdash; your red self remains here at Bright Gate, while the projected sdf, with the aid of the
compuiter, will be out there on the mission.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo; Enough theorizing,& raquo; & rsquo; Raisor snapped. & 1squo;& Isquo;We have avery
tight schedule, Dr. Hammond. We should get started.& rsquo;& rsquo;

She nodded. & Isquo;& Isquo; The first thing we need to doisfit al of you for your

TACPADS.& r'squo;& rsquo;

Omahad dismissed Barsk, letting him rest after his journey from Kiev. She turned to the window and
looked out on Moscow, acity she could rightly call hers. She knew if she so desired, she could wipe out
the other six clansthat aso worked the city. But there was no point to that. Because the effort required
would not be worth the reward gained. It would be like ajacka fighting the others over an aready eaten
carcass. Omahad no trouble seeing hersaf asajackal. She believed that self-awareness was the trait
that had led her to her current level of success. One always had to be aware of one& rsquo;s capabilities
and limitations, or €lse any other kind of awareness was worthless. She knew she could not judge others
unless she was very certain where her own perspective was coming from.

Inthe midst of her musings, shefdt the hairs on the back of her neck tingle and she turned, recognizing
thefeding. A shadow flickered in the corner of her office. She waited as the shadow took on the form of
alarge creature& mdash; Chyort.

&1squo;& 1squo; Y es?& rsquo; & rsquo; she said.

&lsguo;& Isquo;Very cardessto have a GRU turncoat be your grandson& rsquo;s

bodyguard.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Thevoice echoed in her head, the rough edge giving it an inhuman qudity.

&1squo;& 1squo; Red ly?& rsquo; & rsquo; Omasaid. There was arumbling sound that she supposed was
the cresture& rsquo;s laughter. 1t caused even her hardened stomach to fed queasy.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Ah, so maybeit was not such a mistake? Whedl s within whedls

perhaps?& rsquo;& rsguo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;What | do with my personnd is none of your business,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid.
&lsquo;&Isquo;lt isif it threstens this operation.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l felt confident you could deal with it if there was a problem,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid.
&lsquo;& Isquo;And you did. So shall we move on?& rsquo;& rsquo; There was a pause. She felt thered
eyesburning into her.

&1squo;& 1squo; So perhaps you are bluffing. Maybe you didn& rsquo;t know about Dmitri. Maybel am
working with the wrong people.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;& 1squo; Y ou& rsquo;re working with me,& rsquo; & rsquo; Omasaid, &Isquo;& Isquo;because |
am the most powerful and because you know that we can achieve our goals together.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo;Remember, old hag, that my goals are the only ones| care about.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&1squo;& Isquo;l assumed that long ago,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omareplied. & lsquo;& lsquo;My main concern
iswho e se you are working for. Who made you what you are? The KGB? The GRU?& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;Perhaps | am from the devil .& rsquo;& rsquo;

Oma shook her head. &1squo;&Isquo;l know thereisno God and | need no Satan to accept the evil that
men do. | saw enough horror in the Great Patriotic War to convince me of both of those things. When |
saw what the Nazis did to my sons, my village, | knew that man could make greater evil than anything
written in the Bible. Men made you, of that | am sure.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The shadow seemed to grow behind the monster. & Isquo;& Isquo;Keep in mind that | know what you



fear. Everyone has something that controlsthem. A chainin their own mind that if someone takes, they
can make you do what they will. I know what controls you insde your own head.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Omadtared at him. &Isquo;& Isquo;If you knew such athing, | think we would be talking

differently.& rsquo;&rsquo;

The creature moved, shadows shifting in the corner. Omahad never redly been sure of the form other
than it had two arms and two legs. Occasionally she thought she could make out claws at the end of the
huge hands, and aridged spine on the back flaring into two large, leathery wings, but it wasliketrying to
watch the water come in with awave, dways changing alittle bit, nothing of permanence.

&lsquo;& squo; The Americans are aware that there is a plot.& rsquo;& rsquo;

She clenched her stedl teeth together. & 1squo;& 1squo;Was there alegk from my

organization?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;If therewas, | would not be here right now,& rsquo; & rsquo; Chyort said.

&lsquo;& Isquo; They found out from the same source that led to them stopping the beryllium shipment in
Vilniuslast year. The Americans put avery high priority on maintaining an eye on nuclear materia. They
do not trust our government& mdash; should we be surprised by that? They know how incompetent
those foolstruly are.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Do the Americans know of Phase Two?& rsquo;& rsquo; she asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Not yet.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Oma considered the way that answer had been phrased. &1squo;& Isquo;l will move up the

timetable.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo; That would be prudent.& rsquo; & rsquio;

She gtared at the demon. & Isquo;& Isquo;Was Dmitri really working for the GRU? | suspected, but | had
no proof.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;l s proof necessary? But, yes, he was turned by the GRU. Y our grandson needed a
lesson, one that the death of Seogky was not enough for. Also, it reduces his power, doesit not? Which
keeps your hand strong, does it not?& rsquo; & rsgquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Thisis my organization,& rsquo;& rsquo; Oma said, surprised at the demoné& rsquo;s
insght. &lsquo;&lsquo;l haverunit for over forty years. | do not need your help.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo;l care nothing for your organization. Only that you keep it together long enough for meto
accomplish my god. Thetarget will be & thelocation | gave you a 0800 loca time two days from
NOW.& 'SqU0; & r'squIo;

&lsquo;& 1squo; Two days? Y ou told me it would be seven! & rsquo; & rsquo;

Chyort moved again. Omaswore she could hear the click of claws on the hardwood floor. A scaly hand
with three-inch claws came into the light and picked up a Faberge egg that rested on the desk. She could
see the egg through the claw. It took al her willpower to not move her chair back.

&lsquo;&Isquo; The GRU isnot as stupid as you would like to think,& rsquo;& rsquo; Chyort said.
&lsquo;& Isquo; They have moved up the timetable while keeping atrain on the original scheduleasa
decoy. They hope to move the bombs before anyone can plan anything. | suggest you call that big Navy
ape of yours.& rsquo;& rsguo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l can handleit.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1sguo;& 1squo; Y ou have the papers on the weapon& rsquo;s locati on?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y es.& rsquo;& rsquio;

& squo;& squo;And the computer program to run the weapon?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y es.& rsquo;& rsquio;

The egg dropped back into its holder. The room seemed to expand again to norma size asthe shadow
disappeared. Oma& rsquo;s anger at being told what to do had never even had achance to get started.
Shewas smply grateful the demon was gone.

Omasat till for savera moments, reflecting on the conversation. 1t was something her husband had
taught her how to do many years ago. To always go over every encounter or conversation immediately,
to sft through and find the hidden meanings, the things said that had not been meant to be said. And what



had not been said.

She didn& rsquo;t know who the creature was. For al she knew, he was Chyort, the devil, but as

she& rsquo;d told him, she didn& rsquo;t believe in such things. Thefirst time he had appeared in her
office, three months ago, it had taken al her considerable willpower to control her fear. Chyort wasthe
name he had given himsdlf or someone had given him. She had had some of her people make inquiries,
and they had learned of amyth in the army, a myth about a creature with such aname that dated back to
the war in Afghanistan. But there was nothing more than those vague rumors. She had them checking
further, trying to uncover the truth behind the myth.

The only thing she held on to was that Chyort wanted something. And he needed her help to achieve his
god. That told her his power was limited. She had long ago learned that every relationship, whether it be
persond or business, was arope that pulled both ways. So far, Chyort had done dl the pulling, but in
doing so he had firmly handed her the other end of the rope. Oma smiled. She would wait and pull when
it was most opportune for her own godls.

She didn& rsquo;t know exactly what Chyort& rsquo;s objective was, but each encounter they had she
learned something more. Another thing he had said today that she found curious was the comment about
the & Isquo;& Isquo;Navy ape.& rsquo;& rsquo; That meant he knew about Leksi, which was not
surprising& mdash; everyone knew Leks worked for her; what was more interesting was the way he had
said it. She had picked up anote of derision. She considered that. Afghanistan and didike of the Navy.
That pointed to an army man, someone who wasin an lite unit and thus able to sneer at Leks & rsquo;s
nava commando background. That meant Spetsnatz, the Russian version of the American Specid
Forces. Omamarked that mentaly for further investigation.

She hit anumber on her phone and it automaticaly summoned who she needed. Then she leaned back in
the comfort of her chair, feding the ache in her spine as she continued to consider what she had learned
inthislatest encounter. Shewas till pondering that when agreen light flashed on the edge of her desk.
She pushed a button and the wood-paneled steel door did open.

The man who walked in drew attention wherever he went. He was just shy of seven feet tall, and his
head was completely shaved, reveding ajagged scar running from the crown down the |eft Side,
disappearing inside the black turtleneck he wore. He was not only tall, he was wide, hisbroad chest and
thick armsindicating extreme strength. He walked to the front of her desk and hdted, waiting, his manner
indicating hismilitary training.

&1squo;& Isquo;We must move up our timetable,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid.

Leks waited.

Oma& rsquo;s left hand moved, writing the information Chyort had given her onto a piece of paper. She
did it acrossthe desk. One of Leksi& rsquo;s massive hands reached down and carefully picked it up.
He peered at the Cyrillic writing, read it a second time, then handed it back to her. Shetossed itinan
opening on the left side of her desk and there was aflash, destroying the paper.

&lsquo;& Isquo;l know it is not much time, but the window of opportunity growstighter. Y ou must
accompany Barsk on Phase Two firg. Then you must immediately return and complete Phase
One.&rsquo;& rsquio;

Leks till had not said aword, atrait that Omavaued. He was aformer naval commando, an expert in
weapons and martia arts. But more importantly, he would do whatever she asked, without the dightest
hesitation. He was not particularly imaginative but he was thorough. She had dready gone over the plan
for this operation with him severa times and felt secure that he would follow it through to the | etter.
Today& rsquo;s news only changed the timetable and the order of events, not the mode of execution.
She held out the papers. &Isquo;& Isquo; Thisisthe location you must go to for Phase

Two.& r'squo;& rsquio;

He took the papers.

She did the CD-ROM across the desk. & 1squo;& Isquo; Take that. | will supply you with the man who
knows how to useit.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Leks put the CD-ROM in his pocket.



& 1squo;& 1squo; Go,& rsquo; & rsquo; she said.
Leks went out theway he had come, ill not having spoken asingle word. The door did shut behind
him, leaving her donein her high aerie.

A door did open twenty feet up and food was thrown down, thefirst indication to Vasilev that he
wasn& rsgquo;t really in ametaphysical hell. There were only torn pieces of bread and some mest that was
suspicious at best, but Vasilev wolfed it down.

When he was done, he was disappointed with himself. He should have esten more dowly. What else did
he have to do?

Theair crackled. Vasilev rose to hisfeet, swaying from weakness. The two red-coa eyes appeared.
Vaslev squinted but al he could sense in the darkness was a deeper shadow in the black of the pit.
Vadlev waited, not saying anything, but the eyes only watched him for awhile. Findly the voice came.
&1squo;&Isquo;Y ou should have died.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vadlev blinked. & squo;& Isquo;What ?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;Y ou should have died with the others. Y ou were as guilty asthose who did

die.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vadlev swalowed, trying to get moisture to hisdry throat. & squo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t know& mdash;
& rsguo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Specid Department Number Eight.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vadlev&rsquo;sthroat seized and he could only make a strangling noise.

&1squo;&Isquo;Y ou must pay for what you did.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vadlev fdl to hisknees, curling into aball, whimpering his apologies, his sorrow for what had happened
over thirty years ago.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Y ou will do what | tell you to do and forgivenesswill be yours. Only then will you know
peace. Do you understand?& rsquo;& rsquio;

Vadilev could only nod, while his mouth moved in haf-articulated gpologies.

Then, just as suddenly asthey had appeared, the red eyes were gone and he was aone once more.

Ddton was surprised the embryonic solution waswarm. It felt like molasses as hisfeet sank into it. He
resisted the urge to shake his head; the TACPAD helmet weighed heavily on his neck, and hisvison was
blocked by the pad of the cyberlink completely covering his eyes and wrapping around hishead. The
helmet was fastened on very securdly, the location determined after four hours of fitting by two members
of Hammond& rsquo;s staff in awhite room that was completely sterile. They had told him the location
had to be exact, within one hundredth of a millimeter. And they had only been able to do that after doing
complete MRI, CAT, and PET scansof hisbrain.

Asthey worked, the two technicians had talked in alingo that Daton had not understood. They had sent
cry-oprobes and thermocouplesinto hisbrain to test locations, reading results off abank of machines and
then making adjusmentsto the inside of the TACPAD. Hammond had been right& mdash; the insartion
of thelittle wires had caused no pain, or any other sensation for that matter. Still, it had been
disconcerting to smply lie there, knowing that they were penetrating directly into hisbrain, over and over
agan.

Just putting the fitted TACPAD on had taken forty-five minutes, with another thirty of testing, before they



hed strapped him into thelift harnessin the main experimenta chamber and lifted him into theair and
swung him over the isolation tank.

Hewore adick black suit that covered historso, leaving hisarms and legs free. An éectrical lead was
attached directly to his chest, and amicroprobe had been dipped through the materia and into his chest
just before they& requo;d lifted him. Even though Hammond assured him as she dipped the probe in that
the wire was s0 thin he couldn& rsquo;t possibly fed it, Daton was very aware that something had gone
into his heart, adiginctly uncomfortable feding. Thelast thing he considered himsalf cgpable of doing,
encumbered as he was, was conducting amission. Of course, he still didn& rsquo;t know the mission they
were being prepared for, but it wasn& rsquo;t thefirgt timein his career he& rsquo;d received training
without knowing exactly what it wasto be used for.

Dalton took steady, deep breaths through the mouthpiece as he was lowered further into the isolation
tank. He knew that afew members of the team were gathered around, watching, as he wasfirst to
experience being indde. The otherswere il being fitted.

The solution came around hiswaist, up his chest, then hewasall theway in. Theworst feding sofar,
other than the microprobe into the heart, was the feding of the embryonic fluid seeping into the
TACPAD, pressing up againgt hisface. Daton aso didn&rsquo;t like the fact that he could see nothing.
Hefdt neutral buoyancy, something he was used to from his scubatraining.

&lsquo;&Isquo;All right?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dr. Hammond& rsquo;s voice was loud and clear in hisears.
Daton gave athumbs-up. It was extremely hard to move in the solution. Dalton was surprised at the
viscosity of the liquid. He wasn& rsquo;t able to speak with the lung tube stuck down histhroat. It was
irritating, but the hardest part had been when Hammond had put it in, getting past his gag reflex with one
practiced push. Dalton had been on the other end of that technique several timesin hisarmy career
during hismedicd training.

& squo;& Isquo;Okay, we& rsquo;re going to do severd things, all at the sametime. Just relax. Let usdo
itdl right now.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton concentrated on his breathing. He felt abuzzing insde hishead. A light flickered in hiseyes. He
didn&rsquo;t know if it was the cyberlink pad over hiseyes or the thermocouple projecting directly into
hisbrain. The light became awhite dot.

&1squo;& Isquo;Follow the dot,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said.

The dot moved dowly to the lft.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Doné& rsquo;t move your head,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond warned.

Dalton moved his eyes and they followed the dot. Or was his brain following it? he wondered. His eyes
were covered, so they couldn& rsquo;t be& hellip;. The dot was moving the other way and Daton had to
stop hiswondering and follow it.

Thiswent on for awhile, how long Daton couldn& rsquo;t know, but he gradually became aware that he
was cold. The buzzing in hishead was il there, but he was hardly noticing it; it had become the norm.
&1squo;& 1squo; Y ou& rsquo;re doing good.& rsquio; & rsquo; Hammond& rsquio;s voi ce was more distant.
&Isquo;& Isquo; Give me athumbs-up if you hear me clearly.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton was shocked to find that he couldn& rsquo;t fedl his hand. He couldn& rsquo;t fed any part of his
body. He made the mental effort anyway. Hetried to fed hiseyelids, to determine whether they were
open or not, but there was no way he could tell.

&lsquo;& Isquo;At this point,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said, & lsquo;& Isquo;your peripheral nervous
systemisjust about shut down, so you shouldn& rsquo;t be able to fed your extremities. Y ou& rsquo;re
doing fine. We& rsquo;re doing the last part of the physical aspect now, taking over for your central
nervous system. Relax. Relax.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Ddton fdt atwingein thetubein histhroat. His chest spasmed asliquid dithered into hislungs.
&Isquo;& Isquo; Relax.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dadton was drowning, hislungsfilling.

&lsquo;& Isquo; The dot, follow the dot.& rsquo;& rsquo;

There was aflash of brightness. Then the dot reappeared, now movinginacircle.



Dalton felt asif hischest were being crushed. Hetried to expd the liquid coming in, the dot forgotten.
&1squo;& Isquo; Relax.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton wanted to tell her to shut the hell up as he concentrated on accepting the foreign substance
pouring into hislungs. He focused on the knowledge that he wasn& rsquo;t drowning, that thisliquid was
sugtaining hislife. The body didn& rsquo;t buy it. He was drowning.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y ou& rsquo;re dl right. That& rsquo;s done,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.

&1squo;& Isquo; The machine is breathing for you.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Ddton hdted the panic with afirm mental dam on the runaway emotion. He was breathing. He

couldn& rsquo;t fed hislungs but he accepted that he was getting the oxygen he needed. He& rsquo;d
actually passed out several timesin scuba school, drowned, so he knew what it was like to go under
without oxygen.

&lsquo;& Isquo; The dot. Look at the dot.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Ddton went back to following the dot. He fdlt very small, asif hisentire being had closed in around the
core of him, the & lsquo;& |squo;l & rsquo;& rsquo; that rattled around ingde his skull.

&Isquo;& Isquo; The dat, find and stay with the dot. It will be your connection with Sybyl, dong with my
VOice.& rsguo; & rsquo;

Dalton was startled out of hislethargy. During winter warfare training, he& rsquo;d seen men, tough
soldiers, curl up into smal balsinside their snow caves and totdly withdraw from the outsde world. Just
wanting to fall adeep and then dip into frozen desth.

Dalton focused on the dot.

&lsquo;&IsquosAll right,& requo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & 1squo;&1squo;Y ou& rsquo;re in good shape.
We& rsquo;re doing your bregthing for you. We& rsquo;ve got your heart regulated and beating in the
correct rhythm. Everything isfine.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Y eah, right, Dalton thought. He noted that her voice was growing fainter, asif she were very far away.
"Y our senses are shutting down. Soon you will no longer be conscioudy processing information from
your norma senses.”

Dalton had to strain to hear her.

"Y ou& rsquo;ll be hearing me on Sybyl & rsquo;slink next. Just give me& hellip;” The voice faded out. A
deep, profound silence ensued.

Dalton felt himsdlf start to drift away, and he snapped to.

Therewas abuzz, then silence. Then aclicking sound that redlly caught Daton& rsquo;s attention.
Hefdt astab of pain above hisleft eye. The pain grew stronger, dmost to the point where he
couldn&rsquo;t take it anymore, then it disappeared, to come back just as strong.

The dot was gtill there, but Dalton didn& rsquo;t care. He went back further insde his memories, to a
dark hole. Dank, dripping, concrete walls. The surface pitted. Dalton knew every little divot, every
scratch inthose walls. Thefour low corners, each one of significanceto him. The celling too low for him
to stand up, only four feet high.

He could reach hisarms out and touch wall to wall. Exactly square. He& rsquo;d measureit by using his
thumbs. Sixty-three thumb widths wide each way. He had spent along time considering how whoever
had built this thing could have been so exact in their measurements, because when he was taken out, he
could see the entire building that was his prison and how poorly consiructed it was. The Hanoi Hilton the
media had called it, but those who spent years of their livesinside had had other namesfor the hellhole.
&1squo;&Isguo; Sergeant Major Dalton.& rsguo; & rsquo;

The voice was raspy, echoing, intruding. The pain that had been so distant was back, athough not quite
as sharp.

&1squo;&Isguo; Sergeant Major Dalton.& rsguo; & rsquo;

Ddton tried to answer.

&1squo;&Isguo; Sergeant Major Dalton.& rsquo; & rsquo; There was achange to the tone and timbre of
the voice.

Ddton didn& rsquo;t know how to speak. He had no throat. No mouith.



&1squo;&Isquo; Sergeant Major Dalton.& rsgquo; & rsquo; The voice was smoother now, dmost human.
Dalton tried to figure it out, how to answer with no voice of hisown.

&1squo;&Isquo; Sergeant Major Dalton.& rsquo; & rsquo; It was recognizable as ahuman voice now. A
woman& rsquo;s, but there was atimbreto it that was unnatural.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Sergeant Major Dalton. Thisis Dr. Hammond. | & rsquo; m talking to you through
Sybyl now. Through the computer directly into your brain. You have to focus your mind to answer.
This may take a while, as we have to adjust your program link to your brain.& rsquo; & rsquo;
Dalton tried to reply.

&1squo;&Isquo; To answer, you must focus on the dot.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The damn dot, Dalton thought. He did asingtructed. The dot was gill now, centered.

&1squo;&Isquo; Now, say hello.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton tried, but he knew it wasn& rsquo;t working.

&lsquo;& Isquo; It takes time to learn. Relax.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton thought that humorous. How could he relax when he had no control ?

A sharp stab of pain right between his eyes caused Dalton to start.

&lsguo;&Isquo; Good. The computer heard that,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said.

The pain came again, but Dalton was ready.

&Isquo;&Isquo; | didn& rsquo;t hear that,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & Isquo;& Isquo; You must
relax and allow your emotions to pass through.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The pain once more.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Screw you,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton projected.

There was along pause. & 1squo;& Isquo; We must do a series of tests now

to format your program. I&rsguo; m going to have Sybyl run you through a program

we& rsgquo; ve prepared for this. Do what she tells you to.& rsquo; & rsgquo;

Sybyl & rsquo;s voice was aflat mechanical one, barking out directions. Daton did asinstructed, feding
like achild as he responded, sometimes feding alittlesilly.

A seriesof grid lines appeared. Sybyl had him focus on various coordinates. After awhile, the computer
guided him in moving dong the grid line, atask that Daton was able to accomplish only after many tries.
He had no idea how long thiswent on until findly Sybyl told him he was done. For now.

Dalton felt asnap, followed by an echoing pain that did back and forth acrosshishead like a
dow-moving tide. The pain wound down, but then he began feding atingling sensation in hisforehead.
The dot disappeared.

Thetingling turned to itching. The extent of the feeling came down hisforeheed, across hisface. To his
neck. He could fed the obstruction in histhroat.

Soon hisentire body itched asif armies of ants were marching across every squareinch. And Daton
squirmed, since he couldn& rsquo;t scratch.

But then the cold came. Worse than the most bitter cold he had ever experienced in dl hiswinter warfare
training. He& rsquo;d been in Norway above the Arctic Circle on exercises with the wind chill hitting
under seventy below zero, and it hadn& rsquo;t been this bad.

Hammond& rsquo;s voice exploded in his head. &1squo;&1squo;l know you& rsquo;re cold.

We& rsquo;re warming you up.& rsquo;& rsquo; The volume went down during the second sentence.

& lsquo;& squo;We& rsquo;re going to get you back on oxygen shortly.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton sensed some uncertainty in Hammond& rsquo;s voice. Was this where they had had their accident
and logt their man?

&lsquo;&Isquo;lt take alittle bit of timeto get the fluid out of your lungs, and when we start, you

won& rsquo;t breathe again until your lungs are clear and we can get oxygen in. It takes about two
minutes. Trust us. We& rsquo;ll get it done.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Wes rsquo; |l keep your heartbeat dow. Y ou can go ten minutes without oxygen at your
present physiological rate.& rsquo;& rsquo;

A fig hit Ddton in the chest. Then adrill began ripping ahole right through him. He screamed, the sound



resounding in hisskull but not making it out hismouth.

A claw wasripping his lungs up through histhroat. Daton felt darkness closing down as he struggled for
ar. Theonly thing keeping him conscious wasthe pain.

Then the oxygen came and the pain got worse, shocking Daton with itsintensity. But he could breathe.
Hetook in adeep breath, then began choking, hacking, trying to spit.

&1squo;& Isquo; The machine will get therest of the liquid out,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond& rsquo;s voice
informed him. &Isquo;& |squo; Rel ax.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Screw your relax, Dalton thought. He took another deep breath, relishing the fedl of the oxygen asthe
tube fought his breathing, trying to suck out thelast of theliquid on each exhde.

Hewastill cold, but he could tell that the fluid around him waswarming rapidly.

& squo;& Isquo; Wes rsquo;re pulling you out.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Hefdt strapstighten around his shoulders as he was lifted. Thefluid let go of him reluctantly, and with a
sucking noise hewas dangling in the air. He was swung over and lowered.

His knees buckled as hisfeet hit the ground. He felt hands supporting him. Armswent around him,
keeping him Hill.

&lsquo;& 1squo; We& rsquo;re extracting the cryoprobes and thermocouples,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond
informed him. & Isquo;& Isquo;Y ou haveto remain ill. 1t will take afew minutes.& rsquo;& rsquo;

To Dalton nothing appeared to happen, but then fingers reached under the neck sedl of the TACPAD
helmet. It ripped open. The hemet waslifted off dowly. Someone ddlicately peded the cyberlink pad off
hisskin.

Ddton blinked, trying to get oriented. All he saw was white. He closed his eyes for afew seconds, then
opened them again. Thistime he could make out hazy forms around him. He shook his head, clearing his
vison alittle. Staff Sergeant Barneswas till holding him up. Daton dowly regained control of hislegs.
He looked about. Dr. Hammond and Raisor were standing at the main control console.

There were three bodiesin other tubes.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Damnit, | told Anderson to wait until | was done,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said, hisvoice
hoarse and cracking.

Barnes frowned. & 1squo;& Isquo;l know, Sergeant Mgjor, but you were in there five hours and they said
they had to get this thing going.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Five hours. To Ddton it had seemed no more than an hour. Histhroat hurt where the tube had been. He
shivered and Barnes draped a blanket over his shoulders.

&lsquo;&1squo;Y ou okay, Sergeant M gjor?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y eah, 1& rsquo;m dl right. Whole bunch of fun,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said. He stared
at the other menin their isolation tanks. He could see one of them quivering inside the green liquid. Under
the blanket he pedled the suit off down to his shorts.

&1squo;& Isquo; Geez, Sergeant Mg or, what happened to your back ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Barneswas
looking at the bare skin the blanket didn& rsquo;t cover. A jagged scar Six inches long reached up from
the waistband of his shorts. The skin was rough and purple.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Bayonet,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton said.

&lsquo;& |squo; Bayonet ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Barnes repeated.

&lsquo;& Isquo;1t& rsquo;s along story from along time ago.& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton shivered once
more, violently, asif the cold would never leave his bones.

&1squo;& |squo;Here & rsquo; & rsquo; Barnes held out a cup of coffee.

Dalton took it, wrapping his hands around the mug, grateful for the warmth. He walked over and stared
into the closest isolation tube. He recognized the body in the tank: Staff Sergeant Stith, the demo man.
&lsquo;& Isquo;How long have they been in?& rsquo;& rsquo; he asked Barnes.

&Isquo;&Isquo; They put the firgt onein two hours after you. Stith just went in twenty minutes ago.
Captain Anderson wasthe first one after you.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton stared through the glass at the body floating in the green liquid. He shivered once more, but not
from the cold.



Thetown of Markovo lay one hundred kilometers south of the Arctic Circle, centered in the land mass
just north of the Kamchatka Peninsula, in the far eastern wasteland of Russia. This practically unknown
and dmost uninhabited land beyond Siberiawas one step removed in the wrong direction from the worst
dretches of hinterland on the planet.

The population of the town was less than five hundred hardy souls, half of them natives, the other half the
progeny of palitical prisoners who had survived theloca gulag long enough to bring forth life. The
inhabitants of the gulag had dug out, under the year-round ice, the holes that now held the prefab
components of Specia Department Number Eight& rsquo;s Far-Field Experimental Unit& mdash;
SD8-FFEU.

It was set undernesth the tip of arounded mountain that overlooked the town. One narrow road
switchbacked up the side of the mountain, ending at two massive sted doorsthat led down into the
gation. Signs at the gart of the road and circling the mountain at the base warned that intruders would be
shot without warning.

There were six prefab components that made up SD8-FFEU, each buried fifty feet under the rock and
ice. The communications center, enlisted men& rsquo;s quarters, mess hal/gym, officers& rsquo; quarters,
and science quarters were al spaced around the central compartment, known asthe Brain Center. A
five-hundred-meter tunndl led to the smal nuclear reactor that supplied the power needs for the Sation.
The supplies were stacked in alarge tunnel that was over two hundred meterslong. It aso wasthe
corridor to the ramp that led to the surface.

Here, hidden from the spying eyes of satellites, SD8 conducted its most secret operation, under the
command of itsmost ruthless officer.

General Rurik paced back and forth, the track worn in the carpet showing that this wasn& rsquo;t the first
time hisfeet had traveled that path. He paused, looking to the center of the room. His right hand was on
his|left, twisting the wedding band on hisring finger around and around.

A four-foot-high stedl cylinder was set in the center of the room on abase of eight shock absorbers.
Insde, carefully preserved, was what remained of Mgor Feteror, formerly of the Soviet Spetsnatz.
Who& mdash; or what& mdash; he was now, was open to debate.

Rurik had been involved with SD8 for fourteen years. He& rsquo;d been present asa senior captain at
the newly congtructed FFEU facility when Feteror had been flown in directly from Afghanistan in 1986.
The report from the GRU colonel who had accompanied the body had been brief. Feteror had been
recovered in arescue mission responding to aradio cal the mgor had made just prior to being captured.
It had taken the GRU sometime to locate the village, and during that gap, the mgjor had been horribly
tortured.

Rurik, an experienced interrogator, had been both impressed and disgusted when he saw

Feteror& rsquo;s body being whedled into the operating room. Impressed that the man was till dive,
disgusted a the vulgar means the Afghanis had employed. Of course, he knew their goa had not been to
extract information but rather to inflict punishment, and on those terms they had succeeded.

Department Eight had been looking for someonein Feteror& rsquo;s situation for haf ayear. Like
ghoulish vultures, they& rsquo;d put the word out to the commandsin the field.

Feteror& rsquo;s condition had been critical when he arrived, but in away, some of what the
mujahideen had doneto him had aso kept him aive. Leather tourniquets had been wrapped tight
around Feteror& rsquo;s limbs, so tight they had diced through the skin. The extent of bone and nerve
damage had been so great that the leather had never been cut on the eight-hour flight to Department
Eight& rsquo;sfacility. Since no blood had flowed to the limbs, they were effectively dead when Feteror
arrived, and the surgeons lopped them off immediately, adding to the carnage the Afghanis had begun.
But that was only the beginning. Like scul ptures working on a grotesque masterpiece, the surgeons
continued to dice away, removing everything that wasn& rsquo;t absolutely essentid to keeping

Feteror& rsquo;s brain functioning. His digestive tract was completely removed. His heart and lungs,
which had been badly torn by broken ribs, were also removed, once they were ableto get him



completely dependent on a heart-lung machine. What was | eft of his eyeballs was removed, the nerves
capped, then eventudly shunted to acomputer for direct input. All thiswas done, in the words of the
senior physiologist, to remove any & 1squo;& squo;extraneous nervous i nput.& rsquo; & rsguo;

What remained of Feteror, al twenty-six pounds, was encased in the stedl cylinder. Over three dozen
lines and tubes ran into the cylinder. About half of those were biological, haf mechanicd.

Severd of the tubes, carefully suspended, ran to arow of machines, the best the Western world had to
offer to the highest bidder on the worldwide, very extensive, medica black market. The heart-lung
machine handled the blood, keeping it at the right temperature and making sure the proper oxygen level
was maintained. Another machine performed the functions of the intestina tract by the expedient manner
of injecting minute quantities of nutrients directly into the bloodstream on theway in from the H-L
mechine

Insdethe stedl cylinder lay the bare minimum of ahuman being. A spina cord suspended in solution. A
head held firmly in place by screws drilled directly into the bone. Leads passed through the skull directly
into the brain, the frightful legacy of the research done by SD8 over the years. All the medica equipment
served only one function& mdash; to keep Feteror& rsquo;s brain alive& mdash; and little else. There
were no eyesto see, no earsto listen, no skin to feel, no tongue to taste, no nose to smdll. All inputsinto
the brain were controlled by the leads attached to the master compuiter.

It was a &|sgquo;& squo;living& rsquo;& rsquo; arrangement General Rurik had no doubt Western
medicine was capable of making, yet had not done so for the smple reason that no one could see aneed
for such ahorrible existence. And Rurik aso knew that the West& mdash; because of ethical
congderations and the lack of bodiesto experiment on& mdash; had not done the direct brain interface
work that Department Eight had spent decades experimenting with.

Working their way from rats to monkeys to humans, Department Eight scientists had fine-tuned their
ability to send eectrical impulsesdirectly to the brain, mimicking those of the centra nervous system.
They had aso donethe reverse, learning how to pick out the nerve impulses sent out of the brain stem,
which gave Feteror the ability to & squo;& Isquo;speak& rsquo;& rsquo; with the aid of an externa voice
box and conduct other limited actions through the compuiter.

That limited ability, of course, was not the key to what made Feteror the Chyort, the demon of legend
and mystery who had carried out Department Eight operations for the past decade. The key wasthe
results of thework on October Revolution Idand that the lone survivor, Dr. Vasilev, had brought out with
him. Feteror& rsquo;sisolated brain, enhanced by the computer, could go onto the psychic plane with
power far exceeding anything that had been done before. The computer could produce the harmonicsto
open awindow to the virtua plane and then Feteror, his psyche, could travel there, drawing power from
the computer.

Because helacked aphysical body, Feteror could concentrate every milliamp of menta energy on the
virtua plane. And he had achieved something the scientists in Department Eight had only speculated
about& mdash; he could come out of the virtua plane a adistant point and assemble an avatar, the
Chyort, and influence physical objectson thered plane.

How hedid this, the scientists were not able to exactly tell Generd Rurik, much asthey had not been
ableto fully explain the operation of the phased-displacement generator three decades previoudy. Even
more mystifying was the fact that they were not able to duplicate Feteror& rsquo;s unique ability. Three
other & lsquo;& |squo;volunteers& rsquo; & rsquo; had gone under the knife and been placed in their own
cylinders hooked to asimilar computer. None had managed to do what Feteror could.

The others had managed some limited remote viewing, but nothing beyond what regular remote viewers
could do. Feteror was different, there was no doubt about that. In the end, Rurik and the scientists had
only been able to conclude that either Feteror had had some innate ability that they had happened to tap
into, or that Feteror& rsquo;s horrific experience just before being brought to Department Eight had
changed him in some fundamenta way.

The bottom line was, they knew that Feteror worked, and the mgjor concern had been to develop away
both to control Feteror and to protect themselves, the legacy of the disasters at Chelyabinsk and



October Revolution Idand very much in the forefront of General Rurik& rsquo;s concerns.

A smdll box, with ablinking green light that matched the one on Rurik& rsquo;s wrist, was on the machine
on the other sde of the cylinder from the medica machines. Thiswas an advanced computer, again the
best the West sold. The box was wired into the master program that controlled al the computer& rsquo;s
interfaces with regard to Feteror.

The monitor Rurik wore had avery sensitive pressure pad on theinsde, againgt his skin. It monitored his
pulse. If Rurik& rsquo;s heart stopped for more than ten seconds, the light would turn red, meaning that
the master computer had & |squo;& | squo;frozen& rsquo;& rsquo; the cyberlink with Feteror. That would
effectively isolate Feteror& rsquo;s brain from both inputs and outputs.

Rurik knew that Feteror did not fear death; indeed he knew that Feteror yearned to be released from his
amost nonhuman prison and the only way out wasto die, but there was something he knew the
Spetsnatz mgjor did fear: the darkness of isolation insgde his own brain, with no sensory input coming
from the computer, no ability to & lsquo;&Isquo;leave& rsquo;& rsquo; on the psychic plane without the
support of the computer. Such anetherworld existence horrified even the hardened Feteror, who had
experienced two years of such alife whilethey completed al the surgical procedures, and while
Department Eight technicians worked on the programming necessary for the project. Of course, at the
time, they had not known that Feteror had been conscious those long two years, screaming into the
darkness where he had no voice. Not knowing if he was dead or dive, if he was now in some sort of hell
or purgatory, hislast memoriesthose of the bruta torture he& rsquo;d undergone in the Afghani village.
Only when they completed the first rudimentary cyberlink had they found out that the mgor& rsquo;s
brain had been conscious the entire time. The psychologists were amazed that Feteror had retained his
sanity, but General Rurik was not so sure that Feteror had been sane to start with. As soon asthey had
gotten Feteror on-line, to demonstrate his power, Rurik had locked Feteror down for another month into
the netherworld abyss.

Rurik would take no chances even with adecorated war hero. He knew that his predecessor, on the
cusp of hisown great success after snking the Thresher, had died in amysterious blast a Department
Eight& rsquo;s earlier site. It didn& rsquo;t take ageniusto look over what they did know and the results
of the interrogation of Dr. Vasilev and conclude that the subjects had rebelled and killed their captorsto
free themsel ves through degth. History would not repest itself asfar as Generd Rurik was concerned.
Therewas not only the issue of the human beings they were dedling with, there was aso the danger of the
equipment. Before the disaster on October Revolution Idand, there had been the even greater disaster at
Chelyabinsk in 1958 during aweapons test on the virtua plane. There had been no survivors at the test
gtefrom that one.

But Rurik believed in what he was doing. To get powerful weapons, one had to take grest risks.

Besides the cyber-lockdown, Rurik had another ace in the hole, so to speak. The entire complex, buried
deep under the ice above the Arctic Circle, was surrounded by a static, psychic

&1suo;& Isquo;wall & rsquo; & rsquio; that had only one & 1squo;& Isquo;windowé& rsquo;& rsquio; init. The
window went directly to the cylinder and alowed Feteror hisvirtual exit to theworld, and Rurik
controlled whether that window was open or closed. Closing it prevented Feteror from turning and
attacking his home base. He could only return to his own physical mind through the window. When the
psychic window was closed, Department Eight, where Feteror& rsquo;s physical self lay, wasthe one
place where he couldn& rsquo;t go psychicaly, asfar as Rurik knew.

Other than the fact that it required tremendous amounts of power from the nuclear reactor, Rurik

didn& rsguo;t know how the psychic wall worked, but he didn& rsquo;t care. That wasthe job of the
scientists. However, thewall had severd interesting side effects that they& rsquo;d discovered quite by
accident. Thewall was generated outward by lines surrounding the mountain hafway up; the lineswere
connected underneath SD8-FFEU through small tunnelsthat had been drilled. Thefield, asfar astheir
recording instruments could tell, extended about two hundred metersinto the air above the Sation,
projected by sted towers built around the perimeter. Nothing living could go through that wall. They had
firgt noticed the bodies of birds and smdl animalsin the first days after the wall went up. Rurik had been



interested and gotten a prisoner from the gulag. He& rsquo;d turned off the autometic, conventiona
defenses that surrounded the base, and had the prisoner walk up the side of the mountain, into the
psychicwall.

The effect had been gtartling. The second he hit the dightly shimmering wall, the man had grabbed his
head, collgpsed to his knees, and begun screaming in a high-pitched voice. Blood had streamed through
hisfingers, then hisbody had jerked upright, held in that position for afew seconds, then smply
collapsed.

Rurik had had the wall turned off and the body recovered for autopsy. The doctors discovered that the
Sructure of the man& rsquo;s brain had literdly dissolved.

Another side effect, not so beneficia to security in Rurik& rsquo;s opinion, was the fact that once the
psychic wall was turned on, they could no longer communicate with the outsde world. Radio waves
would not pass through. Even their best shielded cable and telephone lines would not function.

They kept the psychic wall on all the timefor protection. It was breached only for two reasons. one was
to make the twice-a-day radio contact with GRU headquarters outside Moscow; the second wasto
open the window to alow Feteror out or to bring him back in.

Rurik& rsquo;s job was to be Feteror& rsquo;s handler. So far, the Spetsnatz man had come up with
quite abit of good intelligence for the GRU.

Besides the psychic wall, there was another specid aspect to FFEU that made it unique and more
secure. Because they weren& rsquo;t totally sure of the exact nature of what they were doing, and its
great vaueto the nationa intelligence structure, the entire complex was physically guarded in amost
unique manner.

A complex set of wegpons, ranging from machine gunsto air defense heat-seeking missiles, was layered
around the complex and controlled not by human hands, but by a computer. The targeting computer was
hooked to a series of sensors that watched across the spectrum from infrared to ultraviolet. Anything that
approached the base& mdash; or tried to get out of it& mdash; would be spotted and targeted
automaticaly. And, once the guardian system was activated, there was nothing anyone insde the base or
outside could do to stop it. The base would effectively beisolated. The system automaticaly came on
whenever Feteror was & |squo;& Isquo;out.& rsquo;& rsquo; This prevented Feteror from using any
outsde comradesto try to break in, or from subverting anyoneinsdeto help him.

Despite the strong security measures, one thing did worry Rurik, though, and that was why he had worn
the path in the rug every time Feteror was & |squo;& |squo;out.& rsquo; & rsquo; And that was that the
scientists couldné& rsquo;t exactly tell him how Feteror operated. They knew he could remote view and
come out of the psychic planein his demon form, but they aso suspected he was capable of much more,
But Feteror had not exactly been forthcoming over the years asto his capabilities, and an uneasy truce
existed between Rurik and Feteror. The latter got the information requested, but there were limits even
Rurik could not push him beyond. In return, there was much Feteror could not get from his captor.
What aso bothered Rurik was that he didn& rsquo;t know where Feteror went when he left SD8-FFEU.
There was no way of tracking him on the psychic plane. That task was something that Rurik had the
scientists working hard on.

Right now ared light was flashing from the top support beam that ran from the floor on one side, to the
roof around to the floor on the other side of the semicircular room. It wasavisud sgna to everyone that
Feteror was out. Besides not knowing exactly what Feteror was capable of and where he was, another
thing that disturbed Rurik was he didn& rsquo;t know what Feteror& rsquo;stime sense was. Just asthe
time spent being cut off in the virtuad world insde the cylinder seemed like forever to Feteror, Rurik had
to wonder how timein the virtua world outsde of the cylinder ssemed.

Rurik was startled out of his ruminations by ajunior officer gpproaching.

"Sir, we received some intelligence from Moscow in the last communique.” A young lieutenant held out a
piece of paper.

Rurik took it and read. The GRU counteragent who had infiltrated the Oma group had been found dead
inapark near Kiev, dong with aGRU colonel named Seogky.



The condition of the bodies was most strange. Seogky had had his eyestorn out and died from abrain
hemorrhage. And the counteragent had been cut into two pieces. Rurik crumpled the paper. Thefilthy
Méfia

Rurik knew Seogky. The man worked in Central Filesin GRU headquartersin Maoscow. What did the
Mafiawant from Central Files? Correction, Rurik thought as he reread the message, what did the Mafia
now have from Centrd Files?

Helooked up at the red flashing light and frowned.

& 1squo;& squo; What& rsquo;s wrong?& rsquo; & rsquio;

Dr. Hammond was focused on her computer screen, not the isolation tank that Daton was pointing to.
& 1sguo;& |squo; Wes rsquo;re having some trouble.& rsquo; & rsquo; She leaned forward and spoke into
the microphone. & 1squo;&Isquo; Sergeant Stith, thisis Dr. Hammond. Focus on the white

dot.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&squo;& Isquo;What kind of troubl€?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton demanded. He was dressed in his fatigues,
only an hour out of theisolation tank and till fedling the shakes.

Stith& rsquo;s body spasmed, bending at the waist until his head, encased in the TACPAD, was dmost
touching hisknees.

&lsquo;& squo; Get him out of there! & rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton ordered.

&1squo;& squo;We can& rsquo;t right away,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & Isquo;& Isquo; Sergeant
Stith, thisis Dr. Hammond. Y ou have to focus on the white dot.& rsquo;& rsquo; Her hand pushed a
button on her console.

Raisor was behind her, watching. Daton walked to the front of her console. & squo;& Isquo;Get him
Out.& rsquio; & rquio;

Stith suddenly jerked upright, hislegs and arms spreading as wide as they could go, damming against the
Sdeof theisolation tube,

&lsquo;& Isquo; There& rsquo;s an interface problem,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. Her fingers were
flying over the keyboard.

&1sguo;& |squo;Who has control ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor asked.

&lsquo;& 1squo;l don& rsquo;t,& rsquo;& rsquo; she said shortly. & lsquo;& 1squo;Y et,& rsquo; & rsquio;
she added.

&1sguo;& Isquo;ls he locked into Sybyl ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor asked.

&1squo;& 1squo; We haven& rsquo;t compl eted pass off.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;If you don& rsquo;t have contact and Sybyl doesn& rsquo;t,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton
demanded, & Isquo;& Isquo;then who does?& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& squo; Sergeant Stith& rsquio;& rsquo;& mdash; Hammond pushed the red button,& mdash;
&lsquo;& Isquo;you have got to focus on the white dot.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Stith& rsquo;s body was twisting. Hisleft arm jerked hard, damming into the glass with a sound that
reverberated through the chamber. The arm jerked back in an unnatural manner.

&1squo;& 1squo;Oh, shit,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barnes exclaimed as adiver of white poked out of

Stith& rsquo;s forearm. & Isquo;& |squo;His muscle spasms are breaking his bones! He& rsquo;sgot a
compound fracture.& rsquo;& rsquo; A dow swirl of red spread into the embryonic solution.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Get him out of there now! & rsquo;& rsquo; Daton dammed hisfist on top of the console.



&lsquo;& Isquo;We just can& rsquo;t pull him out,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;He& rsquo;s breathing the liquid mixture and his body has been cooled. He& rsquo;ll die
if wejust pull him out,& rsquo;& rsquo; she said, her focus still on her console.

&lsquo;& Isquo;He& rsquo;ll dieif he staysin there,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said as Stith spasmed again,
thistime the uncontrolled force of the muscles breaking his|eft leg, the misshapen shape of thethigh
indicating the damage.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Damn it,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said, reading something on her screen.

&lsguo;& |squo;He& rsquo;s vomiting the breathing mixture. Some of it must have gotten into his
stomach.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1suo;& Isquo; Sergeant Mgjor! & rsquo; & rsquo; Sergeant Monroe had grabbed afire ax. He stood
ready next to the isolation tube with histeammeate, the ax looking like atoy in his massive hands.

Dalton turned to Barnes. & |squo;& Isquo;What do you think?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Breathing, bleeding, and broken,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barnes said succinctly.

Dalton knew exactly what he meant. The three priorities when treating awounded man. And Stith wasin
bad shape on dll three.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Get him out now or we will,& rsquo;& rsquo; he told Hammond.

&lsquo;&Isquo;All right, al right.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond shoved her keyboard back. She threw
severd switches. &1squo;& Isquo;l & raquo;m warming the embryonic solution asfast as possible and
extracting the liquid mixture from hislungs.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Daton stood in front of the isolation tube, next to Monroe. & 1squo;& Isquo; Take it easy,

Pete & rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said to Monroein alow voice.

Dalton reached up with his hands and placed them on the glass, fedling the cold stab into his pams.
&lsquo;&Isquo;Hang in there, Louis. Hang in there.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Hislungs are clear, but he& rsquo;s not breathing oxygen,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond
sad. &1squo;& Isquo;His nervous system isn& rsguo;t responding. 1& rsquo;m forcing oxygen in and
keeping his heart pumping with the microprobe.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& I1squo; Too dow,& rsquo;& rsquo; Monroe muttered, lifting the ax.

Dalton reached under hisfatigue shirt and pulled out his nine-millimeter pistol. He stepped back from the
isolation tube, aming.

&lsquo;& Isquo;What the hell do you people think you& rsquo;re doing?& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor was
running down from behind the console.

&lsuo;& Isquo; 1 & rsquo;m going to break this goddamn thing! & rsquo;& rsquo; Daton yelled.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Pull him out or we get him out our way. Now! & rsquo; & rsquio;

& lsguo;& Isquo;He& rsquo;s il too cold! & rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond protested.

&1squo;& Isquo;He& rsquo;s not breathing! & rsquo;& rsquo; Daton yelled. He shifted hisaim from the
glassto Raisor.

The CIA agent stared at Dalton& rsquo;s eyes for a second. Raisor wheeled toward Hammond.
&lsquo;&Isquo; Do it.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Hammond dammed her fist down on alever. With ahum of motors, the winch began reding in the nylon
strap that was attached to Stith& rsquo;s harness. The body came up out of the tube, dripping embryonic
solution. Hammond pushed on the lever and Stith swung over the ground, his body twitching.

Dalton holstered his pistol and had his arms up. With Monroe, he caught Stith& rsquo;s body asit came
down. Daton could fed the chill. & Isquo;& Isquo; Get thisthing off him,& rsquo;& rsquo; he said, pointing
at the TACPAD.

Hammond was knedling over the body. She spoke to hersdlf as she worked. & 1squo;& Isquo;Extracting
cryoprobes.& rsquo;& rsquo; She pressed asmall button set on the outside of the TACPAD.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Hurry! & rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton yelled.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y ou can& rsquio;t take it of f until they& rsquo;ve fully retracted. Y ou& rsquo;ll bregk them
off.& rsquo;& rsquo; Her hands kept moving, hitting another button. & 1squo;& Isquo;Extracting
thermocoupl es.& rsquo; & rsquio;



Hammond reached down and did the microprobe out of Stith& rsquo;s chest. With Barnes& rsquo;s
help, she pulled the TACPAD off hishead.

Dalton leaned over and ran hisfingers through the sergeant& rsquo;s mouth. They came out dripping blue
fluid.

&1squo;& 1squo; Shit,& rsquio; & rsquo; Daton muttered. He leaned over, locked his mouth onto

Stith& rsquo;s, and blew. Nothing. He threw Stith over his knee, face-down. He dammed into the

man& rsquo;s back with both fists. A large pile of embryonic fluid gushed out of Stith& rsquo;s mouth
onto thefloor. Daton hit him again, then put him on the floor on his back. He bregthed into his mouth;
this time the sergeant& rsguo;s lungs came up.

Barnes was across from Dalton, fedling for a pulse. & |squo;& Isquo;Nothing,& rsquo;& rsquo; he said,
then dammed hisfist down onto Stith& rsquo;s chest. He began compressionsin ratio to Dalton& rsquo;s
breething.

Ddton fell into the rhythm. In between Barnes& rsquo;s compressions, someone draped a blanket over
the body. Daton pulled up for asecond and looked into Stith& rsquo;sface. It was blue. He did the
eyebrows up. The eyeswere open and vacant, the pupils dilated. He bent back down and continued.
&lsquo;& |squo;He& rsquo;s gone, Sergeant Mgor. He& rsquo;s gone.& rsquo; & rsquo; Barnes had his
hand on Stith& rsquo;s neck. & 1squo;& squo;He& rsquo;s gone.& rsquo;& rsquio;
Thewordswerealitany, dowly sinking into Daton& rsquo;s consciousness. Findly he pausedin his
breathing and |ooked up. Barnes shook his head.

&Isquo;& Isquo;He& rsquo;s gone. Fifteen minutes and no oxygen. Even if we brought him back,

he& rsquo;d be a vegetable.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton& rsquo;s head snapped back and he glared at the younger medic, causing him to step back in
urprise.

&lsquo;& Isquo;What about his mind being frozen?& rsquo;& rsquo; Sergeant Monroe asked. He was
now on hisknees, cradling the body in hislarge arms. &1squo; & |squo;Like someone who fdlsinto
freezing water.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;His mind wasn& rsquo;t frozen,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. She was standing over
them, her face tight. &squo;&Isquo;Just his body. The TACPAD and helmet kept the brain at normal
temperature.& rsguo; & rsquo;

Barnesdid aponcho liner over the body.

Dalton stood. There were the three other men till in theisolation tubes. & squo;& |squo;l want to know
what happened. What killed him?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Hammond was back behind her console. &1squo;& |squo;1 & rsquo;m not sure.& rsquo; & rsquio;
&1sguo;& |squo; Take a goddamn guess! & rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton snapped.

Hammond stepped back. & 1squo;& Isquo;As nearly as | can tell, his psyche got lost going from our world
to thevirtua world. | lost contact and Sybyl never established contact. That affected hisentire brain and
his autonomic nervous system went nuts. That& rsquo;s what caused his death.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo;Are you certain of that?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

Raisor stepped between the two of them. &1squo;& Isquo;We don& rsquo;t have the time to stand
around and argue. We& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;We rsquo;d damn well better know what killed Sergeant Stith before we go any
further,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said. & Isquo;& Isquo;Or wes rsquo;re not going any

further.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& lsquo;& Isquo; Don& rsquo;t you threaten me or this project,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;lsthiswhat happened to the man you lost?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton ignored the CIA man
and focused on the doctor.

&1sguo;& lsquo;No,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. She seemed more sure of hersdlf. & 1squo;& Isquo;
His deeth was caused by mechanica failure. Thiswas different. This happened on the line between the
physica and psychic planes.& rsquo;& rsquo; She shook her head. & Isquo;& 1squo;We& rsquo;re moving
too fast. We should have had& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;



&1sguo;& |squo;We have to move fast,& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor said. He moved to a position between her
and the Specia Forces men.

Dalton pointed at the other isolation tanks. & Isquo;&Isquo;We need to get those other men

Out.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Raisor shook his head. & |squo;& 1squo;l & rsquo;m afraid we doné& rsquo;t have time for

that.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton glared at Raisor. &Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou& rsquo;d better make time.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& 1squo;1t& rsquo;s not up to me,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. &1squo;& Isquo;We& rsquo;re on
atight time schedule dictated by others. It was atraining accident. Y ou havethem dl thetime. A
parachute failsto open. A man is knocked unconscious during scubatraining and loses his mouthpiece
and drowns.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;We have training accidents,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton acknowledged, & 1squo;& Isquo;but
wework hard to make sure they don& rsquo;t happen after we figure out what went wrong. We

don& rsgquo;t know what went wrong here.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo;Y ou are under orders, Sergeant Mg or,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

&1squo;& Isquo; This mission hastop priority.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l think it& rsquo;stimeto let usin on the secret,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said. He walked
over and stood by Stith& rsquo;s body. & Isquo;& Isquo;Seeing as we& rsquo;re putting our lives on the
linefor this. | want to know why this man had to die. Why we& rsquo;rein such adamn

rush.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Raisor met Daton& rsquo;s glare, then nodded. & Isquo;& squo;All right. [&rsquo;ll tell you. Because
one of our RVers has discovered that someoneis going to try to steal twenty nuclear warheadsin
elght& rsquo;& rsquo;& mdash; Raisor looked up at the large clock& mdash; & |squo;& Isquo;make that
seven days.& rsquo;& rsguo;

Feteror wastired, but he had one more place to check before going back. He felt the link to

SD8-FFEU, aline growing more tenuous the longer he was out. It was aflow of power and information
into his psyche, without which he wasimpotent.

Feteror accessed the satdllite imagery of the areahe wanted. He centered it in his

&1squo;& Isquo;vis on& rsquo; & rsquo; and then, with aburst of energy, he was there, looking down on a
ralyard.

He paused, fedling the vision fade with aloss of power. He had prioritized his missons, knowing this
would happen. Damn Rurik and his leashes and limitations.

The vision came back and Feteror scanned therailyard. There were troops al over the place, armed with
automatic weapons. He could see the nationd insgnia of the Kazakhstan army on their lapels, but the
uniformswere dill the dull color of the former Soviet Union.

Feteror swooped down to the railmaster& rsquo;s shack on the edge of one of the sidings. Thewal was
just abrief blip and then he wasinsde. There were two soldiersin the room, but he ignored them. A
routing schedule lay open on the desk. Feteror checked it and got the information he needed. Thetwo
soldierslooked about, disturbed by something they could sense but not see, since Feteror was staying
invighleinthe virtua plane. He had no need to do anything on thered plane here.

He paused. There was another presence in the room. Another being on the virtual plane. Feteror reached
out and probed the presence. He hit a protective psychic wall, but he knew he could break through. He
gathered his strength to& mdash; Feteror froze as darkness closed on his consciousness. A dark tide
swept in, then back out. Damn Generd Rurik, Feteror thought. The old fox was cutting his power to
bring him back.

The other presence was gone.

Feteror et the dwindling power link to SD8-FFEU draw him home.



&lsquo;& Isquo;Why don& rsquo;t you just tell the Russians about the threat?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton
asked.

Hewasin aconference room, just off the main experimenta chamber, with Raisor and Hammond. The
other members of the team who had not yet gone into the isolation tubes had carried Stith& rsquo;s body
to the dispensary. So far none of the other three still under had experienced any problems, and
Hammond had told him that all had successfully integrated with Sybyl and that they were devel oping their
virtud programs.

Raisor shook his head. & Isquo;&Isquo;We can& rsquo;t. 1t& rsquo;s the classic problem of sharing
intelligence& mdash; by doing so you disclose your capabilities. Y ou know about Coventry, don& rsquo;t
YOU7& r'Squ0; & r'squio;

Dalton had read extensvely in the area.of military history, and he knew exactly what Raisor was referring
to. During World War 11, the Allies had broken the German Enigma code with their Ultramachine. Doing
30 had given them accessto al German transmissions and awedlth of information. However, to make
sure that the Germans didn& rsquo;t redlize that they had broken the code, the Allies had to be very
careful what they did with the intelligence. When the Ultra scientists had decrypted a communique
indicating that the city of Coventry was going to be heavily bombed, they had passed that warning on to
Churchill. Who had done nothing with it. The city wasn& rsquo;t evacuated and hundreds|ogt their lives
and the six-hundred-year-old cathedral in the center of town burned to the ground. But the secret of
Ultrawas maintained.

& 1squo;& Isquo; We& rsquo;re not at war with the Russians,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said.

& squo;& |squo;Wes rsquo;re dways at war,& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor said. & 1squo;& squo; That& rsquo;s
the only way to look at the world in the spectrum of intelligence operations.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Bull shit,& rsquo; & rsquo; was Dalton& rsquo;s take on that.

&1squo;& I squo;Wes rsquo;re in adouble bind,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor continued asif nothing had been
sad. &lsquo;& Isquo;We can& rsquo;t pass the intelligence to the Russians. And we can& rsquo;t act
overtly. Both would disclose too much of our cgpabilities.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& Isquo; So let& rsquo;s keep a secret and get nuked?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton said.

&lsquo;& Isguo; It won& rsquo;t come to that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & lsquo;& Isquo;Evenif the
warheads are stolen, they&rsquo;ll till bein Russia We would prefer not to have the first event happen,
but push comes to shove, it& rsquo;s not worth disclosing our capabilitiesfor unlessit gppearsthe
warheads will be crossing borders.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo; Do you know who isgoing to try to stedl the warheads?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.
& 1squo;& |squo; Wes rsquo;re not certain,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & 1squo;& |squo;We suspect it
might be the Russan Méfia, but if that isthe case, that most likely meansthat they are just middiemen and
will be passing the warheads on.& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor leaned across the conference table.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Just imagine twenty nukes being on the open market, going to the highest

bidder.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo;l am imagining it,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said, & lsquo;& Isquo;and it seemsthat this
would be worth disclosing your Bright Gate capability in order to stop.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Raisor shook his head once more. & Isquo;& Isquo;Which brings us to the other problem with passing the
information to Russan intelligence. The Russian military isheavily compromised by the M&fia. For dl we
know, we might tip our hand to those who are going to do the attack.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton rubbed his forehead. &Isquo;& |squo; So wes rsquo;re going to descend on this attack out of the



virtua plane and stop it?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; That& rsquo;s the idea. 1t& rsquo;s more secure than trying a conventiond assault which
could cause awar to break out. If there& rsquo;s one thing the Russians will not tolerate, it& rsquo;s
American soldiers on their soil. We haveto avoid that at dl cogts. That& rsquo;swhy the

Pres dent& mdash; and the Pentagon& mdash; has chosen to use this option.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Ddton rolled his eyes. & squo;& Isquo;We& rsquo;ve lost one man and we haven& rsquo;t done jack yet.
Y ou think weg& rsquo;re going to be able to do something no one& rsquo;s ever done before in seven
days?Y ou& rsgquo;re gambling everything on that?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; It wasn& rsquo;t my decision,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. &Isquo;&Isquo;l can assure
you that thiswas discussed at the highest levels, and the decision was made to move up the timetable on
Psychic Warrior to deal with thisthreat. | am just implementing that decison.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& lsquo;Why can& rsquo;t the RVers here do it?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;& 1squo; Severa reasons,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & Isquo;& Isquo;First, they& rsquo;re not
trained soldiers. They& rsquo;re intelligence gatherers. Second, and more importantly, this Psychic
Warrior technology, the cyberlink in conjunction with Sybyl, is new.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Have you ever sent somebody into the virtud plane and then have them come out in the
real a aremote |ocation and conduct a mission?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

&lsguo;& Isquo;Not conduct amission,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said, & Isquo;&Isquo;but as Dr.
Hammond told you, we have successfully tested it.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y eah, by playing with blocks. | & rsquo;m sure that will scare the crap out of the Mafia
guystrying to take down these nukes.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Y ou& rsquo; |l be able to do more than that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dr. Hammond said.
&lsquo;&Isquo;l & rsquo;m alittle fuzzy on that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said. & Isquo;& Isquo;So far |
don& rsquo;t fed like 1& rsquo;ve accomplished much of anything other than having one of my men
die.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou& rsquo; !l be working on your virtua forms next,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.
&Isquo;& Isquo;From what Dr. Hammond has told me, that will give you something to conduct your
mission with.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& lsquo;How does that work exactly?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;l don& rsgquo;t know exactly& rsquo;,& rsquo; Raisor& rsquo;s voice was taking on an
edge. & Isquo;&Isquo;All | know isthat it does work.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Wes rsquo;re gambling lives on untested tacti cs.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;lsn& rsquo;t every war atria of untested tactics?& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.
&lsquo;& Isquo;Y es,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton agreed, & lsquo;& Isquo;and they& rsquo;re usually big
screwups. Millions of men dead and the generalsin the First World War never redlly adjusted to the fact
that machine guns made frontal assaults obsolete. They were till ordering cavary chargesin the early
days of World War 11.&rsquo;& rsquo;

Raisor dapped the tabletop. & Isquo;& Isquo; That& rsquo;s why we want to use the technology we have
here correctly! To move usinto the modern age.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;When they introduced the tank in the First World War, the generals still never redly
adjusted. It takes more than new technol ogy,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton added.

&lsquo;& squo; We have adjusted with Psychic Warrior,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;For the first time, we are ahead of the technological-tactical interface.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo; It sounds like we& rsquo;re too far ahead and it killed Stith.& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton
stared at the CIA representative. & |squo;& squo; Do you bdieve the bull you speak?& rsquo;& rsquo;

& sguo;& squo;t& rsquo;s the way the world is,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

Hammond had been watching the heated exchange. She leaned forward between the two men.
&lsquo;& Isquo; it works, Sergeant Mg or Daton. We know it works.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; It didné& rsquo;t work with Sergeant Stith! & rsquo;& rsquo; Daton yelled.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Every new technology hasits dangers,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & Isquo;&Isquo;Do



you know how many test pilots have died testing new aircraft? Thisis new and& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo; Doné& rsgquo;t give me bullshit,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton snapped.

& 1sguo;& |squo; Sergeant Mgor, thisis going forward whether you are on board or not,& rsquo; & rsquo;
Raisor said.

&1squo;& 1squo; Do the Russians have remote viewers?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

& 1sguo;& Isquo; We don& rsquo;t know,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said.

&1squo;&1squo; Y ou don& rsquo;t know?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton didn& rsquo;t buy that.
&lsquo;&Isquo;Come on. Seems like that& requo;sthefirst thing your RVerswould check

0N.& r'squo; & rsquio;

Raisor answered. & Isquo;& 1squo;We have checked. And we don& rsquo;t know. We suspect they
do.& rsquo;& rsquo; Seeing Daton& rsquo;s look, he amplified his answer. & 1squo;& Isquo;Dr.
Hammond believesit&rsquo;s possible to block psychic viewing with either technology or with other
psychic viewers putting up awall. So if the Russans do have psychic viewers, they& rsquo;re blocking us
from being able to see that capability. Aswe are blocking our own capability from them, if they have

it.& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor waved his hand about. & 1squo;& Isquo; This entire facility is shielded on the
virtud plane from intrusion.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton remembered the black metal on the vault door and dong thewalls. &Isquo;&Isquo;How do you
do that?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Raisor looked at Hammond, who answered.

&Isquo;& Isquo;We have Sybyl generate avirtud field and run it through specially adapted lines. The
parameters of the field are disharmonic to the human mind& rsquo;s psychometric rhythms, so any RVers
trying to get through woul d& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; She shrugged. & 1squo;& Isquo;Well, we& rsquo;ve
never tested it on an actua person, but | would assume it would cause severeif not fatal damageto a
person& rsquo;s psyche. Even a person trying to walk through the field would be affected in the same
manner. We have had our RV ers approach the field and they report extreme discomfort when they come
within afew meters of it.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& lsquo;& squo; That& rsquo;s why we only have the one entrance to this base,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor
sad.

&1sguo;& 1squo;One physica entrance, & rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond corrected him.

&1squo;&Isguo; That& rsquo;s the door you came in through, off the hangar. We aso have the entrance
our RVersuse. That& rsquo;s anarrow opening& mdash; which we cal the Bright Gate& mdash; in the
psychicwdl that

Sybyl controls. She can let you out Bright Gate to theinitial jump point on top of the mountain and she
can dso let RVersin when they return to theinitia jump point.& rsquo;& rsquio;

& sguo;& Isquo;What doesthisfield do to other things?& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton asked.

&1squo;& Isquo;Once it& rsquo;s running, do we have communi cati ons?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo; Wes rsquo;re not the only place that uses thisfield,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.
&lsquo;& Isquo;Every top secret secure Site our country hasis surrounded by apsychic field justin case
the Russians do have an RV capability. Once we developed the wall, our scientists were able to develop
aspecid cablethat can shidd alink from insde to outsde and alow uninterrupted communications.
That& rsquo;s something we don& rsgquo;t think the Russians have managed to do yet, so we have an
advantage there.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& sguo;& |squo; L et& rsquo;s get back to the other side& rsquo;s capabilities then,& rsquo;& rsquio;
Ddton said. &Isquo;&Isquo;lf the Russians do have RV ers,& rsquo;& rsquo; he asked,

&|squo;& Isquo;woul dné& rsquo;t they know about this plot in their neck of the woods?& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo;If they have remote viewers and if the remote viewers happened to catch thisplot, yes,
then they would know. But we were lucky; our RVer who picked this up literaly sstumbled acrossit
checking on some other information on a different tasking. The odds that a Russan RVer found the same
thing are unknown.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& |squo;What about& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton began, but the door swung open and a



technician stuck her head in.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Lieutenant Jackson is back.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Raisor and Hammond headed for the door.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Who is Lieutenant Jackson?& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton asked, following them.

&lsquo;& 1squo;One of the RVersyou saw in atank when you got here. She& rsquo;s been out on a
MiSS 0N.& rsguo; & rsquo;

They entered the main room. The last two Specia Forces men, Barnes and Monroe, had gone into the
tanks, leaving Ddton the only one out. At the far end, awoman was shivering, a blanket over her
shoulder, wiping embryonic fluid off her face with atowd.

&lsguo;& |squo;Lieutenant Jackson,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said as he came up to her.

& 1squo;& 1squo; Y our report?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Jackson didn& rsquo;t respond right away. She spit, none too eegantly, and coughed, adribble of dark
liquid ralling down her chin before shewiped it off. Shewas atal, dight woman, in her middle twenties,
short blond hair plastered to her skull, her skin pale and covered with goossbumps.

&lsquo;& Isquo;ls everything static?& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor asked.

Jackson coughed. &1squo;&Isquo;No, Sir, it& rsquo;s not. They& rsquo;ve changed the

schedule.& rsquo;& rsquo; She looked at Dalton, then back to Raisor.

Dalton had seen that look before& mdash; she had information she wasn& rsquo;t sure she should share
in front of people she had never seen before.

&1sguo;& Isquo;Y ou take care of your men,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said to Daton. He grabbed
Jackson& rsquo;s arm and hel ped her to her feet. & 1squo;& 1squo;Come with me.& rsquo;& rsquio;
&1squo;& Isquo;Hold on! & rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton put his hand up. & 1squo;& Isquo;l want to talk to my
commander. | have to inform him about what happened to Sergeant Stith.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Raisor stared at him for afew seconds, then nodded. & 1squo;& 1squo;Y ou can use the secure line down
the hall there. But make sure you don& rsquo;t say aword about the mission. Isthat clear, Sergeant

M gj or?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l hear you,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said.

&Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou can inform Colonel Metter about Sergeant Stith, but he hasto hold officia
notification until we can implement a cover story.& rsquo;& rsguo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l know the way the gameis played.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Thered light went out. Generd Rurik relaxed dightly, knowing that Feteror was back insde hismeta
home and the window was shuit.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Report! & rsquo; & rsquo; Rurik snapped into the microphone that linked him directly to
Feteror& rsquo;s auditory center. There was no way Feteror could escape the noise, and Rurik relished
that power.

&lsquo;& 1squo;l & rsquo;ve done as you requested. There has been no change.& rsquo; & rsquo; The
tinny voice that came out of a speaker on the master console actually sounded tired.

&lsquo;& Isquo; The Mafia?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo; They still plan to attack in seven days.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Rurik smiled. &Isquo;&Isquo;What do you know of a Colond Seogky of the GRU?& rsquo; & rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;ve never heard of him.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo;We believe he had ameeting with the same Mafia group. His body was found in apark
near Kiev aong with that of amember of the Mafia.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l know nothing of this.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Anything € se?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1sguo;& 1squo;N0.& rsquo; & rsquo;

& 1squo;& 1squo;Good night.& rsquo; & rsquo; Rurik threw a switch and the power to the cylinder went
down to bare life-support levels. & 1squo;& Isquo; Pleasant nightmares,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik whispered
into the mike as he shuit it off.



Barsk stared out the window of the plane at the ocean twenty thousand feet bel ow, where white dots
indicating icebergs drifted in the Arctic Ocean.

& lsguo;& Isquo;We drop at fifteen thousand.& rsquo; & rsquo; Leksi& rsquo;s voi ce was hoarse from too
many cigarettes and too much vodka. The men gathered around him al had the same hard look; they
wereformer Soviet Specid Operations soldiers, searching for abetter life outside of the military.

Leks unfolded amap. & 1squo;&Isquo; Thisidand holds the target.& rsquo;& rsquo;

One of the men laughed. &lsquo;& |squo;October Revolution Idand. Perfect.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Leks pointed at the map. & lsquo;& 1squo; The GRU has an observation post here, on thismountain,
overlooking our target.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l thought you said this place has been abandoned for thirty-five years,& rsquo;& rsquo; a
mercenary noted.

& 1squo;& Isquo; It has been.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;And the GRU s still watching it?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Our target holds something very important,& rsquo;& rsquo; Leks said.

&1squo;& Isquo;What can be that important?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Leks looked up from the map and stared at the man. Then he continued the briefing. Barsk listened, but
he wasn& rsquo;t jumping with the team. He was to stay on board the aircraft with the pilot and wait until
Leks gavethedl-clear signa. Then they would land on the old runway that had serviced the abandoned
base.

&1sguo;& |squo; L et& rsquo;s rig,& rsquo;& rsquio; Leks ordered at the conclusion. He looked at his
watch. & lsquo;& Isquo;Wes rsquo;re fifteen minutes out.& rsquo;& rsquio;

The plane was amilitary AN-12 Cub, surplus that Oma had bought off some Air Force personnel eager
to make money. Barsk consdered it interesting that in the blink of an eye the former Soviet Union had
embraced capitdism fiercely; the problem was that there were none of the established checks and

bal ances that Western societies had devel oped.

Inthefront haf of the cargo bay, alarge backhoe was chained down aong with other excavating
equipment. A pallet full of explosiveswastied down just in front of the backhoe. Knowing that he was
riding in aplane with aload of C-4 and detonating devices didn& rsquo;t do much for Barsk&rsquo;s
emotiond hedth.

The plane banked and Barsk eyed the pallet warily.

Leks thrust amask at Barsk. &1squo;& Isquo;Put it on.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Barsk dipped it over hishead. Hefdt the cool oxygen flow.

The mercenaries were hooked into small tanks on their chests, bulky parachutes on their backs.
Weapons were tied off on their left shoulder. Leks had a headset on, listening to the pilot. He pushed his
mask asdeto ydll.

&1squo;& Isquo; Depressuri zing! & rsquo; & rsquo;

With ashudder, the back of the plane began opening. The bottom half lowered, making a platform, while
the top did up into the large space under the tail.

The twenty men followed Leks as he walked onto the platform. Barsk shivered from the freezing air
swirling in. He edged closer to the heat duct over hishead. Leks moved alarge bundle to the edge of the
ramp.

A greenlight flashed. Leks pushed the bundle, and the men tumbled off the ramp, following it.

Fifteen thousand feet below, First Lieutenant Gregor Potsk was concerned about wood. With winter
coming, heat was thefirst priority, and resupply had gotten so strained that they were lucky to get enough
food, never mind kerosene for the heater built into the concrete-and-log bunker set high on the side of
the mountain. Two years ago they& rsquo;d converted to wood, but the problem was, they had aready
cut down al treeswithin two miles. More wood meant going further.

Potsk shrugged his greatcoat on and picked up an AK-74 and alarge band saw. He waited. Two of his
detail of eight men stood.



&1squo;& Isquo;L et us go,& rsquo; & rsquo; Potsk said, opening the heavy door. He knew he could order
his men to do this, but the Situation here was strained at best. He believed in leading by example.

They& rsquo;d been here for eight months already, having been flown in as soon as the weather had
cleared the previous spring. They had four months left on their tour of duty, and morae was plummeting
with the pending onset of winter. Especidly since there seemed to be no purpose to this task-ing& mdash;
watching an abandoned airstrip and the blocked entrance to along out-of-use underground bunker. Ice
crackled underfoot as Potsk traversed the hillside, heading for avalley where the closest treeswere.
&Isquo;& 1squo; Sirl & rsquo;& rsquo; one of the men said, tapping him on the arm and then pointing
upwards.

Out of the low-hanging gray clouds a parachutist appeared, then another. Soon there were twenty chutes
in sght asthefirst one touched down about two hundred meters away, tumbling down the hillside until
the man got hisfeet under him and cut away the chute.

&1s59u0;& 1squo; Sir?& rsquo; & rsquo; The soldiers with Potsk were waiting on his orders.

Potsk looked from the closest jumper to the bunker, now over aquarter mile away. He knew they would
never beat the paratroopers there. And he had no ideawho these men were. Perhaps Spetsnatz running
some sort of training exercise. But then he should have been notified. Of course, heimmediately thought,
things were so disorganized in the military that whoever was jumping might not have known theidand
was occupied. In fact, Potsk thought as he started walking toward the jumpers, these men

shouldn& rsquo;t know about this place at dl, because it was highly classfied.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Hello! & rsquo;& rsquio; Potsk called out.

The man gared a him. He was wearing a black jumpsuit with no markings or insgnia

&Isquo;&lsquo; Thisisaclassfied area Thereisto be no trespassing. Who isyour

commander?& rsquo;& rsquo; Potsk demanded.

&lsquo;& 1squo;l am.& rsquo;& rsquo; The voice came from the right, and Potsk spun around.

Potsk stepped back. The man towered above him, and Potsk noted that there was a scar running down
the side of hisface. & squo;& Isquo;l said& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

The man brought up a submachine gun and fired a burst, blowing back one of the soldierswith Potsk. He
swung the smoking muzzle toward Potsk. & 1squo;& squo; Drop your wegpons.& rsguo;& rsquo;

Potsk swallowed, dropping his AK-74, the other soldier doing the same. Behind the large man, some of
the paratroopers were setting up atripod and opening acase.

&1squo;& 1squo; Who are you?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Are dl the rest of your men in the bunker?& rsquo;& rsquo; Leks demanded.

Potsk glanced toward the bunker, then back at Leks .

&Isquo;&Isquo; Tell methe truth.& rsquo;& rsquio; Leks shifted the aim of his gun and fired. The round
caught the other soldier in the leg, spinning him down to the ground. The man moaned in pain, looking up
at Potsk.

&lsquo;&1squo; They are dl in the bunker,& rsquo;& rsquo; Potsk said. He knew the shots would have
derted hismen.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Don& rsquo;t lie to me.& rsquo;& rsquo; Leks fired again, thistime right between the
soldier& rsquo;s eyes. Potsk was stunned at the sight of the brains splattered onto theicy ground. The
muzzle of Leks & rsquo;s submachine gun turned in hisdirection. & lsquo;& Isquo;Arethey dl inthe
bunker?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Y es.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Leks sgnaed. The paratroopers had placed a missile on top of the tripod. With aflash the missle was
off. One man watched through a sight, leading the wire-guided missile. It smashed into the front of the
bunker, the armor-piercing nose punching through, the charge going off ingde, making puree of the
inhabitants.

&1squo;& 1squo; Y ou pig! & rsquo;& rsquo; Potsk yelled.

Leks fired, dmost negligently with one hand, the bullet taking off the top of Potsk& rsquo;s head.

Leks grabbed his commo man. &1squo;& Isquo;Bring the plane in. We don& rsquo;t have much



time.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t give adamn what this guy says.& rsquo;& rsquo; Colone Metter& rsquo;s
voice was harsh, even with the dampener of the secure phone line. &Isquo;& Isquo; 1 & rsquo;m running
this up the flagpol e before we lose anyone e se.& rsquo; & rsgquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Raisor said that we have to keep quiet about Sergeant Stith& rsquo;s death until he gives
usthe release,& raquo;& rsquo; Daton said. He was standing in aroom off the experimental chamber,
talking to his commander on adirect satellite link phone. & lsquo;&1squo;l don& rsquo;t think running it
up the flagpole is going to do any good,& rsquo; & rsquo; he added.

&lsguo;& Isquo;How are the rest of the men?& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter asked.

Looking around the door, Daton could see into the chamber. &lsquo;& Isquo; They just pulled the first
two after me out. Both are okay. The rest seem to be doing al right.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&1squo;&1squo;Y ou know they& rsquo;re going to tell me to forget about it.& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter was
caming down, thinking about the redlity of the Situation.

Dalton knew what his commander meant. No matter what the colond said, the Pentagon was going
forward with this. & squo;&Isquo;t& rsquo;s the nature of thejob, Sir.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;But 1 & rsquo;m il going on record againgt this. From what you& rsquo;re telling me,
they haven& rsquo;t got agood handle on what they& rsquo;re trying to do.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;No, s, | don& rsquo;t think they have.& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton hadn& rsquost told
Metter about the nukes, and he knew he couldn& rsquo;t. &Isquo;& Isquo;But they do have a
high-priority misson that dl thisisaimed for. And it& rsquo;s got a short fuse.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;I s the mission worth osing men over?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton thought briefly of al the various missions he had been on where men had died. Few had been
worthit. &lsquo;&lsquo; Y es, §ir, it iS.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

Therewas along silence. Dalton could hear the dight crackling in the earpiece, indicating the
MILSTARS satdlite the call was going through was frequency hopping, making sure the transmisson
couldné& rsquo;t be intercepted. Dalton could see Raisor walking toward him across the experimental
chamber. & Isquo;& Isquo;Got to go, Sir.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& 1squo; Good luck.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

The phone went dead.

&lsquo;&Isquo;l assume you didn& rsquo;t revea any information you weren& rsquo;t supposed

t0,& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor said.

Dadton glanced around. No one was close. He stepped close to the CIA man, invading his persona
gpace. & |squo;& Isquo;Listen to me very carefully, because we are not having this conversation again. |
know youé& rsquo;re holding information back from us. I highly recommend you stop doing that. Because
what we don& rsquo;t know could get us killed.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Raisor gtarted to say something, but Daton got even closer. & Isquo;& lsquo;l was doing specia
operations while you were ill in digpers. Don& rsquo;t treat me or these men like we& rsquo;re just
pieces of the machine to be used. We& rsquo;re not. And we won& rsquo;t accept being treated that
way.& rsguo; & rsquo;

Raisor met hiseyes. &1squo;&Isquo;What are you going to do? Complain to your

colonel ?& rsquo; & rsquo;



Dalton didn& rsquo;t say anything. He remained perfectly till, looking deep into the other man& rsquo;s
eyes, until finaly Raisor nodded. & Isquo;& Isquo;l understand where you& rsquo;re coming

from.& rsquo; & rsquo; He changed the subject abruptly. &1squo;& 1squo;We& rsquo;ve got new
information that changesthings. Y ou want to be informed, follow me.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Ddton trailed the man across the experimenta chamber. Captain Anderson was pulling on hisfatigue
shirt, hisface drawn. Daton gestured for the captain while Raisor caled out for Dr. Hammond to join
them.

Thefour entered the classroom. Raisor and Hammond sat behind the front desk while Dalton and
Anderson took other seats.

& lsquo;& Isquo; The nuclear weapons convoy has been moved up five days,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.
Silence greeted that statement.

& lsquo;& | squo; Wes rsquo;re going to have to be operationa in forty-seven hours,& rsquo; & rsquo;
Raisor continued.

Daton waited on Hammond, asit was clear thiswas thefirst she had heard of thisalso.

Shefindly spoke. &1squo;&Isquo; That will be hard.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo; We have no option,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

&lsquo;& Isquo; There are plenty of options,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton countered.

&1sguo;& Isquo;No, there aren& rsquo;t.& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor leaned back in his seat, putting more
distance between the two. & Isquo;&Isquo; Thisis not open for discussion. We are going in forty-seven
hours. The only issueis how do we prepare.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo; ?%7?" Daton repeated.

& squo;& squo;1 & rsquo;m going with you, of course,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. He turned to Captain
Anderson. &1squo;& Isquo; You are the ranking man here, not the sergeant magjor. Y ou are under orders
to comply with any and dl ingtructions| give you.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& squo;& squo; What the sergeant magjor is saying makes sense,& rsquio;& rsquo; Anderson said.
&lsguo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t think we can do thisin two days. We& rsquo;ve dready lost a

man.& rsaquo; & rsguio;

&1sguo;& |squo; 1 t& rsquo;s not up to you,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & lsquo;& Isquo; Plus the person
who knowsif you can or can&rsquo;t do it in two daysis Dr. Hammond, not you or the sergeant mgjor.
And if you can& rsquo;t follow orders, 1& rsquo;ll relieve you and find someone who

can.& rsguo; & rsguio;

Dalton remained silent, as did Captain Anderson. They knew that by doing so, they were assenting to the
mission, but there redlly wasn& rsquo;t much choice now. They& rsquo;d pushed it asfar asthey could
short of disobeying orders and getting court-martia ed.

&lsquo;& squo;We can do it,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond interjected. & 1squo;& |squo;But we haveto
redlly accelerate the schedule. & rsquo;d like to get moving on developing avatars

immediately.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& Isquo;& Isquo; Good,& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor said. & lsquo;& squo;l & rsquo;ll get as much intelligence
as possible regarding our target.& rsquo; & rsquo; He threw a satdllite photo down on the desk.
&Isquo;& Isquo;Right now al we haveisthat the state of Kazakhstan is transferring twenty nuclear
warheads viarail to Russain accordance with the latest arms agreement signed between the two
countries.

&Isquo;& Isquo; The warheads will be on atrain traveling from Semipalatinsk to

Novosbirsk.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hisfinger traced ablack line. & lsquo;&lsquo;Along thisrail line. Our
anaysts believe that the attack will occur just after the handover occurs on the Russian side of the
border.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo; Why then?& rsquo;& rsquo; Captain Anderson asked. & Isquo;& Isquo;Why not on the
Kazakhstan sde?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;Because we believe it is the Russan Mafiawho will be conducting theraid. They have
more power on the Russian side. They might even have infiltrated some of the soldierswho will be



guarding the warheads.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;What kind of security will the Russians have?& rsquo;& rsquo; Anderson asked.

& 1squo;& I1squo; One understrength company of infantry,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

&Isquo;& Isquo;About fifty men. Thetrain itself will be armored.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& squo; That& rsquo;s a pretty tough nut to crack& rsquo;& rsquo; Anderson noted.

&1squo;& Isquo;How do you figure the Mafiawill be ableto take it down?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo;We don& rsquo;t know,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & 1squo;& |squo; But you do need
to understand that the Mafiain Russiais very much unlike anything you& rsquo;ve heard about herein the
States. They are very powerful and well armed. Thereis atremendous amount of firepower available on
the black market in that part of the world. We& rsquo;ve had reports of the Mafia having tanks and
attack helicopters. Along with the trained personnd to use them. | have no doubt that if the Mafiawants
to take down that train, they will do it.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& |squo;What about the codes that arm the warheads& mdash; the PAL codes?& rsquo;& rsquo;
Dalton asked. He had some knowledge of nuclear wespons, having served on a

& 1sguo;& Isquo; backpack nuke& rsquo;& rsquo; team for awhile. That was before Specid Forces gave
up themission of infiltrating tactical nuclear weaponsin backpacks with the advent of cruise missiles,
which could do the job more efficiently. & Isquo;&Isquo;Even if the Mafia gets the warheads, 1& rsquo;m
sure even the Russian army isn& rsquio;t stupid enough to ship the PAL codes on the same

train.& rsquo;& rsuio;

&Isquo;& Isquo;And the Russan Mafiaisn& rsquo;t stupid enough to attack thistarget if it didn& rsquo;t
fed confident it could get the arming codes somehow,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

That was the firgt thing Raisor had said that made sense to Dalton. & |squo;& Isquo;How do we stop
them?& rsquo;& rsquio;

Raisor turned to Hammond. & lsquo;& 1squo; That& rsquo;s your area of expertise.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Hammond nodded. & |squo;& Isquo;What we& rsquo;re going to do is design combat forms for each of
your men using Sybyl. Theseforms, which we call avatars, will be what you use when you come out of
thevirtua planeinto the redl.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsguo;& |squo;What exactly is an avatar?& rsquo; & rsquo; Captain Anderson asked.

&1squo;& 1squo;An avatar,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said, & 1squo;&Isquo;is arepresentation of a
person in virtud redity. Gamers use it when they participate in avirtua redity sesson. For our purposes,
we use the term for the cyber-sdlf that goesinto the virtua world. We aso use the term for the form that
comes out of the virtual world at the far point. Let me show you what | mean.& rsquo;& rsquo;

She stood up and walked to a TV on acart in the corner of the room and wheeled it to the front. She
took avideocassette from the rack on the bottom and did it inthe VCR.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Thisis atape of the avatar used during our test run.& rsquo;& rsquio;

The screen showed an empty room, the floor covered with various objects. For a minute nothing
happened, then there was a shimmer in the air, about four feet above the center of the room.

Raisor spoke up. &1squo;& Isquo; The RVer who conducted this operation wasin an isolation tank here
at Bright Gate. Thisroom& mdash; the far point& mdash; was in the basement of CIA headquarters at
Langley.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Hammond tapped the screen. & 1squo;& 1squo;Our man has now found the room and is beginning to gain
coherence. The avatar used here was very basic. A program that copies amechanica arm. Two joints,
you could say an elbow and wrigt, and five digits. The arm is about ten feet long, which makes each
finger eight incheslong.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Ddton could now make out the vague outline of the arm Hammond had described, but he could till see
graight through it. Then, from the high end, the arm began to solidify in small squares, each one about
four inches on each side, the colors ranging from red to orange, each one dightly different.

& 1squo;& Isquo;We added the color in order to be able to see the avatar,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond
sad.

&Isquo;&Isquo;Can it remain invisible?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.



&Isquo;&Isquo;Not quite invisible, as you saw when it first started to appear,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond
sad. &1squo;&Isquo;Y ou can remaininvisibleif you stay in the virtua world, but once you enter theredl
world, therewill be some disturbance of the light spectrum. Thelight goesthrough, but it is affected.
Thereisadso adisturbance of the eectromagnetic field, but that can only be noticed with specia
imagers.& rsquo;& rsguio;

&Isquo;& Isquo; So if you wanted, you could keep our forms& mdash; avatars& mdash;, relatively
invisible?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton pressed.

&lsquo;&lsquo;l have atape of the avatar operating when we don& rsquo;t add color,& rsquo; & rsquo;
Hammond said. & |squo;& Isquo;Y ou& rsquo;ll be able to see what it looks like.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Thearm was now solid, floating in ar. Thelong fingers, actually looking more like a series of rectangles,
began moving.

&1squo;& Isquo;Our man istesting the avatar now,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.

The arm bent at the elbow, then a the wrist. The fingers continued to move.

Then the hand reached down and picked up ablock of wood about four inches square. It moved through
the air and deposited the block on the other side of the room. Hammond hit the fast-forward and the arm
raced through a series of maneuvers.

& lsquo;& Isquo;What was the heaviest weight the arm moved?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

& 1squo;& Isquo;Four hundred pounds,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond answered. & 1squo;& squo; That was
the heaviest we tested it for. Redlly thereisno limit to what it can do aslong as the power coming from
Sybyl is sufficient to support the proposed action.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;What& rsquo;s the limit of the power, then, that you can send from

Sybyl?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

&lsquo;& |squo;We& rsquo;re not exactly sure,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said, & 1squo;& |squo;but
based on our data, we have set up some basic parameters. The limit on avatar size will be about elght
hundred parts per projected unit.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo; Parts?& rsquo; & rsquo; Anderson asked.

&1squo;& 1squo;1t& rsquo;s a power unit that flowsinto sizefor Sybyl. To put it in termsyou can
understand, eight hundred parts would equa a 170-pound human being.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;Not exactly Godzilla,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton noted.

& 1sguo;& 1squo;1t& rsquo;s the best we can do right now,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Eventualy we might be able to produce Godzilla-like avatars, but there seem to be some
limits on what can be sent through the virtud plane and then reassembled in a coherent form at the
target.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo; And power?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

Hammond frowned. & |squo;& |squo; That isa problem. Using Sybyl, we can only send aset limit. That
one arm could lift four hundred pounds, but if we& rsquo;d put another smilar arm into the room, dso
powered by Sybyl, each one could only lift two hundred pounds.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& 1squo; So the more men we send over,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton summarized, & Isquo;& Isquo;the
less power they will have?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo;Y es,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. &1squo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;ve got our computer
people working round the clock to increase the flow, but there seem to be some mathematica limitsto
the virtua physcsthat we doné& rsquo;t quite understand.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; There seemsto be ahdll of alot that you don& rsquo;t understand about al of

this,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said.

Hammond pointed at the screen. & lsquo;& 1squo; It works.& rsquo; & rsquo;

& 1squo;& Isquo; It picks up blocks,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton countered. He tapped the satellite imagery on
the desk. & squo;& Isquo; Thiswill be real, Doctor. With rea people. And real nuclear warheads. Y our
stuff had better work then.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; It will.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;m alittle confused,& rsquo; & rsquo; Captain Anderson said.



&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou told usit could do only eight hundred parts. How many different avatars can you
send over?& rsquo; & rsguio;

& 1squo;& | squo; Wes rsquo;re not sure,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & 1squo;& [squo;We do know,
though, that the total power islimited and the amount allocated to each avatar isinversaly proportiond to
the number of avatars generated.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

&lsguo;& squo;Can you get the entire team operationa & rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.
&lsquo;&Isquo;l think we can,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond answered.

&lsquo;& |squo;What about weapons?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked. & 1squo;& 1squo;We reappear as
170-pound & Isquo;forms& rsquo; in our birthday suits, we& rsquo;re asking for trouble.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Hammond smiled. &1squo;& Isquo; That& requo;s something | think you will be very happy

with.& rsquo;& rsquo; She grabbed another tape off the rack.

Daton and Anderson leaned forward as a small, hovering sphere gppeared in adifferent room. They
recognized it asan indoor pistol range.

&1squo;& Isquo; That& rsquo;s the range at Langley,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & lsquo;& lsquo; The
RVer was here at Bright Gate.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The avatar elongated until it was atube about six feet long by six inchesin diameter, bright red in color,
the surface pulsing.

&lsquo;&Isquo;We only gaveit thisform in order to get someideaof aim.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

There was aglow on one end of the tube. Then, faster than they could see, the glow shot aong the tube
and down range. The wooden target exploded in ashower of splinters.

&lsquo;& Isquo;How much power isthat?& rsquo;& rsquo; Anderson asked.

&Isquo;& Isquo; Enough to punch through an inch of plate stedl,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.
&lsquo;&Isquo;More than sufficient to go through any type of body armor atarget might be

wearing.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;How often can it fire?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

& lsquo;& squo;We& rsgquo;re working on that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. & 1squo;& Isquo; Thereis
adirect correlation between power and frequency of firing.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;lf | wanted enough power to kill someone,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said,
&lsquo;&Isquo;how often can | fire?& rsquo; & rsquo;

& 1sguo;& |squo;Once every two seconds,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.

& sguo;Jesus.& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton shook his head. Two seconds was forever in combat.

&lsquo;& Isquo;We& rsquo;re back to the days of lever action rifles.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo;ls that the best wegpon you have for us?& rsquo;& rsquo; Anderson asked.

&1sguo;& |squo; We have some other optionsin terms of power and rate,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said
defensvely.

&lsquo;& Isquo;What about if we have to take out armor?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Then you materidize insde the tank,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said, & 1squo;& Isquo;and
you kill the crew.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo;Could | then use the tank?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

&1squo;&Isquo; Y ou can use anything you can retrieve,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

&1squo;& Isquo; That& rsguo;s one of the beauties of thistype of operation. Y ou will have the e ement of
surprise and then of shock. Y ou& rsquo;ll materiaize out of nowhere, in aform that can hardly be seen,
and what they do see will scare the piss out of them. Y our weaponswill be something they& rsquo;ve
aso never experienced before. Y ou& rsquo;ll have more than enough advantage.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;Againgt aforce that& rsquo;s going to attack a company of infantry?& rsquo;& rsquo;
Dalton asked. & 1squo;& Isquo;With only seven of us?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Eight. And dl we haveto do is stop them from taking the warheads,& rsquo; & rsquo;
Raisor said. & lsquo;& 1squo; That means just disrupt the attack.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo;l think you are severely underestimating your advantages,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dr. Hammond
sad. &lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou will be able to move anywhere you want in an ingtant. And your physica selves



will be here, at Bright Gate, safe. That& rsquo;s atremendous advantage. Y ou can& rsgquo;t get killed,
like akid playing avideo game on & Isquo;God& rsquo; mode.& rsquo;& rsquio;

& 1squo;& squo;What about the avatars?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked, not thrilled with comparison to a
video game. He& rsquo;d been hearing about & squo;& |squo; push-button& rsquo;& rsquo; warfare for
over two decades now and he didn& rsquo;t buy into it. Sooner or later it dways came down to some
guy with agunin his hand standing on apiece of terrain over the body of another guy with agun.
&lsquo;& Isquo;What if one of the avatarsis shot? How doesthat affect our physica selves and the
form?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;&Isquo; Y our physical sdf will be fing,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. & lsquo;&Isquo; The
virtua form you project will be disrupted. What you are basicaly doing istransforming energy into
matter. If the matter gets disrupted, it will backflow to the energy field. But you& rsquo;ll be ableto

& Isquo;dissolve& rsquo; your avatar and re-form it again, so in effect, you will be

indestructible.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo; So why can& rsquo;t we just go as those tubes and fire everyone up?& rsquo; & rsquio;
Captain Anderson wanted to know.

&|suo;& Isquo; Because it& requo;s difficult to maneuver such aform,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.
&Isquo;& Isquo;We much prefer to give you an avatar that can actualy make contact with the ground and
any other surface. That can move physicaly if you need to. To disappear and re-form takestime and
practice, neither of which we have much of right now.

&lsquo;& squo;Also, you are used to having two arms and two legs and having your head on top of your
shoulders. That might sound funny to you, but we try to gpproximate the human form as much as possible
becauseit isthe way you are used to getting sensory input and aso the way you are used to moving. We
could give you four arms, but how would you use the extra two? Where in your mind would you direct
the commands for those arms to function? Perhgps with alot of practice you might, but for along time
any additions or differenceswould only be adisiraction. Trust me on this. A human-type form isthe best
for you to have as your avatar.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Raisor stood. &Isquo;&Isquo; The best thing to do isfor you to experience it firsthand. Perhaps that will
answer many of the questions you might have. Let& rsquo;sget going. Theclock is

ticking.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Feteror remembered the plane ride out of Afghanistan. It wasthe last memory he had of the time before
thelong darkness. The last memory of being aman, even awounded, dying shell of aman.

He had learned over the yearsto be able to put his memoriesinto the mainframe computer he was
hooked to. It was the only way he could & 1squo;& | squo;experience& rsquo; & rsquo; ared life& mdash;
replaying hismemories, reliving them insde the computer. They were as

&1squo;& Isquo;rea & rsquo; & rsquo; as the women the programmers sent to him for his

&lsquo;& |squo;reief & rsquo; & rsquo;

He often regretted that he didn& rsquo;t know more about computers, but at the time he had been
shipped to Afghanistan, computers had barely appeared in the Russian world, other than those the
government used.

The scientists called the master computer at SD8-FFEU Zivon, which was a Russian name that meant
dive

The scientists had great respect for the computer that assisted Feteror in accomplishing his missions, but
Feteror knew the computer to be stupid and unimaginative. He supposed that as machines went, it was
quite an impressive piece of equipment, but it was poor companionship for dl the years he had spent
hooked to it.

Of course, Feteror knew, the scientists also had named Zivon thusly because they considered Feteror to
be part of the computer. They saw no clear separation between the human brain and remaining body
floating in asolution insde the meta cylinder and the circuitry and memory boards that surrounded it.
Feteror himsdlf often wondered where the line was as he wandered the e ectronic corridors of Zivon.



The Russians had long worked at direct interfaces between the human mind and the machine mind.
Ethical congderations had limited what could be donein the West, even though their machines were so
much superior. SD8 had no such considerations to worry about and they had had accessto dl the other
work being donein secret Soviet labs on cyborgs.

Feteror had looked up the word cyborg early in hisnew life after overhearing thetechniciansusingit. The
mogt interesting thing he had discovered about the definition was the part where it said that the human,
once it became a cyborg, was then reliant on the machinery that was part of it for itssurvival.

During one of his maintenance periods, the technicians had turned his video eye& mdash; since hisvirtua
demon& rsquo;s eye could never enter SD8-FFEU& mdash; on the meta cylinder that held him and the
surrounding machinery. It had been hard for Feteror to accept that what he saw was his

&Isquo;& Isquo;sdlf.& rsquo; & rsgquio;

He remembered seeing himself in atraining film when he had till been fully human and being surprised at
what he saw, as many people were, not used to seeing themsalves and having developed an unconscious
representation in their own mind of what they looked like, sometimes at odds with the redlity. Much as
people were always surprised to hear their voice on tape, asit sounded different somehow. But seeing
the machines that made him up had been far beyond anything any human had ever experienced.

Feteror had long ago ceased thinking of himself as he had been in human form, but he had not been
willing or able to trandate that concept to the machines that surrounded the husk of hisbody. He
preferred instead to view himsdlf as Chyort, the demon avatar he went on missions as. But that

didn& rsgquo;t mean he had been able to completely close the door on his past.

Feteror was very careful with hismemories. They were dl he had and he had made sure to encode them
and hide them deep inside Zivon. Everyone he had known, and how he had known them, wasin there.
Everything he had ever done. Everywhere he had ever been. Even when Rurik cut his power down to
minimum, Feteror was free to roam those parts of Zivon that were accessible to him, the space he was
alowed for hisown use,

And those parts of Zivon that the scientists had blocked off from him& mdash; Rurik was no

fool& mdash; Feteror was il trying to get to. Like aprisoner dowly chipping away at aprison wall with
aspoon, Feteror had been working on breaking through the circuit walls that surrounded him, trying to
get to the outer world of Zivon, which he knew would give him accessto the entireworld of the Internet
and beyond. His god was smply to be able to shut Zivon down, and in the process kill himself, but he
had become aware of the incredible eectronic virtua world that had sprung up in the past decade and it
had piqued hisinterest.

Rurik never gave Feteror access to any information other than what was needed to accomplish his
missions, but each time he was out on one of those missions, Feteror always made sureto try to gain
more data. Several times he had materiaized and accessed into computers,

&squo;& Isquo;surfing& rsquo;& rsquo; the Internet, a phrase he found most amusing, and an experience
he had found quite stimulating. He had learned much, more than General Rurik could even begin to
suspect. He had learned much about Rurik also, because he believed one of the keysto his plan wasto
understand his captor completely in order to be able to manipulate him.

In the past year he had even begun to contemplate trying to get to Zivon from the outside, hack hisway
into hisown outer sdlf, but the safeguards put in place seemed overwhelming, as did those on theinside,
keeping him from hacking out. Even when he penetrated the GRU system, he had not even been able to
get closeto SD8, and he had been afraid of tripping darms. If there was one tenet he had accepted early
inhisarmy career, it was that surprise and stedlth were the most important tactical considerations when
preparing an attack.

So he had accepted that another way had to be found.

But for now he wastired. He had accomplished much in the past few days, and his plan was gathering
momerntum.

He wandered aimlessly through the e ectronic archivesthat held his memory. When he paused to see
where he was, he was surprised to discover that he was next to the place where he had encoded



memories of hisgrandfather and his childhood.

He& rsquo;d never known hisfather, not redly. A vague figure who& rsquo;d come home every onceina
while wearing asmelly greatcoat. A large man who preferred the rough life of the army to the bitter life of
the farm. Home on leavefor afew days every few years, until finaly he stopped coming and

Feteror& rsquo;s mother stopped talking about him coming home.

Feteror saw little of hismother, as she worked in afactory in the city, Sx days aweek for Sixteen hoursa
day, and it wastoo far to come back to the small farm each night. So he saw her maybe once aweek,
usudly less. It wasjust he and his grandfather on the farm.

His grandfather& mdash; Opain the Russian familiar& mdash; had told him of the Greet Peatriotic War and
how the Germans had come and killed everyonein their village that they had caught, including

Feteror& rsquo;s grandmother and his own mother& rsquo;s two brothers and three siters. Only his
grandfather, out in the woods hunting for game, and his mother, ayoung girl then, accompanying him to
help carry it back, had survived. They had then joined one of the many guerrillagroups and spent the rest
of thewar hiding and killing when they could.

Unlike many of the other old men whose stories Feteror had heard, his grandfather had not spoken of the
war fondly, or boasted of greeat feats of arms. He had spoken of the loss, the boredom of waiting, and
the terror of the quick clash of combat.

But mostly they had smply worked the farm, raising enough food to eat and make the quotas from the
State that grew larger every year. When Feteror had turned sixteen, his grandfather had died and Feteror
had seen the writing on the wall. He had known he could never make the increasing quotas, eveniif his
grandfather were dtill diveto help. Feteror had gone for the only thing he knew, immediately sgning up to
serve hisrequired timeinthemilitary.

He& rsquo;d found that the disciplined life was for him. In many ways, it was easer than the farm had
been, and Feteror gained a better understanding of why his father had been gone so much.

Feteror had done well, finaly being sent to the eite Airborne. Even there, among the best, he had
excdlled, and he had been sent, after afew years of service, to officer training. He& rsquo;d returned to
the Airborne and served as an officer, before putting in enough time and gaining enough experience to
join the Spetsnatz.

Feteror remembered the last time he had gone to the farm. He accessed that memory and the virtud area
around him began to take on aform.

The collective had gobbled the farm up, but the small shady spot next to the stream where he and his
grandfather had spent Sunday afternoons was il there, surrounded by acres and acres of open fidlds.
Feteror closed his eyes and lay down in the shady spot, fedling the cool breeze, the itch of the grass
underneath, hearing the murmur of the water going by. He had spent many, many hours perfecting this
location in the computer& rsquo;s memory.

Feteror heard footsteps and when he opened his eyes, he was not surprised to see his grandfather
standing there, aflask in his hand and abright smile of crooked teeth amidst the wrinklesin hisface.
Feteror sat up and greeted Opa and began to talk to him of what he had planned. He knew the old man
would understand.

When the mercenaries complained about having to dig, Leks threw money at them. Literally. Hehad a
briefcase full of American dollars, and he tossed athick band to each man.

&1squo;& squo;A bonus for the labor,& rsquo;& rsquo; he said.

But Barsk knew it was not so much the money, but Leks himsdlf, overseeing the digging, that made the
ex-soldierswork like madmen. They wanted to be done with thisand away from Leks asquickly as
possible.

There was a0 the problem that the GRU unit they had wiped out most likely made some sort of
regularly scheduled radio contact with its higher headquarters. When they falled to cdl in, it was
inevitable some sort of dlarm would be raised. Barsk knew the remoteness of this site would preclude
any investigation soon, but eventualy someone would check.



The backhoe had worked through the rubble in the entrance to the elevator shaft rdatively quickly. The
shaft had suffered some damage but was unblocked except for debris at the bottom, which the
mercenaries were digging out and placing on asmall cage pulled out by the backhoe. An arc welder was
cutting through the sted doors, which had been buckled by some sort of explosion.

When the welder finally cut through, Barsk could see that the doors were two inchesthick. What Barsk
redly didn& rsquo;t understand was why this generator was so far underground.

With asolid thud, one of the doors fell inward. Leks wasthrough, followed immediately by Barsk. The
welder went to work on the other door while they walked into the blasted shambles of what the papers
caled the control room.

&1sguo;& Isquo;What did this?& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk whispered. There were skel etons strewn across
thefloor, the flesh seared from the bones. The blast glass overlooking the experimenta pit had been
completely blown away. The walls were scorched asif from an intense heat. Barsk ran his hand aong the
top of what had once been a computer but was now melted metal and plastic.

Leks snapped afinger, and one of his men opened a case and took areading with the machineinside.
&lsquo;& Isquo;lt is clean,& rsquo; & rsquo; the man said. & Isquo; & Isquo;No radiation.& rsquo;& rsquio;
Leks knelt and picked up askull, peered at it for afew moments, then tossed it aside.

&lsquo;& Isquo;High heat,& rsquo;& rsquo; he said. & 1squo;& Isquo;A very powerful explosion. Not
nuclear though. Mogt interesting.& rsquo;& rsquo;

It was ashock for Barsk to see the ex& ndash;naval commando amost reflective as they both looked
about.

Leks crooked along finger from his position near the blast wall. Barsk joined him. On the floor below
wasthe gleaming stedl tube of the generator, till Sanding straight and tall, the silver il shining amidst the
black coilsthat fed power to it. More skeletons littered that floor.

& squo;& squo;What are those things?& rsquo; & rsquo; Barsk asked. There were four coffins next to the
tube, askeleton lying in each open container.

Leks wasturning the pages on the papers. & 1squo;& |squo; They& rsquo;re called sensory deprivation
tanksin here.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Why did they need those?& rsquo;& rsquio;

Leks waved some of his men forward, ignoring the question. & |squo;& 1squo;We need to unbolt that
tube and then we& rsgquo;re going to have to winch it to the surface. | want you five to work on freeing
the tube. Y ou others, prepare a brace on the surface so we can use both the plane and the backhoe to
haul that thing out of here.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Barsk waslooking more closely at the coffins. He could see the metal socketsimplanted in each skull.
&lsquo;& Isquo; What were they doing here?& rsquo; & rsquo; he whispered.

Leks frowned. &Isquo;&Isquo;l hope we can take off with that weight insde,& rsquo;& rsquo; he said in
alower voiceto Barsk. &squo;& |squo;Move! & rsquo;& rsquo; he yelled at the men.

&lsquo;& I1squo;Move faster! & rsquo; & rsquo;

Knowing what to expect didn& rsquo;t make it any easier. In fact, the dread of what was to come aways
made things worse, in Daton& rsquo;s opinion. The hardest part thistime was the bresthing crossover,
but eventudly he was past that and Hammond had him linked to Sybyl, who was going to introduce him
to the avatar form that Hammond& rsquo;s team had crash-designed with the help of the computer.



Dalton had dept for two hours, if one could cdl it that. Hammond had given him a shot that had knocked
him out for that time period. Dalton didn&rsquo;t fed rested, but asthey used to say in Ranger School so
many years ago when he& rsquo;d gone through that training, he could rest when he was dead.
Remembering Ranger School, Daton& rsquo;s lips curled in adight smileingdethe TACPAD and
around the tube shoved into his mouth as he followed the ingtructions of Dr. Hammond. It wasthe same
routine he had done the first time: focusing on the white dot, followed by moving along the grid line. What
would his grizzled Ranger indructors have thought of this new form of soldiering? Floating in afreezing
tank, connected to a computer? They would have liked the freezing-tank part& mdash; it seemed like
every military school Daton had gone through had always had immersion into cold weter as part of the
curriculum.

&1squo;&Isquo; Now we fit you to your basic avatar,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said, her

&1squo;& Isquo;voice& rsquo; & rsquio; filtered through Sybyl. & 1squo;&1squo; Are you

ready?& rsquo; & rsquo;

& Isquo;& Isquo; Yes.& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton found thistalking insde of his own head to Hammond very
drange.

Thegrid lines disappeared. A stick figure replaced them after abrief blackout.

&1squo;&Isquo; This is you.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;&Isguo; Lost some weight,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. & lsquo;& Isquo; This form has no
mass at present, although once projected out of the virtual and into the real world, it will have
mass out of the energy we will send using Sybyl.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; It was a joke, & rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said.

There wasalong pause,

&1squo;&Isquo; We will proceed. Sybyl will run you through a series of maneuversto familiarize
you with your avatar.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton waited patiently. He had no idea how much time had already € apsed. That was something he was
going to have to ask Hammond& mdash; how could one keep track of timein the virtua world?
&1squo;&Isquo; Move your left arm,& rsquo; & rsquo; Sybyl commanded.

Dalton tried to do ashewastold, but he could feel nothing from hisleft arm.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Again.& rsquo; & rsgquo;

They went through this how many times Dalton didn& rsquo;t know, until suddenly he felt apainful twinge
inhisarm. & 1squo;& |squo; Hey! & rsquo; & rsquo; Ddton yelled.

&lsguo;&Isgquo; You are getting feedback?& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond asked. & Isquo;&lsquo; | can
feel my arm.&rsgquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo; You feel your virtual arm,&rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & Isquo;& Isquo; Now you
can move it. We have to make sure you have feedback before we allow movement. Now we will
allow your nervous system to interact more fully with the form.&rsgquo; & rsquo;

Ddton focused on moving hisarm forward. The stick figurein front of him dowly moved itsright arm
forward. Daton fdt hisarm move at the same time. It was very confusing, since he knew that hisarm had
not moved in redlity.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Experiment,& rsquo; & rsquo; Sybyl told him. &1squo;& lsquo;

Practice.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton did just that for awhile before he noticed something. & Isquo; & Isquo; What about my

hands?& rsquo; & rsgquo;

&1squo;&lsquo; We must start with the basics,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & 1squo;&Isquo; This
formisthe barest outline of the avatar you will eventually employ. Tr y the other

arm.&rsquo; & rsquio;

Soon Ddton could movedl of hislimbsindividualy. Sybyl then tested him in much the same manner that
shehad with thegrid lines. A light would flash next to one of the limbs and he had to moveinthe
direction of the light. The computer would aso rotate the figure |left and right, so that he had to move
forward and back.



Asthe practice went on, Sybyl started flashing lightsin combination and at afast pace. Dalton found
himsdf totally immersed in trying to keep up. It was like when he had first learned martid arts, the
practice at making al movementsaroutine, an ingtinct.

Hammond& rsgquo;s voice came back. & 1squo;& 1squo; The goal is so that you can move the avatar as
naturally as you move your own body. For example, if you were to do a forward roll, you would
not be thinking how each of your arms and legs moved. You would do theroll. The avatar needs
to be as much a part of you, so that you can move in combination in an unconscious mode. The
major thing keeping you from that right now is the belief in your mind that you are not really the
form you see. You must suspend your disbelief and believe you are looking into a mirror. But focus
on what you feel, not what you see.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton did as sheinstructed and found that his action became more natural. It fet asif hewerefloating in
the tank at scuba school, weightless and free. He rolled forward.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Whoa! & rsquo; & rsquo; Ddton ydled. Thefigurein front of him wastumbling and he felt
like he was spinning out of control. With grest effort he brought himsdlf to ahalt. & 1squo;&Isquo;How do
| know which way is up?&rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. &1squo;&Isquo; | & rsquo; ve got

no feeling of weight. Even in water, | can tell direction by checking out my air bubbles. Here there
is nothing.& rsquo; & rsquo;

A red line appeared next to the figure, arrows on it dowly going by pointing up. &Isquo;& Isquo; Orient
on the arrows,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond suggested.

Dalton did theroll again, but thistime he focused on the red arrows. He did two complete revol utions,
then hdted himsdlf.

&1squo;&Isquo; Very good.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton fet like he was gasping for breath, but he knew now that it was only a part of the virtua

feedback.

&1squo;&Isquo; Now feet and hands,& rsquo; & rsquo; Sybyl said.

Dalton found that more difficult. He had never truly redized how complex the human hand was and how
many moving partsit had. The foot was aso hard to master.

Soon Sybyl had him mimicking the act of walking, the stick figure moving jerkily ong. Onething Daton
found disconcerting was the lack of resstance, particularly to hisfest.

&Isquo;&Isquo; Right now you might consider what you are doing walking in space, much like an
astronaut, & rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & lsquo;& Isquo; As you may have noted you have no
weight. You are acting against no object. You are totally free. It isimportant to learn this type of
movement, first because it is the most strange for you and also because it is the way you will feel
while you travel on the virtual plane.& rsgquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Can | go somewher e?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

There was a pause. &1squo;&Isquo; 1 must check with Raisor.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Why?& rsquio; & rsquio;

There was another pause. & 1squo;& |squo; Because he& rsquo; s in charge.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&Isquo;&Isquo; Forget it,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. &1squo;&Isquo; You have compl eted this
phase of training,&rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. &Isquo;& Isquo; We are pulling you

Out.& 'squio; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; The fool s will never succeed,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror& rsquo;s grandfather said ashe
stood at the edge of their glade, peering in the direction of the open fields. There was the distant heavy
coughing sound of the Combine& rsquo;s tractors working the land. Even in the virtua world, the State
intruded, Feteror thought wryly. He knew he could delete the sound, but it was the way he had last been
intheglade.

Feteror frowned. He had told his grandfather his entire plan and thiswas his response?

&1squo;& 1squo; Did you hear me, Opa?& rsguo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&lsquo;l heard you. | know little of such matters, so you must do what you deemiis

best.& rsquo;& rsquo; His grandfather shook his head, his heavy gray beard dowly swinging back and



forth. &squo;&Isquo; They think the group is stronger than the individud, but it is not so. Because the
group isonly as strong as the weakest individual. A good person can beat any group.& rsquo;& rsquio;
&lsquo;&Isquo; Then you believe | will succeed?& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Even in the war,& rsquo;& rsquo; the old man went on as if he had not heard aword.
&lsquo;&Isquo; The generals used us asif none of us mattered. They threw us againgt the Germanslike
S0 many pieces of garbage to be tossed onto the scrap heap. They& rsquo;d keep our artillery fire so
closethat we lost as many of our own as the Germans did to our shells. But what did the generas care
about us? We weren& rsquo;t them. More importantly, from their perspective, they weren& rsquo;t us.
They had agoa and we were the meansto achieve that goa.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Feteror stared at the construct of his grandfather. Zivon had developed this persona out of the memories
that Feteror had poured into the compuiter, but in the past year or so, Feteror had dowly become aware
that the persona had grown beyond the memories. It used words his grandfather had never known, but
undernegth, Feteror still fet that the essence of the construct was his grandfather.

&1squo;& Isquo;And we did win,& rsquo;& rsquo; Opa continued. & |squo;& |squo;But what did we
WiN?& rsquo; & rsguio;

&lsquo;&lsquo;Y ou defeated the Nazis,& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y es, we won that & rsquo;& rsquo; the old man acknowledged. & lsquo;& |squo;But what
wasthetotd result? The entirety? We thought we were fighting for good.& rsquo;& rsquo; His withered
hand swept around, taking in what Feteror knew was supposed to be the farm. & 1squo;& |squo;We
produce less now than we did when we worked the land, our land, with just asickle and horsesto pull
the carts. Sometimes you can think you win but actudly loseif the price you pay for winning istoo high.
Y ou can lose your soul.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;What& mdash; & rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror began, but the old man cut him off.

&lsquo;& 1squo;l want to know what happened to you, grandson. Tell me of your last

battle.& rsquo;& rsquo; He waved the hand about. & Isquo;&Isquo;l do not understand dl this. | must
know where you have come from.& rsquo;& rsquo;

That memory wasin Zivon aso, arecollection that Feteror was|oath to go into. Feteror felt aspasm
pass through a nonexistent scomach, his mind reacting.

The glade faded and he and Opa were over avillage set in the mountains. Feteror knew the when and
where: Afghanistan, August 29, 1986. Feteror realized he didn& rsquo;t have control over this playback,
that his grandfather would see the true extent of what had happened:

A dry wind blew down off the mountain peaks that surrounded the valley, kicking up small dust
storms. Feteror pulled the cloth tighter over his face and narrowed his eyes as his men drew
closer, stepping onto the dirt road that served as the village& rsgquo; s main thoroughfare.

Feteror knew that because of the war, the people of the village had seen much pain and suffering
but to them that was simply the way life was. The Soviets had invaded Afghanistan seven years
ago and still the war dragged on, but he had learned that it was not of much concern, sinceiif it
was not the Russians, then the people would be fighting another village or some other foreign
power. War was an integral part of life for the mujahideen who

controlled the countryside, and it mattered little to them who claimed rulership of the country in
Kabul.

The mujahideen did, however, enjoy the new weapons that the Americans were sending in through
Pakistan, especially the Singer missiles. Just a week ago, a passing band of mujahideen had
downed a Russian helicopter flying by low in the valley. When the villagers had come upon the
crash site, they& rsquo;d found eight dead Russians. Feteror had a good idea of what had
happened next from other villages he& rsquo;d raided. The Afghanis had cut the heads off and
brought them back to the village to be used later when playing the Afghani version of polo, the
heads replacing the ball in the Western game. The game, of course, would have to wait until the
men of the village returned. Most of the men were gone, either dead or off fighting. Feteror knew



there was little concern in the village about the Russians or their Afghani Army lackeys because
the village didn&rsquo;t sit astride any route of communication nor did it have any resource of
great value. The war had been going on for long enough now that the Soviets no longer sought
out conflict, but stayed inside their fortified positions, fighting only when forced to. Feteror was
counting on the villagers& rsquo; complacent attitude to get his disguised band of men into their
midst.

Thus, when the small group of eight men was spotted walking up the valley floor toward the
village in the early morning light by a young boy tending his flock, there was not much concern.
The elder, summoned out of his house, could see that the men coming up the valley were dressed
in the traditional robes and turban of the mujahideen fighter and that they were moving openly. As
they approached, he ordered the eleven remaining families to contribute some food so that the
fighters might be nourished as they passed through.

It was too |ate when the elder turned to yell for his youngest son to get his weapon, as
Feteror&rsquo;s men whipped aside their robes. AK-74 assault rifles began firing, killing the few
villagerswho

had weapons. Resistance was destroyed in less than thirty seconds.

The elder had not moved throughout the entire time. Feteror knew he knew that to do so would
invite death and his duty was to the village and the people as a whole. Feteror&rsquo;s men
spread out, mopping up.

Feteror walked directly toward the elder, hisrifle held loosely in strong hands, while yelling
commands to his men in Russian. With one hand, he ripped off the turban he had been wearing.
He pulled a pale blue beret out of hisrobe and set it on his head. The other men did the same.
The elder raised his hands wide apart. Feteror brought the weapon up and fired, the round
ripping through the elder & rsquo;sright leg, knocking him to the ground.

&Isquo;&Isquo; Any other men?& rsquo; & rsgquo; Feteror asked in Pashto, the language of the
mujahideen, which surprised the elder.

&1squo;&Isquo; No.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&Isquo;&Isquo; Order everyone into the street. You have ten seconds. | will kill anyone who hides
Or runs.&rsquo; & rsquo;

Ignoring his pain, the elder yelled at the top of his lungs, ordering all into the street.

There was a burst of automatic fire as the middle son of the elder & rsquo;s brother ran out, firing
an old rifle, and was cut down in a hail of bullets from the Russians, his body tumbling down the
street like a rag doll. The old man& rsquo;s black eyes watched this, but he said nothing, nor did
he show any sign of the pain radiating up from hisleg.

Sowly therest of the villagers came out until there were seventeen women, twenty-two children,
and four other old men standing under the watchful guns of the invaders.

&lsguo;&Isquo; I s that everyone?& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror asked.

&1squo;&Isguo; Yes.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isguo; The men are all away fighting.&rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror made it a statement, not a
question. &1squo; & Isquo; You thought yourself safe here, high in the mountains, didn& rsquo;t
You?& rsquo; & rsquo;

The elder remained quiet, feeling the deep throb of pain from the wound on hisleg.
&1squo;&Isquo; My name is Major Feteror.& rsquo; & rsquo; He was a slight man, his body lean like
a blade under the robes he wore. But it was his face that the elder focused on. There were scars
running down the left side, and he had ice-blue eyes under straight blond hair. Those eyesworried
the elder. Feteror reached up and touched the beret. & squo; & Isquo; We are Spetsnatz. Joecial
Forces. Your fighters call usthe &Isgquo;black soldiers.& rsquo; You would do well to& mdash;

& rsquo; & rsquio;

Feteror paused as there was a sudden consternation among the Russian soldiers. One of them
came forward carrying a dirty burlap sack. He laid it at the feet of Feteror and opened it. Inside



lay the battered heads of the eight Russian soldiers from the helicopter.

The elder closed his eyes, waiting for the bullet, but seconds passed and he slowly opened them, to
look into Feteror&rsquo;s. The major& rsgquo; s face was expressionless, only the glint of the eyes
showing his anger. He reached down and picked up one of the heads. The face was contorted, but
it was easy to see that it had been a young man who had not yet reached his twentieth birthday.
The elder had heard that the Soviets were sending younger and younger men to fight the war. He
felt nothing about that. His brother & rsquo;s middle son had been only eleven. A man was a
warrior when he was big enough to pick up arifle.

&Isquo;&Isquo; It will not be that easy, old man.& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror barked some commands
in Russian as he placed the head back onto the bag. His men lined the villagers against the mud
wall of the elder & rsquo; s house, then stepped back on the other side of the street. They put their
weapons to their shoulder and aimed, waiting.

The elder was proud that his people stood still, glaring back. There was no crying, no pleading.
One woman spit, then the rest did the same, while also putting their children behind them. The
four old men walked to the very front.

Feteror yelled some more orders. The muzzes of the seven AK-74s moved back and forth,
sighting in on one person, then moving to another. And another. But still no bullets came.
&Isquo;&Isquo; Tell me when, old man,&rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror said.

The elder couldn&rsquo;t keep track of all seven weapons. He looked at his wife, whom he had
been married to for thirty-two years. His four grandchildren. His two daughters.
&lsquo;&Isquo; Tell me when, old man, or they fire on full automatic. Asit is now, they will each
shoot only once at your command.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The elder ran histongue along his lips, feeling the dryness. He knew that in the long run it would
not matter. &1squo; & lsquo; Now.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Feteror yelled a single word and seven riflesfired in one sharp volley. Seven bodies slammed back
under the impact of the bullets. The elder saw that one of the seven was his wife, and in a way he
was grateful that she would be spared whatever else was to come.

&1squo;&Isquo; You play well,& rsguo; & rsquo; Feteror noted.

The Russian fired as the old man swung the knife he had slid out from under hisrobe. The round
caught the elder in his upper right shoulder, knocking him back onto the ground, the knife falling
harmlessly to the dirt.

&lsguo;& Isquo; But you doné& rsquo;t fight so well.& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror kicked the knife away.
&squo; & Isquo; So we will have to keep playing and not fight.& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror leaned and
smiled, revealing even teeth. & Isquo; & Isquo; You are a disgrace and a coward. & rsquo; & rsgquo;
Asthe elder struggled to rise up, he kicked him down with a heavy boot. & squo; & Isquo; Watch
my men play, old man. It was what you were going to do with them,& rsquo; & rsquo; he said,
pointing toward the heads. & Isquo; &1squo; You have your games, we have ours.&rsquo; & rsquo;
While four of the Russians stood guard, the others dragged the women into one of the huts. The
elder listened to the screams and cur ses of the women for several hours as the soldiers raped and
sodomized them. When they were done with a woman, they dlit her throat, throwing the body out
the back onto the refuse pile. Halfway through, they simply killed the women, no longer able to
force themselves on them. The old man noted Feteror took no part in that sport. While that was
going on, Feteror had each of the children tied with a blue cord cinched tightly around their necks
and made to stand in the center of the street under the bright sun, ignoring their cries for water.
It was early afternoon by the time all the women were dead. Feteror had the old men executed, a
bullet to the back of each head, and then only the children were left. The elder had watched the
sun slowly climb across the horizon with a growing feeling of contentment.

Feteror attached a small green plastic tube to the end of one of the blue cords and walked over to
the elder, who was now weak and dizzy from the loss of blood.

&Isquo;&Isquo; | am being merciful, old man,&rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror said as he handed the green



tube to him. The elder slowly followed the cord; it was tied around the neck of his six-year-old
grandson. He looked to the Russian in confusion.

&1squo;&Isquo; Pull the ring,& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror ordered.

Sill not comprehending the elder did as he was told. The detonating cord ignited instantly, and
with a flash and small pop, the elders grandsoné& rsquo;s head lay in the street, the body still
standing for a few seconds before slowly toppling over.

&Isquo;&Isquo; | think sometimes that the heads can see their own bodies if they fall in the right
direction, &rsquo;&rsquo; Feteror commented as he inserted the next length of blue cord into the
green tube.

&1squo;&lsguo; No! & rsquo; & rsquo; the elder protested as Feteror held the tube out to him.
&1squo; & Isquo; | will not! & rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo; Ah, then | will not be so merciful.&rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror gestured to the guards.
While two kept their rifles ready, the others drew knives out of scabbards and approached the
closest child.

&Isquo;&Isquo; | will peel them alive if you do not play,&rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror warned.

The elder took the green tube and pulled the ring. A second head lay in the street. The Soviet dlid
another end of blue cord in. The elder closed his ears to the cries of the children who were left. His
hands worked automatically, taking the ignitor each time the Soviet gave it to him and quickly
pulling the ring. He lost count, but mercifully there were no more lengths of blue cord.

The elder turned to the Russian leader. & Isquo; & Isquo;Kill me.&rsguo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; | would,& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror said, & 1squo; & Isquo; but then who would tell the
others what | have done here?&rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror grabbed the old man& rsquo;s chin.
&lsquo; & Isquo; This was a warning. You take heads, we take heads. | think | have made that
perfectly clear.&rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Kill me,& rsquo; & rsquo; the elder insisted.

&Isquo;&Isgquo; No. | will have my medic bandage you and tie you so that you cannot hurt your self.
When the men come back, you will tell them how you failed the village and what | have done.
Then they will kill you. And the war will go on, but there will be that many

less& rsquo; & rsquo; & mdash; Feteror gestured at the heads lying in the street& mdash;

&1squo; & Isquo; to grow up and fight us and that many less women to bear more spawn to grow
up and fight us.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; You are the devil! & rsquo; & rsquo; The elder tried to work up spit in his mouth, but
it was dry. He had expected to die now. The thought of facing the men in the midst of this was
unbearable.

Feteror smiled. &1squo;&Isquo; The devil-Chyort. | like that.& rsquo; & rsquo; He suddenly
straightened and looked to the north, toward the mountains. Then he glared down at the elder.

& Isguo; & Isquo; You kept me here. You knew they were coming. That iswhy you didn & rsquo;t
fight me when | first came.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The elder smiled as Feteror slammed the stock of his weapon into the old man& rsgquo; s head,
knocking him out. Yelling orders, Feteror turned and ran for the southern end of the village, his
men falling in line behind him. The radio man ran next to Feteror, proffering the handset. From
the north there came a sound like thunder, hundreds of horses& rsquo; hooves striking the
hard-packed ground and closing on the village.

Feteror took the handset and began calling for extraction when the earth exploded in front of
him.

When Feteror regained consciousness, he was greeted by the stare of a line of lifeless eyes. The
heads of all the children he had had killed were arranged around himin a circle. He lomly took
an inventory of his body. He could feel painin his chest, from both the ropes wrapped around it
and several broken ribs. He could sense something hard and straight against his back and realized
he was tied upright to a thick pole. He was naked, the cool night air brushing against his skin.



Carefully he tested, but the stake was set deep into the earth and solid. The ropes were thick and
well tied.

It was dark outside the circle of heads, the only light coming from a lantern set on the ground
three feet in front of him. But Feteror could sense the people lurking there, watching, the hate
washing over himin waves. Feteror smiled.

A whip snapped out of the dark, the leather knots on the edge slashing into his skin, peeling back
along dice on his chest.

Feteror&rsquo;s only response was a sharp intake of breath, the smile still on hisface. The whip
came again. And again. The smile disappeared only when he did into unconsciousness, the skin
flayed from waist to neck.

When he came to, it felt asif his upper body were on fire. Just taking a breath caused his wounds
to reopen and agony to surge into his brain. He looked about. Night still blanketed the countryside
and the heads were still watching him. He leaned his head back and |ooked up to the stars. He
remembered seeing those same stars as a child while riding on the open steppes. His grandfather
telling him the stories of the animals the various stars represented. He also remembered seeing
that same sky often whilein the field during training. He had traveled by those stars many times
on operations all over the world, but he knew tonight he would be taking hislast journey.
Movement drew his attention back to earth. A woman came out of the shadows. She was small,
wrapped in robes, only her dark eyes showing through a dlit in her turban. In her hand she held a
short curved knife, the firelight glinting off the highly polished surface. She was one of the women
who accompanied the men when they went to war.

Feteror knew what to expect. The woman reached and grabbed him between the legs, pulling
none too gently. The knife flashed. Surprisingly, Feteror felt little. Despite the pain he was able to
think quite clearly with a part of his mind. He figured that any pain from below his waist would
have trouble overriding the tide of agony from his flayed skin. The woman held up his severed
penisin her hand and, with a shrill scream, carried it back into the darkness to throw it to the
dogs. Another woman came out with a dirty rag and a piece of rope. She pressed the rag up
against the new wound, tying it in place with the rope. Feteror knew they weren& rsquo;t
concerned with infection but they didn& rsquo;t want him to bleed to death. Not yet.

A man appeared, large, astall as Feteror&rsquo;s six and a half feet. He carried something long
in his hand. Feteror forced himself to focus. It was a dledgehammer. He could even see the Cyrillic
writing on the side as the man came closer. It must have been taken off of a Russian tank that the
mujahideen had destroyed. Forged in a factory back in the motherland. Feteror found that
strangely amusing. That he and this sledgehammer, both forged far to the north and west, would
end up here at the same place at the same time in this godfor saken land.

The man gestured and the same woman who had tied the crude bandage in place came up,
carrying another piece of cloth. She folded it over several times, then knelt, pressing it up against
the front of Feteror&rsquo;sright knee.

Feteror & rsquo; s thoughts on fate and his newly developed theory on pain below the waist were
both gone in an instant as the man swung the sledgehammer into Feteror&rsquo;s right kneecap,
smashing it against the thick stake he was tied to, the sound of the bone underneath the cloth
being crushed as devastating as the pain.

Feteror screamed for the first time.

The sledgehammer went back once more. And again. And again.

Feteror, the essence of him, retreated from the pain, climbing into the recesses of his mind,
praying for death or at least unconsciousness, but each time the latter came, the mujahideen would
bring himalert with pain to a previously undamaged part of his body. And they kept death at bay
by searing shut any bleeding wound with a hot knife, although the use of the cloth kept the
hammer from opening too many wounds. Feteror&rsquo;s only hope lay in the possibility that
they would run out of things to do to him or that they would grow bored and kill him.



But as dawn touched the eastern sky, neither appeared to be close.

He could now see past the circle of severed heads. He was at the edge of the village. A crowd of
mujahideen watched him silently, the hate in their eyes not abated in the least. Feteror was now in
some other place, someplace removed even from his own mind, floating above, able to look down
on his own body tied to the stake. He wondered if he was dead, but the body& mdash; his

body& mdash; still twitched with life.

The old man, the village elder, was tied to a stake on the other side of the circle of heads. A
leather band was stretched around his forehead, forcing himto look directly ahead. His eyelids
had been dliced off. A man stood next to the elder, speaking in a low voice that Feteror could not
make out. The elder was also naked. Several leather bands were wrapped around his body and
limbs.

A woman came up, several similar strips of wet leather in her hand. From above, Feteror dully
felt her tying bands around his arms and legs, a most strange experience.

The man who had been speaking to the elder came over. & squo; & Isquo; The leather shrinks asit
dries. It will take a few hours.&rsquo; & rsquo; He pointed at the elder. & squo; & Isquo; We put the
bands on him two hours ago. It is beginning to dry. The sun will quicken this. You think you know
pain now. Watch.& rsquo; & rsquo;

As the sun came up, the elder began screaming, begging. The leather tightened down on his flesh,
compressing all beneath. Something gave way in the old mané& rsquo;s legs and he gave forth an
undulating cry that didn&rsquo;t stop. For fifteen minutesit went on. A young man talked to the
man who had spoken to Feteror. The man reluctantly nodded. The young man went over to the
elder and dlit histhroat, stopping the cry.

&1squo;&Isquo; You will not be so lucky,& rsguo; & rsquo; the man informed Feteror.

Feteror could tell that the straps were tightening. The pain was drawing him back to his body,
something he fought with all hiswill.

Feteror began praying for death, calling on a God he knew only from the stories Opa had told
him many years ago. He was back in his body as the agony reached levels he had never thought
possible.

Through the pain, he heard something. Very distant. His eyes flickered up, his mouth wide open as
he took careful breaths. Yes. He could hear it. He wondered why the mujahideen didn&rsquo;t. The
sound of helicopter blades cutting through the thin air.

One of the mujahideen was coming close, holding the red-hot knife just pulled out of the fire. But
thistime it was not to close a wound. Feteror pushed his head back against the stake as the man
brought the knifepoint toward his face. Feteror ripped musclesin his neck, trying to avoid the
knife. The man called for help in dealing with the Chyort, the devil man.

Two othersran up, grabbing his head and holding it still with all their strength as Feteror fought
them with every once of energy he had left. The night had been too long, the damage too great. It
was a lost battle.

The knife came forward. Feteror felt it touch his eyeball, and pain, far beyond anything he had
felt so far, hit hisbrain like a spear splitting it straight through. He screamed, his battered and
sliced body straining against the ropes, which brought even more pain and deepened the primeval
essence to the shivering cry he let loose.

But still he could hear the sound of the helicopters so close, and machine-gun fire. And screams
coming from others. And then there was only blessed darkness.

The village was gone. They were back in the glade. Opawas crying, tears flowing down his weathered
cheeks.

&1sguo;& Isquo; Do you see now?& rsquo;& rsquio; Feteror asked. & 1squo;& lsquo;Why | must do this
thing?& raquo; & rsquio;

Opa opened his mouth to say something, when the sky and glade disappeared dong with the old man.
&lsguo;& Isquo; Time to work.& rsquo; & rsquo; Generd Ruriké& rsquo;s voice was harsh. Therewas a



bright glaring light in Feteror& rsquo;s face. He knew that was a construct the programmers used to get
his attention, feeding theinput directly into his occipita lobe.

&1squo;& Isquo;What isit?& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror was disconcerted.

&lsquo;& Isquo;We have lost contact with one of our surveillance units,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik said.
&lsquo;& lsquo;We want you to see what has happened.& rsquo; & rsquo;

& 1squo;& squo; Why doné& rsquo;t you send a plane?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Becauseit is very far from the closest plane,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik said.

&Isquo;& Isquo;And more importantly, the survelllance team was watching where we used to be
headquartered.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror waited.

&1squo;& Isquo;We are inputting the coordinates.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror read them asthey camein. Information about the history of Department Eight had away's been
grictly withheld from him by Zivon on Genera Rurik& rsquo;s order, under the theory that knowledge
was power and the less Feteror knew, the weaker he would be.

Feteror could have gotten this information from Oma, after she had received the papers and CD from
Colond Seogky, but he had not wanted her to know that he wasn& rsquo;t aware of the information
contained in them. It had taken him four yearsto smply find out that the phased-displacement generator
had been built, and that had only been because of amost fortunate meeting. The location of the generator
had been something for which he had needed Omaand her organization. He had pointed her to the man
in GRU records who would know that information. He could have taken it out of Vasilev, but the added
fact that they would need the CD-ROM to program the computers to work the phased-displacement
generator& mdash; and Vaslev himsdlf the only survivor among those who had invented the machine, to
properly operate the computers& mdash; had precluded Feteror from pushing the old man too far, too
soon. Vadlev would pay, but only after he made penance.

Feteror trandated the grid coordinates as they camein. The far north!

&Isquo;& Isquo;Find out why the surveillance unit has not reported in and come back immediately. You
areto observe only.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Why isthere fill asurveillance unit there?& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror asked.
&1squo;&Isquo; That is not your concern.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Why was Department Eight moved from there to here?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo; That isaso not your concern. Just do as you are tasked.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The tunnel beckoned and Feteror jumped. He felt the weightless feding of flying as heroared into the
virtua plane, assuming hiswinged-demon shape. It waswhat he felt comfortablein. Thefirst time he had
been like thiswasin the villagein Afghanistan. Rurik and his minionsthought they were so brilliant! The
computer link only gave him more power, more information.

The body was basically humanoid, except larger, more powerful, and armed with sharp claws at the end
of each hand. The wings were something he had worked out with Zivon. He had not liked the feding of
floating free or moving from place to place without a sense of spatia orientation. The wings gave him that,
athough it had taken him much timeto get used to them. They gave him asolid way to contral his
orientation, direction, and speed. And they helped scare the piss out of anyone he appeared to on the
red plane.

Feteror stretched hiswingswider, moving faster, the virtua plane going by in arush, hismind focused on
the location he had been given.

The virtual plane was a strange place. There were times when even Feteror felt concern as he traversed
it. It wasagray world, and traversaing it was like moving in avast mist, but references from the real world
could be spotted poking through here and there if he made an effort to see. If there were no references,
then Feteror would have to stop and come out of the virtud, into thereal, and dign himself. Sometimes
he sensed other shadows, forms, moving in thefog.

Some he recognized& mdash; psychics, real ones& mdash; plying their trade. Sometimes he knew they
were Americans, from their Bright Gate operation. He knew the presencein therail sation had beena



Bright Gater. How much the Americans knew he could not tell. He was a so unsure exactly what their
capabilities were. He knew they could remote view but he had picked up some different disturbances at
times that indicated the Americans were doing something more advanced than just RVing. He had tried
onceto breach their facility in the state they called Colorado, but it waswell protected from psychic
probing.

He had given Generd Rurik the information about the Mafiain order to move the timetable of everything
up, so that whatever the Americans might plan would occur too late. But now he knew they aso knew
the timetable was sooner rather than later.

Feteror sensed he was over Siberia. He could fed the vast emptiness of that land reflected around him.
He could not explain how he knew where he was, he just knew it. It was one of the strange aspects of
the virtua plane. Often the emotion of an areawas what passed through to him, not the physical redlities.
Feteror oriented himsdlf and continued hisflight.

He had no idea how quickly he moved. Sometimes he arrived a aplace

&1squo;& Isquo;instantaneoudy& rsquo; & rsquo; in redl time, yet it seemed like it took an hour on the
virtua plane. Other times, going to the same place, redl time had elapsed. Therewas no way totell. He
had asked the scientists, and their mumbo-jumbo answers had told him they didn&rsquo;t have aclue
why that was. He knew they didn& rsquo;t even really know why he was able to do what he did.

Feding hewasin theright place and sensing death-something he was very familiar with& mdash; below,
Feteror halted and focused so that he could see the real world. Theidand appeared below. Feteror
could see the Cub transport plane parked on the edge of the runway. He swooped around in alarge
circle, going lower. He could see the backhoe and lines going from it into ahole in the Side of amountain.
Clawson the end of hisfeet splayed, Feteror landed right next to the hole. He bared hisfangsin agrin as
acouple of the mercenaries|ooked around, sensing something, not sure what it was, only thet they felt
danger inthe ar around them like afaint scent at the edge of their consciousness. Feteror could clearly
sensethelr fear, like awild dog neer itsprey.

Feteror was dill in the virtua plane, the demon shape only something he felt, not something that was
redly there with the soldiers, but he knew the line between the two worlds was not solid and fixed.
Hefolded hiswings and walked forward, into the hole. The ropes disappeared into alarge elevator shaft.
Helooked down. Therewasaglint of light on steel far below. The phased-displacement generator.
&Isquo;& Isquo;Careful, you pigs & rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror looked at the man who stood on the other side of the shaft opening. Leks. Feteror had seen the
man before. And next to him the boy-man who had taken the papers from Colonel Seogky. Who was so
stupid he had not listened when Feteror had whispered in hismind that his bodyguard was adouble
agent. Feteror remembered the name: Barsk, Oma& rsgquo;s flesh and blood.

Feteror blinked as an image of his grandfather passed across hismind.

&1squo;& Isquo; Even pressure on both cables! & rsquo; & rsquo; Leks wasyelling.

Feteror threw himsdlf back, spreading hiswings wide and hovering. He felt astrong desire to gain solid
form, to match his power against Leks. To rip the man to pieces, to make him bleed and suffer.

But there was not enough power coming from Zivon. Only the beckoning signd to return from Rurik.
And he needed Leks for now.

Feteror tightened hiswings and dove into the shaft. He landed on top of the generator. Looking beyond,
he could see the skeletons and devadtation in the control center. He could fed spirits floating about.
Feteror stepped back in surprise. He had felt spirits before, but always very distantly, but these came at
him. He & 1squo;& I squo;sawé& rsquo;& rsquo; nothing, but he knew they were al around him. Four men,
long dead, who whispered to him of revenge, of pain and suffering. He felt animmediate affinity for their
suffering. He promised them he would avenge thelr pain.

Feteror pivoted over on onewing and flew out of the cave, up into the virtua sky.

Vaslev screamed as he scrambled away from the demon that pursued him. Its red eyes speared him with
their malice, and he could hear the cresture& rsquo;s claws againgt the floor. He scuttled sideways, trying
to put as much distance as he could between himsalf and the mongter.



It had halted and Vasilev did too. He breathed deeply, then dmost smiled. Thiswas just abad dream.
All he had to do was waken and the nightmare would be over. He would be home in bed, ready to wake
up and go to the university for another day of teaching.

He opened hiseyes and blinked. It was dark.

Then he saw the eyes and knew the nightmare was red. The demon came forward once more. Vaslev
ran away, so hard that when the chain reached its end, the collar around his neck snapped him back so
badly, he tore musclesin his neck and he flopped back onto the concrete like arag doll.

&lsquo;& squo; Please, please,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev pleaded as the creature leaned over him. He
swore he could smdll itsfetid breath. & Isquo;& Isquo;Mercy! & rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev begged.
&lsguo;&1squo; Y ou gave no mercy on October Revolution Idand,& rsquo;& rsquo; the creature hissed.
Vaslev& rsquo;s eyes widened in shock. How did thisthing know of that? Those thoughts were brutally
interrupted as aclaw ripped up hisright sde, parting flesh with one smooth stroke.

The pain waslike acid. He screamed once more.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou will not have desth until you atone,& rsquo;& rsquo; the cresture said.
&lsquo;&Isquo;l am sorry! & raquo;& rsquio; Vasilev whimpered.

&1squo;& Isquo; Atonement requires action.& rsquo;& rsquo; The creature drew back leaving Vasilev
holding hisbleeding sde.

&lsguo;& Isquo;l am sorry,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev whispered as the demon once more disappeared.

Dalton had refused the shot from Dr. Hammond thistime. He had away's been able to deep when he
needed to. He had dept on many an aircraft, fully rigged with 48 pounds of parachute, 140 pounds of
rucksack attached to the rig dangling between his knees on the cargo bay floor, helmet pulled down over
his eyes, weapon tied off to hisright shoulder, while men threw up around him from the turbulence of a
low-levd-flight infiltretion.

Seep when you could was alesson that had been beaten into him from too many missonswhen he
hadn& rsguo;t been able to. But deegp was coming dowly right now for different reasons. He lay back on
the bunk and stared at the concrete ceiling.

Dalton closed his eyes. Theimage of the concrete celling remained. But this one was smooth, not like the
other one. The one where Dalton had counted every single mark on it. Memorized them, then begun
using hisimagination, the only thing he had left, on it. He& rsquo;d made aworld out of that celling only
four feet above hismat on the floor. He couldn& rsquo;t stand in the cell, so he& rsquo;d lie there, legs
aways bent, and stare at the calling.

There were the faintest outlines on the celling, brown marks from some time when water had been in the
cdll, perhaps when the nearby river had flooded, that made up the continents and oceans of

Daton& rsquo;simaginary world.

He put countriesinsde those continents. His favorite land had been Far Country, aland settled by the
persecuted of Old Country. Daton had invented the entire history of those people leaving the homeland,
the travel across the huge Middle Ocean, to arrive in Far Country. A land where there was no war. No
need for armies, because no one would follow them across the Middle Ocean.

It was not aland of plenty, but rather a hard land. Another reason no one would dare the terrible ocean
to come there. There was nothing to conquer but empty space. Endless plains, running into the High
Mountains. And beyond the High Mountains were even more wonderful and strange lands.



But in Daton& rsquo;s history the people of Far Country loved their land. And the peace made any
hardship brought on by the land or weather more than bearable. Because there was nothing that nature
could do that could be worse than what men did to other men.

Daton could see the High Mountains, particularly Dunnigan& rsguo;s Pegk, the white summit shimmering
to the west. He& rsquo;d climbed the mountain numerous times, using adifferent approach each time.
The view from the top reached back over the Plains to the Middle Ocean, the water& mdash;

& 1squo;& | squo; Sergeant Mgjor! & rsquo;& rsquio;

Ddtonwasdert in aningant, rolling to the sde away from the voice, hand reaching behind his back
pulling out his nine-millimeter pistol, before his eyes focused on Lieutenant Jackson& rsquo;sface. The
RVer looked exhausted.

Ddton took a deep breath. & |squo;& Isquo;What?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Jackson looked to her left and right. & Isquo;&Isquo;l have to talk to you.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Tak,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said, lowering the hammer on the gun and putting it back in
itsholgter.

&lsquo;& Isquo; 1 & rsquo;m Army, & rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said. &I1squo;& Isquo;Most of these people
are CIA or NSA. But there& rsquo;s a couple of usfrom the service here. We were part of the origina
Grill Hame operation.

And we were good, so they kept us when they switched over to Bright Gate.& rsquo; & rsquo;

& 1squo;& |squo;What& rsquo;s your point, ma& rsquo;am?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;&1squo; Y ou can& rsquio;t trust Rai sor.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Ddton leaned back on his bunk. & Isquo;& lsquo;Y ou woke meto tell me that?& rsquo; & rsquo;
&Isquo;& Isquo;Did he tell you what happened to the first team?& rsquio;& rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo; The first team?& rsquio; & rsquo; Daton swung his feet over to the floor on the same side
that Jackson was crouched. &Isquo;& 1squo;Dr. Hammond said someone died when there was an
equipment mafunction. She didn& rsquo;t say anything about a team.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Dr. Hammond doesn& rsquo;t know diddly,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said vehemently.
&1squo;&Isquo; She& rsquo; 1| lie when Raisor tells her to, but alot of the time shetalks out her ass
because she doesn& rsquo;t understand alot of what she& rsquo;s working with. Hell, no one does. At
least we admit it. She hasto act like she knows more than she does because her ego woné& rsquo;t alow
her to admit her ignorance. They& rsquo;ve sold awhole pile of crap to the Oversight Committee and the
Pentagon. Y ou don& rsquo;t think they& rsquo;d be bringing you and your men in unlessthey were
desperate, do you?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l figured that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said.

Jackson nodded. & Isquo;& Isquo;Raisor put together the first Psychic Warrior team using NSA and CIA
operdtives. They tried to keep us RVersin the dark, but since we were both using the samefecilities
here, it was kind of hard to do. Pluswe& rsquo;d run alot of the early tests for Psychic Warrior,
gathering the data Hammond needed to make the next step. But obvioudy Raisor wanted to keep itin
house, s0 he brought his own peoplein to make up the first team.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton waited. He knew he& rsquo;d been lied to; now he was beginning to get an idea of the extent.
&lsquo;& Isquo;What happened to the first team? Are they dead?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; We doné& rsquo;t know,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson said.

Dalton raised his eyebrows. &Isquo;&Isquo;What do you mean by that?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; Ther bodies are il in their isolation tanks, in aroom off the main experimental chamber.
The machines are keegping them in stasis at the reduced-functioning status. So they& rsquo;re dive, |
suppose. Asdive as any of uswhen we go into those damn tanks.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& Isquo; What happened to them?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo;No one knows. | don& rsquo;t know exactly, but | have anidea. | told Hammond but
shethinksit&rsquo;sbull. | believe she thinksthat because what | told her scared her.& rsquo;& rsquo;
& 1squo;& Isquo; What about Rai sor?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l think Raisor believes me. He& rsquo;s weird.& rsquo; & rsquio;



& 1squo;& |squo;Whaté& rsquo;s your theory?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo; There are bodies in the isolation tanks, but there are no people in there, if you know
what | mean. Heck, Sergeant Mgor, | went looking for them. | went out on the virtual planeto seeif |
could find them.& rsquo; & rsquo; She paused, her eyes withdrawing.

&1squo;& 1squo; And?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton prompted.

&Isquo;&Isquo;And | think | found the team. What was left of them. Their psyches. Worn out asiif
they& rsquo;d died of starvation. They were al dead there.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Wait a second.& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton held up his hand. & Isquo;& |squo;Y ou& rsquo;re
talking about a thing that& rsquo;s not redl in aplace that doesn& rsquo;t exist.& rsquo;& rsquio;
&1squo;& 1squo;Oh, you know it exists,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said. &1squo;& Isquo;Or you will once
Sybyl passesyou over. 1t&rsquo;s asred as this room.& rsquo;& rsguo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;If this avatar isaconstruct, how can remains of the psyche exist? Wouldn& rsquo;t it just
disappear?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t know,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson said. & lsquo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;m just
telling you what | found. | don& rsquo;t pretend to understand this stuff like Hammond

does.& rsquo; & rsguo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;But& hellip; how could their avatars have & Isquo;starved,& rsquo; as you put

it?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Loss of power from Sybyl. They got cut off.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& squo;How2& rsquo; & rsguo;

&lsquo;&lsquo;l don& rsquo;t know. Like | said, whenever Psychic Warrior was operating, we were
locked down.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton considered what she had just told him. What mission had the first team been on? Or had they
been lost in training and that explained Raisor& rsquo;s reaction to what had happened to Stith?
&1squo;& Isquo; There& rsquo;s something e se | think you should know,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson said.
&1squo;& squo;What ?& rsquo; & rsguio;

& 1sguo;& |squo; There& rsquo;s something, or someone, else over there,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said.
&1squo;& 1squo;Who'?& rsquo; & rsguo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Chyort,& requo; & rsquio; the lieutenant whispered.

&1squo;& Isquo; What ?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&Isquo;&Isquo; The devil. | trandated it using Sybyl. Chyort isthe Russian word for
&lsguo;devil & rsquo; The CIA picked up reports about such athing severa times but they dismissed it. |
don& rsquo;t.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton bit back hisreaction. He could tell the lieutenant wasn& rsquo;t making this up. That she believed
what she was saying.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Not the devil like most people think of him,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said, then she
paused, asif hearing her own words. &1squo;& Isquo;Wel, maybe | & rsquo;m wrong there. Maybeit is
the devil like most people think of him. But whatever you might think, I&rsquo;m telling you thereis
someone elsein the virtual world.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo;Any idea who?& rsquo;& requo; Dalton asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Most likely the Russians,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said. & lsquo;& Isquo;We know
they& rsguo;ve been working with remote viewing longer than we have. And | heard rumorswhen | first
got to Grill Flame from some of the old hands that the Russians had gone way beyond what we had been
doing. That they had taken psychic warfare very serioudy along time ago and have been putting alot of
resourcesintoiit.

&lsquo;& 1squo;Also, we get blocked when wetry to seeinto certain placesin Russia. It seems pretty
logical to methat if the Russians know enough to block us psychicdly, then they know enoughto RV.

Y ou can& rsquo;t have an antidote without a poison.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo; So this devil isa Russian avatar?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsgquo;&Isquo;l think so. | met him earlier today. When | went on the recon to check out the nuke



warheads shipment. He was there. In the same room at the railhead. | couldn&rsquo;t see him and |
don& rsguo;t think he saw me, but he wasthere. | felt him. And | know he felt me.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&1squo;& 1squo;Does Rai sor know this?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l told him. He didn& rsquo;t seem that interested. The CIA reports are unsubstantiated
according to him. And he chooses to disbelieve reports we give him that he doesn& rsquo;t want to
hear.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;But this means the Russians probably know about the planned attack,& rsquo; & rsquio;
Ddtonsad.

&lsquo;& Isquo; There& rsquo;s a high probability of that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;ve read numerous unclassified reports of the strong Russian interest in remote
viewing and psychic phenomena. In fact& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; She paused, but Dalton indicated for
her to continue. & |squo;& Isquo;In fact, there& rsquo;s some evidence that the Russians were trying to
tap into psychic wegpons along time ago. In 1958 there was a tremendous explosion of undetermined
originsjust north of Chelyabinsk in the central Soviet Union that devastated alarge amount of
countryside. The CIA formaly reported it as a nuclear mishap, but there was quite a bit of speculation
that it was caused when some sort of psychic wegpon misfired.

&lsquo;& Isquo; There& rsquo;s ascientist, aDr. Vadlev, a the Moscow Ingtitute of Physiological
Psychology, who has written severd papersthat, if you read between the lines, indicate strong Russian
experimentation in psychic weapons. | think this

Chyort, thisdevil, may be the latest generation of such aweapon.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Thelieutenant shivered and Ddton put an arm on her shoulder. He could fed the shaking, something he
hed felt before from soldiers who had been pushed too far and couldn& rsquo;t handle it anymore.
Combeat stress.

Jackson leaned her head into hisarm, her voice no longer that of the woman, but the girl who had been
scared. &1squo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t know what thisthing is. | met the devil today and now he knows
me. And he& rsquo;ll get me next time | go over there.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;Listen to me,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said in alow voice. & Isquo;& Isquo;Listento me. |
know you& rsquo;re afraid and it& rsquo;s okay to be afraid. Because you got something to be afraid of
and you just had something real bad happen.

&1squo;&Isquo;When | wasaPOW in Vietnam, they brought in apilot late one afternoon. They carried
him down the corridor past my cell, and | could see that he wasin bad shape. He till had hisflight suit on
but it was al torn up and he was bleeding. He must have come down near avillage. Inaway, hewas
lucky to be dive, because once the villagers got hold of one of those who brought desth out of the
sky& mdash; asthey called pilots& mdash; they usualy hacked him to pieces before he could even get out
of his parachute harness. But the NVA must have gotten to him in time. They liked pilots because they
could get some good intelligence off them and they had publicity vaue.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Ddton heard Jackson sniffle. He kept speaking.

& Isquo;& Isquo; They put him in the cell next to me. | heard him crying that night. Hell, | remember crying
my firgt night after | came to.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Jackson looked up at the sergeant major in surprise.

Dalton smiled. & squo;& Isquo;Anyone who wasn& rsquo;t scared or didn& rsquo;t fed afraid insuch a
Stuation would have to be nuts. 1& rsquo;ve met afew guys who weren& rsquo;t afraid in combat, who
actually enjoyed it& mdash; they were sociopaths. And those guys scared the piss out of me.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Anyway, | reached through the bars and caled to him. | got him to put hishand out and |
heldit. All night long. Because the thing we& rsquo;re afraid of more than anything e seisbeing
aone.&rsquo;& rsquo;

Jackson pulled back dightly and Daton took hisarm off her shoulders. & |squo;& Isquo; This devil
doesn& rsquo;t scare you as much as the thought of facing him aone. But that isn& rsquo;t going to
happen. Next time you mest this Chyort, this devil, you won& rsquo;t be aone. We& rsquo;ll be there
with you.& rsquo;& rsquo;



Jackson stood up.

& 1sguo;& | squo; Okay ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

Jackson nodded, her eyesred.

&1sguo;& |squo; Get some rest, & rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. & 1squo;& 1squo;l & rsquo;d take one of
Hammond& rsquo;s shotsif | was you.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Daton watched her walk away. Jackson reminded him in away of Marie. Hetried to pinpoint what the
semblance was, then redlized there was nothing in particular except that Jackson had needed him.

He sat in the dark of the bunk room, his mind not on the upcoming mission, but on the past. Thefirst time
he had been under fire. The day that had torn him away from Mariefor fivelong years.

&Isquo;&Isquo; He must keep this bandage on for three days.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Soecialist Fourth Class Jimmy Dalton listened as the interpreter relayed hisinstructions to the
mother. Dalton spoke Vietnamese, not fluently, but well enough so that he could have given the
information himself, but he had learned that it went over better coming from the interpreter. It
was scary enough for these people to come with their medical problemsto the large foreigners
and allow themsel ves to be exposed to treatments they could not under stand. The concept of one
of the foreigners speaking their language was something that took a while for most to assimilate
and accept, and Dalton& rsquo; s priority was his patient& rsquo; s health, not immediate cultural
acceptance. He knew the latter would require time and patience, and he was going to be here for
ayear, so he was prepared to take it slow.

Dalton was dressed in plain green jungle fatigues, a Special Forces patch sewn onto the left
shoulder, the gold dagger and three lightning bolts standing out against the teal blue background
on the arrowhead-shaped patch. On his head, his green beret felt stiff and new, unlike the
battered and faded ones the other members of the teamwore.

Dalton looked up from the young boy as the northeastern sky flickered. Seconds later the
manmade thunder that went with the light rolled over the camp. The sound of mortars and
artillery pounding Khe Sanh had been a nightly serenade for the past seventeen days. Located less
than four miles to the southwest of the bombarded Marine Cor ps base, the Special Forces camp
at Lang Vel was an inviting target to the NVA forces as the Tet Offensive exploded in earnest
throughout South Vietnam. Every man assigned to Lang Vei knew it, but so far, they had been left
alone other than an occasional mortar attack.

&lsguo;& Isgquo; You should all leave,& rsquo; & rsquo; the woman told the interpreter in
Vietnamese.

Ba To, the interpreter, glanced at Dalton, knowing he had heard. &lsquo; & Isquo; Why is

that?& rsgquo; & rsquo;

The woman swept her hand at the dark jungle that surrounded the camp. & Isquo; & Isquo; Many,
many soldiers from the north. And their large metal beasts. They will kill all of

YOU.& I'Squo; & I'squio;

&Isquo;&Isquo; Tell her she& rsquo; s welcome, & rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton told Ba To. He rubbed a rag
across his forehead, then proceeded to repack his M-3 medical bag. Metal beasts. They& rsquo;d
captured an NVA officer a week ago who& rsquo;d told intelligence that tanks were being brought
up to the Laotian border, only a kilometer and a half down Route 9, which ran along the southern
perimeter of the camp. The report had been greeted with skepticism by the brass and concern by
the rank and file. Dalton& rsquo; s team sergeant, Mike Terrence, had sent an urgent

request for LAWS, light antitank weapons, to their B-Team headquarters. They& rsquo;d received
a hundred of the plastic tubes just two days ago. The LAWS, in addition to the 106-millimeter
recoilless rifle in the camp& rsquo; s center weapon pit, was the extent of their antiarmor
capability.

Dalton looked across the berm and the rows of barbed wire at the jungle, less than two hundred
meters away. The N VA using tanks was unheard of. At worst, the intelligence rep had insisted, if



there were tanks, the N VA would use them for covering fire from the treeline. That made no
sense to Dalton, but then again he was only a nineteen-year-old medic, straight out of the Special
Forces Qualification Course at Fort Bragg. He& rsquo; d been in-country only three weeks and the
most dangerous thing he& rsgquo; d done was make the resupply run to Khe Sanh the first week he
was at Lang Ve and hunker down in a Marine bunker while mortar and artillery rounds camein.
From the sound of the firefight to the northeast, there was no doubt that the Marines were
catching hell. Snce the offensive had begun, the only way in and out of Khe Sanh was by air. The
same was true of the Special Forces camp. Highway 9 was cut to the east of Lang Ve, essentially
isolating the A-Camp other than for helicopter resupply for the past two weeks.

The mother and son walked off toward the huts holding the Laotian refugees who had flooded
into the camp in the past week, running before the N VA forces who were using their country as a
free zone to organize their assault. Dalton wished Ba To a good evening, and they headed in
opposite directionsto turn in for the night.

Besides the American A-team, Detachment A-101, there was a mobile strike force company of the
local Civilian Irregular Defense Group, CIDG, inside the walls of the dog-bone-shaped camp
along with the battered remains of the Laotian battalion that had briefly fought the N VA before
running to Lang Vei. Twelve Americans and three hundred indigenous troops, at the

remotest edge of South Vietnam, close to the borders of both Laos to the west and North Vietnam
just to the north.

This was what Dalton had been trained for: to work with the indigenous people of a country to
teach them how to take care of and protect themselves. As a medic, Dalton had spent most of the
past several weeks not walking combat patrols, but plying his medical skills among the
never-ending line of patients. He& rsquo;d already performed more minor surgery than most
interns back in the United States. There was nowhere else for these people to go for treatment.
Dalton walked along the inside of camp, passing the dark forms of soldiers manning their posts.
His goal was the command bunker that also held the small dispensary where he and the senior
medical sergeant kept their supplies and bunked down.

Halfway there, right in the center of the camp, Dalton halted. His back felt like there was an army
of small ants climbing up it, and he reached back to brush them off, when he realized that the
feeling was inside his head, not actually on his skin.

The flat thump of a mortar round leaving a tube interrupted this strange feeling. Dalton had been
in-country long enough to know that by the time one heard the sound of the mortar firing from
outside the camp, the projectile was already over its apogee and on the way down. He ran for the
nearest sandbagged position, the 106-millimeter recoillessrifle pit. Dalton jumped over the top of
the four-foot-high sandbag wall as the first mortar round hit just outside the perimeter.
&1squo;&Isquo; Mind your p&rsquo;s and g&rsquo;s and watch where you put your feet,

laddie,& rsquo; & rsquo; a voice with a thick Boston accent greeted Dalton as he sat up, dusting
dirt off his shirt.

Saff Sergeant Herman Dunnigan was the team& rsquo; s junior weapons man, and the 106 was
his pride and joy. He& rsquo;d stolen it from the Marines two months ago, and Captain Farrel,
the detachment commander, had already been called on the carpet twice for the return of the
weapon. With the reports of N VA armor, the entire team knew that Farrel wasisno rush to
return therifle to

the Leathernecks, who were much better prepared at their firebase for any sort of armor attack.
Dalton dlid across the base of the pit until he was next to Dunnigan, who handed him an already
lit cigarette, pulling its replacement out of his fatigue shirt pocket. Two more rounds went off in
rapid succession, somewhere in the south side of the camp. Dalton flinched at each explosion.
&lsquo;& Isquo; They got the range, & rsquo; & rsquo; Dunnigan commented. & Isquo; & Isquo; They
most certainly do, the little bastards. Of course, they& rsquo;re probably getting adjusted by
someone in the CIDG, so why the hell shouldn& rsquo;t they have the range?& rsquo; & rsquo;



It was accepted that the NVA had spies in both the CIDG and in the Laotian battalion. It was a
bitch having to guard against attack from the outside and betrayal on the inside of the wire, but it
was the nature of the Special Forces& rsquo; job. Dalton knew that some of the soldiers he was
patching up could be shooting himin the back that very evening.

Dalton didn&rsguo;t answer as he took a deep drag on the smoke. His hand was trembling. He
was scratching his neck before he realized that, again, the itchy feeling was coming frominside.
&1squo;& Isguo; Something& rsquo; s coming & rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton said as he carefully snuffed
the cigarette out and put the remainsin his pocket. He swiveled around on his knees and peered
over the barrier toward the jungle.

&1squo;&Isguo; You don& rsquo;t need to see & rsguo;em,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dunnigan said.
&lsquo; & Isquo; We & rsquo; |1 be hearing them first.& rsquo; & rsquo; He gripped Dalton& rsquo; s
shoulder. &Isquo; & Isquo; Listen.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton held his breath, just as he&rsgquo;d been taught when getting ready to fire hisrifle. There
was a very low roar, an engine running. Dalton& rsquo; s first thought was that it was the

camp& rsquo; s generator, but then he realized it was of a deeper pitch and coming from outside
the perimeter.

Dunnigan was on the hand-cranked phone, calling the mortar pit. & Isquo;&Isquo;l need
illumination. West side. Over the treeline.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Tanks?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked as he hung up the phone.

&1squo;&Isquo; Damn straight, laddie. Didn& rsquo;t you feel & rsquo;em moving up
earlier?&rsquo; & rsguo;

Dalton looked at the other man. It hadn&rsquo;t occurred to him to wonder why Dunnigan was in
the pit thislate in the evening. &lsquo; & Isquo; Feel them?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsguo;&Isgquo; You live long enough, you& rsquo;ll know.& rsquo; & rsquo; Dunnigan& rsquo;s
head was cocked listening for the sound of the 4.2-inch mortar on the north side of the camp to
fire. &sguo; & Isquo; Sometimes | wonder, though, if it isn&rsquo;t you know, and you& rsquo; 1|
live long enough.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton was still puzzling over that when they heard the heavy thump of the camp& rsquo;s
four-deuce mortar. Seconds later a flare burst high overhead, illuminating the western side of the
camp.

&1squo;&Isquo; High explosive, 1oad! & rsquo; & rsquo; Dunnigan was looking down the barrel of
the 106-millimeter, aiming it.

Dalton grabbed a round out of its cardboard container and dlid it in the back of therifle, shutting
the trap on it. Only then did he look where the other man was aiming.

Four PT-76 tanks were rumbling out of the treeline and heading straight for the wire. They
weren& rsquo;t top-of-the-line battle tanks, but rather armored reconnaissance vehicles built by
the Soviet Union, with a 76-millimeter gun mounted on top in a small turret. Sll, coming straight
at him, the tanks more than impressed Dalton.

The recoillessrifle spit flame. A burst of fire on the front slope of one of the tanks was followed
immediately by a secondary explosion, popping the turret off.

&Isquo;&lsquo; H.E., load! & rsquo; & rsquio;

Dalton fell into the rhythm, loading as fast as Dunnigan fired. They flamed a second tank as four
mor e came out of the trees. By the time Dunnigan had fired for the fifth time, the lead tank was in
the wire, less than fifty feet away. It paused, the 76-millimeter gun in the turret turning in their
direction.

Dalton felt like time was suspended as he slid a fresh round into the rear of the rifle and locked it
down. Dunnigan had his

eye pressed up against the aiming scope. Both gunsfired at the same time.

A shock wave hit Dalton in the chest, knocking him back. The sandbags in the front of the pit had
taken the impact of the N VA round, and all that remained was a large divot in their protective



barrier. The PT-76 that had fired was in flames.

A hand slapped Dalton on the back, bringing his attention back into the pit.

&Isquo;&Isquo;H.E. Load! & rsquo; & rsquo; Dunnigan was mouthing the words but Dalton
couldné&rsguo;t hear anything other than a loud ringing in his ears.

He dlid a round in but everything suddenly went dark other than the burning tanks as the flare
expired. Dalton could see tracer rounds flying by overhead and he knew that one of the tanks was
firing its coaxial machine gun at them.

Dalton shook his head trying to clear the ringing. Dunnigan was on the phone, screaming for
moreillumination.

Dalton saw figures running, silhouetted by the last tank they& rsquo;d hit. He suddenly realized
they were sappersin the wire. He threw his M-16 to his shoulder and fired, finger pulling back on
the trigger smoothly, aiming quickly, not able to tell if he was hitting anyone, there were so many.
Hisfinger pulled and there was no recoil. Dalton& rsquo;s training took over as he pushed the
button on the side of the magazine well, |etting the empty one fall out. He pulled a fresh one out of
his pouch and slammed it home.

Another flare burst overhead. Dunnigan had his shoulder into the recoillessrifle. Dalton stopped
firing long enough to scan the area. There were three tanks bearing down on their pit. He could
see the blinking flashes on the side of the turrets& mdash; their co-ax machine guns. And all three
were pointed straight at him and Dunnigan. In front of them, Dalton saw sandbags being torn
apart by the machine-gun bullets.

Dunnigan fired. The shell skidded off the deck of the lead tank. Then there was a bright flash of
light and Dalton felt his breath get sucked out of hislungs as he was lifted into the air and then
slammed into the ground on his back. He struggled for air, his brain momentarily not functioning,
and then his lungs worked again.

Dalton opened his eyes and saw a bright shining candle. A flare, high overhead, slowly drifting
down under its parachute. Dalton sat up, surprisingly unhurt, it appeared. He looked about the
pit. The recoillessrifle was smashed, the barrel bent. Dunnigan was sitting against the rear of the
pit, his chest covered in red from a jet of blood pulsing out of his neck. Dalton scooted over to
him, ripping the bandage out of the case on hisweb gear.

He pressed down on the severed artery, and the white gauze was immediately soaked through
with the deep red of blood coming straight from the heart and lungs. & Isquo; & Isquo;Hang in
therel & rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton yelled, unable to hear his own voice over theringing in hisears.
&lsquo; & Isquo; You & rsquo; re gonna be all right! & rsquo; & rsquo;

Dunnigan& rsquo; s eyes went wide and Dalton knew there was someone behind him, but he also
knew that if he stopped the pressure Dunnigan was dead.

Dalton felt the bayonet puncture his lower back, like a sliver of freezing cold entering his body. He
arched forward, reacting even as his mind forced his hands to keep the pressure on

Dunnigané& rsgquo; s wound. Dalton turned his head to the left, just in time to see the stock of an
AK-47 heading straight for hisface.

There was aflash of bright light, then there was only darkness.

Dalton looked down. His hands were clenching the edge of the bed, his knuckleswhite. He forced his
fingerstolet go. Sowly helet go of the memories of Vietnam. He cleared hismind and passed into an
uneasy dumber.

Feteror& rsquo;s demon avatar dowly materiaized as he stalked down the empty corridor. The dull glow
of the dim night lighting in the building rippled through hisform, the sound of hisclawson thetilefloor a
low clicking noise echoing into silence. He paused at adoor. He reached down. It waslocked.

Hisform disappeared as he reentered the virtua plane and flowed through the thick stedl, coming out the
other sde and reforming on the real plane. The room waslit with the glow of adozen screensaver
programs. Feteror walked to the center console. He reached out along claw and carefully tapped on the



keyboard, accessing the program he wanted.

It had taken him two months to get the code word he needed to enter the GRU classified database. Two
months of hovering unseen on the virtua planein the background at various GRU sSites, waiting for
someoneto log on in front of him.

The screen cleared and the main menu came up. Feteror& rsquio;s right arm demeateridized as he reached
forward, diding it through the screen and directly into the computer. He could sense the inner workings
and tapped directly into the mainframe. Suddenly his entire form disgppeared and he flowed into the
computer. He raced through the inner workings, a shadow passing on the border between the rea world
and virtua until he found what he was|ooking for. He absorbed the information, imprinting acopy into his
own psyche. The datawas encrypted, but that wasn& rsquo;t a problemé& mdash; he could aways get
Zivon to help bresk the code.

There was one more thing. When the maintenance workers had accidentaly alowed him accessto the
security camerasinsde SD8-FFEU, Feteror had taken full advantage of the opportunity. He had
accessed the small camerainside of General Rurik& rsquo;s quarters& mdash; no one was exempt from
security& rsquo;s eye in the GRU& mdash; and scanned it. He had zoomed in on the photo next to the
army bed: awoman with two children. The woman whose ring Rurik wore.

Feteror scanned through GRU personnel files until he found the information he needed.

Satisfied, Feteror headed back out of the computer and headed for SD8-FFEU.

&1sguo;& Isquo; Sergeant Mgor, | can&rsquo;t do it.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Ddton rubbed hiseyes. First Jackson waking him, now this. Sergeant Trilly was standing in front of him,
head down. Dalton finished zipping up his black isolation tank suit. He had five minutes before his next
session. He could see a couple of the other bunks were now occupied by men who had finished their
second training session.

&lsquo;& squo;Can& rsquo;t do what, Trilly?& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton knew the answer, but he was also
aware he had to play thisout.

&Isquo;&Isquo;l can& rsquo;t go in there again,& rsquo;& rsquo; Trilly said, hisvoice quavering.
&lsquo;&Isquo;l can& rsgquo;t breathe that shit they put in your lungs. | can& rsquo;t get shut off likea
light switch and frozen. | just can& rsquo;t do it.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Dalton looked the sergeant over. He was shivering, ablanket about his shoulders. His hair ill wet, his
skin covered in goosebumps. He remembered how Trilly had missed most of the Trojan Warrior training
after getting his collarbone broken during the aikido training.

&1squo;& Isquo; Y ou don& rsquio;t have any choice,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou& rsguo;re the team sergeant. Y our team goes on amission in thirty-six hours.
Can&rsgquo;t is not an option.& rsquo;& rsguio;

Trilly made a choked sound. & Isquo;&Isquo;l can&rsquo;t go in there again, Sergeant Mgjor. |
can&rsquost. | know | can&rsquo;t. Y ou can order me and make me put that stuff on, but | can& rsquo;t
do it.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Ddton felt the sorenessin histhroat where the tube had twice gone down. His body was covered with
small welts, from what he had no idea. He had just noticed them when getting dressed.

Dalton stepped close to the other man and kept hisvoice very low and level. & 1squo;& squo;Get some
deep, Masgter Sergeant Trilly. Y ou& rsquo;ll fed better.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Trilly looked up. Daton could see the shadows in the others man& rsquo;s eyes.

&lsquo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;m not going to fed better. 1t& rsquo;s not going to make any

difference.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Trilly, you& rsquo;re Specia Forces. We may not like where we get sent or what we get
ordered to do, but by God, we go there and we get the job done.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsuo;& Isquo;Like Stith?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton resisted the urge to grab Trilly& rsquo;s shoulders and shake him. & lsquo;& Isquo; Y es, like Stith.
Who the hell do you think al those names on the Specid Operations monument outside of SOCOM



headquarters are? Nobodies? They were men just like you and me. They got killed doing the job they
volunteered for. That you volunteered for. Y ou want the easy life, you should have stayed in Air Defense.
Y ou put that green beret on, you choose a different path from most. Now it& rsquo;sour turnin the
breach.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo;l can& rsquo;t do it.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& I1squo; Don& rsquo;t say that.& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton kept hisvoice firm. &1squo;&Isquo;Y ou
think negative, you won& rsquo;t be ableto. Y ou& rsquo;ve got to think of the team, not yourself. The
team needs you.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;l can& rsquio;t& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Shut up,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton hissed. &1squo;& |squo;Get your head out of your ass,
Trilly. Think about somebody elsefor once. Y ou got the stripes on your collar, you do thejob. You flake
out on this, we& rsquo;re another man short, and sometimes one man can make al the

difference.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton could see the clock over Trilly& rsquo;s shoulder. He had no more time. & 1squo;& 1squo; Get
some deep.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Trilly turned without aword and went to his bunk. Dalton watched him, then waked into the corridor
and to the experimenta center. He noted the doors on the wall that he had not been through. He
wondered which one hid the bodies of the first team.

Two of Hammondé& rsquo;s technicians had his TACPAD waiting. They rigged him, the process going
somewhat faster now that he was used to it. He till wasn& rsquo;t thrilled when they shoved the tube
down histhroat or his head was encased in the TACPAD, but he hardly noticed the micro-probes going
inanymore.

&1squo;& lsguo; We& rsquo; re going to send you over to the virtual plane this time,& rsquo; & rsquo;
Hammond told him through the compuiter.

Hewaslifted up, then lowered into the isolation tank six minutes ahead of the new schedule. The handoff
to Sybyl went smoothly.

The computer quickly ran through a check of his stick man form, insuring that he had control.
&Isquo;&Isquo; It is time now,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond findly announced, satisfied. & 1squo;& lsquo;
You will feel power. 1t&rsquo;ll feel good. A feeling of strength. Do not do anything until | tell
you. Do not do anything unless | tell you specifically to do it. Is that clear ?& rsquo; & rsquo;
&1squo;&Isquo; Clear,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton replied. & lsquo;&Isquo; | am giving you ten
percent.&rsquo; & rsquo;

Likeajolt of adrendine, power coursed through him. Daton felt giddy. He began to lift thisarm.
&1squo;&Isquo; Do not do anything until | tell you.& rsquo; & rsgquo;

Dalton forced himsdlf to remain lill. Thefeding grew stronger.

&Isquo;&Isquo; Turn to your left.&rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton did asinstructed.

&1squo;&Isguo; Do you see the light?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Therewas abright glowing tunnel straight ahead. All elsewasdull gray fog. Daton paused as he redlized
what he had just done, or what had been done for him by Sybyl& mdash; hewasinsde the avatar,
looking about& mdash; not in his own head looking at the form.

&Isquo;&lsquo; | seeit.& rsquo; & rsguo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Walk toward it. | am giving you a surface to walk on and a feeling of

welght.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Ddton did fed ground beneath hisfeet. Sightly spongy, like walking on agym mat, but it gave him
something to push off of. Thetunne got closer. Thenit wasright in front of him.

&1squo;&lsguo; Wait,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said.

Ddton paused.

Hammond& rsquo;s voice, filtered by the computer link, came through. & |squo;& lsquo; When you step
into the virtual plane, there will be nothing beneath your feet. It will be like floating in a mist. You



will have no sense of orientation. It will take us a little while to get you both oriented and able to
move. Some have difficulty with this.&rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton remembered thefirgt time he had free-fal-jumped out of aplane. It was much different from Static
line parachuting. He had tumbled in the air as he fll; the only orientation he had had was the ground far
below that he was rapidly plummeting toward and the air whistling by. He had an ideawhat Hammond
was talking about. He had seen men panic in such asituation, unable to deploy their chutes asthey
tumbled, saved only when their automatic opener activated at a predetermined dtitude.
&lsquo;&Isquo; Al right. 1&rsquo; m ready.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;&Isquo; Step into the tunnel,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond ordered.

Dalton moved hisleg forward. There was nothing to put it on. But he didn&rsquo;t fal ashelifted his
other leg. He felt himsdlf drawn forward and then hewasin.

His stomach spasmed hislast med ready to come back up as hefloated in afog. He had no idea how far
he was able to see, because there was nothing to see.

&Isquo;&Isquo;l f el like 1&rsquo; m going to throw up,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. &1squo;&Isquo;
That& rsquo;s a psychological reaction,&rsquo;&rsquo; Hammond said. & lsquo;&Isquo; And a very
good one.&rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Good?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton swallowed. & 1squo;& Isquo; Yes. Because you
can&rsquo;t really feel your real stomach. So thisis a subconscious psychological reaction, which
means your mind is very attuned to the virtual world. That your mind believes the world you are
in now, the form that you are taking, is real.& rsquo; & rsgquo; &lsquo;&Isquo; That& rsquo;s

nice.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;&Isguo; Take some time and get adjusted to being there.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton did as Hammond ingtructed. More than free-fal parachuting, it reminded him of scubadiving at
night, when there was no way to determine which way was up. Neutra buoyancy in the netherworld;
Dalton found that concept interesting. He looked about, but everything was the same grayish mist. He
had no ideaif he was seeing fifty metersinto it or ten. He put ahand in front of hisface, but al that was
there was the stick arm of the avatar. He had no ideawhere he was either.

&1squo;&Isquo; Now we will teach you how to fly,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. &1squo;& 1squo;
Fly?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; How el se do you think you will be able to get around?& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond
asked. &lsquo;& Isquo; Although possible, it is very hard to jump with just your mind, especially on
your first time. It ismuch easier using the avatar form.&rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Al right,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. & lsquo;& Isquo;How do | fly?& rsquo; & rsquio;
&1squo;&Isquo; With your wings, of course.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton& rsquo;s stick arms transformed into two wide wings, white fegthers glistening. & 1squo;& 1squo;
Sweet Lord,&rsquo; &rsgquo; Daton whispered. He swept them down and felt himsdlf lift. He swooped,
tried to turn and felt himself lose control, before regaining his balance. He looked down. He till had the
gtick figure he& rsquo;d originally had, but the wings had replaced hisarms.

A black level space appeared ahead.

&lsguo;& Isgquo; 1 & rsquo; ve had Sybyl make a place for you to stand, & rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond
sad. &Isquo;&Isquo; We must work on the rest of your avatar. 1& rsquo; m passing you to Sybyl for
training.&rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton landed on the black plane. Hisfelt his & Isquo;& Isquo;feet& rsquo;& rsquo; sink into the surface
dightly.

&lsquo;&Isquo; 1 will show you the various forms we have computer generated, & rsquo; & rsquo;
Hammond said. &lsquo;& Isquo; You must pick the one you prefer in accordance with your own
physical shape and size.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton watched as a series of forms appeared in front of him. All were man-shaped, but there werea
number of subtle differences among them, ranging from the basic size to the lengths of thearmsand legs.
One of the formswas moved out in front of the others.



&Isquo;&Isquo; The data indicates this would be the best fit, as it most closely approximates your
own body shape,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said.

The form was featureess, the skin a pure white. The eyes were two black spots on the face. Therewas
no mouth or nose. Dalton assumed that Sybyl had the form that way because there would be no need for
mouth or nosein the virtua plane, but he wondered what they would ook like when they came out into
thered plane. He saw a certain advantage to not having an entirely human gppearance in such asituation.
&Isquo;&Isquo;Will | be visible in the real plane?&rsquo; & rsquo; Daton wanted to check what
Raisor had told him. &1squo;& Isquo; You will cause a disturbance in the electromagnetic

spectrum,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & Isquo;& Isquo; Despite the fact that the human eye does
not see into that spectrum, we have noted that people in the real plane do sense something when
an avatar materializes.

&Isquo;&Isquo; You also will have the option to add color and pattern to your formif you have a
need for your form to be seen.&rsquo; & rsquo;

Theforminfront of him disappeared. Ddton fet awave of something pass through him, and he
staggered back. When he looked down, he now had the form that Sybyl had built.

Helooked down at his hands, spreading the fingers, flexing them. His movements felt smoother than they
had in stick form. Hewalked around. He felt like he had shed thirty years. His body& mdash;

avatar& mdash; fdt dive and vibrant. And powerful. He reached his smooth hands up, stretching. He did
oneleg out in front of the other and did the basic first kata of aikido that he had learned in the Trojan
Warrior training. At first he had some difficulty, but hetried again and again, until the arms and legs began
functioning smoothly, without conscious thought. He worked his way through the eight katas up to black
belt level before hefelt satisfied.

&1squo;& |squo; Weapons?& rsquo; & rsquo; he asked.

Therewas atinglein Daton& rsquo;sright arm. He looked down, watching the forearm and hand
dissolve into atube about three feet long from the elbow joint.

&1squo;&Isguo; Aim and fire,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said.

A target slhouette appeared about thirty feet away.

Dalton extended hisarm, then paused. &Isquo;&Isquo;How do | fire?& rsquo; & rsquo;
&lsguo;&Isquo; Think it and it will happen,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & lsquo;&Isquo; Think
about making a fist with the arm that is now the weapon. Aiming is easy as you will seeathin red
dot on the aim point of your weapon much like a laser sight.&rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton focused. He saw the red dot, moved it on target. He sent the impulse to clench his nonexistent figt,
and hefdt adight recail inthe arm/wegpon. A glowing ball raced toward the silhouette and hit. The
target shattered.

Severa more silhouettes popped up. Dalton fired.

He found the tube to be extremely easy to am& mdash; it was like pointing hisarm, and thered aming
dot was dead on with where the round hit. But he was disturbed by the lag between aming and firing. He
found himsdlf pointing at atarget and waiting as the power built up to firing level. It took about two
seconds between each firing, an eternity in combat in Dalton& rsquo;s experience.

&lsquo;&Isquo; The rate of firing is dependent on power ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton checked.
&1squo;&Isguo; Yes.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;&Isguo; Give me minimum power to kill a man with a shot to the head.& rsquo; & rsquo;
There was ashort pause, then Hammond responded. & Isquo;& 1squo; Done.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton fired a the array of slhouettes, moving at the sametime, diving to hisright, rolling. Coming to his
knees and continuing to fire. Thislower power setting was better, firing with what Da ton estimated was
dightly more than a second between each shot. The accuracy was superb, as Daton placed each power
ball into the head of each silhouette.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Can you equip my team with an array of power settings?& rsquo; & rsquo; Ddton
asked. &Isquo;&Isgquo; 1 want most of them able to fire this rapidly, but | want othersfiring on the
stronger setting.& rsquo; & rsquo;



&Isquo;&Isquo; | can have Sybyl do that.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo; If you decrease rate and increase power,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton wanted to know,
&1squo;&Isquo; can you also fire a spread of balls?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isguo; At the same time?& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond asked. & Isquo;&Isquo; Like a shotgun
shell,&rsquo; & rsquo; Ddton said. & lsquo;&Isquo; Yes.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&Isquo;&Isquo; | also want some of my men to be armed with a focused, powerful shot that can
punch through armor.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; | can program that al so.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton concentrated and the tube shrunk, dissolving into his avatar arm once more.

&1squo;&lsquo; What about the wings?& rsquo; & rsquo; he asked. &1squo;& Isquo;If you are ready,
you can change your arms to the wings. Just concentrate like you did with the power

tube.& rsquo; & rsgquo;

Ddton paused, closing hiseyes. He concentrated; hisarmsfelt like he was flexing the shoulder muscles.
When he opened his eyes, he had the wings back.

&1squo;&Isquo; Where would you like to go?& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond asked. & |squo;& Isquo; |
must keep you within a certain area in the virtual world until you are more proficient. Consider
the borders of the state of Colorado as your current limits. Where would you liketo go in
Colorado?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton knew the answer to that, but he didn& rsquo;t bother to tell Hammond as he moved into the
virtud plane.

&1squo;& Isquo;What is this place?& rsquo; & rsquo; Barsk asked as the wheedls of the plane touched the
runway. They had flown for several hours after getting the generator on board. The plane had taken the
weight, but the pilots had been forced to use every foot of runway to get theminto the air.

&lsquo;& Isquo;An old airbase,& rsquo;& rsquo; Leks said.

&lsguo;& Isquo;l can see that.& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk wastired and his fear of the large man had
diminished in proportion to hisweariness. He could clearly see that the buildings and hangars had long
been out of use. The plane was dowing.

&lsquo;&Isquo; Thisis one of the bases where the planes the Americans sent over during the Gresat
Patriotic War were flown to,& rsquo;& rsquo; Leks said. He pointed out the small window.
&Isquo;&Isquo;In that building the American indgniawas painted over and the Soviet star was painted
on. A crew of our people then manned the plane and flew it to the front.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;And why are we here?& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk asked asthe plane came to ahdlt, then
dowly turned and began taxiing toward a hangar, with an open door.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Thisiswhere | wastold to take the generator for the first stop,& rsquo;& rsquo; Leks
sad smply.

Barsk could now seethere were several hdlicoptersinsde the hangar next to the one they were headed
for. Men dressed in black fatigues stood in the shadows, wegpons dung over their shoulders, watching.
&lsquo;& 1squo; Who are they 2& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& 1squo; The men and equipment we will need for the next phase.& rsquo;& rsquo; Leks stood as
the back ramp began coming down. &Isquo;& Isquo;But do not concern yourself, you go elsawhere from
here. 1&rsquo;ll take care of the next phase without your help. There& rsquo;s something you need to



See.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Barsk followed as Leks disembarked, walked out of the hangar, and headed for a hangar that stood
some distance from the other buildings. Its large door was opened by two men dressed in black fatigues.
Leks led theway to atrap door in thefloor. He threw it open, pointing hisflashlight into the hole.

Barsk peered down. A naked old man chained to ameta post waslying on the floor. The old man
dtirred, holding ahand up to protect his eyesfrom the light.

&1sguo;& Isquo;Who is that ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Barsk asked.

&lsquo;& squo; Professor Vaslev,& rsquo;& rsquo; Leks said. He threw the door shut.
&Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou are to take him with you to the next site. He will be responsible for setting up the
phased-di splacement generator.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;What is the cylinder?& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror asked. He had finished his report, telling
the genera that a group of mercenaries had killed the GRU surveillance team and had loaded a strange
sted cylinder and other equipment onto a plane and flown off to the south.

&lsquo;& Isquo; That is not your concern,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik said. & lsquo;& Isquo;Y ou do not know
who these people were?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1suo;& Isquo; Ex-military,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror said. &1squo;& Isquo; They wore unmarked uniforms
and acted like soldiers. They didn& rsquo;t exactly line up and tell me their names.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;Y our report isinsufficient,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik snapped.

&lsquo;& Isquo;It isinsufficient because you didn& rsquo;t give me enough power to cross over and find
things out. | could have ripped open athroat or two and gotten someoneto talk. | could have stopped
them if you& rsquo;d given me the power, and we wouldn& rsquo;t be having this conversation. Itis
insufficient because you pulled me back too soon. Before | could see where the plane

went.& rsguo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Do not lecture mel & rsquo;& rsquo; Generd Rurik screamed. Everyone stopped working
and stared at their commanding officer. Rurik lowered hisvoice. & squo;&Isquo;Y ou do what | tell you
t0.& rsquio; & rsquio;

&Isquo;& Isquo; Then you should be satisfied with my report.& rsquo;& rsquo; Insde his sted housing,
Feteror felt better than he had in years. All was progressing quite well. Tapping his data banks, he
brought up a picture and could see the general & rsquo;s pretty young wife. And the young children. Two
boys. Perfect.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Get back in your pit! & rsquo;& requo; Rurik dammed hisfist down on the power leve.
Feteror& rsquo;s electric eyes and ears shut off.

Daton sdedipped and began fdling, tumbling out of control.

&1squo;&lsguo; Relax,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & lsquo;& |squo; Soread your

WiNgs.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Dalton arched his back and spread his arms& mdash; wings& mdash; wide. They caught and the descent
dowed. &Isquo;&Isquo; Am | outside?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; You will have to ook to see.& rsquo; & rsgquo;

&1squo;&Isquo;How do | do that?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsguo;&Isquo; This is where you must look into the real world from the virtual ,& rsquo; & rsquo;
Hammond said. &lsquo;&Isquo;How do | do that?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton asked once more, dowly
circling where hewas, in the middle of the same fog he& rsquo;d been in since entering the virtua world.
&Isquo;&Isguo; Concentrate. It isjust like focusing on the white dot.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&1squo;&Isquo; Great.& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton did as Hammond said. Gradually the fog began clearing.
He saw white peaks, mountains. & 1squo;& Isquo; When you do this, your psyche is on the line between
the virtual and the real world,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said. & Isquo;& Isquo; But your avatar is
still in the virtual. If you know where you are and you know where you are going, you can

& Isquo; fold& rsquo; the virtual world and & lsquo;jumpé& rsquo; there.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&1squo;&Isquo; | don& rsquo;t under stand,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. He was beginning to seethe
peaks more clearly. &Isquo;&Isquo; You know where you are, and you know where you want to be.



Traveling in the virtual world is different than the real. Sometimes you can cover great distances
in an instant.& rsquo; & rsquo;

& Isquo;& Isquo; Sometimes?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked. He saw the white cross of the Mount of the
Holy Cross. &Isquo;&Isquo; We & rsquo; re not exactly sure how it works,& rsquo; & rsquo;
Hammond admitted. & |squo;& Isquo; Great.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Ddton turned hisface to the east. He pictured where he wanted to be and dove in that direction. There
was a bright flash of light and then he was over the Plains to the east of the Rockies. Banking, he turned
and could see Pikes Peak to the west, Cheyenne Mountain to the left.

Dalton headed down toward alarge building. & squo;& Isquo; What about walls?& rsquo; & rsquo;
&Isquo;&Isquo; From what RVers have reported, it will be disconcerting but you can pass right
through walls on the virtual plane.&rsquo;&rsquo;

Despite that assurance, Daton flinched asthe outside wall of the building rushed up. Therewasa
moment of blackness, afedling of hitting something not quite solid, passing through, and then he was
ingde. He hit thefloor of ahallway and was hafway into it before he stopped and drew himself up.

He floated down until he found the right room. He did in, then paused. There was someone dseindde.
Dr. Karnswas standing there, staring at Marie. She straightened for a second, asif sensing his presence.
Kairns reached down and gently moved astray lock of gray hair off Marie& rsquo;sface, then turned to
walk out of the room. She hesitated at the door, looking back into the room, then | eft.

Daton looked down at Marie. What he saw wasn& rsquo;t the person in the bed, but the young woman
he had met thirty-four years ago. The woman who had been waiting for him after five years of separation,
standing on the tarmac as he got off the plane bringing him back with the other POWs. Who had
withstood his long absences and aways been there when he came back. And now he was gone when
she needed him the most. He couldn& rsgquo;t hide from hisrespongibility any longer.

Dalton looked at hiswife and concentrated. Then heredly did see her, standing over the body in the
bed. As she had been, her long blond hair flowing over her shoulders, her face smooth and unwrinkled,
her green eyes bright and happy. She was as Daton had always seen her in hiscell, in hismemory.
&1squo;&Isquo; Treasure?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton projected the word toward the vision.

Sheturned. & lsquo;& lsquo; Jimmy?& rsquo; & rsquo; A broad smilelit up her face. & lsquo;& Isquo; Oh,
Jimmy, it&rsquo;s been so long this time.&rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; I know.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Marie frowned. & |squo;&Isquo; But | & rsguo; m the one who& rsquo; s been away, haven& rsquo;t

| ?& rsgquo; & rsquio;

Dalton nodded. He was afraid to get closer to her, afraid her form, which he could see through, would
break apart and float away like amist before astrong wind.

Before his eyes the young woman aged, linesthat Daton knew hisarmy career had contributed to greatly
began to materidize, flowing across her, giving her an imprint of the years she had lived, producing in
Dalton a degp sense of sadness.

Marie smiled again, thistime with sadness resonating through. & Isquo;& Isquo; 1 & rsquo; m hurt too bad
to come back Jimmy.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Ddton nodded once more, not trusting even his mental voice.

&Isquo;&lsquo;isit all right if | go? It feels so much better like this, being free, rather than
trapped like | & rsquo; ve been.& rsquo; & rsquo;

She had always been there for him, but she had always done what she wanted aso. The question wasthe
courtesy the two had aways given each other over the years.

&lsguo;&Isquo; | think it&rsgquo; s fine if you go, Treasure.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; You look like an angdl ,& rsquo; & rsquo; Marie said. &1squo;&Isquo; Are you all
right?&rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isgquo; 1 & rsquo; m fine,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. He reached hishand up. Theimage of
Marie did the same. The two hands flowed into each other. Dalton felt an eectric shock run up his
amwing.



&1squo;& Isguo; You& rsquo; ve always been my Treasure,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said.
&Isquo;&lsquo; | know,& rsquo; & rsquo; Marie said, & 1squo;& Isquo;and you & rsquo; ve been
mine.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Feteror dumped the data he& rsquo;d stolen out of the GRU mainframe into one of hismemory cells
ingde Zivon. Hefound it ironic that the code for the encrypted information he had was dso most likely
ingde of Zivon, but inaccessible to him, even though the scientists considered him part of the compuiter.
He activated a decoding program and the mechanica part of Zivon went to work on the datawhile
Feteror waited.

It didn& rsquo;t take long.

Feteror wasimpressed. The GRU was taking no chances with the arming codes for the nuclear wespons.
They were shipping them viamilitary helicopter direct from Kazakhstan to Moscow. Therewould be a
four-fighter escort. Feteror noted the time of departure and the proposed flight route. And the name of
the officer who would have the codes: Colond Verochka

Now he only had one problem& mdash; being on the outside during the flight& mdash; but the other data
he had stolen would help with thét.

A bright light flashed. Feteror would have smiled if he could& mdash; Rurik wanted him.

Feteror accessed his outside links.

&1squo;& 1squo;Y es?& rsquo; & rsquio;

Rurik wasted no time. &Isquo;& Isquo;We need you to find something.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squ0;& I1squo; What ?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo;1 & rsquo;m having the data loaded.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Feteror was not surprised to note the physical description for the phased-displacement generator entered
into his data banks.

&Isquo;& Isquo;What isthis thing?& rsquo; & rsquo; he asked.

&1squo;& 1squo; A weapon.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;What kind of wegpon?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; That is not your concern,& rsquo; & rsquo; Rurik snapped. & Isquo;& Isquo;dust find it. As
you reported, it was stolen from the site you just checked. So find the men you saw there and you will
find the wegpon.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo; That will be very difficult,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror lied. & lsquo;& Isquo;Practically
impossible.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Do it! & rsquo;& rsquo; Genera Rurik yelled.

&lsquo;&Isquo;l will try.& rsquo;& rsquo; The tunnel opened and he was gone.

In the chamber the red light began flashing. Generdl Rurik stared &t it for afew moments, then turned to
his senior technician.

&1squo;& Isquo;What was Feteror doing before | summoned him??& rsquo; & rsquo;

The technician typed into his keyboard. & |squo;& |squo;He was working within the hardware, running a
program.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;What kind of program?& rsquo;& rsquio;

Thetechnician didn& rsquo;t answer right away, checking the machine. & Isquo;& 1squo;A decryption
program.& rsquo; & rsquio;



Rurik leaned forward. & 1squo;& Isquo;Whét is he trying to decrypt?& rsquo;& rsquio;

The expert shook his head. & Isquo;&Isquo;We don& rsquo;t know. [t& rsquo;sinside his memory
database section.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& squo; Can we access his memory section?& rsquo;& rsquio;

The technician shook his head. &Isquo;& Isquo;He has cyber-locked and encrypted dl that

data.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& |squo; We cand& rsquo;t access our own damn computer & rsquio;& rsquio;

The technician backtracked. & squo;& Isquo;We can accessit, but | don& rsgquo;t think we can get the
datastored there out in legible form. Also, the way | am reading what Feteror has done, it would cause
some permanent damage to Zivon for usto do that.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The technician saw thelook on the general & rsgquo;s face and hurriedly continued, & |squo;& Isquo;For
security reasons, Feteror only has accessto certain parts of Zivon. We have, in effect, put awal up to
keep him from having free access. But you must remember, Generd, that when you build awall, it blocks
traffic both ways. That wall also keeps us from fredy going into his part of Zivon.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Rurik looked at the stedl cylinder. & Isquo;& Isquo;He& rsquo;s up to something,& rsquo;& rsquo; he
whispered.

&1squo;& Isquo; Excuse me, Sir?& rsquo; & rsquio;

Rurik spoke in alouder voice. &Isquo;&Isquo;l want you to find out what Feteror has stored. In away
that can& rsquo;t be detected and will cause no damageto Zivon. | want to know what is happening on
Feteror& rsquo;s side of the wall.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The technician opened his mouth to say something, but his teeth sngpped shut as he saw the expression
on his superior&rsquo;s face. He nodded and turned to his computer console.

&1squo;& Isquo; Y oué& rsquo;re down to Six,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said accusingly.

Dalton wiped the embryonic fluid off hisface and threw the towd to the floor. He fdt achill spasm
through his body and he shivered uncontrollably for afew seconds. He felt an empty spacein hischest, a
sck feding.

&1squo;& I1squo; Six what?& rsquo;& rsquo; His mind was el sewhere, Rai sor& rsquo;s words registering
digantly on his conscious mind.

&1squo;& 1squo; Six men,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & Isquo;& Isquo;One of your so-called specia men
has flaked out on us.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou taked to Trilly?& requo;& requo; Dalton asked dully. He could till see Mariefading
away, her spirit disappearing, growing ever fainter until there was nothing there. He& rsquo;d stayed in
the room as the medical darms had gone off and Dr. Kairns had rushed in. He was grateful the doctor
had obeyed hiswritten wishes that Marie not be resuscitated. He had finaly left when Kairns hed
tenderly pulled the sheet over Marie& rsquo;s body.

&lsquo;& 1squo;He came to me,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor replied. & 1squo;& 1squo; Said he had talked to
you and told you he wasn& rsquo;t going in the tank again.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; That& rsquo;s not his decision,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;If he& rsquo;s not willing, there& rsquo;s not& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& squo;1t& rsquo;s a'so not your placeto talk to my men,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said, cutting
the CIA man off.

Raisor shook his head. & 1squo;& 1squo; & rsquo;m in charge here, Sergeant Mgjor, not you. Y ou may be
in command of your men, but 1& rsquo;m in charge of you. So in effect, 1&rsquo;m in charge of your men
t00.& r'squo; & rsquio;

Dalton jerked athumb over his shoulder at the isolation tank he had just come out of.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Fine. Then you go in there and lead the team.& rsquio; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l just might do that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

Dalton redized Raisor would take over. & Isquo;&Isquo;L et me lead my team,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton
sad.



&1squo;& 1squo; Y ou go over one more time for practice,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said,

&lsquo;& Isquo;then it& rsquo;s for red .& rsquo; & rsquo;

& 1squo;& Isquo;Fine, & rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. He didn& rsquo;t particularly care oneway or the
other at the moment.

&1squo;& 1squo;Can you do it with Sx?& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor asked.

&lsquo;&Isquo;l didn& rsquo;t think we could do it with eight,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said.

&Isquo;& Isquo; But we& rsquo;ll have seven. Orders are not optional. Trilly& rsquo;s going with

US.& 'Squ0; & r'squo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; 1 & rsquo; || supplement your team with some of the RV ers,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.
&lsguo;& Isquo;l thought the reason we& rsquo;re here is because they couldn& rsquo;t do the
mission,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said.

&Isquo;& Isquo; They can& rsquo;t& mdash; by themsalves. But three of them are military and have had
basic military training. 1& rsquo;m sure with your leadership, they& rsquo;ll be of hel p.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Raisor& rsquo;s cold smile matched histone. & |squo;& Isquo;And they have experiencein the virtua
plane.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; They& rsquo;re more likely to get in the way,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said.
&1squo;&Isquo; Y ou can& rsquo;t have it both ways,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. &1squo;& Isquo;Do
you want the hel p or not?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;We& rsquo; |l take them.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& |squo;Be ready to go in two hours,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & lsquo;& Isquo;We& rsquo;ve
Set up the practice range as you requested.& rsquo; & rsquo;

& squo;& Isquo;Fine.& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton wastired. He wanted the blessed relief of deep.
Heturned to Dr. Hammond, who was at her master control station. She looked exhausted, her face
drawn, dark rings under her eyes. She& rsquo;d been on duty practicaly nonstop since the team had
arived.

&lsquo;&Isquo;l & rsquo;d like for al of usto go over a the sametime in the next

practice,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton told her.

Hammond nodded. & Isquo;& |squo;l & rsquo;m bringing the rest back. We& rsquo;ll shut down for a
couple of hours, then send you al over together with your advanced avatars to practice your weaponry
skillsand your team coordination.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Fine, & rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said. Despite his exhaustion, he went to the
communications room. He dided on the secureline.

&1squo;& squo;Colond Metter.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Sir, it& rsquo;s Dalton.& rsquo;& rsquo;

There was a short pause. &Isquo;& Isquo;Jdmmy, [ & rsquo;ve got some bad news. | wastrying to get
through to you but& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&lsquo; Sir, | know about Marie.& rsquo;& rsquo;

There was an even longer pause before Metter spoke again. & 1squo;& Isquo;But it just happened thirty
minutes ago. How& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&1squo;Sir, how is not important. | need you to take care of the arrangements. | had everything
ready, you just need to check on it al.&rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l can get you back from there,& rsquo;& rsquo; Metter said.

&lsquo;&Isquo;No, sir, | don& rsquo;t think you can,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said. & Isquo;& Isquo;And |
can& rsguo;t come back anyway. 1& rsquo;m needed here. Marie understood.& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton
leaned againgt thewall. & |squo;& 1squo;l have to go, Sir.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Jimmy, 1& rsquo;m sorry about Marie.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Thank you, Sir.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Take care of the team, Immy.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;l will, Sr.& rsquo;& rsquo;



Deputy Commander Oskar Bredond dapped the young Chechen with the stedl wire butt of his AK-74,
ripping four teeth out of the young man& rsquo;s mouth in the process. The Chechen spit blood at the
officer, hisarms bound by two sets of handcuffs, ratcheted down so tight on hiswrigts that his hands
wereturning blue.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Fuck you, pig.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Bredond smiled. &Isquo;&Isquo;No, | think it isyou who will get fucked. A nice young piece of mesat
like you will be received quite nicely in our prison.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Bredond wore mottled camouflage fatigues with athick bulletproof vest buckled over hischest. Hismen
wore the same, dong with black Kevlar helmets. They were the elite strike force arm of the Moscow
police, known as the Omon, more heavily armed than their western SWAT counterparts and with
broader powers of arret.

There was another way that the Omon differed greetly from policein the West, and that was that they
focused only on certain criminas while ignoring others. Maoscow, if onetook out Mafia-related crime,
was one of the safest citiesin the world. But whenever the Mafiawasinvolved, the Omon and the rest of
the Moscow police turned ablind eye.

Bredond, despite being adeputy commander, took home the equivaent of $250 amonth. They dl
supplemented their income with second jobs. Bredond, seeing the writing on the wall, had chosen the
most lucrative and easiest way to supplement hisincome.

He kicked the Chechen once more. The man was a freelancer. He had come to Moscow from his home
date, stolen avehicle, and driven it home, where he had sold it. Unfortunately for him, the Moscow
Mafiawas growing weary of fredlancers working on their turf. Bredond had been tipped off about this
man and his stolen vehicle an hour ago. Bredond, not a stupid man, wondered if the Chechen had been
St up.

The cdlular phonein Bredond& rsquo;s pocket buzzed, halting him in the middle of another kick. He
walked away, pulling the phone out.

& 1squo;& |squo; Bredond.& rsquio; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;We have ajob for you.& rsquo;& rsquo; The voice on the other end was filled with static.
Bredond knew that was because it was sent through severa relays and scrambled. Not that the person
caling him was concerned about the police, but rather the other Mafiaclansligening in.

&lsquo;& 1squo;Y es?& rsquo; & rsquo; Bredond waited.

& 1sguo;& |squo;We want you to pick someone up.& rsquo;& rsquo;

When Bredond heard the name and address, he gritted histeeth. He knew what that address meant.
&lsquo;& Isquo; That will be difficult,& rsquo;& rsquo; he said. There was no answer. Helicked hislips
and continued. &lsquo;& Isquo; There will be strong repercussionsif we take action in that
neighborhood.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;l didn& rsquo;t ask you to do this,& rsquo;& rsquo; the voice said. The phone went dead.
Bredond cursed. Heydled for hismen to gear up. They left the Chechen lying inapool of hisown
blood, sill whispering curses at the Omon as they drove off

At the abandoned airbase, Barsk watched as L eksi& rsquo;s mercenaries pulled four Hind-D helicopters
out of hangars, dong with two MI-8 Hips. He was surprised at the number of aircraft, wondering how
much his grandmother had paid to obtain them. Even with the glut of military materid on the black



market, these would still cost quite afew dollars.

The Hinds were combination attack/transport helicopters. They could carry eight combat-equipped
troopsin the back, while the pods on either side carried numerous rockets, and a 12.7-millimeter
machine gun was mounted in the nose. The Hip helicopters could carry twenty-eight men each, and it
looked like Leks had enough mentofill dl six helicopters, judging by the number of black-clad menin
the hangar. The pilots began walking around, doing their pre-flight checks, as the men loaded magazines
with bullets and sharpened their knives.

Leks interrupted Barsk& rsquo;s musings on the cost of this operation by dapping amap down in front
of him. &squo;&Isquo;Y ou will take the cargo plane, the generator, and the old man, and trangport adl to
here.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Barsk looked at the map. The location was two hundred miles away from where they were. An airfield
next to alarge dam.

&1squo;& 1squo;What isthis?& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk demanded.

&lsquo;&Isquo; it iswhere Omasaid for you to take the weapon. We will meet you

there.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Barsk stabbed afinger down at the map. & lsquo;& squo;But there isatown nearby. The authorities will
be notified.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Leks shrugged. &Isquo;& Isquo;lt is what Oma has ordered.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton looked over the other six Specia Forces men. They were al wearing the black one-piece suit that
fit them like asecond skin. Trilly looked like adog that had been kicked once too often, but Daton
didn& rsquo;t have time to soothe the sergeant& rsquo;s fedings. He& rsquo;d told him to suit and
brooked no resistance.

A door on the side of the room opened and three more people walked in, two men and Lieutenant
Jackson, thefillers promised by Raisor. The CIA man followed them, dso in the black suit.

Eleven dtogether. Captain Anderson had ceded command of the team to him without outright saying so.
Not out of lack of leadership, but more out of recognition of Dalton& rsquo;s combat experience and
natura authority. It was the strongest and smartest |eadership decision the captain could make under
these circumstances.

&lsquo;&Isquo;All right,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said, now that his entire team was gathered together.
& 1squo;& squo;We need to accomplish two things and we don& rsquo;t have much timeto doit. We
need to work on developing our avatars and projecting them into the real world, using their wegpons.
And we need to work on our teamwork.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

Helooked at Lieutenant Jackson and the other two RVers. & lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou have experiencein the
former and we have the experience in the latter. So let& rsquo;sal contribute and work together. We
only have one shot at getting our act together before we go for red, so let& rsquo;s not waste any
time.& rsquo;& rsquo; He turned to Raisor. &1squo;& 1squo;Where do you want to be?& rsquo;& rsquo;
&Isquo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;ll be overseeing the operation; don& rsquo;t concern yourself with

me.& rsquio; & rsquo;

&|squo;& 1squo; L et& rsquo;s load,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dr. Hammond called out from her console.

The Psychic Warriors headed for their isolation tanks.

Feteror watched the Omon smash the front door in. The house was well built, but the Omon used a
shotgun to blast out the locks, then two men swung asmall battering ram, splintering the wood. Feteror
wasin thevirtud plane, hovering overhead.

The team, led by Deputy Commander Bredond, sprinted through the doorway. Feteror swooped down,
passing through the roof flitting from room to room, watching as the Omon did hisdirty work.

There were three people in the house& mdash; awoman and two children. The Omon had them gagged,
hooded, and cuffed, ignoring the woman& rsquo;s screams about who her husband was and how
important he was.



The Omon hustled the three out of the house and into one of their cars. Feteror followed overhead as
they drove through the streets of Moscow until they arrived at an old warehouse near therailyard.
Bredond exited the car, dragging the woman with her astwo of his men brought the kids. Two armored
BMWswaited in the shadows. Four men emerged from the lead one and took custody of the woman
and two children. They pulled the hood off the woman and checked her photograph against one they had
with them. Satisfied, they threw the woman into the trunk of the car, then crammed the two childrenin on
top of her and closed the trunk, ignoring the muted cries and jerkings of the bound bodies.

Asthe men started to get back in the still-open doors, Bredond stepped forward. All four men paused,
hands hovering near the front of their long black lesther coats.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Thisis going too far! & rsquo; & rsquo; Bredond yelled toward the rear BMW.

Overhead, Feteror began forming in thereal plane, his clawed hands hooked onto one of thelarge
support beams holding the roof up, hiswingsfolded in tight, unseen and unnoticed by those below.
Therewas no reply, elther from the guards or whoever was seated behind the tinted glassin the second
BMW.

Bredond shifted uncomfortably, histhree men holding their AK-74s uncertainly.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Her husband isa GRU general. We were seen picking her and the children up. There will
beinquiries. | will have to answer for this.& rsquo;& rsquo;

One of the bodyguards from the lead BMW put afinger to his ear. Feteror could see the thin wire,
indicating he had asmall receiver there. The man snapped a command and al four dipped insdethe car.
Bredond raised his hand. His men pointed their wegpons at the two BM WS, blocking the exit.

Feteror spread hiswings and legped. He swooped down, both arms out to his side, and went right
between two of the Omon, clawsripping throats open in agush of blood.

Feteror landed as Bredond and the last surviving Omon policeman spun about, searching for the cause of
the other haf of their party& rsquo;s desth.

Feteror stepped forward and siwvung low. The last Omon man caught a glimpse of Feteror& rsquo;sform
even asthe claws punched through skin, into warm viscera. Feteror felt the man& rsquo;s spine and he
gripped it, practicaly ripping the man in two in the process. He lifted the man up, then threw him onto the
car the Omon had driven.

Bredond stepped back, weapon raised. He could see the intermittent form of some large creature, the
two glowing red eyes unmistakable, the red blood dripping off an dmost invisble clawed hand very clear.
Feteror drew in more power and he dowly materialized, adding color to hisform. His scaled skin was
black, hiswings streaked with red, his demon features hard and angular.

Bredond& rsquo;s eyes opened wide, the weapon faling from hisfingers as he dropped to his knees,
hands raised in supplication. & lsquo;& |squo;Chyort! Please! Spare me! & rsquo; & rsquo;

Feteror spun so quickly that those watching from the other cars only saw ablur. He lashed a backhand
grikewith hisright wing, the sx-inch claw on hismiddle finger extended. It diced through

Bredond& rsquo;s neck like a paring knife through bread. Bredond& rsquo;s head tilted back, held in
place only by the spina cord. The body flopped back, blood still pumping from the heart.

Feteror turned to the second BMW. A window did down and the cracked face of Oma peered out.
&1squo;& Isquo;He was useful ,& rsquo; & rsquo; she said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;His usefulness was over.& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror liked the sound of the avatar voice he
had worked hard on. It was deeper than a human voice, with arough edge. A true demon& rsquo;s
voice. &lsguo;& Isguo; The Omoné& rsquo;s being involved will cause confusion. Their bodies found deed
will make even more confusion. It will take the GRU awhileto sort through. By then it will betoo

|ate.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& squo; Why do we need them?& rsquo; & rsquo; Oma asked, indicating the trunk.

Feteror extended the same claw that had amost decapitated Bredond toward the first BMW.
&lsquo;&Isquo; They areimportant to our plan.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1sguo;& Isquo;How?& rsquio; & rsquo; Oma asked. & 1squo;& Isquo;l did as you asked but |

doné& rsguo;t see how a GRU genera & rsquo;s wife and children help us.& rsquo; & rsquo;



Feteror glared at the old woman. He could see the fear in her guards& rsquo; eyes, the four men having
jumped out of the front BMW, weapons at the ready at his appearance. He could not tell her why,
because doing so would expose aweakness.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Do as you are told, old woman.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& 1squo;Y ou need me,& rsquo;& rsquo; Oma hissed.

Feteror extended hiswings, putting the car in the dark shadow they created. & Isquo;&1squo;Oh, yes, old
woman, | need you.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror legpt up, trandating from thered to the virtua planein an instant and, in doing so, disappearing
before the eyes of those watching, leaving behind the bodies he had torn apart as the only evidence that
what they had seen had been redl.

Dalton looked around. He wasin alarge open space, the horizon limitless. The ground benegath his feet
wasfla and afeaturdess gray. The ar wasfilled with awhite fog, making him wonder how far he was
redly seeing.

&Isquo;&Isquo; | am bringing all of you here in your formsin the virtual plane

first,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said.

Dalton noticed something above him. He looked up and saw afacon and two eagles soaring. He
immediately knew from Sybyl& rsquo;s input that they were Jackson and the other two RVers, Sergeant
Williams and Chief Warrant Officer Auer.

More forms began gppearing on the ground around him. Dalton was dightly surprised that he could
recognize each of hismen, their formsvery asmilar to what they werein redlity, even though their facid
features were white masks without features. There was enough variance in Size and shapeto dlow himto
Separate them.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Your weapons,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond announced.

Right arms formed into tubes from the elbow forward. Daton& rsquo;s tube was about four inchesin
diameter, tapering to a smooth muzzle about ahaf inch wide. Two others were smilar to what Daton
carried, two were the &1squo;& I squo; shotguns& rsquo; & rsquo; he had asked Hammond for, and two
were the more powerful, dower-firing tubes.

&lsguo;& Isquo; What about you?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton projected the question to the RVerscircling
overheed.

Lieutenant Jackson& rsquo;s voice answered inside of his head. & 1squo;& 1squo; We need the power to
fly. We can be your eyes for this mission. If we had weapons, we would take away power from
yours.&'squo; & rsquio;

&Isquo;&Isquo; Al right.& rsquo; & rsquo;

He saw another figure, Raisor, standing not far away, blank face watching.

The avatars gathered round. It was eerie to watch the bird forms of the RVers smply cometo a halt
overhead, wings folded. But Ddton knew that if hetried, he could hover off the floor and hang next to
them.

&Isquo;&lsquo; Mr. Raisor has set up a practice scenario for us at Fort Hood, Texas.

They& rsquo; ve closed off a tank range there and put in a bunch of targets, both stationary and
moving, for us to attack. We have no idea right now what form the Mafia assault on the nuclear
weapons train will take, but thisis the best we can come up with on short notice.& rsquo; & rsquo;



&1squo;&Isquo; Do we fire on full power ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Captain Anderson asked.

&1squo;&lsguo; Yes,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. & lsquo;& Isquo; We act asiif thisisthe real thing.
Dr. Hammond?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;&lsgquo; Yes?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsguo;& Isquo; Show us the computer mock-up of what& rsquo; s been set up for us at Fort
Hood.& rsquo; & rsquo;

A line of old railcars appeared, towed into place on a dusty, scrub-covered range. Several armored
vehicles, relics towed off other ranges, were lined around it. Scores of silhouettes, some red, some blue,
were spaced dl around. The terrain around was the hill country of mid-Texas that Daton remembered
from atour of duty at Fort Hood.

&Isquo;&Isquo; The blue are friendly. The red are the enemy, & rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said.
&Isquo;&Isquo; Al right. Here& rsguo; s what we& rsquo; re going to do.& rsquo; & rsquo; Ddton led
his men through his plan for the assault on the attackers.

Feteror was out of time. Thelink back to SD8-FFEU was weakening, General Rurik& rsquo;sway of
drawing him back. The longest Rurik had ever dlowed him to be out on amission had been sx hoursin
real time. It was another way the genera tried to keep aleash on his demon and one that had worked
very effectively over the years.

Feteror headed back to SD8-FFEU, diding down the tunndl, fedling the virtua window shut behind him.
He settled in and immediately accessed hisinner eyes and ears, somewhat surprised to find them on.
Therewas no sign of Genera Rurik in the center, which didn& rsquo;t surprise Feteror. He assumed
Rurik had had him called back as soon as he got called about hiswife and children, and that the general
was dtill trying to find out what had happened.

Feteror paused as he moved through his electronic home. Something was wrong. Like atracker noting a
blade of grass disturbed here, abroken stick there, Feteror did adetailed search of hisdomain.

His scream of anger echoed dong the wires of Zivon as he found that the intruder had tried to get into his
memory files.

&lsquo;&Isquo; Tell me about the phased-displacement generator,& rsquo; & rsquo; Barsk ordered.

The old man was blinking, not used to the light even though theinterior of the hangar was dim. Barsk
looked past the man toward the runway, where the blades on dl six helicopters were turning. Thefirst
one, with Leks on board, lifted and headed south. The others followed.

The old man gulped down the water one of Barsk& rsquo;s bodyguards handed him, finishing the canteen
inonelong swallow. Barsk waited.

The old man put the empty canteen down and squinted in Barsk& rsquo;s direction. Getting out of the
hole seemed to have bolstered the man& rsquo;s confidence somewhat. Or, Barsk thought, he had smply
given up. He had seen both reactions over the years among those who knew the end was near.

& 1squo;& squo; Who are you?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l ask the questions, old man,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk reminded him. & 1squo;& |squo; What
is this phased-displacement generator? How does it work?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vadlev worked histongue around his mouth, fegling how swollen it was. &squo;& Isquo;ltisa
weapon.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;What kind of wegpon?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;lt can take aphysical object and moveit into the virtua plane and then bring it out of the
virtud plane.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;What the hdll are you talking about?& rsquo; & rsquio;

Vadlev, despite his condition, drew himsdf up. & lsquo;&Isquo;l would have to teach you four years of
graduate physics for you to grasp the basics, and then | would have to be honest and tell you | do not
know exactly how it works.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo;How do you know it works at al, then?& rsquo;& rsquo;



&lsquo;& Isquo;We tested it along time ago.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo; At October Revolution |dand?& rsquo; & rsquio;

Vaslev nodded, his eyes distant.

Barsk remembered the bodies in the cavern. & 1squo;& lsquo;What happened?& rsquo; & rsquo;
&lsquo;& 1squo;We succeeded and we failed,& rsquo; & rsquo; Vaslev said.

&1sguo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t have time for word games,& rsquo; & rsquo; Barsk warned.

&Isquo;& Isquo;We sank an American submarine in the Atlantic Ocean with anuclear

warhead.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Barsk looked at his bodyguards and signaled for them to back up, out of earshot. & squo;& Isquo;lf this
generator is S0 effective, why wasit abandoned?& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& squo; Because& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev paused, then continued,

&lsquo;& Isquo;Because, as| said, we dso failed. Part of the system, shdl we say, mafunctioned, and dl
thoseinvolved were killed.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo; The bodiesin the coffins. They were mutilated. Were they the cause of the
malfunction?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vasilev raised an eyebrow. &1s0uo;&1squo;Y es.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Barsk sat back, considering the old man. & Isquo;& Isquo;Can you make it work now?& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsguo;& Isquo; Not without& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; He paused. A sense of dread overcame him. Had
they doneit again?

&Isquo;& Isquo; Without what ?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; The remote viewersto fix the target.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Barsk assumed Oma had thought of that. & |squo;& Isquo;If you have that part, can you do

it?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; With the proper computers, enough power, the generator, the proper program, |
suppose& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo;Y ou had better do better than suppose,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk warned.

&1squo;& Isquo;Y ou are working with the demon?& rsquo; & rsquo; Vaslev asked.

Barsk leaned forward. & 1squo;& |squo;What do you know of this demon?& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;He visited me there. & rsquo; & rsquo; Vaslev pointed at the pit.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Who exactly isthe demon?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; It ismore aquestion of what isthis demon,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;l suspect heis acreature that exists on the psychic plane.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo; Explain as much as you know to me,& rsquo; & rsquo; Barsk ordered.

Vadlev gave awesk laugh. &Isquo;&Isquo; That won& rsquo;t take long.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;&lsquo; Gol & rsquo; & rsquo; Daton ordered.

Thethree RVersunfurled their wings and took off. Dalton watched them until they suddenly disappeared
fromview.

&1squo;&Isquo; Hammond?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton checked.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Here.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo; You can have Sybyl relay information from Lieutenant Jackson and the

others?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Yes.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Dalton shook his head. Thiswas al happening too fast. He had little ideawhat their capabilitiesand
limitations were. But he knew that Raisor and Hammond had little ideadso. He had to consider so many
factorsthat he knew he was missing some important aspects. He aso knew from his combat experience
that it was the details that were overlooked that got people killed. And whatever could screw up was
going to. Murphy& rsquo;s law had been amaxim of military operations sincethe first man had clubbed a
guy over the head in the next cave.

Dalton broke his seven-man team into two three-man fireteams. He put Captain Anderson in charge of



one. Each fireteam had one fast firer, one & |squo;& | squo;shotgunner,& rsquo; & rsquo; and one heavy
firer.

The plan was as smple as Daton could make it. He had to guess what the Mafia& rsquo;s plan would
be, but he figured they had to have military men working for them and thus he felt reasonably sure about
what would happen. The Mafiaforce would set up what was called an ORP, objectiveraly point, near
the attack Site, but out of direct line of sight. They would launch their attack from there. Daton& rsquo;s
plan was to use Captain Anderson& rsquo;s fireteam to attack the ORP while histeam assaulted the
attacking force. That would force the Mafiato fight on three fronts: the Russian troops guarding the train
infront of them, Anderson& rsquo;s team from behind, and Dalton& rsquo;s team right among them.
&1squo;&Isquo; We& rsquo; re closing on Fort Hood. & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson& rsguo;s voice was
indde hishead, asloud and clear as Hammond& rsquo;s, startling him out of his military speculating.
Entering thereal plane, & rsquo;&rsquo; Jackson said.

Dalton waited.

&1squo;&Isquo; Okay, we& rsgquo; re here.& rsquo; & rsquo; There was adifferenceto

Jackson& rsquo;s voice. Asif shewerein alarge, empty space, her voice echoing strangely.

&lsguo;& Isgquo; 1t& rsquo; s like the mock-up but there& rsquo; s also some more armor in the ORP
area. About fifty & Isquo; men&rsquo; in the ORP. Another force of about a hundred stretched out
between the ORP and the train. Hold on, 1&rsquo; 1l show it to you.& rsquo; & rsgquo;

Dalton blinked as an image flickered across his vison, momentarily blocking out the featureless area of
virtua space around him. He focused and he could see the range target area as Jackson saw it, circling
overhead.

&1squo;&Isquo; Al right,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. & squo;& Isquo; Captain Anderson, designate
targets for your men.& rsgquo; & rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo; Roger that,& rsquo; & rsquo; Anderson answered.

Dalton did the same, able to use the views forwarded from Lieutenant Jackson and the two other RVers
to give each of his men specific targets. Ashe did this, apart of Dalton started fegling more confident.
He& rsquo;d been on many military operationsin histimein the Army, but this one, while undoubtedly the
strangest, also was presenting him with advantages he hadn& rsquo;t even dreamed of. Being able to see
the target like this and then being able to mentally communicate with each of his men, letting them know
hisplan by seeing it, instead of just tdlling them what he wanted, was something every military
commander would give anything for.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Are we ready?& rsquo; & rsquio;

He recaived an affirmative from each man.

&Isquo;&lsquo; Sybyl, give us the visual checkpoints,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton ordered.

It was atechnique the RV ers had perfected. Sybyl could access the NSA& rsquo;s satellite imagery
database and pick easly identifiable spots on the earth& rsquo; s surface between their present location
and the target. They could then project themsaves through virtua space from checkpoint to checkpoint
by imaging the picture.

&1squo;&Isquo; Let& rsquo; s do it.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The Specid Forces men& rsquo;s avatars lost their wegpons as their arms shifted into wings. They
entered the virtua plane and headed south.

Ddton found himsdf aone once more, moving through the virtuad sky with hisvirtua wings. He hit the
first checkpoint and spotted two other of his men passing through. He kept going, until hewas at the last
checkpoint, lessthan akilometer from the target. At that point, he pulled in power from Sybyl and
materidized on ahillside, the bulk of the mountain between him and the target. He watched as the other
men showed up within acouple of minutes of each other.

&Isquo;&Isquo; Hell of a way to infiltrate a target area,& rsquo; & rsquo; Captain Anderson noted as
he gained hisfeet and took afew tentative steps, refamiliarizing himsdlf with operating in the real world
with hisavatar.

&Isquo;&Isguo; Any change in the target?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked Jackson.



&1squo;&Isquo; Negative, & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson responded. & lsquo;& Isquo; Here& rsquo; s the
current image.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton checked it. & lsquo;& Isquo; Al right,& rsquo; & rsquo; he said to the men of hisfireteam, Trilly,
Egan, and Barnes. & squo;& Isquo; We will go back into the virtual plane from here and | want us to
come out into the real world right here& mdash; &rsquo;&rsquo; He picked a spot on theimage. It
was about a hundred meters from therailcar, in the midst of numerous red silhouettesindicating the
attacking force.

&lsguo;& Isquo; When you come out, come out blasting,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. &1squo;& Isquo;
Ready, Captain Anderson?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isguo; Ready.& rsquo; & rsguo;

&1squo;&Isguo; Let& rsquo; s go.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Dalton released his hold on the real world and dematerialized. He focused on the image of the spot he
had picked. And then he was there. He materidized, the power tube flowing out of hisright arm ashe
flickered into existence in the rea world.

Hefired at the closest red silhouette.

On ahill to the south awide-angle video camera had been set up on orders from the CIA to send an
image back to Bright Gate. The range areawas supposed to be completely evacuated, but two officers
from Fort Hood had stayed in the observation post, curious to see what the results of all the strange,
high-level orders they had received would be. They had expected to see parachutes come out of the sky,
perhaps carrying members of a Ranger battaion practicing atrain takedown.

They were stunned when strange men appeared out of nothingness, firing with what looked like tubesin
place of forearms and hands. Silhouettes splintered as smdll fireba s hit them.

Through his binoculars, one of the officers watched as a derdict tank was hit by alarger firebdl that
smashed through the front armor and exploded inside.

&1squo;& Isquo;Who the hell are these guys?& rsquo; & rsquo; the officer asked his partner.
&1squo;&Isquo; What the hell are they?& rsquo; & rsquo; the other officer asked in return ashe focused in
on one of the forms, seeing that the face was a featurel ess white mask.

It was going very well. Of course, Dalton reflected as he moved and fired, the silhouettes weren& rsquo;t
shooting back. That was perhaps the biggest concern he had. Despite Dr. Hammond& rsquo;s
assurances, he wasn& rsquo;t absolutely confident that the avatars could sustain much damage or that
they could be recongtituted as easily as she imagined. There was theissue of what had happened to Stith
lurking in the back of hismind.

Hedid aforward roll behind aberm and fired, dicing ared slhouettein haf. & lsquo;& Isquo;
Anderson?& rsgquo; & rsquo; he asked through Sybyl.

&lsquo;& Isquo; We & rsquo; ve wiped the ORP out. No problem! & rsgquo; & rsquo; Anderson& rsquo;s
voice was excited, like akid who had just won abig bal game.

Dalton didn& rsguo;t blame him. It was intoxicating, being able to move and fire, to communicate
ingtantly, to comein and out of redlity. As he thought that, Daton looked at atank hulk fifty meters away.
Hefaded out of the real, sped through the virtua, and popped into existence insde the tank. He
&lsquo;& Isquo;killed& rsquo;& rsquo; dl the crew, then & lsquo;& |squo;jumped& rsquo; & rsquo; again to
another pogtion.

Without being asked, Sybyl was updating him on the position of the other members of the team, pushing
the data through his consciousness without interfering with what he was doing. He could see that
Anderson& rsquo;s team was moving dowly in hisdirection, clearing out the terrain between them.

That was when the drones came in overhead. Three of them, flying in triangular formation, they were
firing off flaresto Smulate weagpons. Each was programmed with their flight route and had awingspan of
twenty feet. They wereflying at two hundred miles an hour, low out of the setting sun.

Even as Dalton noted this unexpected devel opment, he was getting the exact positions, directions, and



speeds of the drones from Lieutenant Jackson. He swung up histube and fired, asdid Barnes. The
drones were blasted out of the sky less than two seconds after they had been spotted.
&1squo;&Isquo; Behind you! & rsguo; & rsquo; One of the RVerswarned him.

Dalton spun, tube at the ready, but even before his avatar completed the turn, the RVer had shown him
what was happening. A group of the blue silhouette targets had dropped their covering and were now
red.

That lasted for lessthan asecond as all Six Specia Forces men fired into the new targets.

Dalton paused. There were no more targets. The other members of hisfireteam

& 1squo;& | squo;jumped& rsquo;& rsquio; to his position. Then Anderson& rsquo;s team was there. He
could see Raisor& rsquo;s avatar floating to the north, watching, and he knew where the surprises had
comefrom.

&1squo;&Isquo; Let& rsquo; s go home,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton ordered.

On the hillside, the two officerslowered their binoculars after watching the ten men& rsquo;s arms shift
into wings before they smply blinked out of existence.

&1squo;& 1squo; That couldné& rsquo;t have been real ,& rsquio;& rsquo; one of the men whispered.
&1sguo;& Isquo; Those targets are al destroyed,& rsquo; & rsquo; the other noted.

&1squo;& Isquo; That& rsquo;s real .& rsquo; & rsquio;

Thefirg officer headed for the door of the bunker. &|squo;& Isquo;We weren& rsquo;t supposed to be
here. Asfar as1&rsquo;m concerned, we didn& rsquo;t see anything. We didn& rsquo;t hear anything.
We doné& rsquo;t know anything.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;We wasted them! & rsquio; & rsquo; Egan, the intelligence sergeant, was ecdtatic as he
toweed off the embryonic fluid.

Dalton didn& rsquo;t say anything, letting the adrenaline flow runits course. Thetria run had gonefar
better than he& rsquo;d expected. He& rsquo;d had to reevaluate his outlook on the upcoming mission
and accept that Raisor was mostly right& mdash; they would have atremendous advantage and they
were the best force for this mission. Not only were they a potent fighting force once they arrived on
target, but the ability to infiltrate and exfiltrate aforeign country through the virtua field was unpardlded
inits possihilities. Dalton saw Raisor and Hammond by the master control console watching.
&Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou see how | hit that tank and the fireball went right through the armor! & rsquo; & rsquio;
Barnes was using his handslike afighter pilot to show what had happened. & 1squo;&Isquo; Then |
&lsquo;jumped& rsquo; about twenty metersto the left and hit the tank again.

Unbdievable.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& |squo;Just remember nobody was shooting back at you,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton noted.

That brought amoment of sllence.

&lsquo;& Isquo;What exactly happensif we do get shot?& rsquo;& rsquo; Trilly wanted to know.
&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou dip back into the virtual world,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dr. Hammond said,
&lsquo;&Isquo;and alow Sybyl to recongtitute you.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Far out! & rsquo; & rsquo; Monroe yelled, raisng his hand for ahigh five from Egan.
&Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou go on thered thing in six hours,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & 1squo;& Isquo;l
suggest you get some rest.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Astheteam filed out, Daton cornered Lieutenant Jackson. & 1squo;& |squo;What do you

think?& rsquo; & rsquo; he asked her.

&lsquo;&lsquo;l think it was too easy,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said.

Dalton nodded. & Isquo;& Isquo; Two thingsworry me. First, we still don&rsquo;t redly know what
happens when the avatar gets shot or blown up or run over, or any of the other things that can happen to
it.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;And the second?& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo; M urphy& rsquo;s law,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said succinctly. & lsquo;& |squo; Whatever



can screw up will. 1&rsgquo;m concerned about the Russian psychic capability. What if they are on top of
this?& rsquo;& rsquo; He could see the look in Jackson& rsquo;s eyes and knew she was thinking the
samething. & lsquo;& squo;What if this demon, this Chyort, shows up? Or if what happened to the first
team happensto us?

&1squo;& 1squo;We don& rsquo;t know much about what wes& rsquo;re doing,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton
continued. &lsquo;& Isquo;We redly don& rsquo;t know diddly about the Russian capability. What about
thisDr. Vasilev? Y ou said he worked in Moscow. Do you think you can find him?& rsquo; & rsquo;
Jackson looked tired, black lines under her eyes, but she nodded. & 1squo;& Isquo;l can giveit ashot.
He& rsquo;s published in somejourndsthat give some bio information. | can go to the Indtitutein
Moscow and try to find him from there.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& squo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;d redly appreciate it,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said. &lsquo;& Isquo;l know you
need to rest, but& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

Jackson held up her hand. & lsquo;& |squo;No problem. 1& rsquo;ll go back in.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton ran a hand through his goo-filled hair. & squo;& |squo;l & rsquo;ll go with you.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror sensed a presence down the computer path he was on. A shadow where there shouldné& rsquo;t
be one. He paused, uncertain for thefirst timein avery long time. The shadow moved.

Feteror raced down a side path, his essence flowing through the circuitry, and he popped out behind the
shadow. He froze, seeing his grandfather looking about in amazement a the hardware insde of the
computer.

&1squo;& 1squo; Opal & rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror exclaimed.

The old man turned, abright smile above his bushy gray beard. & squo;& |squo;Arkady! & rsquo;& rsquo;
Feteror edged forward, uncertain. &lsquo;&Isquo;How can you be here?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Opa shrugged. & 1squo;& Isquo; That iswhat | wanted to ask you. And where is here?& rsquo;& rsquo;
Hisfral aamswaved abouit.

Feteror stepped forward. &1squo;& squo;But you arend& rsquo;t real.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Opareached out and grabbed Feteror& rsquo;s virtud arm. & lsquo;& 1squo;Does that fedl

real ?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1sgu0;& 1squo; But& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror shook his head. &1squo;& Isquo;How can this
be?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;How can you be?& rsquo;& rsquo; Opasaid. & Isquo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t know. | was
adeep. And now | & rsquo;m awake.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;But | didn& rsquo;t summon you,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror said.
&1squo;& 1squo; Summon me? Summon me?& rsquo;& rsquo; Opaglared at his grandson.

& 1squo;& Isquo;What happened to wake you?& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror asked.

The old man frowned. &1squo;& |squo; Someone tried breaking in.& rsquo;& rsquo; He looked about,
confusion crossing hisface once more. &Isquo;& Isquo;But | was home. In the cottage. Someone was at
the window. | woke and yelled. They ran. But thisisn& rsquo;t the cottage.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror nodded. Rurik& rsquo;s prying had woken the old man. But what he didn& rsquo;t

understand& mdash; and knew the figure in front of him wouldn& rsquo;t know either& mdash; was how
his grandfather& rsquo;simage had come & 1squo;& |squo;aive& rsquo; & rsquo; and escaped its memory
cdl. Thiswas something new and unprecedented.

Feteror checked the time. He knew that Genera Rurik would exhaust dl the norma channelsto try to
find hiswife and children. When they failed& mdash; and they would, given Oma& rsquo;s and hisown
thoroughness& mdash; he would reluctantly turn to Feteror. He estimated he had alittle while before the
cdl came.

&1sguo;& Isquo;Where is the cottage?& rsquo; & rsquo; Opa asked.

Feteror reached out and took his grandfather by the arm. & Isquo;&Isquo;l will take you home,

Opa.& rsquo;& rsquio;



Daton& rsquo;slungsfilled with liquid. His body spasmed, tired muscles fighting the foreign substance,
then givingway.

The process went faster and shortly Dalton was back on the virtua plane. Jackson& rsquo;s falcon avatar
swooped past, over hisleft shoulder, startling him.

&1squo;&Isquo; Ready to go?& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Wher e& rsquio; s the first point?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

Animage from Sybyl appeared in his mind as Hammond spoke. & 1squo; & |sguo; You& rsquo; |l be
taking the polar route to Russia. Your first jump point will be in central Canada right above this
lake.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton& rsquo;s arms flowed into wings and he took flight, catching up to the falcon.

&Isquo;&Isquo; First jump, & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson said.

&1squo;&Isquo; First jump,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton acknowledged.

He concentrated on the lake point in Canada. Everything went blank; he felt disoriented and then he was
there, about five hundred meters above the water.

He looked around. Jackson was close by. Dalton felt awkward and huge next to her small, graceful form.
&1squo;&Isquo; Second point, & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson projected.

It took them four pointsto get to Moscow. Dalton had no ideaif that many were necessary& mdash; if
they could have gotten there with one jump. He also had no idea how much time passed. Between some
of the points the transition was not instantaneous. Hefdt asif he had flown a distance between some of
them in the gray fog of the virtua plane.

Hewas grateful for Jackson& rsquo;s presence, as he wasn& rsquo;t sure he could have madeit thisfar
this quickly without her kegping him oriented.

&1squo;&Isguo; The Russian Physiological Psychology Institute is that building.& rsquo; & rsquo;
Jackson nosed down toward alarge, square building, built of dark stone. Dalton followed. He paused as
Jackson& rsquo;s avatar blipped into the roof and disappeared, then he did the same. Hewasin an
office. There were three men in uniform inside the room. Dalton staggered backward before he redized
that he was il inthe virtud plane and the men couldn& rsquo;t see him.

&Isquo;&Isquo; Thisis Dr. Vasilev& rsquo; s office. & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson paused. & 1squo;& Isquo;
| don& rsquo;t know who they are. They have GRU tabs on their shoulder boards.& rsquo;&rsquo;
&lsguo;& Isquo; Seems like they& rsquo; re looking for something,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton noted.
That was an understatement, as the large desk was turned on its side, spilling papers. Two men dropped
to their knees, searching both the papers and the underside of the desk. Thethird, obvioudy an officer of
higher rank, watched the other two.

One of the men on hisknees said something to the senior officer in Russian. The officer replied.
&Isquo;&lsguo; Vasilev is missing, & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson told Daton. &Isquo;&Isquo;

They& rsgquo;re trying to find out what happened to him.&rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; You under stand Russian?& rsgquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

There was an amused tone to Jackson& rsquo;s projection. & Isquo;& Isquo; Yes. And so do

YOU.& I'Squo; & I'squo;

Dalton didn& rsquo;t have a chance to pursue that asthe senior officer pulled a cdlular phone out of a
deep pocket of his greatcoat. He punched in and began talking. Dalton watched with interest as Jackson
dissolved her falcon shape and became a small glowing sphere on the virtud plane. She floated over to



the officer, enveloping the cell phone and the hand holding it.

The officer completed the call. Jackson came back to

Daton& rsquo;s position, re-forming to her avatar on the virtud plane. & 1squo;& Isquo; Let& rsquo;s
g0,&rsquo; & rsquo; shesad.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Wher e?& rsquio; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

&Isquo;&Isquo;He just called his higher headquartersto say their search has turned up nothing
and they have no idea where Vasilev is. We & rsquo;re going to that headquarters to see what else
they know.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; How do you know wher e that headquarters is?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.
&Isquo;&Isquo; | went into the cell phone& rsquo; s memory. The address was listed there inside of
the encryption lock. 1t& rsquo;s a trick 1& rsgquo; ve learned while doing this,& rsquo; & rsquo;
Jackson said. & Isquo;& Isquo; Here& rsquo; s the site.& rsquio; & rsquio;

Ddton recaived theimage.

&1squo;&Isquo; The phone he called isinside this room,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson told him.
&1squo;&Isguo; 1t& rsquo; s not far away. Let& rsquo;s go.& rsquo; & rsquo;

He flashed out of the room behind Jackson.

When he cameto ahdt, hewasin aconference room, hovering directly above alarge wood table.
Startled, he pushed himsdlf over to a corner of the room, joining Jackson.

&1squo;&Isquo; They can& rsgquo;t see you,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson reminded him, the edge of
laughter in her tone.

&lsquo;& Isquo; 1 & rsquo; m glad you& rsquo; re having fun,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said.

A GRU officer was a alectern, speaking quickly in Russian.

&1squo;&Isguo; Can you under stand him?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Yes,& rsgquo; & rsquo; Jackson said. &1squo;&Isquo; As | told you earlier, you can too,
if you ask Sybyl to do the tranglation for you. 1t&rsquo;s practically

instantaneous.& rsquo; & r squo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Another thing no one& rsquo; s told me about,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said.
&Isquo;&Isquo; 1t& rsquo; s hard to get you up to speed on everything in a couple of
days,&rsquo; & rsgquo; Jackson noted. & Isquo;& Isquo; 1 & rsguo; ve been remote viewing for six years
and there& rsquo;s still so much | don& rsquo;t know about it. So many capabilities|

haven& rsquo;t even thought of, never mind tested.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Sybyl ?& rsquio; & rsquo; Dalton prompted.

Thevoice of the Russan faded for a brief moment, then

Daton could hear him in English, through the medium of Syby!. It was disorienting& mdash; as pretty
much everything el se that had happened so far had been& mdash; to watch the man& rsquo;s lips move,
but hear words that didn& rsquo;t exactly correlate with the movements.

&lsquo;& 1squo;We must assume there is a connection between the attack on October Revolution Idand
and Dr. Vasilev& rsquo;s disappearance,& rsquo;& rsquo; the officer said. & lsquo;&Isquo; The
phased-displacement generator is missing. Without Vasilev& rsquo;s expertise, the weapon would be
practicaly usdless. With his expertise& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; The officer paused, the words sinking in.
&1squo;&squo; What is a phased-displacement generator ?& rsgquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked Jackson.
&Isquo;&Isguo; A hypothetical weapon,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson responded. A mechanical device
that integrates a space inside of it into the virtual plane, and then is capable with psychic help of
sending a mass through the v-plane to any location on the planet. There were intelligence reports
years ago that the Soviets were trying to develop such a weapon.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Doesn& rsquo;t sound very hypothetical to these guys,& rsquo; & rsgquo; Daton
noted.

&1squo;& Isquo; The generator is no good without nuclear warheads,& rsquo;& rsquo; one of the officers
at the table noted.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Not necessarily, & rsquo;& rsquo; the officer at the lectern said. & lsquo;& Isquo; The



phased-displacement generator projects mass. The possibilitiesfor its use are limitless. Whoever hasit
can project abiological agent directly into the agueduct for amajor city and cause an epidemic. They can
project aconventiona explosive to exactly the right location to cause atremendous disaster. Say apound
of C-4 into the American space shuttle& rsquo;sfud tank when it launches?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& lsquo;If thiswegpon is so damn effective, why wasit left lying in that godforsaken

place?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton focused on the man who had said that. His uniform was different& mdash; camouflaged fatigues, a
blue beret tucked in hisbelt. Hisface was hard, the eyes cold: akiller. Daton recognized the insignia of
the Spetsnatz on the beret.

&1squo;& Isquo;Colond Mishenka,& rsquo;& rsquo; the man at the end of the table with the four stars of
an Army generd on his collar acknowledged the Spetsnatz officer. & lsquo;& Isquo; The weapon was
abandoned because it mafunctioned, killing everyone involved in the project.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Mishenkafingered afolder. & lsquo;& Isquo; This Vasilev wasn& rsquot killed, Genera

Bolodenka.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;&lsquo; Almost everyone,& rsquo;& rsquo; Bolodenka clarified. & lsquo;& Isquo;Vasilev barely
escaped. The information he gave usindicated that the risksinvolved in awegpon such asthe
phased-displacement generator would not be worth taking.& rsquo;& rsquo; The generd indicated for the
briefer to continue.

& 1sguo;& Isquo; The generator requires computersin order to operate. Another key to the
phased-displacement generator isthat it will require atremendous amount of energy. Thiswill limit where
whoever hasit can set up. They would haveto tap directly into amajor power line, and the draw would
clearly show up. 1&rsquo;ve aready alerted those who would be affected to keep an eye

Out.& rsquio; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& 1squo; That& rsquo;sif they stay indde our borders,& rsquo;& rsquo; General Bolodenka noted.
&Isquo;& Isquo; The Mafiais most powerful inside our borders, so | will assume that iswhere they will
operate,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka noted. & 1squo;& Isquo;How do you know this thing& mdash; this
generator& mdash; works?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Generd Bolodenka swiveled in hisheavy legther chair. & |squo;& Isquo;Because initslast field testing, the
phased-displacement generator destroyed an American nuclear submarine in 1963 just beforeit
malfunctioned, killing al those who were running the test and al so destroying what | understand were
some critica biological components.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Critical biologica components?& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka repeated.

&1squo;& 1squo; The generator required the mind power of psychicaly attuned individuasto

operate,& rsquo;& rsquo; the briefer said.

&1squo; & Isguo; Then that& rsquo;s another parameter that whoever hasit will need for it to operate,
correct?& rsquo; & rsquo; Mishenka asked.

&lsquo;& squo; Correct.& rsquo; & rsquo;

& 1sguo;& | squo; Perhaps, then,& rsquo; & rsquo; Mishenka mused, & Isquo;& Isquo;the good doctor is
involved with this. Wouldn& rsquo;t he have access to such people at his Ingtitute?& rsquo;& rsquo;
&|squo;& 1squo;We& rsquo;re checking into that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Generd Bolodenka said.
&lsquo;&Isquo; Y ou said that this generator required computers,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka said.
&lsquo;& Isquo; That is correct.& rsquo;& rsquio;

& 1sguo;& |squo; And the computers need aspecia program?& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka prompted.

The briefer glanced at the general, who nodded for him to spesk.

&lsquo;&Isquo;A CD-ROM with the programming for the phased-displacement generator was stolen
from GRU records last week.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Mishenkashook hishead in disgust at the information. & lsquo;& Isquo;l wasinformed of that attack, but

| was not told what was taken. | cannot operate efficiently if | am kept in the dark.& rsquo;& rsquo; He
leaned forward. & |squo;& Isquo; The attack was most brutal. From what | understand, one of your GRU
agentswas ripped in half. How could this happen?& rsquo; & rsquo;



&1sguo;& |squo;We don& rsquo;t know,& rsquo;& rsquio; the briefer said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;How could the Mafia have found out about this weapon? About the

CD-ROM ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Mishenka asked.

&1sguo;& |squo;We doné& rsquo;t know that al so.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; There has to be aleak insde your organization,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka said.

Any comment on that was forestalled when the door opened and an enlisted man waked in, handing the
briefer apiece of paper.

The briefer quickly scanned the message and said,

&1squo;&Isquo;Wes rsquo;ve just received word that General Rurik& rsquo;s wife and children have
been kidnapped. They were picked up by asquad of Omon, but the bodies of those men were found in
awarehousein theriver district. There are no further clues.&rsquo;&rsquo; The briefer glanced up.
&lsquo;&Isquo; Theinjuriesto the bodies are smilar to those we found at the Stein

Kiev.&rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1sguo;& 1squo; Who& rsquo;s General Rurik?& rsquo; & rsquo; Colond Mishenka asked.

&lsguo;& Isquo;And what does he have to do with this generator?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Rurik isthe head of SD8,& rsquo;& rsquo; General Bolodenka said. & Isquo;& lsquo; That
isthe department that was in charge of the generator.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo; & 1squo;Wass rsquo; ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Mishenka asked. & 1squo;& Isquo;What does
SD8 do now?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1sguo;& Isquo;It runs the successor to the phased-displacement generator program,& rsquo;& rsquo;
Bolodenka said.

&1squo;& Isquo; Which 1s?& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka pressed.

&lsquo;& Isquo; That, Colone & rsquo;& rsquo; & mdash; Genera Bolodenka& rsquo;s voice had turned
chilly& mdash; & 1squo;& |squo;is none of your concern.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l disagree, Generd ,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenkasaid. &Isquo;&Isquo;l do not think this
kidnapping can be acoincidence. All of thisinformation is most definitely connected. Anything you
withhold from mewill hinder any action | take.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Let us ded with one problem at atime,& rsquo;& rsquo; Bolodenka said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;What do you want me here for, then?& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka asked.

&1squo;& Isquo;When we find the generator, your men will go in and secure it,& rsquo;& rsquo;
Bolodenka said. &Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou will dso neutrdize dl those involved with extreme

Vigor.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;dust say & Isquoskill,& rsquo; & rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka said. & Isquo;& Isquo; It does not bother
meto ded in the truth.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& IsquosKill, then,& rsquo;& rsquo; Bolodenka said.

&1squo;& Isquo;And how do you propose to find the generator?& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka asked.
&lsquo;&Isquo; That is not your concern.& rsquo;& rsquo; Bolodenka smiled, revealing expensive capped
teeth. &|squo;& Isquo;But rest assured we will.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l need to know what is going on,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka said. &1squo;& 1squo;Or |
will not accept this assgnment.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Bolodenka stood. & Isquo;&|squo;Alert your men, Colone Mishenka. Beready to moveat a

moment& rsquo;s notice.& rsquo;& rsquo; The genera walked toward the door and paused.

&Isquo;& Isquo; Contact my scientific adviser. He will update you on SD8& rsquo;s current

status.& rsquo;& rsquo; Bolodenkawent out of the room, the others following.

Mishenkapulled acdl phone out of his breast pocket.

&1squo;&Isquo; Can you get that phone& rsquo; s number ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked Jackson.
&1squo;&lsguo; Yes.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Do it,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton ordered.

She coaesced into the glowing ball and did over Mishenka& rsquo;s hand. In a moment she was back a
Daton&rsquo;ssde.



&1squo;&Isquo; Let& rsquo; s go, & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson said.

Dalton followed her out of the room, into the featureless virtua plane. They paused asthey both
consdered what they had learned.

&Isquo;&Isquo; You really believe the Russians destroyed one of our subsin 1963 with this
thing?&rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

&Isquo;& Isquo; 1t& rsquo; s long been an unsubstantiated rumor that the Thresher, an attack
submarine, was destroyed by some sort of psychic force,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson said.

Ddton was concerned with something dse. & lsquo;&Isquo; Do you think this Chyort is the successor
to the generator ?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&lsquo; Yes, & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson said.

&1squo;&Isquo; So the Chyort is an avatar, just like us?& rsgquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo; Like us,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson acknowledged, & 1squo;& Isquo; but more powerful.
They& rsquo; ve done something different than Psychic Warrior.&rsquo; & rsquo;
&1squo;&Isquo; What the hell is going on?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton wondered. & Isquo;&Isquo; This
doesné& rsquo;t make much sense. If all thisistrue, and you met the Chyort in the railyard, then
the GRU should know that the Mafia plans to take down the nuke train. But those guysin there
acted like they didn&rsquo;t have a clue.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&lsquo; Maybe the information is compartmentalized?& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson suggested.
&Isquo;&Isguo; That was the head of the GRU in there. If he doesn & rsquo;t know, who does?
Hell, Chyort, whoever the hell heis, should be stopping all this.&rsquo;&rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo; L et& rsquo;s get home,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said. & Isquo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;m tired
and this doesn& rsquo;t change anything. Infact, it makesit al the more critica that we stop the nuke
hijacking, now that we know that the Mafiawill have ameans of projecting those warheads anywhere on
the globe.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Onehillion dollars. U.S. currency, of course.& rsquo;& rsquo; Omalit afoul-smelling
Russian cigarette and watched the two men across the expanse of her desk. There was no externa
response on their part to her quoted price or the odor she blew across the desk.

&lsquo;&1squo;l will be most reasonable about payment,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid.

&1squo;& Isquo;One hundred million due in the next twenty-four hoursto insure targeting. The balance to
be paid on completion of the task.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;For one nuclear bomb?& rsquo;& rsquo; the head of the del egation asked.

& lsquo;& Isquo;For one nuclear bomb placed anywhere you want it on the face of the planet and
detonated there, Mr. Abd a-Bari,& rsquo;& rsquo; Oma clarified. & lsquo;& Isquo;Y ou want the bomb
ingde of Israel & rsquo;s secret nuclear weapon storage facility in the Negev Desert? | will put it there and
detonate it.& rsquo;& rsquo; Oma& rsquo;s sted teeth shone as she smiled. & lsquo;& Isquo; The world
will think it an accident. The Isragliswill have to go public and admit what they have so fervently denied
for solong. Their nuclear arsena will be destroyed. The military forces based nearby will dso be
destroyed. A rather spectacular coup, and there isno way they can trace it to you.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& 1sgquo;No one can get insde Negev,& rsquo; & rsquo; the younger of the two men protested,
before he was shushed by Abd a-Bari.

&lsguo;&Isquo;l can put the weapon anywhere you want and detonate it,& rsquo; & rsquo; Oma
repested. & |squo;&Isquo; That iswhy the priceis set asit iS.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Sl rather high for one weapon,& rsquo;& rsquo; Abd al-Bari said.

&1sguo;& Isquo;How much do you spend on your military each year?& rsquo; & requo; Oma
didn&rsquo;t wait for an answer. &1squo;& Isquo;Buy afew lessfighter jets and you won& rsquo;t even
tweak your budget.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; The money is not the critical factor,& rsquo;& rsquo; Abd d-Bari said. & lsquo;& 1squo;l
want to know how you can do this.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; That is not part of the deal,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid.



Abd d-Bari laughed. & squo;& |squo; Then there is no dedl .& rsquio;& rsquo; He stood. & 1squo;& [squo;l
have listened to many fools make many outrageous promises over the years. | do not need to waste any
more time.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Oma spread her hands out on her desktop. & Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou fail to understand the true nature of what
we arediscussing. | am trying to be courteous. To give you something for your money.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;l do not need to listen to your blustering.& rsquo;& rsquo; Abd a-Bari turned for the
door.

&lsquo;&Isquo;l understand you enjoy gambling,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid.

Abd a-Bari paused.

&lsguo;& Isquo;According to my sources, you play the cards,& rsquo;& rsquo; Oma continued.
&1squo;& Isquo; That means you understand the difference between a bluff and someone holding a strong
hand.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&1squo;l am very good at everything | do,& rsquo;& rsquo; a-Bari said.

&1squo;& Isquo;If you have the imagination, | would suggest you turn thisal around and picture my ded
for one billion dollars per bomb as awinning hand.& rsquo;& rsquo; Oma smiled once more,
&lsquo;&Isquo;l do not wish to offend you, but please, understand that | can put those nuclear bombs
anywhere, including the center of your largest oil field. There are some who would pay themoney | am
asking for that to happen. Of course, | have not contacted them yet. If | am bluffing, then no harm done if
you walk out that door. But if | truly hold the cards| am telling you | hold& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;
Abd a-Bari&rsquo;s skin flushed a shade darker. &1squo;& Isquo; Do not threaten me.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&lsquo;&1squo;l am trying to be reasonable,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid. & lsquo;& 1squo;l would like to
continue to be reasonable. But | thought it best that all the possibilities be put on the table, so to spesk,
s0 that we have complete understanding.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Abd d-Bari said, &lsquo;&Isquo;And if you fail? If you do not do what you say you can after | have
paid you the money you ask for down payment?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Omaspread her hands wide, taking in her office and the building. & squo;&1squo; Then you know where
to find me and you can play your winning hand. | understand you have those in your organization who
aremost willing to diefor your cause. | have no doubt that if you wanted me dead, one of those people
would find away to accomplish that.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& squo;l have to confer with others,& rsquo;& rsquo; Abd al-Bari said.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Please do.& rsquo; & rsquo; Oma& rsquo;s voice chilled the room. & lsquo;& Isquo;But |
need an answer in twenty-four hours.& rsquo;& rsquio;

A dreary rain wasfdling, turning the ground around the railhead into mud. Colond Verochka, head of
nuclear security for the GRU, watched from the interior of the BMD armored vehicle through a
bullet-proof portal on the side. Led by two T-72 tanks, four BMDs rolled through the mud, their treads
giving firm traction. The armored personnd carriers were followed by two more T-72s. Overhead,
above the sound of therain falling on the meta and the roars of the armored vehicles, Verochka could
hear the sound of helicopter blades. She knew that four M1-28 Havoc gunships, the most advanced
helicopter in the Russan inventory, were flying cover.

The four BMDs did next to aheavily armored railcar hooked to two oil-burning engines. As dozens of
infantrymen, weapons at the ready, spread out around the train, the back doors on thelead BMD swung



open. Two men carried a plastic container out, up aconcrete ramp and in through the heavy meta doors
on the side of the car. Four more bombs were off-loaded, then the next BMD moved up and the process
was repeated.

Colone Verochkawaited until al twenty warheads were loaded and the train was secured. Then she
ordered the driver of the BMD to head to the nearby airfield. She sat down in one of the web chairs
aong theinner wall of the APC. Between her kneesameta briefcase was secured.

A ged chain ran from the case to atitanium cuff around her left wrigt.

Overhead, two of the Havocs flew cover asthey approached the airfield.

& 1squo;& Isquo; Goddamn those Russian sons of bitches! & rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor exclaimed.

& 1squo;& Isquo; We thought they might have had something to do with the Thresher going

down! & rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& |sgquo;We?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton was bone-tired, and there was less than four hours before
they had to go. But Raisor had demanded a complete report on what they had discovered on their
reconnai ssance mission. & 1squo;& Isquo;Y ou weren& rsquo;t even born when the Thresher

SuNnk.& rsguo;& rsquio;

&Isquo;& Isquo; The CIA suspected Soviet involvement in the snking at the time,& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor
sad.

&1squo;& Isquo; That really doesn& rsquo;t matter right now,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said.

&Isquo;& Isquo; The important thing iswe now know there& rsquo;s more to this theft of nuclear weapons
than it appeared. If these Mafia people have the phased-displacement generator, and they have Vasilev,
and the programming code, and they can get the bombs, we& rsquo;ve got abig problem on our
hands.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&1squo; They il need remote viewers to aim the wegpon,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson noted.
&lsquo;& Isquo;If they& rsquo;re gathering dl the other pieces,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said,

&lsgquo;& Isquo; | & rsquo;m sure they have ahandle on that t00.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Raisor checked the digita clock overhanging the room. & 1squo;& Isquo;We don& rsquo;t have much
time.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;If you can get an ideawhere Vaslev isor what happened to this

generator,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said to Raisor, & lsquo;& Isquo;it would help.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;dust concern yoursdlf with your mission,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

&1squo;& Isquo; 1 & rsquo;m trying to do that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said, & squo;& squo;but nobody
seemsto have aclue what isredly happening.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; We know the warheads are going to get stolen in four hours,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor
said. &lsquo;&Isquo; That& rsquo;s al we need to know.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Dr. Hammond,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said, giving up on the CIA man.

Hammond had acup of coffeein her hand. &Isquo;& Isquo;Y es?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton noted that the hand holding the cup was shaking very dightly. & squo;& Isquo;What if you wanted
to destroy an avatar? How would you do it?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo;On the virtua plane or in the real ?& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond asked.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Either one.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Hammond took adeep drink from her mug, then put it down. & 1squo;& 1squo;l & rsquo;ve thought about
it and 1&rsquo;ve had Sybyl put sometimeinto it. But | really can&rsquo;t tell you. The key thing to
remember isthat the avatar is a projection. Even when it coalescesinto the real world and transfers
power into matter, it isstill aprojection. So what you want to know is sort of like asking how one would
destroy an image on screen in amovie.& rsquo;& rsguo;

&Isquo;&Isquo;Where am | then, when 1& rsquo;m on the other Side?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.
Hammond looked at him quizzically for afew seconds, then redized what he meant. & squo;& Isquo;We
have to assume that despite traveling on the virtua plane, the essence of who you are remainswith the

body.& rsquo;& rsquo;



&lsquo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t buy that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said. &Isquo;& Isquo;When [ & rsquo;ve
been out there, 1 & rsquo;ve been out there.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& 1squo;Y ou& rsgquo;re asking where the mind exists,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond said,
&Isquo;& Isquo;and that& rsquo;s something that& rsquo;s more philosophica than& mdash;

& rsguo;& rsquo;

Dalton cut her off. &1squo;&Isquo;l & rsquo;m asking where the soul exists,& rsquo;& rsquo; he said,
damming hisfigt into hisown chest. Then he pointed at his head. & squo;& |squo; This only takes you so
far, then something else takes over. | want to know if we& rsquo;re putting that something el se out
there.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l doné& rsquo;t know,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. & 1squo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t
think so, but& hellip;& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;What do we do if we come up against an enemy avatar during our

Mission.& rsquo; & r'squio;

&1squo;& Isquo;What enemy avatar?& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor asked. He gave ahard look to Jackson.
&Isquo;& Isquo;Has she been filling your head about her devil 2& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;1t& rsquo;s a possibility,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. & Isquo;& |squo;Generd
Bolodenka said that SD8, which deals with the same thing you a Bright Gate ded with, has come up
with a new-generation wegpon, something beyond the phased-displacement generator. | think they may
have developed asimilar ability to Psychic Warrior, and | think we need to be as prepared as we can be
for the possibility we might run into something.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo;l don& rsquo;t know what to tell you,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.

&Isquo;& Isquo;We redlly have no experiencein this area.& rsquo;& rsquo;

A thought occurred to Daton. & Isquo;& Isquo;What if something happensto Sybyl while we& rsquo;re
out inthe virtua plane?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo;We have a backup computer that we can put on-line,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.
&lsquo;& Isquo; And while you& rsquo;re waiting to go on-line, what happens to us?& rsquo;& rsquo;
Dalton demanded.

&Isquo;&Isquo; The switchover is automati c.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;But if thereis atime gap?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Hammond put her handsin the air, more from frustration than anything else. & Isquo;& Isquo;l

don& rsquo;t know.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& lsquo;Why are you so worried?& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor asked.

& lsquo;& |squo; Because we think this Russian avatar, Chyort, knows about the nuke takedown. And we
might trip over each other trying to Stop it.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;If your god's are the same, then there shoul dné& rsgquo;t be a problem,& rsquo; & rsquo;
Raisor said.

&lsquo;&Isquo;But if they aren& rsquo;t?& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton didn& rsquo;t wait for an answer.

& squo;& Isquo;Remember, this Chyort probably works for the agency that killed every man on board
the Thresher. Evenif our gods are the same, we& rsquo;re till on opposite sides, as you pointed out to
me when you justified not giving the Russians your intelligence about the takedown.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo;Why not focus on your mission, Sergeant Mgjor?& rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor suggested.

& lsgquo;& Isquo; What about the first Psychic Warrior team?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

&lsgquo;& Isquo;Are they dead?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Silencefilled the room. Finally Raisor sood up. & 1squo;& squo;Come with me, Sergeant Mgjor. | want
to show you something.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Agent Raisor& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond began, but the look he gave her froze
the next wordsin her mouth.

Dalton followed as Raisor headed to the side of the control room, to adoor that Dalton had never seen
opened yet. Raisor punched in a code on the small pad next to it and the metal did to the side.

&1squo;& 1squo;Come on,& raquo; & rsquio; Raisor said, waving Datoniin.



The door did shut behind them. The room was amost aduplicate of the control room, full of ten tubes.
And ingde nine of them were bodies, floating in the green fluid. Six men, three women.

&1squo;& Isquo; That& rsquo;s the first Psychic Warrior team,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.
&1squo;&Isquo; My team.& rsquio; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Are they alive?& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton could see smal placards on the front of each tube
ligting the name of the occupant.

&1squo;& Isquo; The bodies are, & rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor said. &Isquo;& Isquo; The minds, or soul, or
whatever you want to call the essence of a person, that we don& rsquo;t know about. Hammond thinks
they& rsquo;re dead. The government thinks they& rsquo;re dead. We were supposed to pull the plug on
the bodies aweek and a haf ago.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& squo;& Isquo; What happened to them?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo;We were betrayed,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said. & Isquo;& 1squo;l & rsuo;ve seen your
classfied file, Ddton. Y ou fought in Vietnam, were captured and held prisoner. Y ou know about being
betrayed, don& rsquo;t you? About being given amission and then having the plug pulled? Well,

that& rsquo;s what happened here, literdly. They were on amission and my superior had Sybyl shut
down whilethey were il out. | wasin DC, playing politics with the Select Committee on Intelligence,
trying to keep our funding flowing. And | came back to this.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo;Why ?& rsquo;& rsquo;

& squo;& squo; That& rsquo;s a complicated story which you don& rsquo;t have the clearance
for,&rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

Ddton had seen it before& mdash; personnel abandoned because some bureaucrat or politician
thousands of miles away and safe behind their desk made adecision. In Vietnam they& rsquo;d sent
teams of indigenousinfiltratorsinto the north, and when Nixon had hated the bombing campaign, dl air
traffic over the north was grounded, including the resupply and exfiltration flight for those men. They dl
died. And lifein Washington went on. The Marinesin Beirut who& rsquo;d been placed in an untenable
position with unclear guidance. And thusthey died. Delta Force in Mogadishu. The SEALsin Panama
Dalton stopped in front of one of the tubes. A dark-haired woman floated insde, fluid dowly flowing
through the tubes. The name on the placard was Kathryn Raisor. Dalton turned toward the CIA man.
&lsquo;& Isquo;lsthis your wife?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;My sster.& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor held up hisleft hand. & Isquo;& Isquo; Thisis her ring
from the Air Force Academy. She went from the Air Force to the NSA. We were both pegged for this
program because we maxed out the psych tests when they were screening for personnd for this program.
We were good psychic ability candidates. It must be genetic, don& rsquo;t you think? Hammond and the
other brainsthink s0.& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor was standing next to his sister& rsquo;s tube, looking up at
her, hisvoicelow, asif hewerein atrance. &lsquo;&|squo;Oh yes, that& rsquo;s what they

think.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Hammond did this?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton demanded.

Raisor shook his head. & |squo;&Isquo;Her predecessor.& rsquo;& rsquo; The cold smile crept around
hislips. &squo;&Isquo;Heis no longer with us.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo;Who ordered it?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& squo; That& rsquo;s my concern,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

&1squo;& 1squo;1t& rsquo;s mine too,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton said. & Isquo;& Isquo; It will bemy teamin
the tubes next. | want to know if the son of abitch who did thisto your team can do thisto

mine.& rsquo; & rsguo;

&1squo;& Isquo; The source of that decision is not wired into the chain of command for this

mission,& rsquo;& rsquo; Raisor said.

&lsquo;& Isquo; So thisiswhy we were brought in?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& 1squo; Replaceabl e parts in the big machine & rsquo; & rsquo; Raisor said. He looked at his
watch. &squo;& Isquo;l suggest you get somerest. We go over very shortly.& rsquo;& rsquo;

As Daton waked out of the room, the last thing he saw was Raisor silhouetted againgt the glow from his



sster& rsquo;stube.

& 1squo;& Isquo;Who is that?& rsquo;& rsquo; Opa asked.

The sound of General Rurik& rsquo;s summons echoed across the glade, into the woods and thefields
beyond.

Feteror was seated with his back to one of the trees. He reluctantly stood. & I1squo;& 1squo;l haveto go
on amission,& rsquo;& rsquo; he said.

Opareached out awrinkled hand and placed it on Feteror& rsquo;s shoulder. & Isquo;&Isquo;l enjoyed
talking with you.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror nodded, not sure what to say.

&1squo;& Isquo;Will you be back?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Feteror paused. &1squo;&Isquo;l do not know.& rsquo;& rsquo; He looked at the glade and the area
surrounding them. He could hear birds chirping in the trees, the sound of the water rushing by. He could
even smdll the odor of manure coming from the nearby fields. It felt more red than anything he& rsquo;d
experienced in dmost a decade and ahaf but he knew it wasn& rsquot.

&lsquo;& 1squo;l have to go.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo; Arkady& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Opa paused.

&1squo;& squo;Y es?& rsuo; & rsguio;

&lsquo;& Isquo; There are good things in the worl d.& rsquo; & rsquo; Opaspread his hands, taking in the
glade. &squo;&Isquo; Thisisagood place.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Thisis not real ,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror said. He paused, dmost adding that the old man
hewas talking to was not redl ether.

&1squo;& Isquo;Are you here?& rsquo; & rsquo; Opa asked.

&1squo;& Isquo;What do you mean?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;If you are here, then thisis rea ,& rsquo;& rsquo; Opasaid. &Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou

don& rsguo;t believe me. Y ou don& rsquo;t believe that | am here, either, do you?& rsquo;& rsquo;
Feteror felt the tug of the plan he had worked so hard to put into effect pulling a him.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Hatred is not the way,& rsquo; & rsquo; Opasaid. & 1squo;& squo;l fought for yearsand |
know that.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& squo; Do you know what they did to me?& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror didn& rsquo;t wait for an
answer. &lsquo;& Isquo; They cut away my body and kept me in darkness. They took away

everything! & rsquo;& rsquo;

Opashook his head sadly, histhick gray beard brushing againgt his aged chest. & squo;& Isquo; They
took much, but not everything, Arkady. Some things you& rsquo; ve given away and you can get them
back.& rsquo;& rsquo; He reached up with his hand and placed it on Feteror& rsquo;s chest.
&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou & rsquo;re missing something there. Y ou can get it back.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Feteror shrugged the hand off. & Isquo;&1squo;l will make them pay.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror dissolved from Opa& rsquo;s view.

The old man stood done in the glade. He looked up into the blue sky, atear dowly making itsway down
hisleathery cheek.

sheteror accessed his outside links, forcing himsalf to block out theimage of his grandfather, and focusing
on what was to come.

&1sguo;& 1squo; Y es?& rsquo; & rsquo; He could see General Rurik standing at the master console. He
was pleased the see the wild ook in the other man& rsquo;s eyes. He had hoped the pig cared for his
family.

&Isquo;&Isquo;l have amission of the highest priority for you,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik said.

Feteror waited.

&lsquo;& Isquo; There are two tasks.& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik paused, collecting himsalf, then continued.
&lsquo;&Isquo; The sted cylinder you saw being taken from October Revolution |dand& mdash; you



must find it.& rsquo;& rsquo; He paused, not speaking.

&1suo;& Isquo;And the second task?& rsquio; & rsquio; Feteror pressed.

Ruriké& rsquo;s hands came down on the edge of the table in front of him, the whites of the knuckles clear
to Feteror& rsquo;s cameras. &Isquo;& squo;My wife and children have been abducted. | want you to
find them.& rsquio;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Which of the two tasks has the higher priority?& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror asked.

The look in the general & rsquo;s eyestold Feteror the answer to that, even asthe old man lied.
&lsquo;& Isquo;l want you to accomplish both.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Y ou must give me the power and time to accomplish both, then,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror
sad.

His electronic eyes could see the anger on Rurik& rsquo;sface. & Isquo;& Isquo;Y ou will have dl the
power we can send you.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l will do as you order.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Do not cross me,& rsquo;& rsquo; Generd Rurik said. & 1squo;& Isquo;l will reward you
if you get my family back.& rsquo;& rsquo;

What could you possibly offer me? Feteror choked the words back. He focused on the pain he could
see on the generd & rsquio;sface, relishing the sght.

&lsguo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;m loading dl the data we have on both the phased-displacement generator and
my family& rsquo;s abduction,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik said.

&lsquo;& |squo;Let me get started.& rsquo; & rsquio;

The window to the outside world cycled open. Feteror felt awave of power, more than he&rsquo;d ever
experienced before, shoot through him. He leapt for the window and was out.

Barsk looked out the window as the cargo plane banked. The ground bel ow was snow-covered in
places and looked rather bleak. He could see the large dam and the hydroelectric plant behind it in the
gorge where aplume of water cascaded down from the overflow spillway.

To the east, high above the power plant, alanding strip had been laid down years ago, but it |ooked
desolate and empty, with agroup of hangars lining the runway. Three sets of power line towersran by
the edge of the airfidld after climbing out of the gorge.

Vadlev had spent the entire flight rocking back and forth in his sest, his eyes unfocused. Barsk had
serious doubts about whether the man was going to be of any use once they landed.

Barsk turned his attention back into the plane asthey descended. & 1squo;& 1squo; There& rsquo;s one
thing | don& rsquo;t understand.& rsquio;& rsquio;

Vaslev, despite being dressed now in a one-piece black jumpsuit borrowed from the mercenaries and
despite having been given agood medl on the flight, still looked rough. Barsk dapped him onthe
shoulder. & squo;&Isquo;Hey! & rsquo;& rsquo;

Vaslev dowly rubbed ahand dong the gray stubble of his beard. & |squo;& |squo; What ?& rsquo; & rsquo;
&Isquo;& Isquo; This Chyort& mdash; the demon that is heping my grandmother. Why ishe doing

it?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vaslev gave alaugh that bothered Barsk. & Isquo;& |squo;He istrying to get back at those that use
him.& rsquo;& rsguo;

&1squo;& Isquo; To what end?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vadlev gared down the length of the plane along the gleaming sted! tube that filled it. & 1squo;& Isquo;So
wewill al go to hell.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& |squo;One hundred million dollars.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Oma steepled her fingers and peered over the top of her reading glasses at the young man Sitting across
from her who had just spoken. He wore atailored three-piece suit and his Russian was flawless, without
an accent. He was of the new breed of international broker, representing the interests of the United
Nations, using economic leverage and payoffsinstead of force.

The young man smiled, reveding very white and straight teeth. & squo;& Isquo;Half now, haf upon



delivery of the warheads.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo;l do not have any warheads,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Not yet. But | believe you plan to come into ownership of some shortly. | thought coming
here before you finalized some other dedl to, shal we say, dispose of them, would be best for dl involved
in case you are successful in your endeavors.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y our NATO dready has thousands of nuclear wegpons among the various

members,& rsquo;& rsquo; Oma noted.

&lsquo;& I1squo;And we prefer not to have to use them,& rsquo;& rsquo; the young man said. He leaned
forward, hisfalse friendliness gone. &lsquo;& Isquo;Listen. | know who you are. | know what you do. |
know youé& rsgquo;ve been putting feders out for buyers of nuclear wegpons. That tells me you either
have them or are planning to get them shortly. & rsquo;ve aso heard that you are promising delivery of
those wegpons anywhere in the world along with detonation. Y ou must be afool to think you can get
away with that. We have dedlt with people like you before. We will never let you get awarhead out of
the borders of Russa. And we will squash you like anirritating bug.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; Then why are you offering me money instead of squashing me?& rsquo;& rsquo; Oma
asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;We are trying to be civilized.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;lf you are so smart and informed,& rsquo; & rsquo; Oma continued, & |squo;& squo;you
would know that one hundred million dollarsis one tenth of the price | am asking.& rsquo;& rsquio;
&Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou haveto be dive to be able to enjoy your money. 1& rsquo;m offering you life and
one hundred million. That& rsquo;s better than lining your coffin with abillion dollars.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&Isquo;&Isquo;l could have you killed for five dollars on the streets,& rsquo; & rsquo; Omasaid.
&lsquo;& Isquo; That would leave me with a considerable profit margin.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l am only arepresentative,& rsquo;& rsquo; he answered. & Isquo;& 1squo;Killing mewill
not make your problem go away.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Actudly,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid, &1squo;&Isquo;l believe you are the one with the
problem. Y ou came to me.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The man said nothing, Smply staring acrossthe desk & her.

Omawaved her hand, Sgnding the meeting was over. &squo;& lsquo;l will consider your

offer.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The young man stood. &1squo;& Isquo;Do more than consider.& rsquo; & rsquo; He flicked a card onto
the desk. It was blank except for acell phone number.

Leks was standing behind the two pilot seatsin the M1-8 Hip, watching through the windshield as two of
the Hind gunships swept over thefield ahaf akilometer ahead of them.

When both gunships turned and commenced to circle, Leks ordered the pilot of the helicopter to land
there. They swept into alanding in the tall weeds. Leks could seetwo fud trucksin the tredine, exactly
as Omahad told him there would be. The FARP, forward arming and refueling point, had cost them over
five hundred thousand American dollars to have ready, but it was worth it. All the choppers would be
topped off and fully armed, prepared for the upcoming action.

Asthe blades of the M-8 began dowing, Leks exited the chopper and walked to the side of the
clearing. The other MI-8 camein for alanding, followed by the Hind gunships. Asthe sound of the rotors
and engines began winding down, Leks stretched his back.

Helooked to the west where arange of high hillsloomed. On the other side of those hillswas ariver.
And aong thethin level space between water and mountainsran aralil line.

Leks shivered, not from the damp chill inthe air, but from excitement, dmost a sexud feding. Hisright
hand did down to the butt of the nine-millimeter pistol strapped to histhigh and the fingers flexed around
it, feeling the cold plastic and meta. He looked at the watch strapped to hisleft wrist.

Two hours.



Colonel Verochkawaked quickly from the back ramp of the BMD to the left Sde door of the MI-14
transport helicopter. As soon as she wasinsde, the door was swung shut by the loadmaster.

She checked her watch. It wastime. She gave athumbs-up signdl to the loadmaster, who relayed the
order through his headset to the cockpit, and the helicopter took off.

Other than the loadmaster, who sat down across from her, she had the spacious interior of the cargo bay
to hersdlf. She set the metal case down between her feet, making sure that the chain wasn& rsquo;t
tangled. Shetwisted in the seat and looked out one of the small glass portals asthey gained dtitude. She
saw one Havoc gunship about fifty meters away, and she knew the second was on the other side. She
aso knew that four Mig-24 jet fighters were taking off at this moment and would provide overhead
cover.

She leaned back in her seat and relaxed for the first time since she& rsquo;d signed for the metal case.

Thelights were off, leaving only the dim reflection from the half-open door to illuminate the room. Daton
was sitting on his bunk, back against the cold wall, listening to the nervous rustlings in the room. Some of
the men were adegp from sheer exhaustion, but he knew most were awake, unable to deep. No one had
taken Hammond& rsquo;s deeping drug, not wanting to have anything in their system that could interfere
with their ability to operate. There was dightly under ten minutes before they had to go to the
experimental chamber and prepare to launch.

Dalton turned his head as someone dipped in the door. He recognized the dender figure of Lieutenant
Jackson. She wove her way through the bunks until she arrived at hislocation. Daton did over, giving
her room to Sit at the foot of the bed.

&1squo;& 1squo;Y ou okay ?& rsquo;& rsquo; he asked in alow voice.

& 1squo;& 1squo;N0.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton smiled in the dark. & |squo;& |squo;Me neither.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Jackson& rsquo;s head came up. & Isquo;& Isquo;But you& rsquo;ve been in combat. Don& rsquo;t you
get used to it?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou never get used to it,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said. & 1squo;& Isquo;Plus, thisis
different than anything else & rsquo;ve ever done. Onetimel sat down and figured it out. 1& rsquo;ve
fought on every continent except Australiaand Antarctica. | guess| should be grateful there& rsquo;s no
native population in Antarctica and we haven& rsquo;t gone to war with the Aussies, or 1&rsquo;d be
seven for seven. Vietnam. El Salvador. Lebanon. Somalia. Panama. Antiterrorist work in Berlin, Other
places. Other times. Each one alittle different, each one pretty much the same.

&lsquo;& |squo;l & rsquo;ve jumped in, walked in, been flown in, svum in, ridden in& mdash; you name
it& mdash; 1&rsquo;ve gone into combat every way | thought was possible. And now here& rsquo;sa
new way.& rsguo;& rsguo;

& squo;& squo; 1 & rsquo;ve never fired a shot in anger,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said.

Daton chuckled. &Isquo;&Isquo;Héll, neither have . 1& rsquo;ve fired aheck of alot in fear,

though.& rsquo;& rsquo; He stretched his legs out. & Isquo;& 1squo;lt feels strange to be this close to
infiltration& mdash; | guesswe can cdl it infiltration& mdash; and not be doing something. Usudly we
would be cleaning our wegpons, loading magazines, sharpening knives, memorizing cal sgnsand
frequencies and doing radio checks. But we& rsquo;re just Stting here waiting.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton knew some of the men were listening in. He dso knew there wasn& rsquo;t much he could say to



meake them fedl better. In his experience, he never knew how someone was going to react in combat until
they were there. Training helped, but no training could prepare someone for the ultimate test.

He& rsquo;d seen men he& rsquo;d thought he could count on flake out and others he hadn& rsquo;t
thought much of do the most incredible feats of arms.

Hiswatch began beeping. Daton stood. & |squo;& 1squo;Rise and shine. Another great day in airborne
country.& rsquo; & rsguo;

The members of the team got out of their bunks.

&lsquo;& lsquo; L et& rsquo;s do it.& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton headed for the door.

Feteror looked down on therail line. The armored train was twenty minutes from the border checkpoint
between Kazakhstan and Russia. He noted the Havoc helicopters flying cover, and on thetrain the
number of guards and their weapons.

Then he swept north searching, doing quick jumps through the virtua plane, peeking into thered. After
sx tries, he spotted the M1-14 helicopter with itsfighter and gunship escort, heading northwest, toward
Russia. The aerid convoy would cross the border in six minutes, but he knew its destination and it had
another hour and twelve minutes of flight time. More than enough, Feteror knew.

He jumped, through the virtual plane, and poked into the real above the FARP. He could see the men
preparing their weapons, the helicopters warmed up. Leks was yelling orders, getting everyone moving.
Feteror settled down on amountain peak, between the FARP and therail line. He dowly materiaized
into the real world, keeping hisform colorless so he couldn& rsquo;t be spotted. He felt the spatter of the
light rain on hiswings.

Like ahuge vulture perched on the rocky crag, he waited.

Omacturned the card the NATO representative had given her over and over in her liver-spotted hands.
The phone rang and she put the card down and picked the receiver up.

&1squo;& 1squo;Y es?& rsuo; & rsguio;

& 1sguo;& |squo; We accept.& rsquo; & rsquo;

She recognized Abd al-Bari& rsquo;s accent.

&lsquo;& Isquo;In fact,& rsquo; & rsquo; the voice continued, & 1squo;& Isquo;we would like ddivery of
four packages.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Omaclosed her eyes. She had dedlt with large sums of money, but the thought of four billion dollars
staggered even her.

&1sguo;& squo; The money ?& rsquo; & rsquo; she asked.

&lsgquo;& Isquo; The firgt payment has been transferred to the account you indicated. Aswe discussed,
the balance will be paid upon our satisfaction that you have completed your terms of the

agreement.& rsquo; & rsquo;

With her free hand, Oma began typing into her computer, ng her Swiss account. She knew a-Bari
was not lying, but she had to see the numbersfor hersdlf.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Where do you want the packages ddlivered?& rsquo; & rsquo; she asked as her fingers
worked.

&lsquo;& Isquo; That datais being transmitted via encrypted fax as we speak.& rsquo; & rsquo;
Omalooked up asthe bulky secure fax machine she had appropriated from the defunct KGB buzzed,
then hummed, spilling out a piece of paper.

&lsquo;& Isquo;We will be waiting,& rsquo;& rsquo; d-Bari said, then the phone went dead.
Omalooked at her computer screen. Four hundred million dollars was credited to her account. She
dowly walked across the room to the fax and picked up the paper.

Y ou will destroy the following targets:



1. Washington, D.C., the Capitol Building zero point

2. Inddethe |sragli Negev Desert nuclear wegpon storage fecility

3. The Pentagon

4. New Y ork City, the United Nations zero point

Oma& rsquo;s hand shook as sheread the list and redlized the implications of the targets and the order of
destruction. One word sprang to mind as she carried the paper back to her desk: jihad. Abd

a-Bari& rsquo;s people were preparing for the Holy War they had always dreamed of, crippling the
abilities of the Americans and Israglisto fight againgt the storm of fanaticism they hoped would arise.
She placed the target list on the desktop next to the card. She looked once more at the computer screen
and theflashing dollar figurethere.

She opened a drawer and pulled out a cellular phone. She punched in memory one. It was answered on
the second ring.

&1squo;& 1squo;Y es?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1sguo;& Isquo;Barsk, are you ready ?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;We have off-loaded the wegpon and Vasilev is setting it up, hooking it into the
computers you had waiting here. | have men working now on splicing into the power

lines.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Good. Wait until you hear from me again.& rsquo; & rsquo; Oma cut the connection and
put the phone on the desk in between the card and the target list. Then she leaned back in her seat and
closed her eyes.

Generd Rurik paced back and forth, bathed in the glow of the flashing red light that indicated that
Feteror was out.

&1squo;& Isquo; Anything further on what our friend has been up t0?& rsquo;& rsquo; he asked the senior
technician.

The man looked up from his computer screen with atroubled visage. & lsquo;& 1squo;it ismost strange,
Sr.& rsguo;& rsquio;

Rurik hated in his pacing. & lsquo;& Isquo;What 1$?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; Feteror is gone, but 1& rsquo;m picking up indications that he isn& rsquo;t

gone.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;How can that be?& rsquo;& rsquo;

The man shook his head. & squo;&Isquo;l am not certain. Thereisapresenceinsde of Zivon that |
cannot pin down.& rsquo;& rsguo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Well, pin it down,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik snapped.

Dalton felt the embryonic solution dide up hislegs as he was lowered into the isolation tank. He knew the
other members of histeam were being lowered at the same time into their own tanks, but he could see
nothing with the TACPAD helmet securely fastened on his head. He gave a thumbs-up as the solution
came up over hiswais, then chest.

&Isquo;& Isquo;All right.& rsquo;& rsquo; Dr. Hammond& rsquo;s voice echoed in hisears.

&lsquo;& Isquo;All systems are green on all tanks. We are ready to proceed.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Raisor& rsquio;s voice replaced hers. & Isquo;& |squo;We have fina gpprova from the National
Command Authority. Psychic Warrior isago for itsfirst operationa mission.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Daton fdt thefirgt tinglings of the TACPAD being activated.



From hisrocky aerie Feteror watched Leks move hisforces out. Then helegpt into the air, diding into
virtud space, and jumped.

He came out where he thought the air convoy with the PAL codes should be. Hetwisted inthe air,
searching, and spotted it moving at 140 knotsto the northwest. He focused on the MI-14 in the center.
He knew that to act too early would be to dert the troops guarding the train, so he flew alongside.

Fifth time wasn& rsquo;t much better. Daton& rsquo;slungstried to expel theliquid coming in, but lost
the battle. His mind was focused on other matters though, noting the pain and nauseawith dmost a
detached fedling.

&1squo;&Isquo; Give me the latest satellite downlink,& rsquo; & rsquo; he asked Hammond, through
Sybyl.

&Isquo;&lsquo; Thisiis live feed from a KH-14 over the target,& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond told him
asapicture formed in Dalton& rsquo;s mind. He saw abridge over ariver. A train on the western Side,
gpproaching. Therewas only one very long car with two engines pulling. He could aso spot two gunships
flying cover.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Expand,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton ordered.

Hammond had Sybyl relay the request to the NSA computer, which forwarded it to the spy satellite.

As Dadton waited he ran down the checklist for complete interface with Sybyl. A new picture was
forwarded. Theriver crossing was asmall spot in the lower |eft corner. Dalton traced therail line asit
moved into Russian territory aong the east side of the river. He knew the resol ution wasn& rsquo;t good
enough to be able to spot the planned ambush, but that wasn& rsquo;t what he was looking for.
&1squo;&Isquo; The immediate rally point-the IRP-will be here.& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton picked ahill
on the west& mdash; Kazakhstan& mdash; side of the river. He searched further. " The emergency rally
point-the ERP-will be over this mountain.&rsquo; & rsquo; He designated the spot he wanted.
&Isquo;&Isguo; Use the ERP if you become separated or things go to shit. If it&rsquo;s

really bad, come all the way back here to Bright Gate. Is that clear?& rsquo; & rsquo;

He recalved an affirmative from the other members of the team and Raisor.

&Isquo;&Isquo;All right,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said. & 1squo;& Isquo;RVers, heed for thefirgt jump
point.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Leks leaned down and placed his head dongside therail. He could fed the dightest of vibrations. He
stood, gesturing for his demolition men to work more quickly.

This section of track curved left, following theriver. The demo men were placing two sets of chargeson
therail. A pressuretrigger was wired to thefirst set of charges. When fired, the explosives would take
out aforty-foot section of track.

Leks had carefully chosen this site. He knew that blowing astraight section of track would be
fruitless& mdash; he had seen atrain cross over sixty feet of blown track and pick up the track on the
other side. But with the curve gone, the engine would smash into the mountainside on the east Sde.
Helooked up the steep dope. His missle teamswere settling in, throwing smal camouflage nets over
their positions. The FM radio hooked to his combat vest was crackling with noise.
&Isquo;&Isquo; Thisis Tiger Hight. In position. Over.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Leks spoke, the voice-activated boom mikein front of hislipstranamitting. & lsquo;& Isquo;Hold until |



cal you in. Over.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo;Roger. Over.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Leks took onelast look around, then sprinted for cover. He paused just before diding off the
embankment and |ooked up. He scanned the skies, but there was nothing he could see. Still, as he got
behind the concealment of alarge boulder, his eyes went once more to the sky, then to therall.
&1squo;&Isquo; We & rsquo; ve spotted the ambush site,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson reported through
Sybyl. &lsquo;& Isquo; The train is only about two minutes from passing through the kill

zone.& rsquio; & rsquio;

&1squo;&Isquo; Roger. We& rsguo; re coming,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton relayed back to her.
&1squo;&Isquo; Jump point one. Let& rsquo; s go! & rsquo; & rsgquo;

Dalton concentrated on thefirst point that had been relayed back by the RVers.

Hewasthere. He paused only long enough to make sure the other members of the team camein. Then
he was on to the second jump point.

Leks pulled aset of night vision goggles out of hisbuttpack. The mercenary next to him stared a himin
confusion. Leks ignored him. He had learned early to trust hisingtincts.

He dipped the goggles over his head and, making sure they were turned to the lowest possible setting so
they wouldn& rsquo;t overload in the daylight, he switched them on. He scanned the sky. Nothing. Then
he turned the switch to infrared.

Leks paused in his scanning. There was something up there, adisturbance asif something was passing
through the air, but he couldn& rsquo;t see anything solid. Leks frowned. He pulled the night vision
goggles off and pulled his binoculars up and looked in the same direction. Nothing. He put the goggles
back on and the sky was clear.

A tap on hisarm brought his attention back to earth. He could hear the train now. Thelead enginewasin
sght, ahdf mileaway. Leks reluctantly took the goggles off, the mystery of the disturbance having to be
put off for thetime being.

Daton wasthefirgt oneinto theimmediate rdly point. He materidized, feeling the rocky ground under his
feet. Other forms appeared al around.

&lsquo;&Isquo; The train is about to enter the kill zone,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson reported. Along
with the message came the view she had. Dalton could see thetrain. And the ambushers.

Helooked about the IRP. Everyone accounted for. Except Raisor.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Anyone seen what happened to our CIA friend?&rsquo; & rsquo;

The responses were dl negative. There was no timeto wait or to devise an eaborate plan.
&Isquo;&Isguo; Captain Anderson. You hit the side of the hill and work your way down. My team,
we& rsquo; 1l go right on top of the train. Clear?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& squo;Clear! & rsquo; & rsquio;

Thetrain hit thetrigger. The exploson wasrdatively smal, just enough to cut the track in both spots. The
lead engine raced off the embankment and dammed into the rocky mountainside two hundred meters
from Leks & rsquo;s position with an impact he could fed through the rubber soles of his boots.

The second engine buckled on top of thefirst, gushing steam forth.

The lone cargo car smashed into the back of the second engine, bounced off, broke its coupling, then
rolled three times before coming to a hdt, between the engines and Leks.

Leks jumped to hisfeet, waving with hisfree arm for hismen to follow.

Overhead, the lead Havoc cameracing in for agun run. Two SAM-7 missiles flashed out of the hidden
positions on the mountainside, and the gunship became afirebal.

The second one had been about a quarter mile behind the first, and the pilot desperately tried to pull out
of hisrun.

Two more missilesfired. They closed the distance and hit the remaining Havoc.

Leks put his AK-74 to his shoulder and fired aburgt, killing adazed soldier climbing out of the armored



cargo car.

Feteror was gl in the virtua plane. 1t wasinteresting keeping himsdlf fixed in the center of the cargo bay
of the MI-14 asit flew. He was watching the femal e colond who had the case attached to her wrist. The
army had changed much since histime. To trust such an important thing to awoman!

It wastime.

He entered the red plane.

Colond Verochkalooked up, senaing the changein the ingde of the cabin, the hair on the back of her
neck rippling asif she had been touched by an eectric shock.

Feteror materiadized, letting color flow into theform of hisavatar.

Verochka pressed back against the hard seat back in disbelief. The loadmaster ran for the cockpit,
screaming into his microphone, but Feteror reached out and grabbed him around the throat with one
massive hand. Feteror squeezed with that hand while he dammed the other into the man& rsquo;s chest
and through. The man screeched. Blood exploded out the back, splattering Colonel Verochka. The
loadmaster& rsquo;s head popped off with ahorrible ripping and snapping sound.

Feteror threw the body to the floor and turned to the woman. Her right hand was scrabbling at her side,
trying to draw the pistol strapped there, but her wide eyes were focused on him.

Feteror dashed out with hisright hand, forefinger extended, a six-inch razor-sharp claw at the end. It
diced through Verochka& rsquo;swrigt, cleanly severing her gun hand.

The door to the pilot& rsquo;s compartment opened. The copilot stuck his head in, saw the demon and
the carnage, and the door immediately dammed shut, the lock clicking.

Feteror drew back, pulling hiswings up high, hismost frightening pose. Thus he was caught off-guard
when Verochka darted forward, blood still spurting from the ssump of her right wrist. She ducked under
hisleft wing. Feteror whirled.

Verochka had her left hand, briefcase tucked under the arm, on the lever that opened the side door.
Feteror paused, confused.

Verochka opened the door, the wind ripping it away. She dove out with the briefcase.

Feteror roared and dematerialized. He re-formed, streaking down, following Verochka& rsquo;s body.
Hewasimpressed, not only with the decisiveness of her actions, but the way she kept atight body form
on theway down, her armstight at her side, head down. It was all so clear to Feteror; he could even see
thethintrail of blood spurting out of her wrigt into the air behind her.

He spread hisarms, unfurled hiswings, and scooped her out of her fall.

Feteror cameto ahover, leaning his demon face into the colond & rsquo;s. & 1squo;& Isquo;Very
brave,& rsquo;& rsquo; he hissed.

Hefdt her dam the briefcase againgt his back as she struggled. Her face was pae, from fear and |oss of
blood.

Thefirst thing Dalton saw was green tracersripping by just inchesto hisleft. Hammond& rsquo;s
assurance notwithstanding, herolled right, and fired at the source of the tracers. Hisfirst fireball hit the
man in the chest, blowing ahole straight through.

He continued firing, seeing in his mind the other members of the team materidizing.

&1squo;&lsquo; Shit! & rsquo; & rsquo; avoice ydled. &I1squo;& Isquo; Something& rsquo; s
wrong! & rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton knew immediately that it was Trilly, both from the voice and the tactical update that Sybyl was
congtantly playing in the background of hismind.

&1squo;&Isquo; 1 & rsquo; m losing form,& rsquo; & rsquo; Trilly said, the surprise evident in hisvoice.
&1squo;&Isquo; Get out of here,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton ordered.

&1squo;&Isguo; Going to ERP,& rsquo; & rsquo; Trilly confirmed.

Dalton continued to fire at the attacking mercenaries.

&1squo;&lsquo; Hammond, what& rsquo; s going on?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton demanded.



&1squo;&Isquo; We & rsquo; re having trouble keeping track of everyone. There& rsquo;sa
divergence. Someone& rsquo; s split off.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Goddamn Raisor, Daton thought. & Isquo;&Isquo; You keep power to my team, do you

under stand?& r squo; & rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isguo; Yes.& rsquo; & rsquio;

An explosion flashed on the hillside as Captain Anderson& rsquo;s team took out one of the SAM Sites.

Feteror stiffened. He turned his head from the frightened face of Colond Verochka. Something was
wrong.

&lsguo;& Isquo;It was nice to meet you,& rsquo; & rsquo; he hissed to her. Helet go of her body,
snapping his claws shut on her left arm, severing it& mdash; and the attached metal briefcase& mdash;
from her bodly.

He listened to her scream, both from the fall and the loss of her arm, her body tumbling to the ground far
below.

Still hovering, Feteror ripped the case open, the metal parting easily. He dropped the empty case ashe
held the single piece of paper inside between two claws. He scanned the PAL codes listed, matching
them to the warhead serid numbers, putting the information into his database.

Then he demateriaized and jumped.

Raisor floated above the limousine asit cruised down Congtitution Avenue going from the Capitol toward
the White House. He wanted to wait, until the limo was directly across from the White House, on the
south sde of the Ellipse, before striking.

It was difficult, though, to hold back. To keep at bay the anger, the passion of revenge he had nurtured
ever gncefinding out what had happened to histeam, to hissgter.

It had taken this, an internationd crisis, for him to be able to go back on the virtua plane with the power
to use the weapons they& rsquo;d devel oped for the psychic warriors. Now he was bringing those
weapons home to the woman who had so casualy tossed away the first team of psychic warriors.

It was night in Washington and Raisor began to alow hisavatar to formin thered plane, directly over the
closed sunroof of the limousine.

Leks pressed hisback againgt the railbed. Another fireball flashed by overhead, catching one of hismen
inthe head, blowing it open like an overripe melon.

He looked up the dope. More of these monsters were coming down the hillside. All of hismissileteams
were dead.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Tiger Fight! & rsquo;& rsquo; he yelled into the mike to be heard above the sounds of
firing and screaming.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Tiger Hight. Over.& rsquo;& rsguo;

&1squo;& 1squo;Get in here for support now! & rsquo;& rsquo; he screamed.

& lsquo;& |squo; Roger.& rsquo; & rsgquio;

Dalton carefully stood. The surviving attackers were scattering, some hiding, others running.
&1squo;&Isguo; Captain Anderson,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton projected. & lsquo;& Isquo; | want you to
secure& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

Daton hated in mid-sentence as a scream seared through his brain like ared-hot spike. He staggered,
losing dl sense of hissurroundings.

Onthehillsde, Feteror had comeinto therea plane directly behind one of the attacking
avatars. He had avery good ideawho they were, and he didn& rsquo;t hesitate. With al the power of
SD8-FFEU being directed through him, he grabbed the form and crushed it in his claws.

The energy/maiter of the avatar in his hands vanished in aflash of light.



At Bright Gate, Dr. Hammond stared at her control pand in dismay.

&1squo;&Isquo; What& rsquo; s happening?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton demanded, his voice echoing out
of the speakers.

Hammond typed furioudy on her keyboard.

&1squo;&Isquo; What is going on?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton repeated.

&lsquo;& 1squo; Sybyl & rsquo;s overloading. Something& rsquo;s affected two of the avatars. | & rsquo;m
trying to pull them back, but Sybyl can& rsquo;t do that and keep everyone else going at the sametime.
Also the power split, going to two different locations-wes& rsquo;ve never done that before and Sybyl is
having trouble maintaining dl your forms.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond ran ahand across her forehead.
&1squo;& Isquo;1t& rsquo;s dl happening too fast.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Ddton became aware of his surroundings. He staggered back, feling apounding in hishead. A line of
green tracers burned through the air, right by him. He sank to hisknees.

&1squo;&Isquo; Get out of therel & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson& rsquo;s voice echoed through his brain.
Ddton snapped out of existence at that place, into the virtud plane. He could hear more screamsin his
head. He checked tactical but there was nothing coming from Sybyl.

&1squo;&Isquo; What the hell is going on?& rsquo; & rsquo; he projected toward Jackson.
&1squo;&Isquo; Chyort! & rsquo; & rsquo; was the quavering answer. &1squo;& Isquo;
Choppers-gunships inbound from the east! & rsquo; & rsquo; she added.

Ddton came back into the redl plane fifty meters from where he had been and behind the man who had
shot a him. Ddton fired, thefireball blasting through the man.

&1squo;&Isquo; We & rsquio; re interdicting the chopper sl & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson informed him.
Dalton looked up. He could see the two eagles and Jackson& rsquo;s falcon head east.

Looking down, he saw two of histeammates backing up, firing their energy tubes. Dalton followed their
am and saw what had scared Jackson.

Feteror felt the energy bolts hit him. He wanted to laugh, to shriek his glee. The energy poured into him,
strengthening him beyond anything he had ever experienced, beyond anything SD8-FFEU had ever given
him.

He dove forward, arms outstretched, into one of the American avatars. The white head was diced off,
the round shape bouncing onto the ground, then dowly shrinking and disgppearing asit logt its energy
shape.

He struck out at another and it staggered and collapsed to the ground under the blow.

&1squo;&Isquo; Status! & rsquo; & rsquo; Daton screamed. & 1squo;& lsquo; Hammond, | need

status! & rsquo; & rsgquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; I & rsquo; m hurt! & rsquo; & rsquo; the avatar a Chyort& rsquo;s feet called out& mdash;
Barnes, Ddton recognized the yell.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Go to the ERP! & rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton ordered.

He shot afirebdl at the demon asit bent over Barnes& rsquo;sform. The bal hit Chyort directly inthe
back. The surface there briefly glowed, then faded.

Two blazing red eyesturned to look directly at Dalton. Barnes& rsquo;s form disappeared as he jumped.
At that moment Captain Anderson& rsquo;s avatar came winging down from above and smashed into
Chyort& rsquo;s back. The two forms tumbled together.

Another scream resounded in Dalton& rsquo;s head. He knew now that each scream meant one of his
people was dead.

Or their avatar was. He didné& rsquo;t and coul dn& rsquo;t take his thoughts further than that right now.
&1squo;&Isquo; We took out the gunships,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson informed him. & Isquo; & |squo; But
both of my partners got shot up. Williams and Auer are gone! & rsquo; & rsquo;



&1squo;&Isquo; Get out of here, Jackson. To the ERP! & rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton ordered.
&1squo;&Isguo; Everyone, to the ERP! & rsquo; & rsquio;

Dalton turned back toward the smashed cargo car. He could see mercenaries climbing over it, placing
charges on the stedl doors. Dalton fired, cutting down the demolition men.

Another scream. Ddton looked over his shoulder. The Chyort had Captain Anderson& rsquo;s avatar
over hishead, ripped it into two pieces at the waist. Chyort threw one piece in each direction, the parts
fading asthey tumbled to the ground.

The Chyort legpt into the air, Soreading its leathery wings, and headed straight for Dalton.

Dalton jumped into virtua space. The Chyort wasthere aso, still coming. Daton jumped fifty meterseft.
It gained him ahalf second as Chyort pivoted on itswings.

Dalton jumped to the ERP, hoping he would lose Chyort in the process.

Raisor was completely in the real world, aghostly white form above the limousine. Another quarter mile
and they would be there.

Leks ydled ordersto his surviving and shocked men. The demon flashed out of sight, which made his
job alittle easier. He directed men to finish placing the charges. Using the radio, he ordered forward the
lift helicopters and aso learned of the destruction of hisgunships.

There was aquick snap of plastique firing. Leks climbed up on the cargo car. Scattered on the down
sSde of the car lay twenty plastic cases.

&1squo;& Isquo; Get them out! & rsquio; & rsquio;

Dalton knelt next to Barnes. Trilly was standing to the side, nothing apparently wrong with him.
&lsguo;&Isquo; | can& rsgquo;t move, Sergeant Major,& rsquo; & rsquo; Barneswhispered.
&Isquo;&Isquo; | jumped here, but | can&rsgquo;t do anything more.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&1squo;&Isguo; 1 & rsquo; |l get you back,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton promised. & lsquo;& lsquo;
Hammond! Where the hell are you?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Lieutenant Jackson was circling overhead, keeping an eye out, flashing in and out of redity asshe
checked both the red and virtua plane.

There was no one dse. Five gone. Half the team was wiped out. Daton thought of Lang Vi, the tanks
rolling through the wire, then banished that nightmare from hismind.

&lsguo;& Isguo; Jackson,& rsquo; & rsquo; he said, reaching up with hismind.

&1squo;&squo; Yes?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&Isquo;&Isguo; Can | take Barnes back somehow?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; | don& rsquo;t know.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;&Isquo; Give me a suggestion,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. &lsquo;& squo; You & rsguo;re
the expert.&rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; Try to meld into his psyche. Attach him to you emotionally. That might allow you
to take himinto the virtual plane and back.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dadton reached down, cradling Barnes& rsquo;s avatar in his arms. He was concerned to see the form
fade from view dightly before coming back.

&1squo;&lsquo; | & rsquo; m going,& rsquo; & rsquo; Trilly said.

&1squo;&Isquo; No, you& rsquo; re not,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. &lsquo;& 1squo; You & rsguo;re a
soldier, and a sergeant. You stay here with us and we all leave together.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Ddton didn&rsquo;t have time to worry about Trilly, or the energy to stop him from running. A voice
echoed insde his head.

&Isquo;&Isgquo; Thisis Hammond. | can& rsquo;t keep Sybyl on track for both

locations.& rsquo; & rsgquo;

&1squo;&lsquo; Wher e is Rai sor ?& r squio; & r squio;

&Isquo;&lsquo; | don& rsquo;t know.& rsquo; & rsquo;



Dalton thought she waslying, but thiswasn& rsquo;t the timefor it. & lsquo;&Isquo; Cut his power and
concentrate on my team. Get us out of here. Then you can bring him back on line.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&1squo;&lsquo; But& mdash; & rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo; Do it! & rsquo; & rsquo; Daton turned his attention to theform in hisarms.

&lsguo;& Isquo; You& rsquo; re coming back with me,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said. &1squo;& Isquo;
Youé& rsquo;re coming back with me, Barnes. You under stand?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Barnes& rsquo;s avatar weakly nodded.

&lsquo;&Isquo; But if 1& mdash; & rsgquo; & rsquo; Hammond& rsquo;s voice wavered.

&Isquo;&Isquo; Do it! & rsquo; & rsquo; Daton screamed with the power he had. & lsquo;& Isquo;

We& rsquo;re dying here. Most of my teamis already dead.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&Isquo;& Isquo;All right,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. & Isquo; & squo;l & rsquo;m focusing power on
your team.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The Ellipse, the lights of the White House just beyond, appeared to the right. Raisor landed on the roof of
the limo with asolid thump that could be heard inside. He knew bodyguards would be reacting, but it
wastoo late. Hisright arm switched from wing to six-foot-long blade. He poised it above the roof
directly above where he knew histarget was stting. He relished the feeling, the anticipation of payback,
and then began to thrust the arm down, when his form vanished and he was in darkness.

He screamed, his anger and frustration echoing into the virtua plane.

Ddton focused as he had in the hospital room with Marie. A myriad of emotions raced through him likea
fast-moving siream of quickly varying temperatures. & 1squo;& Isquo; Dalton! & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson
screamed.

Daton looked up as Chyort materiaized in front of him. Dalton stared into the dark red eyes.
&1squo;&Isquo; Who are you?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton demanded.

The demon took a step forward and Ddton fdlt the earth shake beneath him. He turned, putting himself
between the demon and the body in hisarms.

Dalton closed his eyes and focused only on Barnes. Ddton felt pain diceinto hisback. Hefocused on
theisolation tanksin Bright Gate as he took aglance over his shoulder. A form came legping between
him and Chyort. Trilly!

Daton jumped, Barneswith him.

Feteror hesitated. He looked down at hisright hand. The claws had torn into the American& rsquo;s
back, going in over six inches, yet the man had ignored the pain and jumped. The other American who
had jumped between them had died with one dice, the head nestly separated.

Feteror knew he could follow the Americansinto their hole in the Rocky Mountains. He felt he now had
the power to break through their psychic fence. Like awolf among the sheep, he could rip them to
dhreds.

He turned and looked back toward the east, where the battle had occurred. With regret, Feteror jumped
back.

He cameinto redity on top of the wreckage of the cargo car, scaring the wits out of the men pulling the
bombs out.



Leks yelled, telling the men to keep working, to ignore the demon. Then the naval commando climbed
up to face Feteror.

&1squo;& 1squo;Y ou were late,& rsquo;& rsquo; Leks said. & Isquo;& Isquo;Who were the others? The
oneswho fight like you?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo; Americans.& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror liked the way his demon voice sounded, like
boulders rubbing together, underlaid with the treble of the screams of the damned. & 1squo;& Isquo;And |
was not late. Thiswas your job, not mine.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo;And I will finishit if you would stop frightening my men.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Feteror snapped into the virtua plane.

Barsk kept a safe distance from the men redling the thick black cables.
&lsguo;& Isquo;Are you ready yet?& rsquo;& rsquo; he demanded of the scientist.
Vadlev sghed and looked up from the computer terminal he& rsquo;d been working at for the past hour.
&lsquo;& 1squo; This program was written for top-of-the-line computersin 1963. Computers have come
along way since then. Thiswas upgraded severa yearsago but it isill out of date. | am trying to
integrate the old software with the new hardware, but it is difficult.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;&lsquo;l don& rsquo;t want to hear excuses,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk said.
&1squo;& Isquo; 1 & rsquo;m not giving you excuses,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vaslev replied. & lsquo;&Isquo;l am
telling you what is happening.& rsquo;& rsquo; He ran atrembling hand through hisgray hair.
&Isquo;&Isquo;l can assure you | want thisto work more than you do. It will put an end to the nightmare
my life has been.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&1squo;& Isquo; Then get it working,& rsquo;& requo; Barsk snapped. & Isquo;& |squo;l & rsquo;m
beginning to& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; He halted as he felt awash of cold through his stomach. He
turned.
The Chyort codesced into being indde the hangar.
&lsquo;& Isquo;Are you ready yet?& rsquo;& rsquo; the demon hissed.
&lsguo;& Isquo;We till have to hook up the power cables,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk said.
A long claw pointed toward Vasilev. & |squo;& |squo;l s the program for the phased-displacement
generator ready?& rsquo;& rsquo;
Vaslev shrugged. &lsquo;&Isquo;l am working on it.& rsquo;& rsquio;
Chyort blinked out of existence and then reappeared, looming over the old man.
&lsquo;& 1squo;Y ou& rsquo;re working on it?& rsquo; & rsquio;
&lsquo;&Isquo;l am doing my best.& rsquo; & rsquo; Vasilev took an involuntary step backward,
bumping into the computer console. & Isquo;& Isquo;It has been many years and& mdash,
& rsquo;& rsquo; He paused as aclaw touched his neck, pressing againgt the pulse that beat on one side.
&1squo;& |squo; There are things worse than death.& rsquo; & rsquo; Chyort& rsquo;s words swept over
the scientist. & 1squo;& lsquo;Y ou know that, don& rsquo;t you?& rsquo; & rsquo;
Vaslev nodded.
&lsquo;& Isquo;l know you don& rsquo;t fear death,& rsquo;& rsquo; Chyort continued.
&1squo;& Isquo;But what | will doto you if you fail mewill be worse than anything you canimagine. |
will&mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; The demon paused, the head turned.
Then the cregture was gone.

Daton svam in the pain, hisentire body awash init. Hetried to push hismind through the overwheiming
tide of agony. He remembered the bayonet; he focused on it, the fedling of ice diding into hisback. Then
the butt stroke from the NV A soldier holding the AK-47.

Awakening in the prison. Wesk from loss of blood. Reaching, fedling blood still soaking through the dirty
rag tied over the wound. Pressing his back againgt the concrete wall, stopping the bleeding. Holding the
position, even when the guards came in and kicked, he pushed againgt the wall, knowing if he

didn& rsquo;t, he would bleed ouit.



&1squo;&Isguo; Sergeant Major ?& rsquio; & rsquio;

No, Daton thought. 1& rsquo;m just a Spec/4. Junior team member.

& 1squo;&Isguo; Sergeant Major ?& rsquo; & rsquio;

Ddlton tried to open his eyes but there was only darkness. And the pain.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Sergeant Major! Thisis Dr. Hammond.& rsgquo; & rsgquo;

Hammond? Why wasit so dark? Even in the cdll there had dways been alittle light seeping in from the
corridor.

A white dot appeared, so tiny and so far away.

&1squo;&Isquo; Focus on the dot.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton tried to scream, but instead he gagged. Something wasin histhroat, blocking.

&1squo;& Isquo; Wes rsquo; re bringing you out, but you have to be aware.& rsquo; & rsquo; The
voice wasinggent.

Ddton wished the woman would just shut up. He did down the concrete wall and rolled onto the floor
into the fetal position. Hewas so tired and it hurt so badly.

A new voiceripped into his skull, louder than the other one.

&lsquo;&Isquo; Damn it, Sergeant Major! Thisis Lieutenant Jackson. 1& rsquo; m ordering you to
get back here. Don& rsquo;t you give up! & rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton shivered, feding cold seep into his body, strangely lessening the pain. He saw Marie, the same as
when he had first met her, the skin on her face smooth, flawless. She was beckoningtohimtogoina
different direction. Daton pushed himsdlf to his hands and knees. He began crawling toward Marie.
&lsguo;& Isquo; Come back, Sergeant Major Dalton.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton fdlt the opposing tugs, Marie and the warmth and comfort of just going to her, and Lieutenant
Jackson& rsquo;s voice grating on his mind, his conscience, his sense of duty. He looked toward Marie
and he knew she knew. She smiled sadly and faded from view, mouthing something that he

couldn& rsquo;t make out.

Dalton stared in her direction until there was nothing there. The other voice kept nagging a him. Then he
remembered.

The team was gone. Massacred. He couldn& rsquo;t do it again. He couldn& rsquo;t fight again. The last
time, he had |eft Marie donefor five years. He couldn& rsquo;t do that to her again.

Helet go of hisgrip, diding toward where Marie had been.

He saw her once more.

&1squo;& Isquo;Why did you summon me?& rsquo;& rsquo; After the gloriousfedling of power during the
battle with the Americans, being contained inside Zivon was unbearable to Feteror.

& 1squo;& Isquo; Because the Situation has changed,& rsquo;& rsquo; Generd Rurik said.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Twenty nuclear warheads have been stolen.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo;Y ou have dready tasked me to accomplish two missions. Y et you bring me back hereto
inform me of this?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Did you find the phased-displacement generator?& rsquo;& rsquo; Generd Rurik
demanded.

& 1squo;& 1squo;N0.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Rurik stepped closer to the spesker. &Isquo;&Isquo;Did you find my family?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo;l have alead that | was tracking down when you called me back.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& squo; Give me the lead,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik ordered.

&lsquo;& Isquo;l am forwarding the information through Zivon,& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror said.

&Isquo;& Isquo;But it would be best if you alowed me to continue on the mission.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;l do not trust you,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik said. & Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou are up to something.
Y ou will wait while | verify what you have learned.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror remained silent, itching to get away. He forwarded information through the eectronic channels of
Zivon. He watched as Generd Rurik took it off the computer screen and then grabbed a phone, caling



Moscow, shutting down the psychic wall for amoment.

A spear of pain dammed into Dalton& rsquo;s chest. It felt like hislungs were getting ripped out through
histhroat.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Goddamn it, Sergeant Mg or, you& rsquo;ve got to hold on.& rsquo;& rsquio;

The words were coming from outside, from agreat distance, but the fact that they were externa was so
novel to Daton, he marveled at it for afew moments. So much had been inside his head for so long now.
Another voice& mdash; it was Hammond& rsquo;s, a part of his mind recognized& mdash; spoke:
&lsguo;& |squo;He& rsquo;sin arrest. Stand clear.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Dalton screamed as ajolt of dectricity through the microprobe lanced his chest. The pain was bad, but
the real hurt was seeing Marie fade again with each pulse of his heart in response to the eectric shock.
&Isquo;& Isquo;No! & raquo; & rsquo; Dalton yelled, the word garbled by embryonic fluid sputtering out of
his mouth. Herolled to his side vomiting, knocking away Hammond, who was getting ready to shock him
agan.

&lsquo;& Isquo;He& rsquo;s got a pul se,& rsquio; & rsquo; Hammond announced.

Daton pushed away Jackson& rsquo;s hand as shetried to hold his head.

&1sguo;& |squo; L eave me aone,& rsquo; & rsquo; he whispered. He turned to his other side, his back to
those in the room, and kept his eyes closed. He searched for another glimpse of Marie, but there was
nothing.

Leks swung hisarm around his head and pointed up. The pilot responded by increasing throttle and pitch
on the blades. Laden with ten of the nuclear bombs, thefirst Hip roseinto the air.

Leks ran to the second and jumped on board. It followed thefirs.

Leks flipped open hiscdlular phone and punched in memory one.

& 1squo;& Isquo; Sergeant Barnes made it back, thanks to you,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said.

Daton& rsguo;s hands were cradled around a steaming mug of coffee. He had ladled in severa heaping
teaspoons of sugar. Hetook a sip, relishing the burning feeling on histongue. He was seeted at the table
inthe small conference room off the experimental chamber. He couldn& rsquo;t bear being in there,
looking at the bodies of the rest of histeam floating insde their isolation tanks. Jackson was seated next
to him. Hammond was on the other Sde of the table.

&lsguo;& Isquo;Where is he?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;In the dispensary. He& rsquo;s deeping, but the doctor gives him aclean bill of
health.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& 1squo;One out of nine. And the rest of the team?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

Jackson shook her head, not able to answer him.

&lsquo;&Isquo; Their bodies are il viable in their isolation tanks,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dr. Hammond said.
&lsquo;&Isquo;Like the first team?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y es,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.

Dalton rubbed his forehead. & 1squo;& Isquo;So they& rsquo;re probably dead, as far asthey& rsquo;re
concerned, right?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo;We don& rsgquo;t know that for certain,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said.

&1sguo;& |squo; And Raisor?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton knew he had to ask.



& 1squo;& squo; We doné& rsquo;t know,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. & 1squo;& Isquo;His body is
asoin dass. | restored his power, but there& rsquo;s been no contact. | think we might have lost the
connection when | diverted al power to your team.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Where did he go?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton demanded.

&lsquo;& 1squo; We don& rsquo;t know,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said, & Isquo;& |squo;but we have a
larger problem on our hands. | just got acal from Washington. Y our mission failed. The nuclear
warheads have been stolen. Combining that with the information you brought back about the
phased-displacement generator, we have the biggest danger this country has faced since the Cuban
Missle Criss. The Nationa Security Council isvery concerned. They are consdering their

options.& rsquo;& rsuio;

Dalton looked up at the doctor, recognizing the panic in the clipped sentences. & Isquo;& Isquo;Very
concerned? Isthat what you cal it? They should be crapping in their pants. Options? What options?
What are they going to do?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton took adeep drink of coffee, feding the burning liquid hit his bruised throat. He relished the pain
because it sharpened his mind, brought it out of the fog of near death and despair. The issue of

Raisor& rsquo;s disappearance bothered him, but it was amsytery that wasn& rsquo;t a priority right
now.

&lsgquo;& Isquo;For starters, they can now work with the Russians, given that the warheads have been
stolen,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said.

&lsquo;& Isquo; That& rsquo;s like reuniting the Three Stooges,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said.

&1squo;& 1squo; The Russians had to have known about& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; He pauised, realization
hitting him likeapunch inthe gut.

&lsquo;& squo;What isit?& rsquo;& rsquo; Lieutenant Jackson asked.

&1suo;& Isquo; Something& rsquio;s not right about dl this,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said.

&1squo;& Isquo;What do you mean?& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson asked.

&lsquo;&Isquo; This Russian avatar, Chyort, it& rsquo;s not right.& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton& rsquo;s mind
was racing as he considered al he had experienced. &1squo;& 1squo;Chyort attacked us, not the
mercenaries taking down the train.& rsquo; & rsgquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo; Maybe he thought you were the greater threat?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dr. Hammond
suggested.

Ddton shook his head. &1squo;& Isquo;No.& rsquo;& rsquo; He turned to Jackson.

&1squo;& Isquo;Chyort wasin the railmaster& rsquo;s shack the same time you were,

right?& rsquo;& rsquio;

Jackson nodded.

&1squo;& 1squo; So he knew about the changein the timing of shipment. Y et the Russian guards

weren& rsquo;t ready. They ran right into the ambush. And Chyort attacked us, not the ambushers.
&lsquo;& I1squo;He& rsquo;s with them. | don& rsquo;t know why, and | don& rsquo;t know how, given
that this Chyort is supposed to be part of the GRU, but he is with the M&fia, hel ping them. And we
aren& rsquo;t going to recover those bombs or stop the phased-displacement generator from being used,
until we stop Chyort.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dadton turned to Dr. Hammond. & Isquo;& |squo;If you had to destroy your own project& mdash; stop
Psychic Warrior& mdash; and you couldn& rsquo;t defet it on the psychic plane, how would you do
it?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Hammond spread her hands, taking in the complex. &1squo;& lsquo; To make sure | succeeded,

| & rsquo;d take out Bright Gate.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; Which leaves you with the opposite Situation from what we have right

now,& rsquo;& rsquio; Dalton said. & 1squo;& Isquo;What happensto meif 1& rsquo;m on the virtua plane
and my body hereis destroyed? Or Sybyl istaken off-line?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t know for sure what happensto your psycheif your body iskilled,
athough | assumeit would aso be killed,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. & Isquo;& Isquo;But if Sybyl is



taken off-line, then you will lose dl the power and support you get from the computer. Y our psyche
might till be floating around out there, but it won& rsquo;t be able to do much.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Dalton nodded. & 1squo;& Isquo;All right, then. That& rsquo;s what we& rsquo;!l do.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Oma put the phone down. They had the bombs. They had the phased-displacement generator. But it had
amost been adisaster. She thought about L eksi& rsquo;s account of the strange beings that had attacked
him& mdash; Americans, working in the same manner as Chyort. Y es, Chyort had won, but& hellip;
Omaknew the playing field had changed, she just wasn& rsquo;t sure yet what the changes meant.

She looked at the computer screen on which she had | ft the information from her Swiss bank account.
Four hundred million dollars. With 360 hillion pending.

Her gaze shifted to the desktop, on which two things sat: the target list and the card from the NATO
representative.

The phone rang. She grabbed it. & Isquo;& Isquo; Speak.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; We have dropped the child off asinstructed,& rsquo;& rsquo; the voice on the other end
informed her.

&lsquo;& 1squo;Very good.& rsquo;& rsquo; Omaheld the receiver in her hand as the other end went
dead. Another piece in the puzzle that she didn& rsquo;t quite understand. She& rsquo;d assumed that
Chyort had had her kidnap Genera Rurik& rsquo;swife and children for revenge. But if so, why had he
told her to free one of the children in aplace where the GRU would find him quickly?

She pushed down on the receiver button and got adia tone. She punched in the number off the card. It
was answered on thefirg ring.

&1squo;& 1squo; Y es?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Do you give this number to everyone or do you know who | am?& rsquo;& rsquo; Oma
asked.

&1squo;& Isquo;l know who you are,& rsquo;& rsquo; the NATO representative replied.

&lsguo;& Isquo;Are you calling to chat about the weather or do you accept my offer?& rsquo;& rsquo;
&1squo;& 1squo;Y ou know about the warheads?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Y ou have many people& rsquo;s attention now,& rsquo; & rsquo; the man acknowledged.
&lsquo;&squo;Y ou might not enjoy the heet of the potlight that is now shining in your direction. In fact,
| & rsquo;m not sure | can keep my offer on the table much longer.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo;l have four hundred million in an account aready,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid.

&lsquo;& Isquo;An advance againgt four billion. Do you understand my Situation?& rsquo; & rsquo;
Therewas abrief slence before the man spoke again.

& 1squo;& Isquo;We can match the four hundred now that you have the bombs. But we also want the
name of the original bidder and al other information you can give us.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo;l cannot do& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Oma began.

&lsquo;& 1squo;l would think that would be in your best interest,& rsquo; & rsquo; the NATO
representative interrupted. & lsquo;& Isquo;Even if you give back the advance, they& mdash; whoever
they are& mdash; will not be happy about your reneging on adea. Give usthe name and perhaps we can
clip their wings so they don& rsquo;t come after you.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

Omaknew that NATO was willing to pay ransom to get the bombs rather than launch amilitary misson
that could easily be as costly in financid terms and more importantly costly in the arenaof NATO blood
spilled and public image. It was overall chegper, moredirect, and morein line with the redlities of the
world to pay. It wasthe way the real world worked.

&1squo;& 1squo; Deposit the money and we can discuss this,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Right now, thisis only talk.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou are playing avery dangerous game and the clock isticking. Thisdedl requiresdl the
bombsto be turned over. Every single one. | will have the money in your account insde of the hour. Then
wewill talk again. It will be thelast time we talk, one way or the other.& rsquo;& rsquo;



&Isquo;&Isquo;Y ou should learn to relax. To enjoy life.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror stopped his & |squo;& Isquo; pacing& rsquo;& rsquo; and looked at his grandfather& rsquo;simage
in amazement. They werein the clearing near the stream. Feteror was beginning to worry that something
had gone wrong. That Rurik would not let him out again. That Oma had the bombs now and had
betrayed him.

&Isquo;&Isquo; Thisis not life,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror said.

Oparaised hisbushy gray eyebrows. & squo;& Isquo;What isit then?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1s9u0;& Isquo; This& rsquo;& rsquo; & mdash; Feteror waved his hands around the glade& mdash;
&lsquo;&Isquosisal anillusion. It isn&rsgquo;t redl. We are inside a computer.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo;A computer? Whet is that ?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo; You aren& rsquo;t even real .& rsquio;& rsquo; Feteror had no patience for this. He
needed to get out, or dl that he had worked for would go to naught. He knew he could not trust Omato
keep her end of the bargain without looking over her shoulder. She needed him to operate the
phased-displacement generator, but he knew that she might make adeal that didn& rsgquo;t require the
generator now that she had the bombs. Of course, he reassured himsdlf she didn& rsquo;t have the PAL
codes.

Opadidn&rsquo;t look angry, merdly puzzled. &lsquo;& Isquo;How can | not be rea ?& rsquo; & rsquo;
He stretched hisarms. & Isquo;&Isquo;l fed red .& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror stopped and walked over to his grandfather, who was seated on the tree sump where he had
aways sat. Feteror thumped his chest. & lsquo;& Isquo;l am not red either. None of thisis. | ana
monster. 1& rsquo;m supposed to be dead. Y ou are dead. And | am going to join you soon& mdash; and
bring those who did thisto me on thejourney. They will pay for what they inflicted on me. For betraying
aloyd soldier.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Like you said, Opa, the generas don& rsquo;t care about the common man. They use us
like asponge until we are soiled and dirty and can work no longer, then they throw us away. They have
betrayed the entire country. | gave everything, everything, for Mother Russia, and she kicked mein the
face. Y ou gave everything. Millions gave everything. And now criminas and bootlickers run the country.

| am going to end that and make them al pay.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Opalooked at him. & Isquo;& Isquo;How can you do that if we are not real? Isthisadream? | do not
understand.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Feteror shook his head, knowing there was no way he could explain thisto his grandfather.
&lsquo;&1squo; Trust me, Opa. | will do dl that | say.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Opafrowned. & squo;& Isquo;But why? | fought in the Great Patriotic War. | came home to you and my
daughter, your mother. | raised you. | did not seek vengeance. What was done in the war was done for
necessity. | sill had my lifeto live.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t have mine! & rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror exploded.

Opawaved his hands around the glade. & 1squo;&Isquo;But you have thisl & rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;it isn& rsquo;t real! & rsquio; & rsquio; Feteror screamed.

Opareached out and touched Feteror& rsquo;s arm. &1squo;& Isquo; Thereis good in everyone,
grandson. Y ou must& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Opa began, but he wasinterrupted by the bright flash of
Generd Rurik& rsquo;s summons.

Despite hisanxiety to get going, Feteror paused. He put ahand on his grandfather& rsquo;s shoulder.
&1squo;& 1squo;Opa, | have to go now. We will not meet like this again.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Opasmiled, reveding hisyedlowed and stained teeth. & lsquo;&lsquo;l do not understand what this place
isor why | am here. | don& rsquo;t understand why you fed you must do what you fed you must, but
you are my grandson, so | will be with you in spirit. Good luck, Arkady. Godspeed.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Feteror nodded, then flashed through the circuits to access hisline to General Rurik. Ashedid so, his
grandfather& rsquo;s last words echoed in his mind. God? There was no God asfar as Feteror was
concerned. No God would allow what had been done to him to happen.

He spokeinto hiscircuits. &1squo;&1squo;Y es, Generd 2& rsquo; & rsquo;



&Isquo;& Isquo;We found my youngest son, exactly where you said he would be.& rsquo; & rsquo;
Feteror waited.

&1squo;& Isquo;Find my wife and other son,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik ordered.

&1squo;& Isquo;l will.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The door opened and Feteror was free. As he raced out the window into the virtual plane, he realized
that if al went well, thiswould bethelast time.

&lsquo;& Isquo;We can& rsgquo;t beat Chyort in the virtua plane.& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton& rsquo;s voice
wasfirm.

&lsquo;& Isquo; That makes Psychic Warrior worthless.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond was shaking her
head. & 1squo;& 1squo; The whole purpose of this program was& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton dapped his hand in the tabletop. & squo;& |squo;L ook in the chambers. My people and yours are
just empty shells, and the essence of those peopleis dead! & rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton watched the doctor with no sympathy. Her little world, her pet project, had fallen gpart and failed.
A black mark on her efficiency report. Daton was more concerned with the bodiesin the tanks and the
twenty nuclear weapons heading toward the phased-displacement generator. And Chyort.
&Isquo;&lsquo;As| said, 1&rsquo;ve dready been in contact with the National Security

Council ,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. & |squo; & |squo; They& rsquo;re using a satellite to search for
the phased-displacement generator and to track down the nukes. They are also opening contact with the
Russian government to offer support.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo; It won& rsquo;t be that easy,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said. &Isquo;& Isquo; Things are as
screwed up on their end asthey are on ours. The clock isticking and by the time the official world reacts,
it will betoo late.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; They& rsquo;l | contact us as soon as they discover anything,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond
sad.

Ddton stood. & |squo;& Isquo;Find where Raisor went. And where he is now.& rsquo;& rsquo; He
walked out without another word. He went to the dispensary and looked in on Barnes. The sergeant was
deeping, his body wrapped in blankets.

Ddton looked down at the younger man. He reached up and unpinned his own sergeant mgor& rsquo;s
inggniafrom hiscollar and put it on the small stand to the | eft of the bed. Then Daton pulled hiswedding
band off hisring finger. He looked at the inscription on theingde for severa seconds, then placed it next
to the rank.

Dalton |eft the dispensary and went to the main chamber and up to the closest isolation tank. Captain
Anderson& rsquio;s body floated listlesdy insde. The breathing fluid was moving dowly through the clear
tubes, and the monitor said that the machine was keeping his heart going. But staring at the body inside
the tube, the head covered with the TACPAD, Daton felt little hope. Even if their psyches were
recoverable, he knew that Chyort still waited on the virtual plane, ready to stop him from succeeding in
any attempt to recover them.

Dalton stood for along time, staring and thinking.

&lsquo;&Isquo;l have aquestion.& rsquo;& rsquo; The voice startled Daton out of hismorbid reverie.
Lieutenant Jackson had come up behind him unheard and unnoticed. She looked past him a Captain
Anderson& rsquo;s body.

& 1squo;& | squo; What& rsquo; s your question?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

&Isquo;&Isquo; The story you told me& mdash; about the pilot who was brought in wounded while you
were a POW and how you stayed up with him al night?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo; Y es?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;What happened to him?& rsquo; & rsquio;

Ddton sghed. & Isquo;& 1squo;He died within amonth. He just gave up.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;But you didn& rsquo;t, right?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsguo;&Isquo;No, | didn& rsquo;t.& rsquo; & rsquo;



& 1sguo;& |squo; Don& rsquo;t give up now, Sergeant Major. We need you.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror popped into the GRU main conference room and maintained a slent presence for ten minutes.
More than enough time to know that the Americans were now putting their cards on the table and talking
to his government through the GRU, preparing a conventiona response to the bombs& rsquo; being
golen.

Feteror had not expected such a quick reaction, but he also had not expected the assault at the ambush
gte by the Bright Gate personnd. He saw the Spetsnatz colond Stting quietly at the conference table,
listening to the various reports coming in.

Feteror came closer to the man. He knew him. Y ears ago, in Afghanistan. Then it had been Captain
Mishenka, aruthless and efficient leader of an eite hunter killer team. A fool to till be Sitting here serving
anew government when the old one had betrayed hisfight in Afghanistan.

Despite Mishenka& rsquo;s presence, Feteror& rsquo;s own government acting done did not worry him.
By the time they discovered where the phased-di splacement generator was, it would be too late. And the
only way they would find the stolen nuclear wegpons was when they exploded at their targets.

But the Americans& mdash; that was another story. They had capabilities that could pose athrest either
acting on their own or helping the GRU. Feteror did dong the virtua plane, out of the room.

Inside the conference room, Colond Mishenka shivered, looking up at the celling. He& rsquo;d felt a
cold draft down to the very marrow of hisbonesfor just a second. His eyes narrowed, the deep lines
etched at the sidesindicating the years he had spent fighting in the brutal elements.

The chill was gone. He returned hisfocusto the briefer at the front of the room.

In orbit, 285 statute miles above the surface of the earth, thrusterson W a r fighter 1 fired, maneuvering
the 850-pound satellite toward the target grid area. On board, doors did open, reveding the
hyperspectra imaging equipment bay. It was the most advanced spy satdllitein the American inventory,
launched just the previous year and capable of al-westher, all-condition viewing across alarge number
of frequency bands at extremely high resolution. Some of itsimagers could even

&|suo;& Isquo;see& rsquo; & rsquo; through callingsinto bunkers and hangars by using certain
bandlengths.

Just asimportant as the imaging equipment was the onboard computer that could be programmed to |ook
over wide swaths of terrain for a specific image. The RHC3000, a 32-hit, 2-gigabyte, high-density
mass-memory command and data handler, was currently being updated with information sent by the
Russians regarding the makeup of the phased-displacement generator and with the exact composition of
the twenty missing warheads.

It would bein position in Six minutes to begin searching outward from the site of the ambush into centra
Russa

Feteror had never gone this high& mdash; there had never been aneed to and it had never occurred to
himto try. As he passed out of the atmosphere, he wondered if he could travel far in space, or if his
virtud link to Zivon and SD8-FFEU had alimit.

It was dark herein this netherworld, not the grayish white of the virtual plane closer to the planet. Morea
dim area, desolate, empty even of the whispering of the souls of those close to the surface. Feteror found
it quite soothing.

He reached out through the virtua plane with his senses. He picked up the approach of War fighter 1
asit closed on the ambush site. He closed on the satellite. 1t was a spectacular piece of machinery. He
noted the imagers pointing earthward out of the bay, the smal maneuvering thrugtersfiring dight puffs,
orienting thevehicle.

Feteror did hisbeing into the satellite. He became part of it, using itsimagers as his own senses. He
looked down at the earth, able to see the curving horizon of the planet in dl directions. It was so



spectacular that he amost forgot histask, but not quite.
He processed a picture through the main camera. Then he accessed the thruster control program.

& 1sguo;& |squo; Sergeant Mg or.& rsquo; & rsguio;

Ddton heard the resgnation in Hammondé& rsquo;s voice before he turned and saw the defeet etched
across her face.

&1squo;& squo; Y es?& rsquo; & rsquio;

Hammond wordlessly held up aglossy piece of paper.

Dalton took it, Lieutenant Jackson looking over his shoulder. The demon& rsquo;s face was etched
againgt ablack background, as horrible as Daton remembered it.

& squo;& Isquo; Chyort,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton said, handing the imagery back. Jackson was nodding,
aso recognizing their foe from the ambush.

Hammond spoke in amonotone. & 1squo;& squo;He took out the satellite the NSA was sending over to
find the generator and the nukes.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;&Isquo; Took out,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton repeated. & 1squo;& Isquo;How did he do

that?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; They don& rsquo;t know, but they have no communication with it and the tracking station
can&rsquo;t even pick it up in orbit. 1t& rsquo;s gone. The Russians& rsquo;& rsquo;& mdash,
Hammondé& rsquo;s voice betrayed her admiration in the face of the disaster& mdash;

&1squo;& Isquo;they must have done something completdly different than usto come up with thisthing,
this Chyort.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Daton considered the photo. & Isquo;& |squo;He wanted usto know he did it. There& rsquo;s no other
reason for him to alow hisimage to be processed.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;Any more information on who or what Chyort iS?& rsquo;& rsquo; Lieutenant Jackson
asked.

&1squo;& Isquo;1 & rsquo; m working on getting that information, but my best guessisthat he& rsquo;sthe
end result of their version of the Psychic Warrior program.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Jackson gave aderisive laugh. &1squo;& squo; They& rsquo;ve got something going that we don& rsquo;t
have a clue about. 1t& rsquo;s far beyond what we& rsquo;re doing here.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton shook his head. & squo;& Isquo;We don& rsquo;t have time for this.& rsquo;& rsquo; He pointed
at theimagery. & lsquo;& Isquo;Allowing himsdf to be photographed like that means he& rsquo;s
confident that he can accomplish what he wants to and he& rsquo;s not worried about us stopping

him.& rsquo; & rsquo; He turned to Hammond, who was still staring at the picture. & 1squo;& Isquo;l want
communication with the Nationa Security Council.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Hammond nodded. & Isquo;& Isquo;We have adirect link in the control room.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&1sguo;& Isquo;How can we stop them?& rsquio; & rsquio; Jackson asked while they walked to the
control room.

&1squo;& squo; 1 & rsquo;m an old soldier,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton said, & 1squo;&Isquo;so | say we do it
the ol d-fashioned way. With some new-fashioned hel p.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Feteror& rsquo;sroar vibrated the metal in the hangar. & lsquo;&Isquo;How can you not be ready! Y ou
have the program! & rsquo;& rsquo;



Vaslev watched the demon pace about. & Isquo;& |squo;l have done my best. | am trying to update the
language of the program to work on these new computers, but | am not acomputer

expert.& rsquo;& rsguo;

A claw flashed out, sopping just short of Vasilev&rsquo;s neck. The old man didn& rsgquo;t even flinch.
&lsquo;& 1squo;l thought the program had aready been updated when it was switched to the
CD-ROM.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Somewhat, yes,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev agreed. & 1squo;& squo;But that was three
years ago and aready computers have advanced beyond that.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;How long will it take?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo; Anywhere from a couple of hoursto a couple of days.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1sguo;& Isquo;We do not have a couple of days.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;Whether you have the time or not makes no difference in how long updating the
programming will take,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev said. &1squo;& lsquo; Thereisaso the additional problem
of once the base programming is running, having it synched with a psychic projection. We need away to
target the warhead onceit is on the virtua plane.& rsquo;& rsquo; He spread his hands. & 1squo;& squo;l
don& rsgquo;t see that part of the system here.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; 1 & rsquo; m that part of the system,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror said. &lsquo;& Isquo;Y ou
get it working. |&rsquo;ll take care of the rest.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;l will try.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Feteror shook hiswings, sending a breeze through the hangar. & 1squo;&Isquo; Try is not good enough.
The problem isthe computer? | will take care of it.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Hedid out of therea plane and flowed into the computer Vasilev had been working &t. He raced aong
the e ectronic pathways. There was much he understood here from histime inside Zivon.

He cameto the place where Vasilev had been working. To hisvirtual eyes, there was alogjam of data,
the pieces not fitting, turned the wrong way.

He worked like a madman, twisting the datarto fit, putting the piecesin place. He cleared up what he
could see, then reversed his path out of the computer, re-forming into the real world in front of the old
mean.

&lsquo;& |squo; Get back to work,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror snarled. &1squo;&1squo;lt should take you
lesstime now.& rsquo; & rsguo;

Feteror& rsquo;s head twisted on his gnarled shoulders as the sound of inbound helicopters made its way
through the metal sding of the hangar. Feteror flashed outside and watched as L eksi& rsquo;stwo
helicopters landed and the bombs were off-loaded.

All wasin place, but they could not act until the advanced computer could processthe old program.
Feteror would have found it humorous except for the stakesinvolved.

&lsquo;& lsquo;ls everyone clear on what they have to do?& rsquo;& rsquo; Sergeant Mgor Dalton was
dressed in the camouflage fatigues he had worn to Bright Gate. He was striding down the corridor that
led to the hangar. Lieutenant Jackson and Dr. Hammond were having to run to keep up with him.
&lsquo;& squo; Clear,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson said.

Hammond reluctantly nodded.

Dalton glanced at Jackson. &Isquo;& Isquo;Y ou remember what you have to do, right?& rsquo; & rsquo;
She nodded.

&1squo;& Isquo; And?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton prompted.

&1squo;& 1squo;We don& rsquo;t do anything until you clear the way,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said.
&1squo;& Isquo;Roger that.& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton continued walking. & |squo;& squo;But the minute |
take care of Chyort, you have to move quickly.& rsquo;& rsquo; He glanced at Hammond.
&lsquo;&Isquo;ls everything set to get this started?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; They& rsquo;re still trying to get through to the Russians.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& Isquo;What about my ride?& rsquo;& rsquo;



&lsquo;& Isquo;lt will meet you at DIA.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond looked troubled.
&lsquo;&Isquo; Thisisgoing to cause ahell of a stink.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; The stink has dready started,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said. & 1squo;& |squo;Let& rsquo;s
hope we can keep it at that level. One of those nukes goes off somewhere and everything you& rsquo;re
worrying about right now will be inggnificant. Any ideawhere Raisor went?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& squo;l & rsquo;ve had Sybyl scan but no sign.& rsquio;& rsquo;

A technician came running down the hdlway. She held asmdl meta casein her hand.

&lsquo;& lsquo;Here& rsquo;s the SATCOM link you asked for.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton took it. He walked through the door into the hangar. The blades were dready turning on the
Blackhawk, and the side door was open.

& 1sguo;& Isquo; Good luck! & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Don& rsquo;t go over until it& rsquo;s clear,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton warned her one last
time

&1squo;& squo;l won& rsquo;t.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Dalton climbed on board the chopper. As he did the door shut, the platform began diding out of the Side
of themountain. Thelast thing he saw asthey lifted off was Lieutenant Jackson watching him fly away.
Omadstared at her computer screen. Two deposits of four hundred million were sitting Sde by sidein
their separate accounts. Her husband had alwaystold her to have her options open, to never play her
hand until the last minute. She leaned back in her chair and looked at the clock. There was il timeto
play thisjust right.

Sergeant Mg or Daton woke as the Blackhawk settled down onto the grass next to the concrete runway
at Denver Internationa Airport. Severd phone callsfrom the Nationa Security Council had shut down
one of the runways twenty minutes ago. Police cars, lights flashing, were parked near the end of the
runway.

&Isquo;&Isquo;Y our ride is about two minutes out,& rsquo;& rsquo; the pilot informed Dalton through
the headset.

Daton opened the side door and stepped off the chopper, carrying the com link. He could see the
white-capped peaks of the Rocky Mountains to the west. The airport itself was surrounded by miles of
open rolling plain. The white peaks of the uniquely designed terminal were about two miles away, but
Daton had no intention of going there.

He scanned the sky and was rewarded when he spotted asmall dot rapidly approaching from over the
mountains. It closed swiftly, the shape not that of anorma plane, but more asolid V-form without wings.
Asit got closer and dowed on its approach, Dalton could make out details. It was over 250 feet long
and ahundred feet from tip to tip at the widest part. The best Daton could describe the aircraft was that
it was shaped like a stretched-out B-2 bomber.

Nose up, it came down toward the far end of the runway from Daton. He knew that many in the terminal
and waiting planes were getting the firgt public glimpse of one of the most classified projectsin the Black
Budget, but apparently the decision makers on the Nationa Security Council felt that wasasmal priceto
pay for the misson he had to accomplish. Besides, atoy manufacturer had aready designed and was
sdling amodd that looked very smilar to what was landing; they even had the nameright: the SR-75
Penetrator, developed under the project code name Aurora.



The whedls touched down and the plane decel erated. Dalton could see smoke coming from thetires as
they tried to halt the forward momentum. He knew about the plane from classified briefings he had
attended while assigned to atop secret antiterrorist task force. At itshome base at Groom Lakein
Nevada, near Nellis Air Force Base and the infamous Area 51, the plane used arunway& mdash; the
longest runway in the world& mdash; over seven mileslong to take off and land. It was Straining to stop
even on DIA&rsquo;slongest main runway.

But the pilots accomplished the task, dowing to arall about five hundred yards from Daton& rsquo;s
location, then bringing the plane toward him. The skin of the craft wasadull black, the smal windowsin
the front hard to spot. The design lineswere smooth and deek.

The plane hated and a hatch opened in the belly between the two large sets of landing gear. Daton
started forward as aladder extended down. He grabbed the bottom rung and climbed on board.

The man who greeted him was wearing a high-pressure suit, the mask on his helmet swung open.
&lsquo;& squo;l & rsgquo;m Mgor Or-rick, recon officer. | don& rsquo;t know who the hell you are, but
you sure got some pull to get us out in public like this.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton shook the man& rsquo;s hand, introducing himself. They were standing in asmall space, another
ladder leading out of it. Orrick pulled the bottom ladder in and sealed the hatch. He pointed up.
&Isquo;& Isquo; Follow me.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton climbed behind him into aroom crowded with electrical gear and computer screens. Therewas
barely room for both of them to fit.

&lsquo;&lsquo; Thisis my area,& rsquo;& rsquo; Orrick said. He handed Dalton a pressure suit and
helmet. &1squo;& Isquo;One szefitsdl when the Szeis extralarge.& rsquo;& rsquo; He jerked athumb
toward afour-foot-high opening in the front of the compartment. &|squo;& Isquo;Cockpit isthat way.
Better get that on and get up there. The pilot would redly like to know what he& rsquo;s doing and
where we& rsquo;re going.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The entire plane was vibrating from the engines. Daton could fed the smal movementsindicating it was
taxiing. He quickly stepped into the pressure suit and pulled it up. He crouched down and made hisway
down thetight corridor. There were dim red lampslighting it and the glow of daylight about twenty-five
feet ahead. He poked his head out the corridor.

The pilot and copilot were strapped tightly into their form-fitting crash seets, haf reclining back, the seats
canted up so they could see out the four small windows. The rest of the front was taken up with
ingrumentation.

The manintheright seat turned his head dightly, seeing movement out of the corner of hiseye.
&Isquo;& Isquo;Y ou Daton?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y es.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& 1squo;l & rsquo;m Coloned Searl. World War 111 starting or something?& rsquio;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo; It could,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said.

Both men twisted in their seatsto get a better look. & |squo;& squo;What the hell does that

mean?& rsquo;& rsquo; Searl said.

The SR-75 was pointing down the main runway, holding. &Isquo;& Isquo; Maybe we ought to get
arborne, then 1&rsquo;ll fill you in.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sguo;& |squo; Where are we going?& rsquo; & rsquo; Colonel Searl asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo; That& rsquo;s something e se | & rsquo;ve got to find out once we get airborne. All | can
tell you right now is, we& rsgquo;re heading for someplace in Russa & rsquo;& rsquo; He held up the case
holding the

SATCOM. &Isquo;&lsquo;l need to hook into your commo system to find out exactly where

we& rsguo;re going.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Searl returned his atention to the front. & Isquo;&1squo;Y ou better get back there and settled in.

We& rsquo;ll be airborne in less than aminute. We& rsquo;ll head for the polar route; it& rsquo;sthe
quickest way to Russia, but you need to give us amore specific location pretty quick because Russaisa
damn big country.& rsquo;& rsquio;



Ddton returned down the corridor to the recon officer& rsquo;s space. Orrick had folded down asmall
seat, and he helped Dalton settle onto it, buckling himinto it just as the plane began moving.

Colonel Searl rolled up the throttle on the plane& rsquo;s conventiona turbojet engine, and the large
plane began acce erating down the runway. It took the plane over two and ahalf miles, just about to the
end of the runway, before the delta wings produced enough lift for the whed s to separate from the
ground.

With the turbojet engine at max thrugt, the pilot continued to gain adtitude and speed. Daton was
dammed back into the seet, the straps holding him cutting into his suit. He could fed the strong vibration
of theengines,

& lsquo;& squo; We& rsquo;re passing through Mach 2 now,& rsquo;& rsquo; Orrick informed Dalton.
& 1sguo;& Isquo; We& rsgquo;re aready over the Colorado-Wyoming border.& rsquo;& rsquio;

It had been less than five minutes since takeoff. Dalton opened up the SATCOM and tossed one end of
the cableto Orrick.

& squo;& Isquo;We& rsgquo;re going high,& rsquo;& rsquo; Orrick continued as he plugged in the cable.
Helooked down at his console. & 1squo;& Isquo;We& rsgquo;re passing through fifty thousand feet. When
we get closeto sixty thousand, the pilots switch over to the PDWE. Pulsed-detonation-wave

engine, & rsquo;& rsquo; he clarified. & Isquo;& Isquo;Ité& rsquo;s pretty smple& mdash; we& rsquo;ve got
abunch of high-strength compression chambersin the back. We pump a specia mixture into them, they
explode in sequence, forming ahigh-pressure pulse, and they are guided into acombustion chamber
which channdsit out the rear.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Ddton checked the small board on the SATCOM. It was functioning and he had alink back to Bright
Gate. &squo;& Isquo;How fast can you go?& rsquo;& rsquo; he asked. That was something that had
been left out of the briefing he had been given on the plane, the aircraft& rsquo;s top speed smply listed
as being something over Mach 5.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Mach 7,& rsquo;& rsquo; Orrick said proudly. & 1squo;& Isquo;Over five thousand miles
an hour.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton hoped that would be fast enough. He put the small headset on. & 1squo;& |squo;Dr.

Hammond?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Here.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& 1squo; Do you have the link into the Russian secure military network?& rsquo; & rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;Y es. The GRU just authorized it.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Lieutenant Jackson there?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo; Right here.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsguo;&Isquo;Y ou got acel phone number when we went to Moscow. For a Colonel

Mishenka.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;&Isquo;l have it,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said.

&1sguo;& Isquo;Can you punch it up?& rsquo;& rsguo;

&lsquo;& squo; Wait,& rsquo; & rsquo; she said.

Therewas ahiss of datic, then Daton heard abuzz. A voice answered in Russian.

&1squo;& 1squo; Do you speak English?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Who is this?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;ls this Colond Mishenka?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou called me. Y ou know who | am,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka said. & Isquo;& Isquo;l
want to know who you are. Thisis aclassified Spetsnatz line.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;My nameis Sergeant Mg or Daton, U.S. Army Specid Forces.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Therewas just the sound of the static for afew seconds.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Very interesting,& rsquo; & rsquo; Mishenka said. & Isquo;& Isquo;People here are talking
to the Americans. Most worried. Quite abit of excitement. To what do | owe the honor of your call,
Sergeant Mg or?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l believe we have a common problem,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton said.



&1sguo;& |squo;We do?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Twenty nuclear warheads,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said succinctly. He saw

Orrick& rsquo;s head snap up across the small compartment.

&lsquo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;m not& mdash; & rsquio;& rsquo; Mishenka began, but Dalton cut him off.
&lsquo;&Isquo;l don& rsquo;t have timeto argue or play games. | am heading toward Russiaright
NOW.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;We do not need your help,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka said. & Isquo;& Isquo; The situation
isunder control.& rsguo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo;No, it isn&rsquost. | aso know about the phased-displacement generator. Y ou
don&rsguo;t have a handle on either the bombs or the generator, do you?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton fdlt the plane seem to Stutter, then he was dammed back in his seat once more.

&1sguo;& | squo; P-D-W-E,& rsquo; & rsquo; Orrick mouthed the letters to Dalton with athumbs-up.
Dalton nodded.

& squo;& squo; Sergeant Mgor, you are speaking about things which& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;
&1squo;& Isquo;Don& rsquo;t lie to me or waste my time,& rsquio;& rsquo; Dalton snapped.
&lsquo;&Isquo; Thisis our problem. And it& rsquo;s worse than you know.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&Isquo;&Isquo; The officia word hereisthat we do not need your help,& rsquo;& rsquo; Colonedl
Mishenkasaid. &squo;& Isquo; Thisisan interna problem that will be dedlt with using our own
resources.& rsguo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& squo; The phased-displacement generator makesit our problem,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said.
&lsquo;&Isquo;And if you are counting on SD8& rsquio;s secret weapon to find the bombs or the
generator, you are very badly mistaken.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The tone of Mishenka& rsquo;s voice changed. & 1squo;& |squo; Why & rsquo; & rsquo;
&1su0;& Isquo; Because someone in SD8 is helping the Mafia.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;How do you know al this?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& |squo;Because | was there when the bombs got stolen,& rsquo; & rsquo; Ddton said.

&1squo;& Isquo;My team was wiped out and | barely escaped.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;How could you have been there? How do you know al this? We are getting very
confused reports from those who have goneto the train Site.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Listen closaly,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said. He quickly told Mishenka about the Bright
Gate program, witnessing the briefing insde KGB headquarters, and the battle at the train ambush. He
ended with his belief that Chyort was a creation of SD8 and was helping the Mafia

& 1sguo;& Isquo; Chyort,& rsquo; & rsquo; Mishenka repeated the name. & Isquo;& Isquo;l have heard of
this creature. | thought it only arumor, a myth.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Chyort is real ,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said. & 1squo;& 1squo;And you know what it is. |
heard General Bolodenka authorize you to be briefed on Department Eight& rsquo;s current operation. It
has to be Chyort. And if it is on the other Sde, any action you take will be thwarted by it. Chyort just
took out our Warfighter | satellite that was trying to track down the generator and the

bombs.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;How could this creature do that?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t exactly know, but you should be getting afax into the GRU war room any
second now. It shows Chyort just before he destroyed Warfighter. He wanted usto know it was
him.& rsquo; & rsguo;

&lsquo;& |squo; Wait a second.& rsquio; & rsquio;

Ddton impatiently listened to the hiss.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y our fax arrived afew seconds ago. What isthisthing?& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka
asked. &lsquo;& Isquo;l have never seen anything like it.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo; A monster your people created and now it& rsquo;s turned against you.& rsquo;& rsgquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo;What is your plan?& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka asked.

&1squo;& Isquo; Do you have communications with SD82& rsquo; & rsquio;



& 1squo;& 1squo;1 & rsquo; m not sure.& rsquo;& rsguio;

&lsguo;& Isquo;We have to take out SDS; it isfrom that base that

Chyort isable to work. We have to destroy its ahility to project onto the virtua plane.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&1squo;& Isquo;How do you propose to do that?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;We must attack it at the source. Do you know where that 1S?& rsquo; & rsquo;
&1squo;& Isquo;Y es.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& 1squo; Send me the coordinates. 1& rsquo;ll head straight there. Then call whoever you have
there and get them to stop this thing.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; 1 & rsquo;m having the coordinates of the base sent to you. | will be heading that way
myself shortly. | will try to make contact with Department Eight.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The screen flashed with numbers. &lsquo;& lsquo;Magor Orrick! & rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton called out.
&lsquo;& Isquo;Y es.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& lsquo;Here& rsquo;s our target area.& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton read off the numbers.

&Isquo;&Isquo;l have partid system running,& rsquo;& rsquio; Vasilev said.

&lsquo;& sgquo;What does that mean?& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror growled.

&lsquo;& Isquo;We can try atest run,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev said.

The phased-displacement generator gleamed inside of the hangar, reflecting the glow of the lights set up
around it. Leks had put all the helicopters under cover of the other old hangars. He& rsquo;d deployed
hismen in an efficient perimeter, antiair and antitank misslesringing the airfield. Feteror knew without the
help of the Americans, the GRU would never find themintime.

Hewas aso aware, though, that once he started drawing power from the lines, someone at the closest
monitoring plant would notice. He wastired of having to worry about al these potentia problems. He
had spent years considering al the possibilities, and his plan would take care of that problem.

For amoment, he considered running the test against SD8. That would bring it to aconcluson. But his
anger forestdled that. There were many who must pay first. He had been trained dwaysto stick with the
plan, and he would do so here.

&1squo;& Isquo;Load the generator,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror ordered.

&|squo;& 1squo;We must wait until we hear from Oma,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk protested.

&lsquo;& squo;We must test the generator,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror said. He smiled, noting that Leks
was moving behind the boy, weagpon at the ready. Asif that could achieve anything.

&lsquo;& 1squo;l need to cal Oma before you do anything,& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk said.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Omaand | are partners.& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror resisted the urge to just take the
man-child& rsquo;s head off. He needed these people for awhile longer. Instead, he pointed along claw
at the generator. &1squo;&squo; Do not worry. | plan to run the test in amanner designed to gain us
sometime. Y our Omawould approve.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l must call Oma.& rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk was sounding like an irritating tape, playing over
and over.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Call her then! & rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror snapped. & 1squo;& Isquo;In the meanwhile, load
the first warhead in the generator. We do not have forever. If | know her well, and | believe | do, your
Omawill want to know it works before committing to a course of action.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Leks looked to Barsk, who reluctantly nodded. Leks snapped orders and his men uncrated one
warhead.

&lsquo;& Isquo;What do | have to do, old man?& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror leaned closeto Vasilev.
&|sguo;& squo; The computer will integrate the physical materid indde the generator into the virtua
plane. Y our job will beto target it. The computer will then fireit across the folded space and into the
red. The bomb will be on atimer which | will activate prior to itsleaving the generator.& rsquo; & rsquio;
&lsquo;& 1squo; That will not be a problem,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror said.

&1squo;& Isquo; Where will you be sending the warhead?& rsquo; & rsquo; Barsk asked.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Do not concern yoursalf& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror said.



He noted that Barsk had his cell phone out. Feteror dipped into the virtual plane for amoment and
reached out to the phone.

Colonel Mishenka climbed on board the helicopter waiting on the roof of GRU headquarters, his mind
racing with what he had just learned. In the distance he could see the few skyscrapers that dotted the
Moscow skyline. Thefools below him were still scrambling, searching desperately for the bombs and the
phased-displacement generator. They couldn& rsquo;t accept that someone in SD8 was involved.

They had tried to call General Rurik, the commander, but the base was shut down to al outside
communications and had missed itslast contact. That initself had Mishenka convinced that what the
American Green Beret had told him was true& mdash; someonein Department Eight had gone over to
the other side. And Mishenka had avery agood ideawho that person was& mdash; he had been truly
startled and shocked to learn the identity of the man behind Chyort: Mgor Arkady Feteror.

Mishenka remembered Feteror from Afghanistan. A brilliant and ruthlesswarrior. A man who took only
the hardest missions. But Feteror was supposed to have died. Mishenkaremembered hearing that they
had found the mgjor& rsquo;s body in avillage, torn to pieces. What had these GRU people doneto
him?

There wasn& rsquo;t the dightest doubt in Mishenka& rsquo;s mind that Feteror was behind al this
trouble, the last report on General Rurik& rsquo;s son being found notwithstanding. Feteror would usea
boy like a pawn with not the dightest twinge of conscience. The Feteror that Mishenkaremembered
would gut achild as easily as another man would give apiece of candy. A most formidable foe.

The hdlicopter shuddered and headed toward the airfield where ajet was waiting. Mishenka hoped only
one thing& mdash; that this American Specia Forces man who was coming was up to facing down
Feteror or the psychic cyborg& mdash; the term the briefer had used& mdash; that Feteror had been
made into& mdash; and had a plan to stop this madness.

&lsguo;& |squo; Wes rsquo;re two hours out from the grid you gave us,& rsquo;& rsquo; Major Orrick
said. He pointed on achart. &lsquo;& Isquo;lt& rsquo;s here.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton nodded. He spoke into the boom mike. &1squo;& | squo;Jackson?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1s5qu0;& 1squo; Y es?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;Any change?& rsquo;& rsguo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Nothing has occurred.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1s5u0;& Isquo; Rai sor?& rsquio; & rsguio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Nothing there either.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;Notify meif anything happens.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;l will.& rsquo;& rsquo; Therewas a pause. & 1squo;& 1squo;l & rsquo;m

SOITy.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Ddton leaned back in the seet, closing his eyesin weariness. & lsquo;& Isquo;What for this

time?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;For the men of your team.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;Let& rsquo;s just do thisright.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;& 1squo;1 & rsquo;ve been looking over the information Sybyl gathered from the battle. | think
we& rsguo;ve learned some things about this Chyort.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton opened his eyes. & squo;& Isquo;Like what?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Hammond& rsquo;s voice came over the radio. & lsquo;& |squo; The Russian projection& mdash; the
Chyort avatar& mdash; is different from what we are doing here.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;No shit,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said. & lsquo;& [squo;How?& rsquo; & rsquio;
&lsquo;&Isquo; Theinterface is purer than what Sybyl can accomplish through Psychic Warrior. Our
TACPAD isefficient, but ultimately thereis a degradation in power and focus. Sybyl doesn& rsquo;t read
that degradation in Chyort. The interface of human and machine seemsto be dmost

perfect.& rsquo;& rsquo;



&lsquo;& |squo;How do you think they are able to do that?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l asked Sybyl that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond said. & 1squo;& Isquo; The computer thinks
they have created a cyborg.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& I1squo; Come again?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo;Chyort gppears to be the result of ahuman brain being directly wired into a computer
full-time.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Can that be done?& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo;We could do it here& rsquo; & requo;& mdash; Hammond amost sounded

jealous& mdash; & |squo;& Isquo;except that the process would not be reversible and that would cross an
ethical line we aren& rsquo;t even alowed to contemplate.& rsquo;& rsquo;

It dl clicked for Daton then, what Chyort was doing and why. & 1squo;& Isquo; They& rsquo;ve crested
their own Frankenstein and it& rsquo;s turned on them.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1sguo;& Isquo;Warhead | oaded and armed,& rsquo; & rsquo; Leks said.

& 1sguo;& | squo; Setting?& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Two kiloton as directed. Ten-second delay from phase displacement.& rsquo; & rsquio;
Enough to cause absolute devastation in an area about three kilometers wide and collateral damage for
fivetimesthat distance. More importantly, the EM P& mdash; € ectromagnetic pulse& mdash; emitted by
the explosion would fry every dectric device within fifty kilometers.

Feteror turned, claws grating on the concrete floor. & Isquo;& 1squo; The program?& rsquio;& rsquio;
Vaslev& rsquo;s face looked even more haggard in the dim glow of the computer screen.

&1squo;& Isquo;In phase. Ready to phase bomb into virtua .& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1sgu0;& Isquo; Power,& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror ordered.

One of Leks&rsquo;s men threw aswitch. The entire hangar hummed as the power lines going into the
phased-displacement generator fed it the energy it needed.

Barsk edged closer to Vasilev. &1squo;&1squo;Y ou are sure thiswill work?& rsquo; & rsquo; He had
given up trying to did out to reach Oma. The phone wasn& rsquo;t working.

&Isquo;&Isquo;l am sure of nothing except that | will die shortly,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vaslev said,
&lsguo;& Isquo;and thiswill Al finaly be over.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror was preoccupied. & 1squo;& squo;A speedy and painless death iswhat you are working

for.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Vaslev shook his head. & squo;& Isquo;No. That isnot why | am doing this. | am working for
atonement. To pay for what | have done. To pay for trying to play God.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror focused hisred eyes on the gleaming metd tube. The warhead rested in the top chamber. There
was no vent here. If the warhead failed to project and detonated& mdash; well, there would not be much
|eft for the authoritiesto find.

Feteror lifted alarge, scay arm. He began to dide over thelineinto the virtud plane. He stretched his sdlf
out, toward the generator. He could sense the bomb inside, flickering on the edge of the virtua plane
aso. He dropped his arm and snapped entirely into the virtual plane a the same moment as Vasilev hit
thefinal control to send the bomb over.

The bomb wasthere, totaly in the virtua plane. He could seethered digital clock counting down on the
control face of the timer Leks & rsquo;s armament man had attached. Ten seconds.

Vaslev knew where he wanted the bomb to go, and he had planned the path many times. There were
two jumps. He focused on the bomb and thefirst jump point. The bomb disappeared. The timer was
frozenin the virtud plane and Feteror knew it would only start once he deposited it on target and it
passed through to the redl.

Feteror raced northwest, following the bombé& rsquo;s path. He jumped, saw the bomb, projected the
second and fina jump point, and the bomb was gone.

Feteror jumped again. He was exactly where he wanted to be. The bomb appeared right in front of him
inthe virtual plane. He reached out and wrapped his claws around it. He moved in three smaller jJumpsto



the exact position, high over atal roof with the X of ahelipad directly below.

Thetarget. The bomb did through the wall between the virtua and real. Thetimer clicked to nine.
Feteror jJumped twenty kilometers away to the south. He did into thered plane, hoveringinthear a
thousand feet above the ground, and looked back in the direction he had come from.

A tremendousflash lit up the early morning sky.

Feteror knew that in that second, GRU headquarters was nothing but a smoking hole in the earth: ground
zero.

Colond Mishenkawas only twelve kilometers from the epicenter; the hdlicopter hewasonwasin fina
gpproach to land at the military airfield. He heard the startled yells of the pilots and caught the flash asit
washed over the helicopter.

Thefirebal and shock wave were next, rolling out from ground zero. The pilots were shouting, stunned
by the sudden loss of al eectricd equipment on board the aircraft, flying by the seats of their pants,
bringing the chopper down as quickly asthey dared, seeing the wave of fire that was coming toward
them.

Mishenkawatched the approaching wave dispass onately through the Plexiglas window on the side of the
cargo bay. It would either dissipate or kill them.

The chopper dammed into the edge of the runway, the shocks on the whedl's absorbing only part of the
impact. Mishenkawas thrown against his seetbelt, which he rapidly unbuckled. He threw open the sde
door and stepped outside, facing directly into the wave.

But he dready knew it waslosing power. He& rsquo;d seen films of nuclear blasts before, and this one
wasn& rsquo;t big. Somewhere under five kilotons, his mind caculated. By the time the wave hit him, it
was like astrong, warm wind.

Mishenka aso knew with that wind was avery unhedthy dosage of strontium 90, cesum 137, iodine
131, and carbon 14, the makeup of anuclear weapon& rsquo;s falout having been drummed into him
during the many training sessions he had gone through. He dso knew that the pillsin his antiradiation kit
were placebos, designed to alow the soldier to keep fighting until he became incapacitated.

Helooked at the runway. A Mig-1.42, the cutting edge of Russian aerospace technology, waswaiting as
he had ordered. It was shaped like adart, with two large engines, each below atal verticd tail. He could
see the cockpit was open and the pilot was yelling at aground crew man. Colond Mishenkawaked
across the concrete runway to the plane.

The pilot looked down. & Isquo;& Isquo;We cannot fly! No circuits. No radio. Nothing.& rsquo;& rsquo;
& 1sguo;& Isquo; Do the engines work ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Mishenka asked.

The pilot stared at him. &1squo;&1squo;Y es, but& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquio;

&Isquo;& Isquo; I the engines work, you can fly, correct?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;& Isquo;But | will have no instrumentation, Colond! & rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y our compass works, correct?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;&Isquo;My ball compass, yes, but my navigational computer is completely fried.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Mishenkaheld up his briefcase. & lsquo;& |squo;l have amap. We can fly low and navigate by watching
the ground benegath us. | dso have ashielded satdllite phonein here, so we will have

communi cations.& rsquo; & rsquo;

The pilot shook his head. & 1squo;& Isquo;Flying low. It will be very dangerous, Colond. Perhapswe
should wait until& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; He stopped as Mishenka laughed. & Isquo;& Isquo;What is
It?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1su0;& Isquo; Dangerous?& rsquo; & requo; Mishenka spread hisarmswide. & Isquo;& lsquo;Did you
see that nuclear exploson?& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y es.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& I1squo; Doné& rsquo;t you understand?& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka didn& rsquo;t wait for an
answer. &lsquo;& Isquo;We are all dead if we stay here. It will just take aday or two. So | would much
rather die flying into amountain than wasting away.& rsquo;& rsquo; He pointed at the small packet on



the man& rsquo;s right shoulder. & 1squo;& Isquo;Have you taken your pill ?& rsquo;& rsquo;

The pilot was il struggling to understand the impact of what he had just been told. He could only shake
his head.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Take your pill,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka said. & lsquo;& Isquo;Y ou& rsquo;ll fedl better
and you& rsquo;ll be dl right aslong aswe get out of here in time.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The pilot ripped open the packet and pulled out the pill, gulping it down without the benefit of water. He
grabbed the inset ladder and flipped it down. & Isquo;& Isquo; L et& rsquo;s be on our

way.& rsguo; & rsquo;

Ddton received word of the nuclear explosion outside of Moscow as the SR-75 crossed the north pole.
He leaned back, uncomfortable in the hard jump seat, and closed his eyes. Lieutenant Jackson was
tapped into the secure intelligence network and the extent of the devastation was still being assessed, but
there was no doubt thousands were dead.

& 1sguo; Jackson?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo; Y es?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Where is GRU headquartersin relation to the blast Ste?& rsquo;& rsquo;

& lsquo;& |squo; Seismic readers have fixed the epicenter,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said.
&lsquo;&1squo;GRU headquarters would roughly be right where they have triangulated the center of the
blast.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo; Try to get in contact with Colonel Mishenka.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo;l have been trying to. Thereis no answer.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Ddton ran ahand across his forehead. & 1squo;& |squo; Gresat.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Omalistened to the Srensracing to the southwest. The mushroom cloud had loomed high in the sky for
minutes after the explosion, then dowly dissipated. She had stared out her armored windows &t it, before
findly picking up the phone. She tried Barsk& rsquo;s cell phone but she got no reply. She called on the
securefax line, overriding the fax sgnal when it came on, until someone on the other end picked it up.
Shetold the man to get her grandson.

&1suo;& Isquo; Barsk! & requo; & requo; she yelled when hefindly answered.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y es, Oma? | have been trying to get ahold of you, but my phone has not been working.
| think& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;

Omacut him off. &1squo;& lsquo;What the hell have you done?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;What are you talking about?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo;A nuclear weapon just exploded outside M oscow! & rsquo; & rsquo;

Therewas no immediate answer.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Did you use the generator? Did you fire a nuclear weapon?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& lsquo; It was Chyort, Oma. He said he had to take care of something. Test the

weapon.& r'squo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Y ou let him activate the generator?& rsquio;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;Let him! How would | stop him?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Omaredized the futility of the conversation. & |squo;& Isquo;Put Leks on.& rsquo;& rsquo;

There was a short pause, then agruff &Isquo;&Isquo;Y es?& rsquo; & rsquo;



&Isquo;& Isquo; Do you have control of the Situation?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;No. Barsk is etting this monster run crazy.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Omarubbed her forehead. &lsquo;& Isquo;All right. Listen to me. | am sending you atarget list by the
secure fax. | want you to make sure Vasilev targets dl the siteslisted in order. Isthat

clear?& rsquo;& rsguo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Clear.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Put Barsk back on.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&lsquo;Y es?& rsquo;& rsquo; Her grandson&: rsquo;s voice was petulant. Omawas tempted to
smply hang up, but she knew she could not do thét.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Barsk, listen very carefully. | am sending atarget list to Leks. Hewill insurethat it is
carried out. | want you to leave there. Get asfar away as possible as quickly as you can and meet me at
my lake house.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;But, Omal & rsquo;& rsquo; Barsk protested. & Isquo;& Isquo; Thisis my responsibility
here. | amin charge. If you do not trust me to accomplish this, then what& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;& Isquo; Shut up! & rsquo;& rsquo; Omayelled into the phone, sillencing her grandson.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Do what | say or | wipe my hands of you.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

&1squo;& 1squo;Y es, Oma.& rsquo;& rsquio;

She turned the phone off. Then she went to her desk and picked up the list Abd al-Bari had sent her. She
went back to the fax and punched in the number for the fax in the hangar. When the tone screeched, she
fed thetarget list in.

She watched asit disappeared into the machine, then regppeared in the feed tray. Shetook it back to her
desk and sat down. She fed thelist into the shredder.

Then she picked up the phone and punched in the number for the NATO representative.

Colone Mishenkafinally got the satdllite radio working ten minutes after they were airborne. It took him
another five minutes to punch through the jumbled calls of the Russian military reacting in shock to the
nuclear detonation. The fact that since the breakup of the Soviet Union and the attempted coup against
the President, the GRU had increased its stranglehold on the control of intelligence and the
communications cgpability of the entire military, meant that destruction of GRU headquartersvirtudly
decapitated the Russian military& rsquo;s ability to act.

Listening to the confused chatter, Mishenka was aware that there were many officerswho were
convinced the nuclear attack had been asurgica strike by the Americans& mdash; a prelude to an al-out
attack. Missile forces were going on aert and the strategic bomber forces were opening their hangars
and unlocking the vaults on nuclear weapons that had been mothballed years ago.

The old ways died hard, and the only ones& mdash; other than the President& rsquo;s office& mdash;
who had known about SD8, Chyort, and the American cooperation in tracking down the twenty nuclear
wegpons, were dl glowing ash in the Moscow countryside.

Mishenka punched in the number he had been given by the American. It was answered immediately.
&lsquo;& Isquo; Daton here.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Thisis Colond Mishenka.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l was afraid you& rsquo;d been caught in the explosion,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said.

& lsguo;& |squo; The stakes have been raised,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka said. & 1squo;& |squo;Not only
has GRU headquarters been taken out, but SD8 istotaly isolated now.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;Our enemy isvery smart,& rsquo;& rsquo; Daton said.

&lsquo;&Isquo;l know who it is&mdash; or who it was& mdash; and he isindeed very smart. And
ruthless.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Taking out a couple of square miles of Moscow goes beyond ruthless.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&lsquo;&Isquo;Let us hope that isthe limit this goes to.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsguo;& |squo;What do you mean?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

Mishenka quickly filled himin on the reaction of the Russian military.



&1squo;& 1squo; Goddamn,& rsquio; & rsquo; was Dalton& rsquo;s summetion.

& lsguo;& Isquo; We have to secure the nuclear weapons and this phased-displacement

generator,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka said. & 1squo;& 1squo; Who knows where the next target will

be.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;As| told you,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said, &I1squo;& Isquo;we have to destroy Chyort in
order to be able to find and then get to the generator and bombs.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;What is your plan?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&|squo;& lsquo;Are your men moving?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l have acompany of Spetsnatz at the closest airfield to SD8. My timeto that location is
twenty-five minutes.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& Isquo;1 & rsquo; m forty-five minutes out,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said.

&Isquo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;ll dert them that you& rsquo;re coming,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka said.
&lsquo;& 1squo;And once we are there?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo;We go in and take the station out.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Hell of a plan,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka said. &1squo;& Isquo;l have the defense setup
for the station and it will not be that easy.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l didn& rsquo;t say it was going to be easy,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said.

&lsguo;& Isquo;l said we were going to do it.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Mishenka smiled ingde his oxygen mask. &1squo;& Isquo;Very good. | will seeyou

shortly.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;As you now know, what | told you was true,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid.

&lsguo;& Isquo;l grant that you have proved you have the nuclear warheads,& rsquo; & rsquo; Abd
a-Bari said matter-of-factly, &1squo;& Isquo;but you have not proved your capability to put them
anywhere. Y ou could have driven that onein atruck to Moscow.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;l just want to insure that you will pay the balance,& rsquo;& rsquo; Oma said.
&1squo;& Isquo;l am putting everything on the line.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Y ou do what we agreed, the balance will be there,& rsquo;& rsquo; Abd al-Bari said.
&lsquo;& Isquo; Good.& rsquo; & rsquo; Oma put the phone down. She stood and |ooked about her
office. She knew it wasthe last time she would be here. There was nothing in it she wanted. She had
prepared long for this moment. She went to the door and walked out without a backward glance.

&1squo;& Isquo;Where is Barsk?& rsquo;& rsquio; Feteror hissed at Leks.

The navy commando shrugged. He could care less where the boy was.

&1squo;& Isquo;L et me see that,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror demanded.

Leks stared at the demon for afew seconds before holding the fax out.

Feteror leaned over, blood-red eyes close to the writing. He laughed as he saw the targets, the sound
causing those in the hangar to wince. &1squo;&Isquo;Beautiful! The beginning of the end for
everyone.& rsquo;& rsquo;

He pointed aclaw at the generator. &1squo;& Isquo;L oad another warhead. We have some other
businessto take care of before we proceed with your master& rsquo;s list.& rsquo; & rsquo;



Lieutenant Jackson and Dr. Hammond were alonein the control chamber& mdash; other than the bodies
in the isolation tubes. Hammond was having Sybyl run through various projections about apossible
connection to the lost psyches& mdash; if they till existed on the virtud plane. So far they had come up
with nothing. She was aso continuing the search for Raisor.

Jackson was monitoring communications between Sybyl and Sergeant Mgor Daton while keegping an
eye on the smal televison st to the Sde of the master control panel. CNN was broadcasting the first
reports of the nuclear explosion outside of Moscow. Confusion seemed to be the common denominator
in al the reports, with the source of the bomb being the most specul ated-upon aspect.

&1squo;& Isquo; That& rsquo;s strange,& rsquo; & rsquo; Dr. Hammond suddenly said.

&1sguo;& Isquo;What is?& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson asked.

&1squo;& | squo; 1 & rsquo; m picking up something through Sybyl. Something on the virtua & mdash;

& rsquo;& rsquo; She paused, staring at her readouts.

A loud screech ripped through the room, echoing off the walls, the sound piling on top of itsdlf. Red
warning lights flashed, pulsing, adding to the confusion. Jackson looked up in shock asin the center of the
room, above the isolation tanks, asmal black sphere appeared, the surface pulsating, glistening, straining
to expand.

Hammond& rsquo;s panicked voice punched through the noise.

&lsquo;& Isquo; The psychic wall has been breached. 1 & rsquo;m reverting al power to interior

contai nment.& rsguo; & rsuo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Oh my God! & rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson whispered as she checked the infrared scanner. It
showed anuclear bomb hanging in the center of the room in the virtua plane. She looked up. A square
inch of thetop tip of the bomb appeared in the real plane. Then another inch.

&lsquo;&Isquo; Sybyl & rsquo;s holding it, but | don& rsquo;t know how long she can keep it

contained.& rsquo;& rsquo; Lieutenant Jackson& rsquo;s voi ce was on the edge of hysteria, but her
training and discipline were holding. Daton had heard radio cdlslike this before& mdash; from an
A-Camp being overrun in Vietnam; from the trapped Delta Force soldiersin Mogadishu; from pilots shot
down in the Gulf War cdlling for rescue as Iragis closed in.

&lsguo;& Isquo;But Sybyl is holding, right?& requo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& |squo;If she wasn& rsguo;t, we woul dné& rsquo;t be talking. The bomb must be on some sort of
timer that ison hold until it clearsinto rea space.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;Can you clear out of there?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

Jackson gave awild laugh. &1squo;& 1squo; To go out we& rsquo;d have to shut down the psychic wall. If
Sybyl turns off thewall, we& rsquo;d be destroyed ingtantly. We& rsquo;re caught between two walls.
The bomb isinsde the outer wall, but Sybyl used the backup containment program to stop it before it
cameinto thered planeinside. The psychic wall and the containment program work off the same system.
Turn one off you turn the other off.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Daton looked at Mgjor Orrick &1squo;& |squo; How long?& rsquo; & rsquo; he mouthed.

Orrick flicked histen fingersat Ddton. Ten minutes.

&lsquo;&Isquo;How long can the wall hol d?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Dr. Hammond is putting every bit of power she can into the computer. But we have no
idea. Every time Sybyl ups the containment, it seemslike the other side upstoo. Jesus, Sergeant Mgor,



the damn nukeisjust hanging there above our heads, dowly coming into redlity. 1t& rsquo;s about afifth
in now. It comesal theway in, we& rsquo;re done for. | don& rsquo;t want to put any extra pressure on
you or anything, Sergeant Mgor, but could you hurry the hell up! & rsquo;& rsquo;

Feteror had put the bomb into Bright Gate without much trouble. The outer virtual wall had been
relatively easy to pierce. But that damn computer had reacted with startling speed. The bomb had been
caught inavirtua containment field.

He& rsquo;d left the bomb there, operating off the program from the phased-displacement generator. It
was going into the real world, much dower than Feteror would have liked, but it would get there
eventudly.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Two minutes out,& rsquo;& rsquo; Colond Searl announced over the intercom.
&1squo;& 1squo; Slowing to recon speed.& rsquo; & rsquo;

& squo;& | squo; Extending surveillance pod,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mgor Orrick said. Helooked up at Dalton.
&lsquo;& Isquo;We have to dow down or else we& rsquo;d rip the surveillance pod right off.

We& rsgquo;re down to about two thousand miles an hour right now.& rsquo;& rsquo; He leaned forward
and placed hiseyesinto a set of eyepiecesthat had cycled up from the console.

& lsguo;& I squo; Wes rsquo;l | get agood shot across the spectrum. Someone& rsquo;s farting down
there, we& rsquo;ll pick it up.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton waited. He looked down, noted that his|eft foot was tapping impatiently against thewall of the
recon room and forced it to stop.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Missile launch.& rsquo; & rsquo; Orrick mentioned it asif he were saying the sun had
come up inthe morning.

&lsquo;& squo;We& rsquo;re tracking red,& rsquo;& rsquo; Colond Searl acknowledged.

Orrick hit abutton. &Isquo;& Isquo;Pod in. Clear to boogie.& rsquo;& rsquo; He smiled at Daton asthey
were both dammed back in the seat. & 1squo;& Isquo;We& rsgquo;re fagter than any missile

made.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Tracking green,& rsquo;& rsquo; Searl announced. & 1squo;& Isquo;We& rsquo;re all
clear. Entering gpproach to destination airfield.& rsquo;& rsquo; He laughed. & 1squo;& Isquo;Damn
Russkies are gonna be surprised to see this baby land.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton clicked on the SATCOM link. &1squo;& 1squo;Jackson?& rsquo;& rsquio;

Therewasno reply.

&lsquo;Jackson, | don& rsgquo;t want to take anything from what you& rsquo;re doing, but if you can
answer me, let me know.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l can talk,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson said.

&1squo;& Isquo;Howé& rsquo;s the wall holding?& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton asked.

&lsquo;&Isquo;lt& rsquo;s alosing battle. The bomb is diding from virtua to red at the rate of three
percent per minute. At thisrate, it will completely bein thered planein twenty-two more

minutes.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1sguo;& squo; Sergeant Mgjor.& rsquo;& rsquo; Colonel Mishenka snapped a salute, which Dalton
autometicdly returned.



&Isquo;& Isquo; Colonel Mishenka.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Mishenka unrolled a blueprint and put it on the hood of the four-by-four he& rsquo;d driven out to the
SR-75& rsquo;staxi point. &Isquo;&Isquo; Thisis Specia Department Number Eight& rsquo;s Far-Field
Experimenta Unit.& rsquo;& rsquo; Hisfinger touched severd points. & |squo;& |squo;Surface-to-air
missilesthat fire automaticaly if the airgpace is encroached upon.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;We already had one of those fired at us as we camein.& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton put the
imagery the SR-75 had taken next to the blueprint. He checked hiswatch: twenty minutes.
Mishenkalooked over the photos, then back at his blueprint. & |squo;& squo; Automatic guns cover the
entire perimeter usng heat sensors. Anything registering over acertain sizeisfired on. | understand many
adeer haslog itslife there. The perimeter is also mined; the mines are pressure activated. The only map
of the minefield iskept in the facility, so we are going to haveto breachiit.

&Isquo;& Isquo;Everything is controlled by the master computer insde SD8. And Generd Rurik evenif
we could get through to him, can&rsquo;t turn it off aslong as Feteror& mdash; Chyort& mdash; is out of
his cage.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; So we have to get in.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Mishenka pointed across the runway. Two heavy cargo planes waited. They were surrounded by alarge
number of men in camouflage fatigues preparing wegpons and gear. & squo;& 1squo; The Twenty-third
Spetsnatz company is ready. We& rsgquo;re only a couple of minutesfrom SD8 by air.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Hewaved and severd officers came over and gathered around the hood. Dalton noted in them the same
hard, competent look he had seen in Specia Operations soldiersthe world over.

&lsquo;& Isquo;How do we get in?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

Mishenkafrowned. &|squo;& Isquo; Thereisabigger problem than the automatic

defenses.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;What is that ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Every nerve of Dalton& rsquio;s body was screaming for
them to load the planes and get going, but he knew a couple of minutes spent planning was more
important than rushing in with guns blazing.

&Isquo;Just before | left Moscow, | wasfully briefed on SD8& rsquo;s base. Two things struck

me& mdash; one good, one not so good. The not so good thing isthat there isawall& mdash; apsychic
wall& mdash; completely surrounding the facility. | saw avideotape of a prisoner who was forced to walk
into the wall.& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenkatapped afinger againgt his skull. & 1squo;& Isquo;His brain was
destroyed.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton nodded. & Isquo;& Isquo;Bright Gate, where | came from, hasa similar wall around

it.& rsguo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Do you know of away to get through it?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo;l will check with my base once we& rsquo;re airborne. What was the good

thing?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo;Generd Rurik did not trust Feteror. Because of that, the genera wears awristband that
monitors his own heartbest. If his heartbest ceases for ten seconds, the wristband shuts down the central
compuiter, Zivon, which shuts down Feteror, trapping him inside the cyborg machine that keepshim
dive.& rsquo;& rsgquo;

&1squo;& 1squo; So we get to General Rurik& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton began.

&1squo;& Isquo;And stop his heartbeat& mdash; which meanskill him& mdash; we stop

Feteror,& rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenkafinished.

Lieutenant Jackson remained in the chamber where the bomb hung over the isolation tanks.
It had materidized over 40 percent. As she watched, another small piece flickered into redlity.
&1squo;& Isquo; Dr. Hammond?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton& rsquo;s voice cut through the air.
&1squo;& squo; Y es?& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond answered.
&lsquo;&Isquo;How do | get through a psychic wal ?& rsquo; & rsquo;
Hammond gave a bitter laugh. &1squo;& Isquo;Y ou don& rsquo;t. Not if you want to keep your brain



from becoming mush.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;ve got to get through the wall here or we can& rsquo;t stop this

thing.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Jackson watched the bomb produce another square, but listened as Hammond thought out loud to
Ddton. &Isquo;&lsquo; Thewadll is an eectromagnetic projection on the psychic plane. Think of it asa
field of deadly eectricity. Y ou touch it, you& rsquo;re zapped.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Jackson could hear the sound of turboprop engines in the background coming from Dalton& rsquo;s end.
&lsquo;&Isquo;How do | get through it, Doctor?& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton& rsquo;s voice was ing stent.
& 1squo;& |squo; Wear rubber-soled shoes? Wrap tinfoil around my head? Think! There& rsquo;s got to
be away.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& |squo; There& rsquo;s so much we doné& rsquo;t know! & rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond protested.
&lsquo;& Isquo;We aren& rsquo;t even redlly sureif our wall works or not! & rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& 1squo;Well, the Russian one does, that& rsquo;s for damn sure,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said.
&Isquo;Jesus Christ! & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson exploded, pushing Hammond aside and typing into the
keyboard. The answer was back in a second.

&lsquo;& 1squo; Sybyl saysthere aren& rsquo;t any options,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson relayed.

& squo;& Isquo;Not good enough,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton& rsquio;s voice echoed out of the speaker.
&1sguo;& |squo; There& rsquo;s got to be away.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& Isquo; Here.& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond regained the keyboard and typed. She stared at the
results. &1squo;& Isquo; & rsquo;ve had Sybyl run amultitude of possibilities and probabilities. Y our best
chance of successisthat you might be ableto short it out for avery brief period of time.& rsquo;& rsquo;
&1squo;& Isquo;How do | do that?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton asked.

Hammond closed her eyes and thought for afew seconds. & 1squo;& |squo;Y ou would haveto put a
conductor in thefield. It would draw power for an ingtant before the field snapped back to normal
operating parameters. For the short period while the field focused on that conductor, most likely lessthan
asecond, you might be able to get through close by.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1sguo;& |squo; What would be a conductor?& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; Thereis only one conductor that works for a psychic fiel d,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond
sad. &Isquo;&1squo; The human brain.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Omag& rsquo;s cell phone rang for the third time in five minutes. Reluctantly she openediit.

&1s59u0;& 1squo; Y es?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;& Isquo;l said every warhead had to be accounted for,& rsquo;& rsquo; the NATO
representative hissed at her.

& squo;& |squo; Every warhead is accounted for,& rsquo;& rsquo; Omasaid. &1squo;& 1squo;Y ou know
for certain where oneis& mdash; or was& mdash; and | can tell you where the other nineteen

are.& rsguo;& rsquio;

& 1squo;& Isquo; Don& rsquo;t be afool. Detonating one doesn& rsquo;t count.& rsquio;& rsquio;
&lsguo;& Isquo; It took out GRU headquarters, you should be grateful .& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Grateful ? Grateful ? Every country that has nuclear weaponsisin DEFCON Four aert
gtatus. There& rsquo;salot of itchy fingers out there and you& rsquo;ve put them over the

button.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Do you want the location of therest of the warheads or not?& rsquo;& rsquo; Oma
pressed. & Isquo;& Isquo; The one that just went off proves we have the warheads and we have the means
and the will to use them.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;& Isquo; Give me the location.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;If | giveit to you, you must promise that you will not pursue me.& rsquo;& rsquo;

The man laughed. &lsquo;&Isquo;Fine. We woné& rsquo;t. But 1& rsquo;m sure your countrymen will be
after you until the day you die.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1sguo;& | squo; Perhaps,& rsquo; & rsquo; Oma said. & Isquo;& Isquo;Here are the coordinates of the



remai ning weapons and the phased-displacement generator.& rsquo; & rsgquo;

&1squo;& | squo;What will happen to the bomb hereif Sergeant Mgjor Dalton does

succeed?& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson asked Hammond.

&lsquo;&1squo;l do not know,& rsquo;& rsquo; Hammond answered.

&1squo;& Isquo; Best guess,& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson pressed.

&Isquo;& Isquo;It will exploderight whereit is, some of it into the red plane at approximately the
percentageit isin your world when it detonates.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Jackson looked at the half of abomb that hung in the air. & Isquo;& 1squo; So we& rsquo;re dead no
matter who wins.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Therewas no reply from Hammond, nor had she expected one.

Jackson nodded to herself. & squo;& Isquo;All right then. There& rsquo;s only onething to

do.& rsquo;& rsquo; She tapped Dr. Hammond on the shoulder. & 1squo;& 1squo;Get my isolation tank
ready. 1& rsquo;m going over.& rsquo;& rsguo;

&lsguo;& Isquo;What are you going to do?& rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond asked.

Jackson pointed at the bomb. & Isquo;& Isquo; The only thing | can do. Defuse that

thing.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Colond Mishenkaleaned close to Dalton in order to be able to hear insde the noisy cargo bay of the
AN-24 transport. Dalton relayed Hammond& rsquo;s course of action.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Short-circuit the field with abrain?& rsquo; & rsquo; Mishenka asked.

Dalton nodded.

Mishenkalaughed. & Isquo;& Isquo; That is great. Smply great. Y ou Americans have such agreat sense
of humor.& rsquo;& rsquo;

& 1squo;& |squo; 1 t& rsquo;s not& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton began, but he paused as Mishenka put
ahand on hisarm.

&Isquo;&Isquo;l know it isnot ajoke, but it isthe Russian way to laugh when thingsarethewordt. It is
how we have survived much misery. Besides, before we worry about the psychic wall, first we have to
get toit. Wewill deal with the psychic wall if welive long enough to get there.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&Isquo;& Isquo;What is your plan?& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton shouted. The Spetsnatz men wererigging
parachutes on each other asthe plane banked.

Mishenka pointed at the map. &squo;& Isquo;We will parachute in the only place we can& mdash; here
inthis open field. Then work our way up the hill and then in. Not much of aplan, but itisthebest | can
do with such little notice.& rsquo; & rsquo;

He stood and grabbed a parachute off the web cargo seat and held it out to Dalton. The sergeant major
took it and dipped it over his shoulders. There were AK-74 folding-stock automatic weapons, and
Mishenkaindicated for him to take one, d ong with ammunition, grenades, a demoalitions pack, and other
wegponry.

Dalton checked hiswatch. Sixteen minutes.

Feteror formed himsdlf in thered plane insde the hangar. He looked about. Leks and his men waited by
the generator with eighteen plastic cases holding nuclear weaponslined up. Vasilev was at the computer



console. Barsk was gone.

That last fact started to truly register on Feteror. Why would Oma& rsquo;s grandson have left? He knew
the answer as soon as he considered it: She was double-crossing him. He laughed, the sound startling
everyonein the hangar. She was double-crossing everyone.

But it did not matter. His revenge had begun. He only needed to completeiit.

He was adapting, changing. Thelink back to Zivon was as strong as ever, and the computer was helping
deal with thisunusua stuation with regard to the phased-displacement generator and the bombs. What
€else could he accomplish? Feteror wondered. Might he be able to actualy direct more bombs while the
one still was out there, not detonated? He saw no reason why not.

&1sguo;& Isquo;Load the generator,& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror ordered.

The back ramp of the Antonov AN-24 was down, the wind swirling in the back, adding to the roar of
theengines.

&1squo;& 1squo; One minute! & rsquo; & rsquo; Colonel Mishenkayelled to Daton and the Spetsnatz men
lined up behind him. The Colone knelt down, grabbing the hydraulic arm that lowered the ramp on his
Sde

Dalton went to the other side and assumed a smilar position. He looked forward, blinking in the
130-knot wind that blew in hisface.

The peak that held SD8 base was directly ahead. As he watched, there was aflash and aline of smoke
streaked up into the sky.

&lsquo;&Isquo;Missile launch! & rsquo; & rsquo; one of the crewmen yeled. The man was seated on the
center edge of the back ramp, amonkey harness around his body hooked to afloor bolt keeping him
attached to the plane. He pointed aflare gun out the back and fired in the direction of the oncoming
missle

He continued firing as quickly as he could reload. It wasn&rsquo;t high-tech, but it worked. At least for
the firgt two missileslaunched at the lead plane asthe infrared seekersin their nose went after the hot
flares

&lsquo;& Isquo; Stand by! & rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenkayd led.

Ddton stood and shuffled closer to the edge of the platform.

&1squo;& squo; Go! & rsquo;& rsquo; Mishenka stepped off on hisside, Daton on his.

Dalton tucked into atight body position as his gatic line was pulled out. The chute snapped open. Daton
looked up, checking to make sure his canopy had deployed properly, and he saw a SAM-8 explodein
the right engine of the second AN-24 cargo plane asthe first jumpers exited.

The cargo plane& rsquo;s right wing sheered off and the plane canted over. Daton watched as desperate
parachutists tried scrambling out of the open rear. A couple made it before the plane impacted with the
ground, producing alargefireball.

Ddton turned his attention to his situation, forcing hisfeet and knees together, bending his knees
dightly& mdash; as he& rsquo;d been taught dmost thirty years ago at Fort Benning by screaming
Blackhats& mdash; and he prepared for his own impact with the ground.

Hisfeet hit; herolled and cameto hisfeet. The wind was taking his chute updope, so he cut lose the
shoulder connects. The chute, minus hisweight, took off. Forty meters away amachine gun chattered,
ditching holesinthenylon.

There was aterrible scream. Dalton looked up. One of the last men out of his plane had hit the top of the
psychic wall. He was still descending, but the man had both hands wrapped around his head. Even at this
distance, Daton could the blood gushing out of the man& rsquo;s ears, nose, and mouith.

The scream ended just as the man hit the ground like asack of potatoes. An automatic machine gun fired
twenty rounds into the corpse. The man lay there, his parachute anchored by his body and flapping in the
breeze.

Ddton watched as two Spetsnatz commandos dapped down atripod, did atube onto the top, loaded a
missile, and fired, adl in less than ten seconds. The missile stresked right into the source of thefiring that



had shot up Daton& rsquo;s parachute. The small mound hiding the machine gun exploded.

Colonel Mishenkawas ydlling orders, but the men were wdll trained and needed little direction. Other
Russan soldiers were opening their bundles, pulling equipment out.

Three men ran forward to the minefield warning signs and opened up alarge satchel. They pointed a
thick plastic tube updope. There was aflash, then athick line flew out of the end of the tube, soaring high
through the air until it landed, ahundred meters away. One of the men pulled afuseignitor on the close
end of theline, then dl three dovefor cover.

The cord of explosive detonated, blowing afive-foot-wide path through the minefield. The three men
dashed into the path, made it ten meters, then were cut down by another automatic machine gun.

A rocket destroyed that bunker.

And the bloody process continued as Colonel Mishenka& rsquo;s Spetsnatz worked their way up the hill,
closer and closer to the shimmering psychic wall.

Ddton ran forward and threw agrenade a a bunker housing amachine gun that had just killed asoldier.
He knelt and checked hiswatch. Nine minutes.

Zivon derted Feteror to the attack, even asthe computer battled the attackers with the automatic
defense system. Leksi& rsquo;s men were loading the third warhead into the generator.

&lsquo;& Isquo;How soon will you be ready?& rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror demanded of Vasilev.

The professor looked up at the demon. &1squo;& Isquo;Y ou still have the second bomb in stasisin the
virtua fied. That& rsquo;s affecting the computer. Slowing it down.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Feteror frowned, dark ridges coming together on his demon face. & Isquo;& |squo;Can you fire the next
0ONE?& rsquo; & rquo;

Vadlev didn& rsquo;t look up from his keyboard. & squo;&Isquo;l am trying to get the program to
accept the new mission.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1sgquo;& |squo;How long?& rsquo;& rsquio; Feteror demanded.

Vadlev ignored him. Feteror stepped forward.

The professor looked up. & |squo;& squo;We can fire the third now.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Jackson felt the liquid pouring into her lungs, but her focus was e sewhere. She had Sybyl access
everything in the database on Russian nuclear wegpons. She contacted Hammond through the compuiter.
&1squo;&Isquo; Anything from Sergeant Major Dalton?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&lsquo;&Isquo;He is on the ground. They are assaulting SD8& rsquo; s base, Chyort& rsquo;s
home.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&Isquo;&lsguo; Any other nuclear explosions?& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Not yet.& rsquo; & rsgquo;

&1squo;&Isquo;How long can you keep the bomb from coming through

completel y?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;&Isquo; | estimate 8.4 minutes.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isguo; Come on, Dr. Hammond! & rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson yelled. & lsquo;& lsquo; Get me
over there! & rsquo; & rsquo;

Daton fired on full automatic, right into the open end of amachine-gun bunker, his bullets smashing into
the weapon. Herolled twice to hisright, pausing at the edge of the path blasted by the line charge.

He wasless than twenty feet from the psychic wall. He could not only seeit shimmering now, but he
could fed something. A thrumming on the edge of his consciousness. A feding that made him want to turn
and get away asfast aspossble.

Helooked over his shoulder. Over three quarters of the Spetsnatz were dead, but the survivors were il
moving forward, wiping out the last of the automatic wespons.

Colone Mishenkaran forward and threw himself into the dirt next to Daton. He peered ahead at the
wall, then glanced at Ddton.



A Spetsnatz soldier ran past them.

Mishenkayelled for him to stop, but too late as the man hit the psychic wall. His body spasmed, arms
flying back. They could hear his spine snapping in arow of sharp cracks.

The man tumbled to the ground, his head canted at an unnatura angle, blood flowing from every visble
orifice.

Generd Rurik pounded hisfigt in frustration againg the console. & 1squo;& Isquo;What isgoing

0N?& rsuo; & r'syuio;

&lsquo;& squo;l cannot access the surface,& rsquo; & rsquo; the technician said.

Rurik looked up at the red flashing light. He had missed the last contact with Moscow because Feteror
wasdill out.

He had violated procedure for thefirgt timein his career. He had no clue what was going on. But they
knew something was happening above them. The dull sound of explosons echoed through the stone
wdls.

Someone was attacking them. But who?

There was only one answer& mdash; it had to be Feteror and help he had recruited. No one else would
dare go up againg the psychic wall. No one else could be thisfar into Russia and assaulting this most
secret of bases.

&1squo;& Isquo; Captain,& rsquo;& rsquo; Rurik said, turning to the chief of security.

&1squo;& |squo;Have your men ready to stop an assault.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&lsquo;& Isquo;But, sir& mdash; & rsquo;& rsquo; The man hesitated, then continued.

&Isquo;& Isquo; They cannot get in.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&Isquo;&1squo;Oh, they will get in. Feteror ishelping them! Now move! & rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; The generator isin phase,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev announced. & lsquo;& lsquo; The
program isworking dowly, but it isworking.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsguo;& Isquo;Fire this one,& rsquo;& rsquo; Feteror ordered, & 1squo;& Isquo;and load the next

one.& rsquio; & rsquio;

Leks stepped forward. &1squo;& Isquo;Y ou are doing as Oma ordered now! & rsquio; & rsquio;

Feteror looked at the huge naval commando. He smiled, reveding his rows of sharp teeth. Without a
word he diced forward with hisright claw.

Leks surprised him with his speed. The commando rolled forward, pulling up his submachine gun ashe
did.

Feteror jumped through the virtua planeto right behind Leks, even asthe man pulled the trigger. Feteror
swung down with both hands. Leks again surprised him by bringing back the submachine gun and
blocking the right claw, but the | eft ripped into Leks & rsquo;s back.

Feteror relished the familiar sound of tearing flesh. Helifted Leks asthe commando tried to bend the gun
back, to fire at his attacker. Feteror solved that problem by dicing off Leksi& rsquo;sright arm.

He tossed the dying commando against the wall and stood over him. &lsquo;& Isquo;l will destroy
Oma& rsquo;stargets but | do not need you to tell meto do it.& rsquo;& rsquo;

&lsquo;& Isquo; The bomb isin phase,& rsquo;& rsquo; Vasilev reported.

Feteror turned to the cowering mercenaries. & 1squo;& |squo;Load the next bomb as soon asthe
generator is clear.& rsquo;& rsquio;

He jumped into the virtua plane and connected with the bomb. He directed it west toward America.
&lsquo;&Isquo; Time for your plan to get through the wall, if you have one,& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton said.
Mishenka spit and rubbed a hand covered in blood across hisface. & squo;&Isquo;l have one. You
need a short?& rsquo; & rsquo; He tapped the side of his head. & 1squo;& 1squo;l & rsquo;ve got oneright
here.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton wasn& rsquo;t sure he had heard right.

Mishenka stood and walked toward the shimmer that indicated the boundary of the psychic wall.



&lsquo;& Isquo;l suggest you stay close to me,& rsquo;& rsquo; he called over his shoulder.

&lsguo;& Isquo;l can& rsgquo;t let you do that,& rsquo; & rsquo; Daton said.

Mishenkawas standing right in front of the wall. Dalton came up next to him. He could fedl the pain now,
the fear, pulsing through hisbrain.

Mishenkalaughed. He ripped open a packet on his combat vest and pulled out asmal red pill. He held it
up to Ddton. &Isquo;&Isquo;My antiradiation pill. Perhapsit works, en?& rsquo;& rsquo;

Dalton knew the Russiansissued the red pill as aplacebo and that anyone with the dightest common
sense knew that.

Mishenkatossed it away. & 1squo;&Isquo;l am adead man anyway. Let my death be worth
something.& rsquo;& rsquo; He looked at Dalton. &lsquo;& Isquo;Are you ready?& rsquo;& rsquo;
Daton met the other man& rsquo;s eyes. &Isquo;& 1squo; 1 & rsquo;m ready.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Mishenkapulled his belt off and handed one end to Ddton. & Isquo;& Isquo;l go, you

follow.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton found he could not speak, so he smply nodded.

&1squo;& Isquo;Now! & rsquo; & rsquo; Mishenkayelled.

He stepped forward into the wall, pulling on the belt. Daton was pulled through behind him.

The Russian jerked straight up, his mouth open, acry issuing forth that chilled Dalton& rsquo;s heart.
Dalton hit thewall. He staggered, feding aspike of pain rip into the base of his skull. His skin crackled,
fdtasif it were on fire. He kept moving hislegs, going forward. Hefdll onto the ground, the pain
receding.

Dadton rolled and looked back. There was aglow around Mishenka& rsquo;s head. The Russian was
looking straight at him. The mouth twisted from the open scream into afleeting semblance of asmile, then
ariver of blood spilled over the lips and Mishenkafell to the ground dead.

Dalton looked down at hishand. He was still holding the belt. The other end wasin the Russan& rsquo;s
dead hand. Dalton let go of the belt and stood. He headed toward the base.

Feteror& rsquo;s head snapped to the left. He was halfway toward Washington, but something halted him
at thejump point.

He opened to the flow of datafrom Zivon. Someone was through the psychic wall!

Feteror jJumped for home, the bomb going with him.

Lieutenant Jackson floated next to the bomb. It was the inverse of what she had witnessed from the floor
of the experimental chamber. Here, on the virtua plane, a small square disappeared every few seconds.
Therewaslessthan athird of the bomb remaining in the virtua plane.

&1squo;&Isquo; Dr. Hammond?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&1squo;&lsquo; Yes?& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo; | need the specifications for this type of nuclear weapon.& rsquo; & rsquo;
&Isquo;&Isquo; | have specs for our version of it.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Say with me.& rsquo; & rsquio;

&lsquo;&Isquo; | will.& rsquo; & rsquio;

Jackson let go of her avatar and became pure psyche. She flowed into the bomb.



Dalton threw the backpack Mishenka had given him to the ground in front of the large stedl door that
blocked hisway into the underground complex. He pulled out the long black tube. He worked fast, his
watch telling him that less than four minuteswere left.

He peeled the tape off the end of the tube and pressed it against the center of the left stedd door. He
swung down the two thin meta legsto the ground, centering the tube horizontally against the door. He
pulled the firing tab, ran twenty feet away, and dove for cover behind aberm.

The tube fired, the shaped charge producing intense heat that burned athree-foot-diameter hole through
the door in an instant.

Dalton ran forward. He dammed againgt the door, next to the hole, the edges still sSmmering. Hepulled a
flash-bang grenade off hisvest and threw it in. Counted to three. The grenade went off. Dalton dove
through the hole, rolling forward onto the concrete floor inside, coming up to hiskneeswith hisAK-74 at
the ready.

Hefired at the two stunned guards, knocking them backwards. Then he was on hisfeset, running dong
the corridor that doped downward.

Feteror came into being above SD8-FFEU. He could see the bodies littering the ground below. He
recognized the uniforms of the dead. Spetsnatz. It had comefull circle.

He clearly saw the psychic wall. There was only one way he could get in, through the window alowed
him. And once hewasinsde he would be trapped insde Zivon.

He roared, ademonic dragon circling on leathery wings, hislair below being invaded. Impotent to
stop& mdash; Feteror paused. He had the bomb. It had to end now.

Mishenkahad told Daton that the guard force insde SD8& rsquo;s base was minima & mdash; they
counted on the autometic defenses and the psychic wall.

So far Daton had encountered six guards. He edged between two large stacks of supplies. The door
from the supply room to the brain center lay ahead. He paused and looked at his watch. Less than two
minutes.

Throwing caution to the wind, Dalton sprinted forward and was dammed back as a bullet ripped through
hisleft shoulder.

Jackson was in the center of ajumble of wiresin the core of the bomb. She had gone into machinery and
computers before, but only for data, for information. Never to do anything real to the machine. She
didn& rsquo;t even know if she could do anything.

&1squo;&Isquo; How much time?& rsgquo; & rsquo; she asked Hammond.

&1squo;&Isguo; A minute and twenty seconds.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; What do | do?& rsquo; & rsquio;

There was ashort pause. & 1squo;& |squo; According to Sybyl, you must stop the detonator. The
conventional explosion that initiates the nuclear reaction.& rsquo; & rsquo;

&1squo;&Isquo; Where s it?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Hammond had Syby! project the vision to Jackson.

Feteror took the bomb with him through the window into the underground complex.

Inside the hangar, the next bomb was |oaded inside the generator.

Vadlev looked around. Some of the men were tending to Lekd, leaning the dying man against the wall.
Chyort was nowhere to be seen, nor did Vasilev sense his presence.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Fire the next target! & rsquo; & rsquo; Leks spit the words out dong with adribble of
blood down his chin. &1sgquo;& |squo;Damn you, do as you& rsquo;re told.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Vadlev smiled. He knew without Feteror, the bomb would not go anywhere. & Isquo;&Isquo;Y es,
Sr.&rsquo;& rsquio;

He hit a button on the console. & |squo;& Isquo; Atonement,& rsquo;& rsquo; he whispered.

The hangar disappeared in an ingtant, destroying the immediate area and the approaching Russian forces



that had been derted by NATO intelligence using the information Omahad caled in for her four hundred
million.

Dalton looked at hiswatch. Under a minute. He could hear the man who had shot him moving on the
other sde of the pallet.

Dalton stood, blood streaming from his shoulder. Heyelled in Viethamese at the top of hislungs and
came around the pallet firing. The man was till turning toward him when Daton& rsquo;sfirst bullets hit,
gplattering him againgt thewall.

The bolt dammed home. Dalton tossed the gun aside and ran into the corridor, pulling a pistol out of its
holster. He kicked open the door at the end and staggered into the brain center.

A Russan generd holding apistol in hishand stood in front of Daton, soldiersflanking him, their

weapons also at the ready.

Feteror looked down from hisvirtua perch. He saw the American Green Beret and Generd Rurik
pointing their guns a each other. He knew the bomb he had would explode in ten seconds after he
released it into the real world. There was nothing they could do to stopit.

& 1squo;& I1squo;Why ?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Feteror spun about, startled. Opawas shaking his head. & 1squo;& |squo; Why must you

destroy?& rsquo;& rsquo; Opasaid. The old man& rsquo;s right arm stretched out toward Feteror, who
jumped back, startled. But the arm went right past him, into the virtual window.

Feteror turned to follow it. The arm kept growing until it reached the half-materidized bomb. It flowed
into the bomb. Thered digita readout blacked out.

&1sguo;& Isquo;What have you done! & rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror screamed.

&1squo;& Isquo; Do not move! & rsquo;& rsquo; General Rurik ordered Dalton. The two guards flanked
the generd, their weapons pointed at Dalton.

The sergeant mgjor could fed the flow of blood down his side from hiswound. His head pounded from
the aftereffects of the psychic wall. He could see that the barrel of the pistol he was holding was shaking.
He knew there was no way he could get all three before they gunned him down.

&1squo;&Isquo; Jimmy,& rsquo; & rsquo; awoman& rsquo;s voice whispered in his ear. & 1squo;& squo;
You know what you have to do.& rsquo; & rsquo;

Dalton let go of the gun.

Feteror saw the American drop the gun.

&lsguo;& squo; What have you done?& rsquo;& rsquo; he demanded of Opa. & Isquo;&Isquo; They have
won! & rsquo;& rsquio;

&1sguo;& Isquo;No,& rsquo;& rsquo; Opasaid. &lsquo;&Isquo;l do not think so.& rsquo;& rsquio;

&1squo;& squo; Who are you?& rsquo; & rsquo; General Rurik demanded.

Dalton focused on the Russian generd, pushing away al digtractions. He used the power of over fifteen
hundred days and nights of captivity, the skills he had learned during six months of Trojan Warrior and
the past two days at Bright Gate, what Sybyl had shown him of the virtua world and the line between it
and theredl. He put the white dot right between the Russian& rsquo;s eyes and then he probed with his
mind.

Rurik grabbed histemples, a surprised look on hisface. He staggered, tried to say something, then went
down to hisknees. He wavered there for a couple of seconds, sill trying to mouth words that

wouldn& rsquo;t come through the pain in his head. Then he kedled over and smashed into the hard floor,
facefird.

Feteror saw Generd Rurik hit thefloor, the body dack. He& rsquo;d seen the psychic force go from the
head of the American into the genera & raquo;s& mdash; agolden burst of light on the virtua plane. The



light on the general & rsquo;s wristband changed to red. & Isquo;& Isquo;We& rsquo;ll be trapped in here
forever! & rsquo; & rsquo; Feteror grabbed Opa by the shoulders and shook him.

Opa shook his head, the gray beard wagging back and forth. & |squo;&Isquo;lt is best.& rsquo;& rsquo;
Feteror screamed into nothingness as his power drained from him, leaving him floating in inky darkness.
The nuclear warhead hanging over the center of Bright Gate snapped completely into redity.

&1squo;& 1squo; Oh God! & rsquo; & rsquo; Hammond yelled asit dropped to the floor of the control room
with athud. It lay there.

&lsguo;& Isquo; Bring me back,& rsquo; & rsquo; Lieutenant Jackson& rsquo;s voi ce echoed out of the

speakers.

&lsquo;& Isquo;Are they aive?& rsquo;& rsquo; Barnes asked.

&lsquo;& Isquo; Their bodies are,& rsquo;& rsquo; Jackson answered. & squo;& Isquo; Their

psyches& mdash; their salves& hdlip;& rsquo;& rsquo; Her voicetrailed off

Sergeant Barnes wasin awheelchair next to her, looking at the tubes holding the rest of the second
Psychic Warrior team. & |squo;& |squo; Y ou don& rsquo;t think we& rsquo;re going to find them, do
yOou?& rsquio; & rsquio;

Jackson shrugged. & |squo;& Isquo;l don& rsquo;t know. We& rsquo;re getting different readings off of
Raisor. Sybyl doesn& rsquo;t know what to make of it. Wethink he& rsquo;s definitely out there
somewhere, but we haven& rsquo;t been able to make contact.& rsquo;& rsquo;

Barnes had agold ring that he was rubbing between two fingers. & squo;& Isquo;What do you& mdash;
& rsquo;& rsquo; He paused as the door to the outside corridor swung open.

Sergeant Mgor Daton dowly waked in, hisarm in ading, hisface drawn and tight from exhaustion.
He& rsquo;d returned to Denver via Aurora as soon as the surviving Spetsnatz had secured the SD8
base. Then he& rsquo;d been flown to Bright Gate by a Blackhawk

& 1sguo;& |squo; Sergeant Mgjor! & rsquo; & rsquo; Barnes and Jackson said it at the sametime.
&1squo;&Isquo;Y ou have something of mine.& rsquo;& rsquo; He held out ahand.

Barnes passed him the wedding band and the sergeant mgjor& rsquo;sinsignia.

Dalton sat down in achair with awince. &squo;& |squo; The Russians are shutting down

SD8,& rsquo;& rsquo; he informed the others. He felt the metal ring in his palm, fingers of the other hand
running over theworn metd.

&1sguo;& |squo; Chyort ?& rsquo; & rsquo; Jackson said theword in alow voice.

Dalton shook his head. & Isquo;& |squo;His physical remains& mdash; the brain& mdash; isisolated. The
Russians are saying they& rsquo;ll make sure he never gets out.& rsquo; & rsquo; Dalton held up thering
and looked at theinscription on theingde. Love Always, Marie.

&1sguo;&Isquo;l have to go to Fort Carson for afuneral.& rsquo;& rsquo; Dalton dowly stood. He
headed for the door, then paused and turned. & Isquo;& Isquo;Areyou going to be all

right?& rsquo; & rsquo;

Jackson forced asmile. &Isquo;& Isquo;l & rsquo;m fine.& rsquo;& rsquio;

Ddton nodded. & 1squo;&Isquo;Hold the fort. 1& rsquo;ll be back as soon as | can. We& rsquo;re not



done here yet.& rsquo;& rsquo;
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